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VIDENCE FOR THE CITY COUNCIL .OF NAIROBI In the Supreme 
C ourt of Kenya 

No. 14 

4-th July, 1957 
2.30 p.m. 

RONALD 5REDERIC3: MOULD (Affirmed) 
Bxamination-lu-Chief by MR. SCHERMERUCKER 

EVIDENCE OP ROHALD FREDERICK MOULD Evidence for the 
City Council of 
Nairobi 

No. 14 

L . 
Ronald Frederick 
Mould. 
Examination. Q. What io your full name? A. Ronald Frederick 

Mould. 
10 Q. What are your qualifications, Mr. Mould? 

A. Associate of the Royal Institute of Architects, 
Associate Member of the Town Planning Institute, 
holder of the Diploma in Regional Planning, Fellow 
of the Royal Geographical Society. 
Q. What is your present employment? A. My pres-
ent employment is with the County Council of Nairobi, 
I am the County Planning Officer, 
Q. Prior to that what were you doing? A. Prior 
to that I was employed by the City Council from 

20 August, 1954, as Assistant Architect from that 
period to June, 1955, when I became Acting African 
IIous jng Archite c t. 
Q. Did you have anything to do with Ofafa Township? 
Part B? A. Yes/ 
Q. How did you first come to deal with Part B. What 
was the condition of it? A. My first experience 
of Ofafa Estate, Part B, was on the 14th March,.. 
1955 . I was assigned to look after this contract. 
I went to the site on 14th March, 1955 and was 

30 introduced to Mr. Ata—ul—Haq by Mr. Stone, the 
Clerk of 'Works. 
Q. What did you do there? Had anything been done? 
A. The works were about 80 per cent complete. It 
does not mean to say that building was 80 per cent 
complete. The contract was 80 per cent complete. 
Q. Hoy/ many blocks did the contract comprise? 
A. 17, 29, 35, 38A and B. 
Q. Which of these blocks did you first deal with? 
A. I dealt first with Blocks 25, 26 and 27. They 

40 had reached a stage of about 93 per cent completion. 
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Ronald Frederick 
Mould. 
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Q. What did you do on these blocks? A. Y/hat I 
was expected to do. I was briefed a very brief 
brief before I went to Ofafa. 'The point was em-
phasised that the housing was needed urgently due 
to the pressure of African needs for housing and 
that these blocks were almost ready to be taken 
over by the City Council from the contractor. I 
inspected these three blocks on the morning of 
14th March. I found the work rough. There were 
many defects. Particularly in the harping of 
tiles. Many of the floors were shoring signs of 
cracking and there were many standard miscellaneous 
items connected with the finish of the buildings 
which I considered rough. Poor workmanship and 
often poor materials. Prom this inspection a list 
of defects was compiled. The contractor was given 
about three days to remedy the work. 

Q. Pid he do them? A. Yes. He did it to two of 
the blocks at the time. The third block took a 
little more uersuasion. 
Q. Were these blocks eventually taken over? 
A. They were taken over. Yes. 
Q. Po you remember which were the next blocks you 
had to deal with? A. Blocks 35 and 56. 
Q. Were these in their turn taken over? A. Yes. 
Q. Yffcat did you deal with after that? A. After 
that we came on to blocks 31/32/33/34. These 
blocks were inspected. They were not approved for 
taking over by myself, but unfortunately they were 
occupied by the City Council. This was a mistake. 
Q. Were they treated as taken over? A. Ultimate-
ly we were embarrassed into accepting them having 
occupied them. 

Q. Were any defects to be attended to on bhese 
blocks? A. There were defects to be a ct ended to 
on these blocks 35 and 36, and the later four 
blocks, 

Q. And who attended to this;? A. Ik Stone. 
Q. I mean on the contractor's side? A. The eon-
tractor. 
Q. Y/hat was your next experience on Part 3?. 
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A. The next experience, it was an experience all 
the time I can assure you, was really to come on 
to Block 30. I was rather surprised to find that 
I could kick the concrete up with my heels. I had 
a look at Block 38 and found that Block 38, which 
was at the time somewhere about 80 per cent com-
plete, the floor concrete had been laid but the 
screed had yet to be laid and I found there in many 
places I could kick the concrete up with my heels. 

In the Supreme 
C ourt of Kenya 

Evidence for the 
City Council of 
Nairobi 

No. 14 
That was in Block 38? A. 38 is a particularly q 

good eye-opener because the bagwipe had not been 
applied to the walls and one could see how rough 
the stone-work was, how wide the joints were and 
how appalling the mortar was, to be concealed later. 
To go. all through these defects I could run right 
through all the specification and I should take 2 
hours. 

Ronald Frederick 
Mould. 
Examination 
- continued. 

Q. You say you kicked the concrete away under your 
foot. Were there any other major items? A. I 
considered - in fact I have already mentioned it. 
That is the mortar in the walls was so poor and 
that the joints were so wide. 

Q. How did you find out that the mortar in the 
walls was so poor? A. One could assess that it 
is not up to standard. But to find out exactly 
what content it was it was sent to the P.W.D. for 
analysis. 
Q. You came upon Block 38 and found some concrete 
could be kicked tip with your heels, the mortar 
was poor, anything else? A. The stone dressing 
was bad. 
Q. The joints? A. The joints were excessive in 
size. The timber at this time was a point that I 
noticed. In the specification it asked for stand-
ard podo well'seasoned. It also asked for it to be 
site seasoned. 
Q, Y/liat did you notice about it? A. I noticed 
that the timber was not what we call seasoned tim-
ber. It was about • • « t • 

Q. How did you notice that? A. The timber is 
what we call green. It has an excessive moisture 
content. Seasoned timber should be somewhere be-
tween a 15 per cent moisture content. It is only 
by experience that one could have an idea. I would 
not say I was an expert but I know green timber 
when I see it. 
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Q. You get the impression it was green? A. I" 
was green. 
Q. Did you test any of this mortar in any way? 
A. I was able to rake it out with a knife. 
Q, How did it come out? A. A lot of it flowed 
out like sand from an eggtimer. 
Q. Did you take any action 
discovery? A. Yes. 

result of this 

Q. What did you do? A. [Before I tell you exact-
ly what action I did take I would like to make it 
clear I was just not doing- it with this contract. 
I was doing it with other contracts as well. So 
there wasn't a consistent inspection at that time. 
However, I took a note of the defective mortar and 
other things 1 had noticed and a report was made 
on Part B on 19th May, 

JUDGE You made a report? A. Yes. 
MR. SC:.FiRM3RUCKFIRj To whom? A. It would have 
gone 
Q. Is that report on your file? A. io is on the 
file. I think it is addressed to the Acting City 
Enginesr. 
Q. Have you got any notes which you made on the 
spot at the time? A. That was typed out from 
notes I made, 
Q. Who typed it out? A. Someone on the staff. 
Q. Was it done immediately? A. It wes done with-
in a day. 
Q. We don't want any of the contents of the report. 
Perhaps the witness could look at the file. Who 
did that report go to? A. The Acting City Engin-
eer, Mr. Saunders. 
Q. Confining yourself to Part 3, what followed 
then? A. A detailed investigation of a more 
concentrated form was about to commence just after 
this period and it was left in the hands of Mr. 
Tanner. I was sent out to Uganda on Council offic-
ial business for about a week. I am aware that we 
call them inspection holes to enable Council 
officials to inspect the work below ground. 
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Q. Y/hat was done about the inspection holes? 
A. After my return from 17 an da I went to the site 
with Mr. Tanner. V/e had a look at the holes to-
gether and we found in most places that where v/e 
insj/ected the mortar in the joints in the walling 
below ground chat it was generally well below 
standard. 

Q. What sort of inspection was that? A. It was a 
visual inspection. 
Q. Did you pull any of the mortar out? A. Yes, 
we dug into the mortar joints with a knife and we 
found a similar type of v/ealc mortar as we had al-
ready found. 

Q. We were able in places to see the foundation 
concrete and it was not satisfactory and we drew 
from the conclusion of our inspection that v/e v/ould 
have to have a more detailed inspection of founda-
tion work. 

Q. How many test holes were there at this particu-
lar stage? A. The best I can remember I think 
there were about 12. 
Q. Did you have a further inspection. Did you 
have .... Before we go on to that. When you and 
Mr. fanner were looking at these inspection holes, 
was the contractor present? A. I think he was. 
Q, You had a subsequent inspection. Y/hat did that 
amount to? A. There were seven inspections, there 
was so much to inspect. In July the contractor and 
the Council compromised on opening up more trial 
holes. The former ones had been back filled, filled 
in again. V/e did compromise with the contractor to 
hove more inspection holes opened. It was a dual 
purpose. He was disputing the depth of stone 
courses in the foundations recorded by Mr. Stone. 
The other purpose was for Council officials to in-
spect the foundation work and the mortar in the 
wailing. 
Q. How many inspection holes were there on this 
occasion? A. To the best of my memory there were 
12 inspection holes. 
Q. Where were they? Were they located in one 
place or scattered about? A. They were scatter-
ed about. 
Q. Who selected the positioning of them? 
A. Mr. Haq selected the positioning of them. 

In the Supreme 
C ourt of Kenya 

Evidence for the 
City Council of 
Nairobi 

No. 14 
Ronald Frederick 
Mould. 
Examination 
- continued. 
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Q. When, they had been dug what happened? A. I 
went down to inspect these inspection holes and 
brought with me an assistant architect; Mr.Thomas, 
and Mr. Goodwin, the Clerk of Works at that time. 

Q. Had he by this time taken over from Mr. Stone? 
A. Yes, Mr. Goodwin took over about the 1st June, 
not before. 
Q. You and Mr. Thomas and Mr. Goodwin - was the 
contractor there? A. The contractor was present 
and we took samples in the contractor's presence 
of the mortar. The bags were sealed in his pres-
enc e. 
Q. Do you remember roughly ho?/ Diary there were? 
A. I was under the impression that there were 12. 
I think six were taken one day and I am not sure 
whether the other six were token in the afternoon 
or the next day. It was something in that order. 
Q. Was that mortar only? A. Mortar only -- yes. 
Q. And did you eventually see the test results of 
these samples? A. Eventually I did see the test 
results of these samples, 
Q. Would you look at Exhibit 'C'. There is a let-
ter dated 11th August, 1955. A. Yes. These are 
the teat results of the sa: 
Q. When these tests were taken you said you put 
them into bags. What was the procedure followed? 
A. The date, identification number, location of 
room, were all put on the bag, my signature, the 
signature of Mr. Thomas, and the signature of Mr. 
Goodwin put on the bags. I asked Mr. Ata-ul-Haq. 
to put his signature to them as well and he re-
fused. 

Q. Did he give any reason for refusing? A. He 
gave no reason, he just refused. 
Q. Who took the samples away? A. Mr. Goodwin 
took them to the P.W.D. testing laboratories. Here 
again I would add that Mr. Ata-ul Haq. was asked to 
go with Mr. Goodwin and he refused. 
Q. This was the second lot of inspection holes was 
it? A. The first at which samples were taken 
for chemical ai 
Q. They were different from the first lot of holes? 
A. Yes. 
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Q. Was the contractor 
samples were taken? 

present 
A. No, 

on "both days when the 
Sir, the contractor's 

son, known as Kaka, was present when the second 
batch of samples were taken. 
-JUDGE The second half-dozen? A. :es 
MR. SCHERLIBRUCKHR; Did he take any part in the 
taking of the samples? A. He stood around and 
watched us taking the mortar out but here again his 
attitude was the same as his father's. He refused 
to sign the sample bags or accompany the Council 
official to the P.W.D. laboratories. 

Q. Y/hat was the next step in the procedure at Part 
B after these samples were taken? A. These 
samples were taken in July and I trust I have got 
the sequence right Sir, I am going from memory. 
Somewhere about this time a detailed inspection of 
blocks 37, 38, 38A, 38B and 39 was to be'made. 

Q. And did the inspection take place? A. I made 
arrangements for that inspection to take place on 
a Monday. I went down on a Monday and informed Mr. 
Goodwin that I would be down later in the week, 
about Thursday, to inspect these blocks and would 
he please go through and attend to any defects,and 
see if there was anything radically wrong. I did 
ask him to inspect the floors in particular and to 
let me know. I arrived at the site on that Thursday, 
late July, in the company of Mr. Ross-White, who is 
the Building Works Superintendent with the City 
Council, and it is his responsibility to look after 
the maintenance of buildings once the council ac-
cepts them from a contractor. The purpose he was 
going down for was to see what he might inherit. 

Q. What foim did the inspection take? A. The in-
spection didn't go veiy far. It started in Block 
38A and found that the work was considerably more 
defective than I had anticipated, in particular the 
floors, and the same in 38B. Going through Blocks 
38A and 333 I picked on one in five and found the 
standard was consistently low. I refused to accept 
these buildings on that inspection. 

Q. Bid you ever accept these buildings? A. They 
have never been accepted to this day officially by 
the Council. 
Q. Do you know whether Mr. 
concerning them? A. Mr. 

Goodwin 
Goodwin 

made a 
issued 

statement 
a typed 
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certificate - certificate is the contractor's word, 
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I do not consider it a certificate, it is a site 
memo. This was passed to Mr. Ata-ul-Haq and the 
contents were to the effect that Mr. Goodwin 
approved. 
Q. We have got A j;. « Oh, vou have? 
Q. When did you see that. Was it at the time, 
later or what? A. To the best of my memory it 
was not shown me by Mr. Goodwin, it was shown me 
by Mr. Ata-ul-Haq when I told him I wasn't going 
to accept these buildings, 
Q. What was your response to him when he showed it 
to you? A. I told Mr. Haq that it wasn't offic-
ial. My real response came when I saw Mr.Goodwin. 
Q. Was Mr. Goodwill authorised to give him that? 
A. Mr. Goodwin is not authorised. Ho has not the 
authority to issue a memo or the certificate. 
Q. What happened next? You were never satisfied. 
Did anything take place on.that? A. The matter 
was reported officially to the Acting City Engin-
eer and it was agreed that there was dissatisfac-
tion at the time on all three contracts, A, B and 
C, and that we would make a more detailed inspec-
tion of all three contracts. This took place about 
the first week of August. 
Q. Confine yourself to Part B. A. Part B. The 
inspection was made by a team led by myself, Mr. 
Goodwin as Clerk of Works, and various technical 
members of the City Engineer's staff, 
Q. Was the contractor there? A. The contractor 
was present, having been notified that the inspec-
tion was about to take place. 
Q. What took place at the inspection? • a. The 
inspection commenced from Block 25. We had done 
very little work on Block 25 when the contractor 
was joined by the contractor of Part C. A mutual 
objection was made to me. However, I informed the 
contractor that the inspection was going to take 
place anyway. The contractor left the site. 
Q. Did the inspection proceed? A 
proceeded and lasted about three da: 

inspection 

Q. Did the contractor come back during those three 
days? A. He came back the afternoon of the first 
day that he made his protest. I didn't see him 
myself, but Mr. Goodwin said that he had. 
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Q. Uever mind what Mr. Goodwin said. 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: I have no objection if Mr.Goodwin 
is being called. 
MR. SOHHRMBRUCKER: Do you know whether the con-
tractor was back on the site or not? A. I did 
not see him myself, I was only tola. 
Q. You did not see him? A. I did not see him. 
Q. What was the result of the inspection over the 
3 days? The result was that we compiled a graphic-

10 al report. We classified all work that we looked 
at into "acceptable", about three grades of "in 
between" and two grades of "really bad". 
Q. Did you convey anything to the contractor as a 
result of it? Ac I am sure that the contractor 
was informed that we considered the work not satis-
factory. I don't think we gave it to him in com-
plete detail at the time. 
Q. Did you ever turn the contractor off the site in 
Part B? A. The contractor was not turned off the 

20 site at that time. In fact he was given every 
opportunity during the course 'of protracted negoti-
ation to come bacl. and complete the works to our 
satisfaction. 
Q. Did he ever do that? A. The contractor didn't 
ever do that, and it was not until November that a 
letter was written to the contractor giving him a 
definite date to complete the work as requested. 
Failing that we would invoke I think it is Clause 
23 of the Council's conditions. 
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Ronald Frederick 
Mould. 
Examination 
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30 Q. Was 23 ever invoked, in fact? 
Q. Did anything result from that? 
please enlarge on that? 
Q. Well, you know 23, don't you? 
iar with Clause 23. 

A. Yes. 
A. Could you 

A. I am famil-

Q. As far as y 
on 23? 

fou know, were any figures worked out 
A. He didn't say. 

The record I have is that it was intended. 

40 
MR. SCHGRMBRUCKTR: How was it intended? A. I am 
rather a technical person. As I see it, the date 
expired ... 
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Mould. 
Examination 
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JUDGE: What was done? 
MR. SCHERMBRTJCKSR: Yfhat was done apart from writ-
ing the letter? A. I must be very woolly. The 
Council Direct Labour Committee entered the site 
and completed the works. 
Q. And while that direct labour was working, did 
you see it from time to time? A. I inspected 
the site at least once a week. 
Q. Lid you ever see the Plaintiff back there while 
that was happening? A. Yes. 
Q. What was he there for ? A. He was making an 
inspection of the work that the City Council were 
doing. In my opinion he was breaching the contract 
under Clause 23, Part 3. 

10 

Q. He was just watching. Did he a: 
the job? A. Not to my knowledge, 

to go on with 

Q. Did you see him on any occasion when he was do-
ing anything more than watching? A. I can recall 
nothing myself. He brought out a bevel. (?) with 
him to inspect the work. 
Q. Did there come a time when he removed his plant 
from the site? A. He removed his plant from the 
site during the inspection early in August. 

20 

Q. Was that the three-day inspection? A. Yes. 
Q. Did he move his plant entirely then? A. 
moved all that I saw away - all that was on the 
site. 

He 

Q. Were you able to gather at the time whether he 
was intending to go on doing any more work, or 
whether he was finished with it. A. At the time 30 
he removed his plant the impression conveyed to 
me was that he had finished"the contract. 
Q. Did you make any enquiry of the contractor as 
to whether he would like to deal with each block 
separately or put the lot, together and have one 
maintenance order for the lot? A. An approach 
was made to that effect. 
Q. Did he ever make any election to ycr? A. He 
made it quite clear that he would preiei to do the 
maintenance work on a time basis of six months in 40 
acceptance of the last block taken over of the 
contract. 
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10 

Q. After this three-day inspection at the begin-
ning of August when the contractor moved his plant, 
did you have any further personal dealings with 
the contractor concerning this contract? 
A. There were several negotiations with the con-
tractor, in particular when he was summoned to the 
Town Hall to discuss the matter with the Mayor. 
Q.When was that? A. September, about the first 
week in September, 1955. 
Q. Was the Council still working on Part B at that 
time? A. The Council had not commenced work on 
Part B at that time. The Council commenced on the 
23th November, 1955. 

In the Supreme 
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Ronald Frederick 
Mould. 
Examination 
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20 

Q. What was the object of the meeting with the 
Mayor and what was the result? A. To see whether 
the Council could come to' some agreement with the 
contractor to complete the 
says in the contract, the City 
tion, The first meeting 
any material discussion. 

works to our, or, as it 
Engineer's satisfac-

*eally didn't go down to 

JUDGE: You were present, were you? A. I was 
•present. 
T R O » S CHERMBRNCKER- The 
then? A. To the best 
little discussed at the 
a plea on behalf of the 
and solve our 
should complete 

differences 
the work to 

second one - v/hat happened 
of my memory there was very 
second one. It was mainly 
Mayor that we should try 

and the contractor 
our satisfaction. 

Q. \7as anything done in pursuance of that plea? 
30 A. The contractor, Mr. At a ul Haq, his brother, Mr. 

Abdul Haq, the Chairman of the City Council Works 
Committee, Mr. Singh Natharoo, the City Engineer, 
Mr. Salmon and myself went down to the site, the 
same day as we met the Mayor at the second meeting, 
and the remedial work that was required to be done 
was pointed out to the contractor. 
Q. How long after the first meeting was the second 
meeting? A. About 8 days. 
Q. How long -were you down on 

40 occasion? A. About l-/ hou: 
only verbal. ral agreement, 

willing to do some of the work we 
not reach complete agreement 

the site on this 
s and there was part-

contractor was 
asked. We did 

this meeting. 
The 
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Q. Can you tell his Lordship what the remedial 
work required was in general terms? 
MR. 0' DONOVAN s This is all entirely new to me, My 
Lord. 
MR. SCHERMBRUCKERs Can you tell his Lordship in 
general terms what the requirements were? A. The 
general requirements were that the contractor 
should rake out the defective mortar, considered 
defective that is by Council officials, and re-
place it with a mortar to a standard that was 
originally asked for in the specification. 
Q. Where was this raking out to be done? A. On 
the external walls above and.below ground on all 
blocks - Blocks 2 5 - 3 9 . I feel sure that we 
a.lso as that time requested that he should attend 
to defective bagwiping internally, including the 
chimney stacks and the weathering to the capping 
of the chimney stacks. He should also attend to 
defective floors, cracks mainly in the screed, and 
if found to be right through the concrete to attend 
to that as well. 

10 

20 

Q. What was the result of that request? 
A. Nothing. 
Q. Did you get an answer of any sort? A. We 
must have had answers of some sort. I cannot re-
member them all in detail. 
Q. On the spot? A. On the spot it was verbal. 
The contractor agreed to do certain amounts of the 
work. I think we disagreed over what he would 
rake out and repoint at the Council's discretion, 

Q. Did he ever do any work? A. He never did any 
work 3, t £t 11 • 

30 

Q. Did he 
had agreed 

give any reason for not doing what 
to do? A. Not at the time. 

he 

Q. Ever? A. Ultimately, in November, about 10th 
November, negotiations broke down and the contrac-
tor notified us that he did not agree to what we 
were asking of him. Particular'emphasis was placed 
o:i the fact that v/e wanted to retain a certain 
amount of money for a period of more than six monies 
to safeguard ourselves against any expenditure on 
exc ess ive la tent de f ec t s . 

40 
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Q. Did you have anything further to do with Ata ul 
Haq regarding this contract after that? A. Only 
that I saw him on the very odd occasion on the 
site accompanied "by persons unknown to me, 
Q. Was anything discussed or done shout this work? 
A. I am not with you. 

In the Supreme 
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Q. Did you do anything actively with him about 
this work after the date he made it clear he did 
not want to do any more work? A. Only inasmuch 
as we had to answer a considerable number of 
letters from technical and legal representatives. 
Q. You had correspondence? A. Yes. 

No. 14 
Ronald Frederick 
Mould. 
Examination 
- continued. 

Q. When you arrived at Part B, were there any 
blocks where the concrete floor had not yet been 
laid? A. I don't recall any blocks where the 
concrete floor had not been laid, but the screed 
had certainly not been put on top of the concrete 
floor in several blocks. 

Q. You were on the site yesterday when we saw a 
hole in the floor? A. Yes. 
Q. Had you ever seen the hard core filling of any 
of these blocks before you saw that building? 
A. Before I saw the building yesterday? 
Q. Yes? Yes. I have seen several floors 
opened up and the back-fill exposed as it was 
yesterday. Generally I have seen it in a similar 
condition and in some cases worse. 

stage of these proceedings did you see 
. I saw the first floor exposed showing 

Q. At what 
this? A 
the backfill during the contractor's time. I 
particularly asked for a floor to be opened up so 
I could see the back-fill. This was not done and 
it was a repeat request that we had the floor open-
ed up. It was in Block 39. We opened the floor 
and found the back-fill was not as required in the 
specification. The concrete on visual inspection 
was not good. I saw another floor ill Block 38. 
This was opened up at my request; the contractor 
had then ceased to work on the site and the direct 
labour had entered the site, probably the beginning 
of 1956. 
0 v» as 

No, 
the contractor present when you saw that? 
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Q. Were there any places where the hard core was 
exposed where you found it satisfactory? A. No. 
Q. Could you give an opinion from what you saw as 
to whether that hard core could have been compact-
ed in 6" layers? A. Not in the state it was. It 
would have to be broken down into smaller pieces 
because it was being applied as a back-fill in 
between the walls and foundations. 
Q. Would you go back to the inspection holes for a 
minute where you took samples of mortar for exam-
ination, and could you tell his lordship precisely 
the procedure leading up to the taking of these 
samples. What happened? A. I take it that you 
refer to the samples 
Q. There was only one lot of samples taken by you, 
or were there others? A. There were more samples 
taken. 
Q. I mean the samples that were taken to the P.W.I). 
A. 'There were more samples taken. 
Q. By you? A. Yes, by me. 
Q. When were the other samples taken by you? 
A. Some of the other samples must hove been taken 
during the three-day inspection. 
Q. let us start Twith the first occasion of taking 
mortar samples. When you had these inspection 
holes dug what were the size? A. The holes were 
approximately 3 ft. wide, that is along the side 
of the wall and they went down to the foundation 
concrete. The first one we looked at was on Block 
38A. We found that, very much to my surprise, the 
mortar was hard. I couldn't 'puncture it" with a 
knife. It was a surprise to me. I was very sus-
picious about it and I got some labour on the site 
to widen the hole by about another 2 ft. either 
side. We found conforming to the profile of the 
original hole that ihat was where the good mortar 
finished. Either side of that we found exception-
ally poor mortar. It was possibly this one "that 
came out at 18.2:1. It should have been four parts 
of sand to one part of cement. 

JUDGE: Number which? A. Block 38A. 
MR. SCHUPJIBRUCKER: Isn't there a number against 
the sample? A. C/7830. 
Q. That was the first hole you went to? A. That 
was the first. 
Q. IIow many samples did you take from that? 
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A. From that hole? 
Q. Yes. A. One sAmple. 
Q. And what position of the hole did you take it 
from? A. We took it from the left hand, that 
we had exposed. We did not take it from part of 
the original hole made "by Mr. Ata-ul-Haq. 

Q„ What happened at the second hole? A. I can-
not remember the sequence of these holes altogether 
in detail, but of the 12 samples we took within one 

10 or two days, we found that in many cases the wall 
had been repointed with a stronger mortar, and in 
some eases, in my opinion, where the contractor 
thought it was reasonably good mortar, it had not 
been tampered with. 
Q. Plow many of these holes did you widen or extend? 
A. I should think about 60 per cent of them. 
Q. Was the comparison consistent or not? A. Inas-
much as you mean that we found good mortar put in 
by the contractor, or do you mean the mortar that 

20 we took for samples. 
Q. In the first hole when you looked at it, the 
mortar was good. When you extended the hole, it 
wasn't so good. Was that a general experience or 
did it only happen a few times? A. A general 
experience. 
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JUDGE; You say you enlarged about 60 per cent of 
them? A. Yes. 
JUDGE; You say that the general experience was 
that the part that ?/as originally exposed had been 

30 repointed. About 60 per cent of them. 
MR. SCUERMBRUCKCR; Do you know Mr. McConnell? 
A. I know Mr. McConnell now. 
Q. Did you ever meet him on the site, Part B? 
A. Yes. It was arranged that I should go down and 
make an inspection of Part B with Mr. McConnell and. 
Mr. Ata ul Haq. 
Q. Did you do so? Yfnat took place? 
JUDGE: When was this? A. I should say it was in 
late November or may be early December, 1955. I am 
not sure. I would not like to commit myself. 
JUDGE. Late 1955? A. To the best of my memory, 
Q. Y/hat took place on this occasion? A. We had 
had some complaints made by the contractor that we 
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were raking out unnecessarily, that we were damag-
ing the stone-work, that we were using crow-bars 
for raking out, and the idea was that we should 
both go and discuss the matter on the site. It 
wasn't a very successful meeting. 
Q. Did you go round and examine any buildings in 
detail? A. Not in detail. There was not"enough 
time. We spent about 1-| hours on Part B. 

Ronald Frederick 
Mould. 
Examination 
- continued. 

Q. 
A. We 
every 
going 
round 

Did you look at some buildings or 
went to Block 
block through 
inside any of 
the outside. 

one building? 
25 and we looked at pr a c tically 
to Block 39. I don't recall 
the blocks. We merely walked 
We possibly went into 3CA or B. 

10 

Q. Did you have any discussion as to the workmanship? 
A. Constant discussion on the workmanship. It was 
my opinion that the work was bad. Mr. McDonnell 
would not commit himself and say whether it was bad 
or good. It was just that he had got certificates 
that they had been approved. 
Q. Did you point out any parts of the work to him 
yourself? A. I was constantly pointing out bad 
mortar, cracked floors. 
Q. Did he indicate his opinion? A. He wouldn't 
acknowledge that there was any bad work 'there at 
all. 

Q. Did he show you any work that he thought was 
good? A. I cannot recaj.1 that he showed me any 
work that was good. I would have been pleased if 
he had, and surprised. 

20 

Q. How long is it since 
pieted? A. There are 

these buildings were com- 30 
17 buildings. Which ones? 

Q. Since the last ones were completed? 
opinion thoy have never been completed, 
contractor's opinion they were completed 
1955. 

A, In my 
In the 

in July, 

completed 
Q. Hasn't the Council completed 
A. The Council has not 
claimed that they have been 
they have done partial r 
minimum hab i tab1en es s. 

them since? 
'. hew and has never 

c ora p let e d . Th er c 1 a im 
work to give" them 

40 
Q. Going 
which we 
Lordship 

back to the. hard core fill under the 
saw exposed yesterday. Can yen give 
your opinion as to what the effect 

floor 
his 

of that 
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might "be? A. Yes 
pose of it, is that it oiiouj-u oe as 
consolidated into a solid mass, This was not so. 
In my opinion, it lias more or less been thrown 
into the space between the walls of the founda-
tions with no attempt to consolidate it, but these 
rooks are in an irregular form resting on top of 
each other and are going to settle through possibly 
weathering and the water, a certain amount of 
vibration is transmitted through the floor, The 

will be gradual but ultimately it must com-
and then it would not support the floor, 

we saw was not a good concrete and it 

10 

it 
'.the back-fill, the very pur-
should be as asked for, 

effects 
rac t 
That 

s 
more 
concrete 

is quite 
tine, tha 
character 
in 2 or 3 
going to happej 

possible, 
t many of 
yesterday, 
years. II 

in fact it is bound to happen in 
these floors that we saw of that 
must break, 
may take 10 

It could happen 
years, but it is 
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20 

30 

Q. "Bearing in mind tha' 
buildings is not exces; 
any estimate of the 
ings? A. They may 1 
after that period they 
selves dweilinghouses, 

and from the period 
1955 until 20 years 

the superstructure of these 
ively heavy, could you make 

life of these build-
ist 20 years. I should think 
won't be able to call 
they will become slum 

probable 

anything 
of going back even 
from that date, to 

them-
dwell-
to 

keep 
like habitable ccndi-

mgs, 
July, 
these buildings in 
tion you acre going to have to spend more than what 
is normally expected in maintenance. Considerably 
more. 
Q. Without going into full detail, could you give 
us the major factors contributing to that opinion? 
A. Yes. It really comes out basically with the 
foundations, I didn't realise how bad the founda-
tions were until about February or March, 1956, 
when 
oJ 

>out 50 trial holes were dug for purpose 
inspecting the foundation walling, foundation 

and foundation structure upon which the 
stood. In most eases we found that the 
not been cleared to what was asked for, 
down to hard rock or murrain. That the 
not been levelled as asked to receive the 

concrete 
building 

40 site had 
That was 
site had 
foundation concrete. That in many cases a soft 
decomposed stone was left in situ and in many cases 
pockets of black cotton soil. That the first part 
of the building to be applied to the ground, the 
concrete foundations , were in 90 per cent of the 
cases inspected grossly 
I mean that they did not 

50 mension of the drawings. 
Lnadequate , By inadequate 

size, di-conform to the 
In most cases we found 
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the concrete to he of poor quality. The next thing 
is the foundation walling, which stands upon the 
concrete foundations.' The stone was poorly dress-
ed, the joints "both vertical and horizontal, parti-
cular!;/ the vertical joints, were excessively wide 
in many cases, and that even these vertical joints 
were filled only on the outer face of the stone, a 
void existing in between. Rarely did we find 
decent mortar. Again, the next thing to he applied' 
between these walls below the floor slab, is the 10 
hard core fill, to which I have already referred. 
This does not conform to specification. Also, of 
course, the contractor is probably saving about 20 
per cent of his hack-fill by putting it in loosely 
and not compacting it. 

Q. Were you able to see in any places the position-
ing of the foundation wall on the concrete under-
neath? A. Yes, in about 50 cases I was able to 
see it. I didn't observe it from the ground. I 
got down into the hole. In many cases - the con-
crete foundations should have been 13" wide. The 
wall is 6" wide, the wall should be built symmetric-
ally over that foundation to give a 6" lap either 
side. In.many cases we found that there was a 
matter of 1", or 2" or 3", rarely did we find it 
to be 6", and rarely ever out of all those 50 or 
54 trial holes if there were 4 than it was the 

• most I saw that probably conformed anywhere near to 
the specification. Most of them were 2" - 3" thick. 
Many I saw were only about 1" thick, and there were 
many amongst these which had foundation concrete 
which could be pulled out by hand, 
Q. What would be the practical effect cf not hawing 
a 6" overlapping side of the foundation wall? 
A. That is what is known as eccentric loading, and 
the tendency for the wall, it would be a gradual 
tendency, must be a side slip if you have got 
eccentric loading. 
Q. You have been there quite often and we have been 
there yesterday. It has been suggested that by now 40 
there should be big cracks in the wall? A. I can 
assure you that there have been cracks in these 
walls. They will re-appear and u-appear worse 
during each dry season until ultimately, and this 
will happen, they will become permanent wide or acts. 
Q. When do cracks show up most noticeably, in the 
wet or dry weather? A. In the dry weather. 
Q. Oan you explain why that is? A. It is like 
all things. When they dry out things tend to 
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30 
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20 

contract. The ground itself contracts. A lot of 
tlis.t weak mixture in the walls tends to contract. 
There is a general loosening up throughout, and a 
natural repose to gravity. 

the wet weather? 
effect of the weather is for 

a pressure 
t the build-

Q. What is the effect of 
A. Generally, 
"black cotton soil to swell. It exerts 
both"vertically and horizontally again 
mgs, Also the water does get into the building 
and also finds its way into the joints from under 
the ground, and of course during the wet weather 
also it enters the building by rain penetration, 
all "chese contribute to a swelling of the joints. 

Q. There were 
sort of cemen 
been? 
weathe 

ledges 

;d 

window 
covering. 

.. I think they 
by cutting the 

outside which had a 
Ho?/ should they have 
should have been properly 
stone. These have been 

weathered by painting with cement mortaring. 
Can you call weathering, can you call that cham-

not a good term, but you 
Q 
fering? A. 
could call it 

Well, it is 
chamfering. 
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Q. What does chamfering mean? 
to form a splay off. 

A. Chamfering is 

Q. Can you 
builder is 
A. It can be done by a form 
Chisel it, 

explain that? How do you do it? If a 
going to chamfer. what does he do? 

of stone dressing. 

Q. What is the object of it? 
it is to throw off the water. 

A. The object of 

30 Q. Is it a good or bad thing to put cement up 
against wood? A. It is not good practice, 
Q. Why not? A. The water is bound to get between 
the timber and the applied mortar and what is known 
as break the key. 
Q. On this specification, do you agree that it is 
a compliance with the specification to put a cement 
plaster on at an angle instead of chiselling the 
stone. No. 27 on page 7. What I want to know is 
whether creating a window lintel with a cement 

40 covering as we saw was a compliance with the speci-
fication in your opinion? A. Well, it is not 
good building practice. 
Q. Is it compliance with that specification? 
A. This specification is not very clear here. 
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JUDGES If 
detailed? 
find it. 

there ; 
A. I 

mywhere in the plans 
was looking for that 

where it is 
I cannot 

MR. SCHERLIBEUCISRs Are you in a position to ex-
press an opinion generally as to the comparison, 
if there is one in these' "buildings, "between what 
is above ground and what is underground. 
JUDGE; As to quality of work? 
MR. SCEERMBRUCKER: Yes, above ground as compared 
with below ground? A. I should say the work is 
worse, far worse, below ground and far more detri-
mental to the stability of the buildings. Above 
ground the work is not good. It has been concealed. 
It is easy to conceal it. 
JUDGE; What has been concealed? 
tive work above ground, 

A. The defec-

10 

MR. SCHERMBRUCKER: Can you give any reason for 
saying that? A. Yes, because like many people 
who visited the site yesterday for the first time, 
they don't really appreciate how consistently de-
fective a lot of that work is. If you are going 
to see how defective it is then you have got to 
expose it. 
Q, Did you do any exposing? A. I did, 
Q. Can you give us one or two instances on which 
you base your opinion? A. Prior to the Council 
commencing the direct labour work 1 did in a few 
places hack away the mortar to get some idea of 
how wide the joints were and what the mortar was 
like between the joints. I think the full appre-
ciation came during the period that the Council 
was raking out the joints on blocks, ma.inly blocks 
38A. B and 39. In many cases as much as 90 per 
cent of the joints internally were raked out. I 
doubt if it ever went below 40 per cent of the 
joints and in many cases we found that in raking 
he mortar out it fell out of its own accord. We 

found many joints so wide that you could put your 
hand through, get your arm through. I think 'it 
v/as in that period that I saw how poor the stone 
dressing was, how irregular the stones had been 
laid and how poorly the mortar had been applied. 

-fw-

Q. Can you 
quality of 
houses? 

express a general 
the screed on the 

opinion as 
floors of 

to 
these 

the 
A. Generally I should 

are up to specification, in fact 
say 
in 

the 
cases 

screeas 
I should 

20 

30 

40 
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say it was better than the specification. I would 
like to add further that it is not just the fact 
that the screeds are a mixture of 4:1 when chemic-
ally analysed that makes them a good screed. It is 
how the screed is applied, whether it bonds to the 
concrete of the sub-floor as to whether it is 
successful or not. 

Q. What was the bonding to the sub-floor like in 
general? A. In general, poor. To get an effect-
ive bond union with that sub-floor you have to 
clean off courpletely the side concrete, well wet 
it, and then apply your screed. If this is done 
you should get a reasonably good floor surface pro-
vided that the floor concrete is good to start with, 
If it is weak, as we have seen it in many cases, 
and the contractor puts on his 3:1, the co-effic-
ients are so dissimilar as for the reaction to be 
non-effective. In other words, a very strong 
screed not applied efficiently to a weak concrete, 
is not going to bond with it, and it is going to 
crack. And there is rarely a place where that 
hasn't happened. 

Q. What sort of a crack would that be to the eye 
if you looked at it? A. It would look like a 
hair crack. Then it will enlarge until it becomes 
a definite crack,. It is very difficult to tell 
whether a crack is the result of shrinkage stress-
es in the screed or whether it is the result of 
cracking in the concrete floor below. In fact the 
best way you can tell is to dig it up. 
Q. Is there a way that you can tell whether in 
fact the screed is adhering well to the concrete? 
A. Yes, you can do that by tapping. You get a very 
solid response, aad where it is hollov; it is easily 
identified as a hollow sound. 
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Q. Can you express an opinion generally as to the 
nature of the floor concrete in the buildings? 
A. Yes, I have seen quite a few of these floors 
opened and examined quite a 

40 wouldn't say that the 1:3:6 
is not there. I should say 
the cases it would be a 1:3 
does not make a good conere 

lot of the concrete. I 
mix that was asked for 
about 60 per cent of 
6 mix. But that again 
;e. If the contractor 

mix it properly, doesn't lay it properly, 
doesn't keep it"damp and keep-traffic off it until 
it is set, then it will never be good concrete, I 

say in most cases where he has got the right 
been spoilt by poor workmanship. I 

should 
mix it has 
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should say that where I have insp 
crete that he has not used a good sand. He 
used a sand that ha.s a considerable amount of 
purity in it. Earth. Earth does not respond 
chemical reaction with cement. 

con-
has 
im-
to 

Q. Are there any instances from which you draw 
that conclusion? A. Yes, I have noticed it. 
That concrete I looked at yesterday. I should 
doubt whether that sand was clear, as asked for in 
the specification. You won't find it like lumps 
of earth but you can tell by practical experience. 
Q. Do you know that a certain amount of work in 
these buildings were broken up by the Council 
using some sort of implement. Breaking up all the 
mortar? A. Yes. 
Q. Did you see what instrument they were using? 
A. Yes, the instruments were known as what we call 
raking out tool. They were made at the City Coun-
cil specially for this job. It is a steel bar, a. 
•§-" steel bar, 18" long, "burned at one end, the 
bottom part being about 3". I think one end was 
sharpened to a chisel point and the other was 
sharpened to a point. These tools were used for 
hacking out the defective mortar* 
Q. Would a crowbar be an appropriate term for thes 
tools? A. No, a crowbar is a completely differ-
ent tool. 

Q. Do you think it would 'be possible for you to ge 
hold of one of these tools and bring it with you 
tomorrow? 
JUDGE; Does very much turn on the tool? 
MR. MOULD; It would be possible. Perhaps the 
Town Clerk could get it better than I could, 
5th July, 1957 
TO 750 "a .m. 
Witness continues evidence on sam. ohh. 
Examination-in-Ghief by MR. SCHM MBRTJCKER (Contd.) 
Q. Mr. Mould, the tender in this case for Part B 
was £85,000. Have you gone into the figure aspect 
of this. Would you be able to say whether that 
was a high or low quote for the specification? 
A. I am given to understand 
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Q. Have you considered it yourself as an architect? 
A. I have considered it. I considered it "by coin-
paring prices of buildings at the time the tenders 
were made. I was not in the country at the time 
the tenders went out. However, it works out to 
just over 16/- a square foot. I think that is a 
reasonable price. 

Q. .Taking the job as it was when the contractor 
had done the last work that he did on it. Have 
you considered the finished job from the point of 
view of what it was worth? A. Yes, I don't 
think that the Council have got value for money. 
Q. Are you in a position ..... Can you or can't 
you Can you give his Lordship any idea of 
what value they did get? A. This is a very 
difficult question to answer because the way I 
would look at this is the fact that so much of the 
work is defective and would have to be remedied. 
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Q. Have you seen Mr. Wevill's estimate of what 
20 would be required to bring it up to standard. 

A. I have seen Mir. Wevill's estimate. 

Q. Have you had an opportunity of studying his 
figures? A. I have had the opportunity, but not 
as long as I would have liked to have. 
Q. Are you in a position to say whether you agree 
with them or not? A. Yes, I go all the way with 
Ilr. Wevill. I would go farther. 

Q. Have you worked out any figures on your own? 
A. I did. My figures for bringing the scheme up 

30 to specification would have been higher than Mr. 
Wevill's. 
Q. Can you give us a sum total of what you estimat-
ed would be required? A. To be quite honest it 
is a long time since I did it and there were sever-
al contracts I was working on. I believe that I 
estimated it between £45,000 and £50,000. 
Cross-examination by MR. 0'DONOVAN 
Q. Do you think all Mr. Wevill's figures are con-
servative? A. No, not all of Mr. Y/evill's 

40 figures. 

Cross-
examination. 

!l rp 
Take one figure. The largest item, floors. 

Po bring up 310,000/." Would you, to 
use your own phrase, go all the way with Mr.Wevill 
on that? A. MY Lord, I find it extremely diffi-
cult to think in terms of Shillings. 
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Q. £1,500. Would your own figure "be more than 
that? A. My own figure was £17,000 for floors. 
Q. I suggest that your figure was £3,750. Do you 
contradict that? A. I would like to have a look 
at my own figure. 
Q. I will show it to you in a moment. It would 
surprise you, would it? A. It does surprise me 
- my memory may "be faulty. 
Q. Mr. Mould, when did you come to this country? 
A. In August, 1954. 10 
Q. Was this your first job? A. As an architect, 
yes. My first job in East Africa. 
Q. In fact, your practical experience therefore of 
East African conditions commenced in March, 1955, 
when you went on to the site? A. Yes,. Sir. 
Q. You had no previous experience of black cotton 
soil? A. No previous experience at all. 
Q. Do you think you are in a position to contra-
dict Mr. Stone, who has worked in East Africa, on 
buildings for some 40 years? A. I don't think 20 
one has to live in East Africa for 40 years to 
have experience of black cotton soil. 
Q. Is that an answer? A. An indirect answer. 
Q. You say, in your opinion, these buildings have 
never been completed? A. In my opinion, that is 
so. 
Q. That means they have never been ready for occu-
pation does it? A.building is not ready for 
completion until it is completed. The two phrases 
mean the same? A. My Lord, this question is 
one that if I was to answer in the knowledge that 
I had when I first went to the site and the know-
ledge that I have now, you will have two different 
answers. 

Q. Give them both? A. When I first went to the 
site I had talc en over from another architect who I 
trusted had done a satisfactory job, An architect 
hasn't got X-ray eyes. He cannot see into stone-
work. He cannot see below floors. He cannot see 
below foundation walling. 

30 

40 
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Q. This is not a speech. This is an answer to my 
question, is it? A. An answer to your question. 
Had I known what I know now, 1 would say these 
"buildings were not fit for occupation. 

JUDGE: Do I understand you to say that you thought 
they were fit for occupation when you took over, 
"but you have since come to the conclusion that they 
are not? A. That is so. 
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Q. Does the phrase: "ready for occupation" mean 

10 the same thing as "completed"? That is my question. 
A. The answer to your question is yes. 
Q. How long did you work for Mr. Tanner before Mr. 
Tanner left? On the site. A. You say on the 
s it e. 

Ronald Frederick 
Mould. 
Cross-
examination ' 
- continued. 

Q. On the site? A. I didn't work with Mr.Tanner. 
I think I made two visits with Mr. Tanner to the 
s it e. 
Q. Over what period? 
months. 

A. A period of about 3 

20 Q. You worked with Mr. Tanner at any rate in rela-
tion to this contract for about three months? 
A. I wouldn't like to call it working. 
Q. How would you describe your activities? A. My 
activities were such that I was"detailed to take 
over this work, which I did on . * 
JUDGE: I think the question refers to the period 
before that * 
MR. O'DOHOVAM: Yes, before Mr. Tanner left. How 
long were you concerned with this contract? 

30 A. I answered the question. About 3 months. 
Q. During that time you made about two visits with 
Mr. Tanner? A. That is all. 
Q. I take it that you were aware of your responsi-
bility as an architect when you took over this con-
tract from him? A. I am aware I am responsible, 
yes. 
Q. I didn't ask whether you are now. Were you 
then? A. I was then. 
Q. That is all? A. That is not complete responsi-

40 bility. I was responsible to Mr. Tanner and the 
engineer. 
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Q. I didn't ask about the extent of your responsi-
bility. I asked whether you were aware of what 
they were? A. Hie answer is yes. 
Q. And did you carry out your duties under the 
contract conscientiously? A. I did my best. 
0 . The answer is yes? A. Yes; 
Q. You realised, of course, at the time public 
monies were involved in this contract? A. I was 
fully aware, 
Q. Were you fully aware that you were appointed 
because of your professional qualifications to 
ensure that no public money was paid out to the 
contractor which was not properly due under the 
contract? Were you aware of that? A. I was 
aware of that. 
Q. And did you carry out your duties properly in 
that respect by, that is to say, in relation to 
issuing payment certificates? A. Every payment 
certificate that I 
Q. Could you answer that 'Yes' or 'no'? I think 
you can. A. I don't think I can answer it 'Yes' 
or ' No '. 
Q. I will repeat the question to you. Did you 
conscientiously carry out your duties under the 
contract in regard to your issue of payment certi-
ficates. You either did or did not, surely? 
A. There is a little mere to it and I cannot 
answer it a straight 'Yes' or 'No'. 
JUDGE: You cannot say whether you carried it out 
conscientiously or not? A. May I enlarge on 
this in my answer, 
JUDGE: No doubt your Counsel will get any explana-
tion later. Cannot you answer the question as put 
to you? A. I don't think I can with a straight 
'Yes' or 'No'. 
MR. 01 .'DONOVAN: You can say 'Yes' or 'No' and then 
qualify it if you like. A. We will say a mild 
'Yes'. Can I qualify it. 
Q. I thought you had? A. I had considerable 
arguments over the issuing of these certificates. 
I prepare the certificates. The certificate is 
not authorised by me. 
Q. Is that your answer? A. That is my answer. 
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Q. With whom did. you have the arguments? 
A. My arguments took place with Mr. Tanner who was 
the architect in charge of African Housing at the 
time. 
Q. What were you arguing with Mr. Tanner about? 
A. That I did not consider the work to be up to 
specification. 
Q. Do you mean to say that you challenged Mr.Tanner 
on that on the strength of two visits over three 
months? A. I have been misunderstood. I did not 
make two visits over a period of three months. I 
made two visits with Mr. Tanner over a period of 
three months. 
Q. Independently you made more visits? A. Yes. 
0,. Did Mr. Tamer disagree with your standards? 
A. He did not entirely disagree with my view. He 
put many other views of his own. 
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Q. Did he over-rule you? A He did over-rule me. 

20 
Q. After he left he ceased to over-rule you? 
A. That is true. 

Q. 'When did he leave? A. He left on 6th June, 
1955 . 
Q. And thereafter did you conscientiously carry 
out your duties without qualification in regard to 
the issue of payment certificates? A. I did my 
best to . 1 held'up the payment certificates in May. 
I had been instructed to issue them by the then 
Acting City Engineer, Mr. Saunders in June. 

Q. Is your answer that as from Mr. Tanner's depart-
30 ure you yourself carried out yoiu- duties fully to 

safeguard the public's money before certificates 
were issued? A. I did, and before Mr. Tanner 
left as well, by holding up a payment certificate 
in May. 
Q. May we take it that you carefully acquainted 
yourself with the contract at the time with the 
provisions and the specifications? 
time would peimit, yes. 

A. As much as 

Q. Did time permit you to do it properly? 
40 as properly as I would have liked. 

A. Not 
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Q. Were there any of the 
tracts or specifications 
discovered? Or were you 
material time? A. May 

provisions of the con-
which you have only since 
aware of them all at the 
I ask a question? 

JUDGE: The question was fairly straightforward. 
Have 

i 
you only subsequently 

conditions and provisions of the 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: 
covered all the 
contract or did you know all of them? 
broadly aware of most of the provision 
specifications. 

dis-
•M 

A. 
in 

I was 
the 

Q. You can think of no subsequent discoveries? 
A. At the moment the answer is 'No'. 
Q. Did you go to a lot of trouble to try when Mr. 

a 
Tanner had left and you were there 
own standards? 
try to improve tne 
efforts to improve 
Mr. Tanner 1s thue. 

Did you go 
Thf 

to 
buildings? 
the buildings 

lot 
A. 
was 

to impose your 
of trouble to 
Mos t of my 
; exerted during 

Q. Did you go on trying after he had left? 
A. Yes. I went on trying after he had left. There 
was very little -work done after Mr. Tanner had 
left. 
Q. There were quite substantial payment certifi-
cates after he left. How do you account for that? 
A. I have already answered that question inasmuch 
as I was instructed to issue payments certificates 
that were held up in May. 
Q. Did you go to a lot of trouble after you took 
over the site in March to improve the standard of 
the building? A. To make it quite clear. The 
contract was 80 per cent complete. Some of the 
buildings were almost 100 per cent complete. My 
job was not to go over the work that ha.d already 
been done but to complete the work that had to be 
done. Where the work was in a state of completion 
I tried very hard to improve the standard to bring 
it up to conform with the specification. 

JUDGE: Where the work was still being done? 
A. Where the work was still being done. 
MR. 0'DO NOV AN: When you took over, two blocks had 
been accepted by the City Council. Is that not so? 
A. That is true. 

Q. TV/o out of 17? A. Yes 
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Q. And you were responsible as the architect in re-
gard to the maintenance of these two buildings? 
A. Not at all. 
Q. Did you think as architect you had no duties in 
respect of Clause 9(2) with regard to defects which 
might appear during the maintenance period? A. I 
have answered you a little incorrectly. I am res-
ponsible for listing defects which appear during 
the maintenance period. 

10 Q. So you would examine the two accepted blocks 
during the months after acceptance? A. I would. 
Q. And did you? A. I did not. 
Q. Go on. A. Because the maintenance period had 
not been clearly agreed between the Council and 
the Contractor. It was later agreed with the con-
tractor, that is, the maintenance period of six 
months would commence from the taking over of the 
last block of the contract. It would therefore 
mean that some blocks would have been accepted and 

20 occupied and the maintenance period could run into 
10 months. It is customary to do a maintenance 
inspection towards the end of that six months, and 
provide the contractor with a list of defects, if 
any, which you wished put right before the final 
certificate is issued. 
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Q, Is this alleged agreement recorded anywhere?' 
A. I was of the impression that it was recorded. 
Q. I suggest to you, I suggest there is nothing in 
the City Council files to indicate any such agree-

30 ment. A. I will have to accept your word. 
Q. Very well. Will you look at your file during 
the next adjournment and if you can find it villi 
you produce it? 
Q. Did you hear Mr. Schermbrucker in his opening 
address suggest that the maintenance period of 
these two blocks had expired in about May? 

MR. SCHERMBRIJCKER: Ho wasn't in court. 
ivbi., 0'DONOVANs I am sorry. Did you go round the 
blocks room by room in your efforts to improve the 

40 blocks. A. Hot all of them. 
Q. Did you go room by room through every block 
which was going to be taken over? Which was 



424. 

In the Supreme 
C ourt of Kenya 

Evidence for the 
City Council of 
Nairobi 

No. 14 
Honald Frederick 
Mould. 
Cross-
examination 
- continued. 

approaching the stage where it could be accepted? 
A."I did. 
Q. Did you make the criticisms in order to get it 
put right going down to the minutest details. 
A. As regards the finishes, yes. 
Q. Were lists of defects pointed out to the con-
tractor or given to him in writing? A. They 
were left hy me with the Clerk of Works. Whether 
he passed them on to the contractor I cannot say. 
Q. The Clerk of "Works was deputising for you was 
he? A. Yes. 
Q. In regard to pointing out defects and seeing 
they were properly remedied? A. With regard to 
finishes we are talking about. The answer is yes. 
Q. You were aware, were you not, of your powers 
under Section 9 (1): "To order the removal 
in accordance with the specification". Do you 
want to make a long speech and qualify the answer 
to a simple question? A. The simple answer is... 
JUDGE: It is a very simple question. Were you 
aware of the powers in Clause 9 (1)? A. I was 
aware of Clause 9 (1). 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: The answer is 'Yes'? A. The 
answer is not entirely 'Yes' so far as I ara con-
cerned. 
JUDGE: You were either aware or not aware of 
Clause 9(1)? A. I have answered 'Yes' to Clause 
9(1). 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: Did you not use your powers under 
Clause 9(1) to cause the removal of certain de-
fective materials and the re-execution of certain 
work, the floors for instance? A. I did exercise 
my powers in having tiles removed. 

Q. And floors relaid in some cases? A. Yes, ul-
timately . 
Q. Did you authorise the Clerk of Works to exer-
cise that power for you. I think you said in your 
Examination-in-Chief: nI told Goodwin to attend 
to any defects and get them rectified". You deput-
ed to Goodwin your powers under 9(1)? A. May"I 
read Clause 9(1). 
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Q. Do please. (Witness reads) 
it. It refers to the engineer, 
engineer. 

A. I have read 
I am not the 

Q. You want to start arguing about that. 
JUDGE; I don't think your Counsel is disputing 
that for the purpose of the contract you are the 
engineer within the meaning of the word? A. I 
would like to qualify that. 

MR. 0'DONOVAN:• Presumably the defects, these 
10 minute details, which appeared after these room by 

room inspections were in fact carried out before 
any particular block were accepted, were they not? 
A. They were. 
Q. You personally, Mr. Mould, were responsible for 
the acceptance of no less than 9 out of the 11 
blocks that were accepted. A. That is not true. 
Q. You 'recommended to the Council the acceptance 
of these 9 out of the 11? A * I r e c ommended 

20 

•acceptance to the Council of 5. 
Q. Pour were due to embarrassment? 
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A. Yes. 

30 

Q. We will deal with those five that didn't em-
barrass you? A. I have had many arguments over 
those and I was overruled by my superiors. 
Q. Did you recommend to the Council 5 of the 9 
blocks? A. Not y/ithout protest. 
Q. Did you put these protests in writing? The 
answer to that is 'No' A. It probably is 'No'. 

40 

Q. Would you like to look through this file? If 
you can see any vestige of protest will you bring 
it to the notice of His Lordship? What caused your 
embarrassment with regard to four of the blocks? 
A. The blocks had been occupied on the authority of 
the Deputy City African Affairs Officer. 

Q. With the knowledge c£ the Council? A. Without 
the knowledge of The Council. 
Q. When did they come to learn of it? A. Because 
the African City Council Affairs Officer is part of 
the Council, so it is within the knowledge of the 
Council, The architect's knowledge a few days 
later. 
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rassment on these files? A. 1 don't think so. 
Q. Is the inference to be drawn that a different 
standard was applied in recommending the accept-
ance of the blocks to the council from :hat which 
you now apply when you so whole heartedly condemn 
all of them. Can you answer that 'Yes' or 'No'? 
A. Yes. 
JUDGE: A different standard is being applied now 
than was being applied when the blocks were being 10 
accepted? A. The answer is yes. I would like 
to qualify it. 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: You can qualify it at a later 
stage. One of the letters of acceptance is in 
your own handwriting, Mr. Mould. Would you dis-
pute that? Would you dispute that you drafted the 
letters of acceptance? A. All assistant archi-
tects draft them. 
JUDGE: All the letters? 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: M l of them or some of them? 20 
A. They draft most of the letters concerned with 
the contract. 
Q. When you did that you were fully aware of the 
general character of these buildings. Were you 
not? A. I was not fully aware of the general 
charac ter. 
Q. Did you - to use your own expression - did you 
require X-ray eyes to see that the window sills 
had been weathered by cement instead of being 
chamfered? A. That does not require X-ray eyes. 30 
Q. I take it that you were prepared to see the 
Council accept these blocks although the sills had 
been treated in that way? A.That with many other 
points are ones that I brought up with regard to 
things I had seen on these buildings, 
Q. Did you bring it up in writing? A. I should 
say the answer is 'No'. 
Q. Did you tell the contractor to do otherwise? 
A. No. 
Q. Did you notice the quality of the mortar used 40 
in the external walls? A. Do I have to answer 
this on a 'Yes' or 'No'? 
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JUDCTA J B: Perhaps 
take too long. 

you can qualify this, "but don't 
A. The walls as completed out-

side are not completed as asked for in the speci-
fication. 

MR. 0'DONOVAN: 
did notice it. 

And did you notice that? A. I 

Q. And you drew up these acceptance certificates 
notwithstanding? A. This again was one of the 
cases discussed with Mr. Tanner as to why the 

10 walls had "been finished off. 

Q. Are you referring to the fact that they are not 
struck-jointed and Mr. Tanner told you that he 
directed otherwise? A. Yes. 
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20 

Q. That ends the matter, doesn't it? Or do you 
think you are entitled to resurrect it now? 
A. I would like to add a piece more. To effect a 
completion of the joint as it was done is often 
to point out and then effect a keyed finish. 
Q. Never mind the technical details. Did you 
notice the quality of the mortar? A. Where I 
saw it I assumed it was the pointing. 
Q. Did you notice that the mortal' In the external 
walls was weak or not? A. I never went round. 
Q. You didn't go round with a sharp instrument? 
A. Not at the time. I did. I made a detailed 
inspection of a lot of mortar about May before Mr. 
Tanner had left. 

Q. About May? A. On Part E. 
Q. We are only talking about Part B. So that you 

30 were well aware of the quality of the mortar before 
a number of these acceptance certificates were 
issued? A. No, sir. 
Q. How do you reconcile your last two answers? You 
made a detailed inspection In May and the certifi-
cates are dated June? A. I was instructed to 
accept these buildings. It was an embarrassment to 
me. 
Q. You mean you were embarrassed by nine out of 
nine? I thought you were only embarrassed by four? 

40 A. The blocks that were officially accepted in June 
are blocks 31, 32, 33 and 34, the blocks I held up. 
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Q. what about the other blocks? A. I did not 
make an inspection of the work carried out by my 
predecessor in detail. I did not consider it my 
responsibility. 
Q. You said you made a detailed inspection in May? 
A. Of finishes in May. 
Q. Of all blocks? Most of ;he blocks 

Ronald Frederick 
Mould . 
Cross-
examination 
- continued. 

Q. I thought you didn't, once the builc.ing had 
been completed, concern yourself with maintenance 
until the end of the maintenance period? 
A. I didn't say it was maintenance. When I was 
inspecting these blocks in May I was becoming 
radically aware that the blocks had not been built 
to specification and work that had been concealed 
before my arrival. 

10 

Q. Do you remember after the trial holes were dug 
at the end of May. 20 in all, I put it to you 
that there were 10 dug inside the buildings and 10 
outside? A. I don't recall 10 inside. We are talk-
ing about May, 1955. They were dug outside. 20 

Q. At any rate, some of the floors had been taken 
up and you were well aware of the nature of the 
hard core filling weren't you before the end of 
June? Had not some of the floors been taken up on 
your instructions? And the hard core filling ex-
posed? A. I can only recall one floor in Block 
59. I instructed Mr. Goodwin to take it up. 
Q. Were you aware of the hard core filling? 
A. I was aware before the end of June. It was 
either the end of June or beginning of July. 50 
Q. You never in your list of defects which you in-
structed the contractor to do insisted on his 
replacing the hard core filling with other material? 
A. At the time these defect lists were made out in 
respect of the earlier blocks I had not seen the 
hard core filling. 
Q. You 
became 

never 
aware 

instructed the contractor after you 
of the hard core illing to take it 

out and put something different in its place? Did 
you or did you not? A. Can it 
I asked my senior, the engineer, 
floors taken up and the back 

DO put 
O X 

fill to 
this way, 

'cave all the 
be taken ... 

40 

Q. I am not asking you what you asked the engineer 
to do. Did you ask the builder to replace the hard 
core filling? A. I was not in a position to.... 
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10 

Q. Did you or did you not? A. Ho. 

Q. You knew very well from your inspection of the 
building that there was no plate as required by the 
specification on one of the inside walls, did you 
not? A. A wail plate. 
Q. Yes. And that the wall had instead been built 
up to reach underneath the tiles. You were aware 
of that? A. That there was to be no plate? 

Q. Yes. A. I cannot recall it. 
Q. It is obvious 
and to whom it it 
no plate? 

to anybody who 
pointed out? 

gets 
A. 

into 
That 

any room 
there is 
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Q. Were you aware that that had been altered? 
A. I cannot particularly recall it. 
Q. You were aware of course of the extent to which 
the internal walls had been finished off, weren't 
you? A. Yes. 
Q. In fact, did you not go round with Mr. Stone 
pointing out individual pieces of rock where pro-

20 jecting surfaces had to be chipped off? A. I 
don't particularly recall it as such in regard to 
the wall surface so much as where places where the 
door openings were, particularly where I considered 
people could catch themselves on those projections. 

Q. Every criticism you had to make was in fact 
dealt with, was it not? A. Not everyone, but the 
majority. 
Q. Subst ant ially? A. Substantially. 
Q. Where the bag-wipe was not satisfactory you had 

30 it redone for instance, didn't you? A. Towards 
the end of the contract the bagwiping became pro-
gressively bad on the later blocks and I did ask 
for it to be redone. I don't think it was ever re-
done. I am sure it was never redone. 

Q. You are sure it was never redone. Do you remem-
ber which block 38 is? Is it one of the worst 
ones? A. One of the worse as regards the finish-
Qi There were improvements made. 

40 
Q. You were looking after three contracts? A. I 
was looking after two out of three contracts. 
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Q. Were you aware of the quality of 
all three? A. I beg your pardon, 
matelv take over the three. 

the work oi 
I did ulti-

Q. Was not this particular contract very much the 
best? A. Not very much the best. He was prob-
ably much better than the other two at his finishes. 
Q. Are you sure you haven't got some 
vations mixed up with what you s aw on 
tracts. A. I v/as under the impression 

i your ooser-
other con-

when I 
saw the three contracts that Part B v/as the best. 

only 
sibly 

asking -i la- in giving evidence you have 
be em mistaken in your recollections 

Q. I am 
not pose 
and confused some of the things you saw in the 
other contractor's site with this particular work? 
A. There is always a possibility, but I cannot re-
call anything at the moment. 
Q. We have a record here of sane very satisfactory 
tests of cement by the P.W.D., of samples sent to 
them by Mr. Goodwin, hid you authorise him to 
take samples? A. Some samples were taken by me. 
Q. hid you authorise him 
ised him to take samples an 
Ata-ul-Haq in his presence, 
samples. 

o do it? A. I author-
d some were taken by Mr, 

I think they took 2 

10 

20 

Q. Apart from that Mr. Goodwin sent samples to the 
P.W.D. A. Apart from that he took samples to 
the P.W.D. and many I myself took. 
Q. The results were satisfactory. At least those 
produced by Mr. Goodwin were satisfactory. Would 
you look at the Exhibits? Exhibit 66. That 
purports to relate to this contract does it not? 
A. It relates to this contract. 

30 

Q, And it is very satisfactory, isn't it? 
A. There are two sets of test'results here. The 
first set refers to the analysis of concrete in 
the floor. 
Q. I only asked you whether they were satisfactory 
or not? A. As far as the proportion goes, one 
is both are reasonably satisfactory. 
Q. They deal only with proportions. They are 40 
satisfactory? A. Not entirely satisfactory. The 
first one is satisfactory and the second one is 
l:3s6 to 6.2. 
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Q. Does that satisfy you? A. It is less than 
what we asked for so it is not really satisfactory. 
Q, Oh, cornel On the whole, are they satisfactory? 
A. I would accept those mixes. 

Q. How is it that there is no reference to that 
satisfactory test in the City Council Enquiry. You 
concentrated on the "bad analyses. A. All these 
tests were taken over to the public Enquiry. The 
advocates had access to them. The fact that I was 

10 not asked to comment on any of these particular 
ones is no business of mine. 
Q. And so you refrained from commenting? 
JUDGE; I don't know that this witness could give 
the why and wherefore of why it v/asn't produced. 
A. All these documents were taken over and I was 
prepared to comment on any of them. 
MR. 0'DO HOY AIT; It was not produced to you. You 
didn't mention that? A. I don't recall that. 
Q. Of course you don't recall. What about your 

20 other tests which you sent. Where are the results 
of them. Can you produce them or can't you? 
A. I have seen the originals of these copies at 
the City Council. I was under the impression that 
we had found most of them. 

In the Supreme 
Court of Kenya 

Evidence for the 
Citjr Council of 
Nairobi 

No. 14-
Ronaid Frederick 
Mould. 
Cross-
examination 
- continued. 

Q. You have only produced two bad ones? Where are 
the test results? A. This is external corres-
pondence. Kept in the registry. 
Q. So there would be a registry record of the tests 
of the other samples which you sent? A. They 

30 should be included on the registry files. 
Q. How many samples do you think you sent on how 
many occasions. There must have been quite a num-
ber relating to this contract? When the Council 
examined the site did you pull off one piece of 
mortar and make the observation that it was a par-
ticularly bad piece of mortar? A. I am not sure 
whether I did pull it off. 
Q. Did you make the observation that it was particu-
larly bad? A. On being asked, I said I thought 

40 it was 1;8 but it was 1;3. 
Q. It turned out t o be better than the specifica-
tion? You were challenged by the contractor and 
proved to be wrong? A. Not entirely. 
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JUDGE: And it turned out to be a much stronger 
mix? A. Yes, but I can explain that. 
JUDGE: Your Counsel in re-examination will give 
you every opportunity to explain. 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: Did you not on 19th May, 1955 re-
port to the City Council that your aim was to raise 
the standard of work and to concentrate on getting 
the contracts completed as quickly as possible? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you say on that same date that there was 
one unit on which the floor had not been laid 
where the hard core was exposed? A. That was 
Part A. 
Q. Your report doesn't say whether it was Part A 
or 3. Do you mix them up? A. I deal generally, 
Q. You deal generally. Did you comment that the 
Plaintiff's work in this ease was generally of a 
better standard? A. It is ciuite possible that I 
did. 
Q. Would you like to see what you said? You say: 
"He is argumentative, but his work is of a better 
standard". Is it a correct statement of fact? 
A. I hope I have made it clear that everything is 
qualified by time? 
Q. You have made it quite clear that everything 
you say is qualified. You knew that Mr, Tanner 
had given a great many verbal instructions? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Many of which should have been in writing, 
strictly speaking? A. Yes. 
Q. You continued giving a number of verbal instruc-
tions yourself? A. It is quite possible. 
Q. Did you on the 5th July write this note yourself 
in your own handwriting. Did you write to the 
Engineer, City Council: "I should be ready 
for occupation". Do you want to qualify an answer 
to a question whether this is your handwriting? 
A. 'That is my handwriting. This is an internal 
memo and not an official letter. 



Q. Is there some lesser standard of truthfulness 
in internal memos? With regard to extras. I will 
refer you to a note. Did not Mr, Goodwin on your 
instructions start measuring extras in respect of 
which verbal orders had been given? A. Whose 
verba], orders? 
Q. Mr. Tanner's. A. I asked Mr. Goodwin to 
measure quite a considerable amount of things. 
Q. Did Mr. Goodwin inform you that the contractor 
told him that he was told to get on with the work, 
that he could not produce to you the orders in 
writing because he was unable to get them, and did 
he further add that the contractor was much more 
satisfied now that he had seen the work measured 
in Mr. Goodwin's book as the contractor was under 
the impression that he was /ping to be denied these 
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extras? A. Yes 
MR. SCHSRMEIUOKER: Is that evidence? 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: You arranged with Mr. Goodwin to 
measure extras which had. been verbally ordered by 
Mr. Tanner? A. Yes. 
Q. And did you agree with the Plaintiff that he 
was not to be denied these extras simply because 
the promised variation order had not been pro-
duced? A. He gave the understanding that they 
would be considered justly. 
Q. They would be justly considered. They would be 
honourably considered? 
JUDGE: This was to whom? A. The contractor. 
MR.0'DONCMN:Did you occasionally receive typewritten 
memos from Mr, Goodwin? A. Yes, Sir, very occas-
ionally. 
Q. Is this one of them, dated 8th July? 
call it as one. 

A. I re-

Q. Does it set out with confirmation that certain 
extras were ordered verbally? 
VP a n T'T.H T MR. RMBRUCK2E: If the nemo is admissible, 
cannot we have the memo? 

JUDGE: Is this the one v/e talked about previously' 
ME. SCHERUUR1 JOKER: If it is a memo that the wit-
ness received at the time, then it is a simple 
ma tter. 
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JUDGE: I think you had better leave the whole of 
this memo. 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: Did you, in fact, agree that his 
claim for extras would not be prejudiced by the 
absence of a written variation order? Is that not 
a fact that you said that they would be justly 
dealt with? A. Yes. Sir. 
Q. In fact, did you not agree that it would be dis-
honourable and discreditable of the City Council 
to try to slide out of an obligation to pay for 
extras where they had promised a variation order 
in writing and then not given it? 

JUDGE: Does that matter? 

10 

MR. 0'DONOVAN: No, My Lord. Just a matter for 
comment. Did you hold up payment certificates 11 
and 12 as a precautionary measure because of an 
enquiry on African housing on this estate? Would 
you like to read a letter in your handwriting 
which I have more or less quoted? A. Yes. 
Q. And when the 
delay in giving 

contractor complained about the 
him letters of acceptancei did you then reply that that was the Council's responsibil-

ity and didn't prejudice him in 
I have a look at the letter? 

my way? A. May 

20 

Q. The answer is yes, is it not? A. You ere 
talking about payment certificates. These don't 
refer to payment certificates. 
Q. When the contractor complained about delays in 
getting letters of acceptance, did you reply to 
that effect? A. Yes* 
Q. In effect it didn't prejudice him. That is 
Exhibit 42* In fact, the delay in taking over the 
blocks would prejudice him, would it not? It would 
extend the maintenance period. It would automatic-
ally, wouldn't it? If the maintenance period 
started from the date of acceptance? A. Are you 
referring to my liability here? 
Q. Yes. A. We are talking about different terms. 
Q. In effect it would extend the maintenance period 
and therefore increase his liability, would it not? 
A. In the way you are putting + that correct. 

30 

40 
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10 

20 

Q. Very well, we will leave it. Was Block 37 as 
"bad as 38? 38 was one of the worst so far as 
finishes were concerned? A. I cannot recall at 
the moment, Sir. 
Q. Is This in your hand-writing? "A site report 

generally reasonable"? A. Yes, an archi-
tect's opinion of what is generally reasonable 
would probably be very different to your own. 

Q. Were you expressing a genuine opinion as an 
architect whether or not it differed from my own? 
(Exhibit 68). A. I expressed it there. 
Q. Was it honest? A. It was honest. 
Q. The second lot of trial holes were dug you said 
in July. There were only two lots of trial holes 
dug by the contractor were there not? A. Two 
lots dug by the contractor. 
Q. Your written authority for the work was some-
where at the beginning of July, but in fact it 
began some days before. I suggest to you that the 
second lot commenced to be dug at the end of June? 
A. May I see the authority? 
Q. Mr. Goodwin informed you on the 27th June that 
Mr, At a ul Haq, to use his expression; "Went right 
up in the air when he saw that there were some 
buildings marked '3 courses' He wants to 
do the rest tomorrow 
to that? 

» Do you agree having regard 
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MR. SCZffiMBHUOKIR; This is Mr. Goodwin giving 
evidence through Mr. Mould as to what happened. 

30 JUDGE: Yes, but is that not a clear admission. 
There is no question of any tiling said by the con-
tractor. 
MR. SCHERMBEUCK3R: Mr. Goodwin is not a party to 
this action. 
JHDC-E: You are objecting? 
MR. SCYEHMBEUCKER; I am . 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: Would you agree that the excava-
tions must have been completed in the early days 
of July. The second lot of trial holes. One was 

40 started in June. A. Sir, I would like to refer 
to the file. 
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Q. Please do. Can you answer the question? 
A. I have just found a letter. It was the letter 
I was looking for which agreed the digging of these 
trial holes. 
Q. After some had started? A. 'The letter is 
dated 8th July, 1955. I should say it was several 
days from that, so it would not in my opinion be 
the beginning of July but the middle of July. 
Q. I see. When did you do your inspection? Have 
you any notes of it? A. There was a note. I 
cannot find my copy of it, but I gave Mr. Ata ul 
I-Iaq. a copy in the presence of Mr. Goodwin find Mr. 
Thomas on the site on the day I made the inspection. 
The day the first samples were taken. 

10 

Q. Was that about the middle of July? 
it was later than the middle of July, 
years ago. 

A. I think 
It was two 

Q. You have no notice of it yourself? A. I had 
a copy. 
Q, What state had the works reached when you in-
spected the second lot of trial holes? A. I 
think they were in the contractor's opinion 
they were complete. 
Q. And in your opinion not? A. In my opinion 
not. 

20 

Q. Do you remember that certain screeds had not 
been laid on the floors when you examined the 
second lot of trial ho3.es? A. I cannot recall. 
Q. How/ever, you can recall this - that at that 
stage there were other repairs to be effected be-
fore you would accept the works? A. I should 
say that was probably true. 
Q. You were aware, were you not, of the conditions 
in the contract relating to payment. That is, 
Clause 15 of the specification under the heading: 
"Terms of Payment", "That payments at his 
discretion". Had Mr. Tanner left at that time? 

30 

JUDGE Is this the specification? A. Yes. 
ME:. 0'DONOVAN: Had Mr. fanner left when you exam-
ined the second lot of trial holes? A. Mr.Tanner 
had left. 40 
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Q. You were aware of the terms of payment described 
by the specification, were you not? ' A. May I 
look at it? 
Q. You had studied clause 15. It affected one of 
your most important duties. That is to prevent 
the misapplication of your employers' money? You 
had studied that? A. Yes. 
Q. Did you abide by it? A. I was authorised .... 
Q. Did you abide by it? A. It is not as simple 

10 as you may think. I would like some guidance. 
Q. I will ask a simpler question. Did you become 
a party to the misapplication of your employer's 
funds? 
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JUDGE: I think that is unfair. 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: I should have thought he would have 
answered "No". 
JUDGE: Have you issued certificates that you ought 
not to have done? A. I did not issue certificates. 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: Did you draw them up? A. If I 

20 draw them up 1 don't issue them. 
Q, Did you draw any up? 
JUDGE: Did you draw any up whether on instructions 
or otherwise? A. The answer is 'Yes'. I drew up 
certificates. 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: Did you draw up any which should 
not have been issued? Would you prefer not to 
answer that question now. 
A. May I ask a question? Is it possible to discuss 
this with the Council's advocates? 

30 0'DONOVAN: You feel you would like to? 
A. It is not for an answer. It is for procedure. 
JUDGE: You say you would prefer not to'say whether 
they should not have been issued? A. I would 
like more time to consider. 
m . 0'DONOVAN: You could not have issued an interim 
certificate exceeding 90 per cent of the value of 
the work properly executed. A. I have already 
stated. I did not issue certificates. If you wish 
to say I am a party to them ..... 
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Q. Mr. Mould, you were very largely in control of 
this contract, were you not? A. Very largely. 
Q. The City Engineer was guided by you? A. In 
many cases it was the opposite way around. 
Q, I notice.that a great deal of the correspondence 
signed by the City Council is drafted by you in 
your own handwriting? A. Yes. 
Q. You were not a. clerk or a. stenographer. You 
wore composing those letters. He was guided by 
you. A. I did not dispute that. But he guided 10 
me as well. 
Q. You guided each other mutually, "Payments 
should not 90 per cent of the works properly 
executed". Do you agree with that? If a certi-
ficate was issued for the whole amount it means 
that the whole contract has been properly executed? 
JUDGE: That is a matter for argument. 
MI. 0'DONOVAN: When you issued certificates were 
any certificates issued, interim certificates, for 
payment of more than 90 per cent of the value of 20 
the work properly executed? Was the maximum ad-
hered to, in fact? 
JUDGE: Were any interim certificates issued for 
any amount in excess of the 90 per cent of the 
value of the work properly executed? A. Not as 
far as I know. 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: You can think about this again. 
One further question. The last certificate issued, 
that is on the 19th - 20th July and 23rd July, 
must have been after your examination of the sec- 30 
ond trial holes? A. Yes, 
JUDGE: 21st July? A. Yes. 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: How could you be a party to that 
final certificate No. 13 if on examining the trial 
holes you had discovered an attempt at deceiving 
you? A. In the first place you say the second 
day it was issued and I must have examined the 
trial holes at that time. 
Q. I didn't say that. I asked you. 
JUDGE: Was it after the examination of the trial 40 
holes. Was it before or after the issue of the 
certificates? A. I cannot remember. 
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HA. 0'DONOVAN": I thought you said they would have 
been completed about the 14th July. Did you date 
the samples which you took? A. Yes. 
Q. T/here are thev? 
P.W.D. 

A. They should be with the 

Q. Will you please endeavour to obtain the sample 
bags? A. I will. 
Q. The particular ones taken at the second trial 
holes? A. Yes, 
Q. Hi ere is no record in your files is there of 
when you sent them to the P.W.D.? A. I don't 
think there are any on this file. I have had a 
look for them. 
Q. Shouldn't you have a record on your file? 
A. I told you, I did have a letter, a copy of 
which was given to Ata ul Haq. I cannot find my 
copy. These files have been handled at public 
enquiries, and there is a lot of correspondence 
which should be here. 
Q. You examined the first lot of trial holes in 
Hay? A. It must have been the last two days of 

or the first two or three of June. 
Q. At least that was before the signing of this 
last certificate? A. Yes. 

Are you definite about that? A. Yes. 
Q. You had ascertained the mortar in the founda-
tions was weak? A. On that particular inspection? 
May I refer to my own memo? 
Q. This is not a memo about that particular sub-
ject. You said in Examination-in-Chief that the 
first lot of trial holes revealed weak mortar in 
the trial holes. Do you want to withdraw that 
statement, qualify it or adhere to it? A. At 
the first inspection. 
Q. The inspection of the first trial holes in May 
revealed that the mortar in the foundation walls 
was weak. You said so. Do you want to query it? 
A. Could I be reminded in what form I said it? 
Q. Are you denying it? Are you 'doubtful about it? 
A. It is quite possible it is quite correct. 
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Q. Do you give evidence on affirmation about poss-
ibilities? Is it the truth that in May the 
examination of trial holes revealed that the mor-
tar was weak or was it just a possibility? 
A. A probability. 
Q. A probability? A. Probability. 
Q. Why were you a party to a certificate issued on 
the basis that everything had been done? If you 
don't want to answer that question we will leave 
it. A. I have answered that question. I was 
instructed to issue them. 
Q. By whom? A. Mr. Saunders. 
Q. On the 21st Julv? A. It might have been the 
20 th. 
Q. Against your better judgment? A. Yes, against 
my better judgment. 
Q. In spite of what you pointed out to him.. Did 
you tell him about your reservations about issuing 
them? A. I cannot remember exactly what 3'. said. 
JUDGE : Was your opinion that this final certifi-
cate should not have been issued? A. It was my 
opinion. 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: Did you put that in writing? 
A. May 1 have a look to see. 
2.15 p.m. re sumed. 

All present as before. 
MR. 0'DONOVANs 

I think there is now no longer any difference 
between my learned friend and myself. He concedes 
that an admission by a Clerk of Works should be 
admissible. He does not concede that evidence can 
be led of statement to the Clerk of Works. I do 
not press the latter aspect of it, I only seek to 
produce the second document signed by Mr, Goodwin. 
JUDGE: 

You agree on that? 
MR. SCKERMBRUGKER: 

I think it seems clear, under section 3.8, I 
have looked at p. 167 .... 
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JUDGE; 
I understand Mr. 0'Donevan is only seeking to 

put in the second document and you will not object 
to that? 
mi. SCHERMBRUCKBR: 

There is only one statement in that that my 
learned friends want and I agree that that is a 
document by the Clerk of Works. I will not object. 
There are other items in it that I am sure Your 

10 Lordship will realise are inadmissible, 

MR. RONALD FREDERICK MOULD; 
Cross-examination by Mr. 0'Donovan: (continued) 
Q. Is this a letter dated 27th June from the Clerk 
of Works informing you that one hole had-been dug 
and it was ascertained that the original figure, of 
foundation depths was inaccurate. It should have 
been four courses instead of three in one place? 
(Letter before witness) A. Yes, 

(Letter put in as Ex. 69) 
20 Q. You see it goes on to say that the other holes 

will be dug, it says "tomorrow", doesn't it? 
A. It says; "He wants to do the rest tomorrow". 
Q. I would like to ask you again the question I 
asked you before lunch - were you a party to the 
issue of any certificate of payment which was not 
in accordance with the contract? Do you say you 
still cannot answer the question. A. I think it 
is an unfair question. 
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30 

40 

JUDGE; Q. Do you not wish to answer it? 
not wish to answer it in that form, Sir. 

A. I do 

Q. These payment certificates, I see, are in fact, 
signed by Mr. Bridger, all of them up to the 23rd 
March. Do you agree that? Thereafter Mr. Roberts 
signed certificates Nos. 10 to 12; Mr. Saunders 
signed the last one, No. 13; Mr. Bridger signed 
certificates Nos. 1 to 9. Do you agree that? (Ex. 
35 before the witness) A. I do agree. 
Q. Did you have any arguments with Mr. Bridger 
about issuing those certificates? A. Not with 
nr. nager, 
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Q. I think you did say who Mr. Roberts was, but I 
forget? A. Mr. Robert's was, from April - the end 
of April - till about September, Acting Deputy City 
Engineer. 
Q. Did he overrule you in any of these certifi-
cates? A. I do not recall arguments with Mr. 
Roberts, it was with Mr. Saunders I usually dis-
cussed the matter. 
Q. Mr. Roberts' certificates go up to June 24th. 
Now, I take it then that you had no qualms about 
the issue of certificates 10, 11 and 12, which are 
Mr. Roberts' certificates? A. I have already 
told you that I did oppose the issue of this money. 
This is the first time, I can assure you, that I 
knev; thai Mr. Roberts had signed them. 

JUDGEs Q. You did oppose the issue of those certi-
ficates, 10, 11 and 12? A. Yes. 
Q. And I take it you opposed the issue of certifi-
cate No. 13, did you Mr. Saunders' one? A. Yes. 
Q. Mr. Saunders overruled you, did he? A. Yes. 
He was the person, the Acting Engineer, who was 
the supreme authority to which I had to appeal 
with any plans. 
Q, Presumably you explained to him the grounds of 
your opposition? (Ho answer) 
JUDGEj Q. During which period was Saunders Acting 
Engineer, roughly? A. From end of April until 
lot September, when Mr. Salmon took up his appoint-
ment . 
Q. Bridger was before that? A. Yes. 
Q. Roberts was only Acting Deputy? A. Yes, 
Q. It was a hand over from Bridger to Saunders? 
A. Yes. 
Q. As the Engineer? A. As the Engineer. 
Q. Did you explain to Mr. Saunders the grounds of 
your objection? A. Yes. 
Q. In detail? A. In detail. 
Q. He disagreed with you, did he? A. That is a 
point I was coming to. Mr. Saunders put it to me 
that he himself would have to pass this on to the 
Council. 
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Q, Was it put to the Coimcil, whether a certificate 
should "be issued? A. Any particular reply to 
that I cannot say. I was not present. There were 
many meetings "between Heads of Departments and 
particularly the Treasurer and the Engineer, that 
I was not present. 
<}. Isn't it a little surprising that this file -
this is a City Council file, isn't it? A. Yes. 
Q. Relating to this contract - contains no hint of 

10 your disagreement about these certificates? 
A. You have at [Least one thing to say, that they 
were held up as a precautionary measure. 
Q. Yes, but you held up all of them as a precaution-
ary measure, on your initiative? A. I did, and 
I could hold them up beyond that, on my own initia-
tive. 
Q. And yet, with reference to that, you did not 
give any reason except that you held than up as a 
precautionary measure, because there was a general 

20 inquiry into the whole subject of African Housing? 
A. That is all I said. 
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40 

Q. And was that the only reason why you held them 
up? A. That in itself is the only reason, and a 
very good reason. 
Q. So it had nothing to do with your doubts about 
whether the certificates should be issued for this 
particular work, it was connected with higher 
politics? A. I do not agree. 
Q. Did you indicate to Mr. Roberts in detail the 
grounds of all your objections? A. Yes; and Mr. 
Roberts did come down to the site with me in May -
I should say about 17th Mas?". 
Q. And issued the certificates in June? (No answer) 
Q. I put it to you that there is nothing in this 
file that the' maintenance period was not to be 
postponed for the works as a whole - in fact, there 
is a letter to that effect. I propose to put it to 
you. Would you look at Ex. 43 (Before the witness)? 

I have Ex. 43. 
L b that a letter from you? A. It is signed by 

the Acting City Engineer, but I drafted it. 
(Witness reads Ex. 43 to the Court) 
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Q. Did he reply to that, verbally or in writing? 
A. I was under the impression that we had had a 
written reply, but a reply did come. It Is poss-
ible. it might have been passed on by Mr.Goodwin in 
one of his memos., but I can assure it is the 
truth, that I was under the understanding that the 
contract would be prepared from the last block, 
Q. He was prepared to do all the maintenance work? 
A. Yes. 
Q. That is all? It only related to when he would 
do it? A. That is what I understand, he would 
be prepared to do the maintenance work. 
Q. You prepared this final certificate No.13 did 
you not, sent it to the City Treasurer under cover 
of a letter dated 19th July? A. Yes. The top 
copy is dated 19th July and the other two are 
dated 15th July. 
Q. There are two documents which are annexures to 
your letter, or attachments, is that correct? 
A. Yes. 
Q. One is some calculations of your own., in your 
own handwriting, and the other is a report signed 
by Mr, Goodwin^ is that right? A. Yes. 
Q. Did you read Mr. Goodwin's signature? Do you 
recognise his signature? A, I do recognise his 
signature, 
Q. Do you agree that he prepared that report to 
the City Treasurer without one word of reservation 
on your part? A. No. 
Q. Y/hat reservation did you make? A. This matter 
was discussed - it is my normal duty to prepare 
this report - it was discussed with the Engineer, 
that is Mr. Saunders. 
Q. You made your reservations verbally? A. Yes. 
Q. Y/ould you agree that that letter contains no 
indication, on the face of it, that yor. had any 
qualms about this certificate? A. On the. face of 
it it does appear so. 
Q. It is based, is it not, on this return of work 
signed by Goodwin? A. Not entirely. 
Q. It conforms with it? A. It conforms with it. 
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10 

Q. Ana you see that this shows that at that time 
blocks 30, 33A, 38B and 39 were a hundred per cent, 
complete and ready for inspection? A. Yes. 

two, 37 Q. And it also shows that the remaining 
and 38, were 95i* completed, but there were some 
minor items to do? Is it his job to fill in this 
form? A. The Clerk of Works. 
Q. Yes. Here is a printed form, with the cyclo-
styled words at the bottom "Clerk of Works", Is 
it supposed to be signed by him (Before the wit-
ness)? A. The Clerk of Works fills in this form. 
Q. In the course of his duties? 
of his duties. 

A. In the course 
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Q. And he said here that those four blocks, al-
though not perfect, were ready for handing over 
and the others were completed except for making 
minor repairs? A. Yes. 

Q. Did you not realise that the City Treasurer, to 
whom you addressed this, would authorise the pay-
ment on the strength of your certificate, your 
signature at the bottom of this letter? A. No, 
you are completely mistaken, it is authorised by 
the final signature of the Engineer. 
Q. But isn't it the procedure that the City Engin-
eer, in fact, leaves the question of certificates 
entirely to the Architect? A. No. 

30 

Q. Did you not chink that you should contradict 
some of these observations of Mr. Goodwin if you 
did not" agree with them? 
they were contradicted. 

I can assure you 

Q. In this letter? A. Not on that letter. 

40 

Q. Didn't you think it necessary, v/here you were 
being overruled by officer after officer, for your 
own safety to put on the record some indication of 
your objections - Mr. Tanner had not agreed with 
you, Mr, Saunders had not agreed with you, Mr. 
Roberts had not agreed with you ? A. I am sure 
some of my objections must be on the record. 

(Letter anl two enclosures put in as Ex.70). 
Q. You feel you did make a written report setting 
out your objections to the issue of those certifi-
cates? A. I have already said that I am not 
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sure that I did that in writing. I think I said 
that to the best of my knowledge 1 mentioned that 
verbally. 
Q. When Mr. Goodwin read to you his last memoran-
dum dated 25th July, saying that these last two 
blocks have'now been completed and the repairs 
carried out,did you get the original cf that 
memorandum? A. It is quite possible. It should 
be included in that file.' 
Q. Do you remember it? A. .1 cio not remember it 
specifically, but it is typical. 

Do you agree that you must have 
A. Yes, I do agree, 

JUDGE: 
memorandum from him? 

b that 

Q. (Ex, 34 before the witness) Here is the origin-
al., did you see it? A. Yes. 
Q. You must have got it? A. Yes. 
Q. Did you agree'with what Mr. Goodwin said? 
A. No, 1 did not. 
Q. You were in the habit, wore you not, of giving 
written directions to your Clerk of Works? 
A. Not completely. 
JUDGE; Q. Some verbal and some? A. I am afraid 
I was extremely busy at the time. 
Q. You sent a lot of written directions and I do 
not doubt you also gave him verbal directions, is 
that the position? A. That is the position. 
Q. First of all, do you see Ex. 34 says "repairs 
carried out" Presumably that refers to same re-
pairs which you had directed should be carried out? 
A. Yes. 
Q. It refers to actual repairs, actually carried 
out? A. Mr. Goodwin, says they were carried out. 
Q. Do you doubt? A. I. cannot recall. 
JUDGE: Q. Repairs you directed? A. Yes. 
Q. Did you contradict that memorandum in any way? 
A. If you mean in writing, I cannot recall/ 
Q. You mean - if I mean in writing you cannot find 
it? A. I did not say I could not. 
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10 

Q. Did you contradict it at all? A. I am sure I 
contradicted it, because I was not satisfied with 
blocks 37 and 8 in 38. 
Q. Those are the two blocks about which you had 
earlier written yourself that the work was quite 
reasonable? A. "Reasonable" does not go all the 
way, does it? 
Q. Did you have any further inspection and give 
him the list of repairs? 
fur ther ins pec t ions. 

A. No, but I had many 

you had decided, or the Council had 
decided, not to take over these blocks? A. I am 
not sure, quite, the date that I recommended that 
these blocks were not to be taken over. I did 
recommend this and that must be in writing some-
where . 
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examination 
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Q. My learned friend says this is it, a letter 
dated 6th February, 1956 . Is that what you mean? 
A. No, there weD.'e some written much earlier than 
"licit , 

20. Did the Council occupy these blocks? A. The 
Council did not occupy these blocks in the con-
tractor's time. They have been occupied, I think, 
now, for about five months, and it is after remed-
ial work and partly pressure on the African housing 
needs, which are very great, 
Q. Weren't they all occupied at the time when the 
Commission of Inquiry on the City Council was held? 
A. No, definitely not. 
Q. Are you sure of your last answer? A. I am 

30 quite sure of it. Mr. Cocker was present. We went 
round block 38 and looked at a lot of cracked floors, 
You may be confused into thinking, one or two of 
the rooms were occupied as site offices by the 
Clerk of Works; one or two of the rooms were occu-
pied temporarily by some of the labour. I am not 
sure, there was an awful confusion as to where they 
were putting the labour that was working on 
blocks. 

the 

Q. then you discovered that somebody had tired to 
40 deceive you about the foundations by putting in 

extra pointing where they had dug the second hole^ 
did Mr. Goodwin see that? A. Mr. Goodwin saw it. 
JUDGE; Q. Mr. Goodwin saw what, precisely? A. Mr, 
Goodwin saw the mortar that must have been put in. 
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JUDGE: Q. And he saw the holes enlarged? A. He 
saw the holes enlarged, and so did Mr. Thompson., 
Q. Were you shocked? 
ing shocked there. 

.. I was getting over be-

Q. Will you describe your feelings, if you had any? 
A. I was taken aback. 
Q. Sufficiently to make any note about? 
A. I cannot recall whether I made a note. 
Q. You know very well you did not? A. I beg 
your pardon, I said I cannot recall. 
Q. Did you make any note at the time, I do not 
mean letters written in October? A. I cannot 
recall. 
Q. Did you accuse the contractor? 
did, he was present. 

A. I certainly 

Q, Do you find it surprising, or not surprising, 
that there is no mention in this file from Mr. 
Goodwin or yourself of such a discovery at the 
time? A. I do not find it surprising on Mr. 
Goodwin's part. 
Q. On your part? A. I do actually, yes, sur-
prised that I have not put a note in there. 
Q. These other samples, in respect of which the 
analyses are missing, did you take all those in 
the contractor's presence?' A. You mean in the 
Council representative's presence? I am sure this 
is the case, that some of the latter samples, they 
must have been taken early in August, at the time 
when the contractor removed his plot. I have re-
ferred to it before. 
Q. I am talking of the earlier ones, which you and 
Goodwin took. You said there were quite a number? 
A. Yes, there were 12. 
Q. Were they all in the contractor's presence? 
A. The contractor was present in some cases, he 
was standing right by us; and other times he was 
walking backwards and forwards, but he was there, 
Q. To refer to the second lot of trial holes, where 
you said the cement filling had been patched up? 
A. On a, percentage of them. 
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JUDGE; Q. These were the trial holes that were dug 
in July, where the mortar was patched up - the 
second lot of trial holes was where the mortar was 
patched up? A. Yes. 
Q. Did you see any patching up, 
A. Do, none at all. 

any improvement ? 
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Q. Did the mortar which you saw in May differ from 
the mortar revealed in July, when you had these 
holes enlarged? A. The point is that they were 

1o no t the s am e holes. 
Q. But was the mortar the same quality? A. I do 
not particularly recall a great deal about the 
inspection in May. 

No. 14 
Ronald Frederick 
Mould. 
Cross-
examination 
- continued. 

Q. Whose servants enlarged these holes? 
called over Cit^ Council park labourers. 

A. I 

Q. Did you see anybody in charge of the City Coun-
.1 labour? A. Yes, and his permission was 

sought, and I an sure it was Mr. Cameron. 
Q. And when you say that the holes had been re-

20 patched with better mortar, is that a matter of 
direct observation, or is it a deduction from the 
fact that the mortar was hard there? A. A de-
duction from the fact that the mortar was hard; 
the mortar was of a different colour; and that the 
mortar conformed to 
ally dug. 

the profile of the hole origin-

30 

Q. And are you sure you talking of this, and not 
some other contract? A. I am quite'convinced 
that I am talking about this contract, and I well 
remember the first hole we opened. The first one 
we came to on block 38 was of this nature. 

40 

Q. Did you not think it worth while to prove your 
point by comparing samples of the better quality 
mortar? A. From my point of view as an architect, 
I am interested in finding mortar that was below 
specification. 
Q. So ;rou were not interested in anything which 
looked good enough? A. There were cases of 
marginal ones, but generally, I was more interest-
ed in condemning. All this I was pretty sure was 
good. 
Q. But you were not simply leading work where the 
wall -had been patched up because it was good here, 
you had a very fine opportunity to prove that, in 
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fact, Where had been a deliberate deception, which 
is entirely different, isn't it. Here a good re-
sult, a good analysis, the mortar where the wall 
had been patched up would form a very interesting 
contrast to the bad mortar and would prove your 
point, wouldn't it? Didn't that interest you as 
architect? A. It did interest me, but I ohought 
it extremely petty, I was after something far big-
ger . 
Q. Why didn't you take any samples of the mortar 
which you saw had been put in afterwards? 
A. Because I was not reasonably satisfied that 
that was not far off specification. 
Q. Perhaps I have not made my point clear - did 
you form an opinion then and there that that was 
an attempt at deception? A. I did. 
Q. And it was an inference based on the difference 
in quality between two lots of mortar? A. It was. 
Q. Had all the holes been tampered with like this? 
A. No, I have already answered that, about 60$ 
Q. Did you enlarge all the holes? A. I have al-
ready answered that - about 60$ were enlarged. 
Q. I see, you only enlarged about 60$ cf the holes, 
so you could not with regard to the other 40$ say 
whether there was any contrast between the exposed 
mortar and the hidden mortar? A. Yes , there is 
the 40$ remaining. The samples were taken from 
the remaining 40$, there the mortar apj>eared to be 
much stronger than we had previously seen. I beg 
your pardon, I want to get this right, - It was 
not as strong, in my opinion; the contractor 
thought. that that was good enough and c.id not, in 
my opinion, tamper with it. 
Q. How can you tell that without enlarging the 
hole? A. Hell, there was a great deal of differ-
ence - you could not, obviously. 
Q. You were going to say there was a great deal of 
difference? A. When we enlarged the holes and 
f nirid we had the hard mortar in the middle in the 
60$ and in the other 40$ proved him wrong. 
Q. Proved him wrong or proved you wrong? 
A. He left it there. 
Q. So, we have an effort at deceiving you and you 
took no samples to prove; no note afc"" the time; and 
you followed it up by saying that the v.ork is all 
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complete - that is your evidence, is it? 
A. I have already told you that I put my opinions 
to the Council, to my senior officials. 
Q. Do you know where Mr. Goodwin is now, do you 
know that he is employed by the County Council in 
Hakuru? A. This is the first I have heard. 

Q. Or is it Gilgil? A. I do not know. 
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Q. Are you acquainted with his handwriting? 
A. Fairly familiar. 

10 Q. Mould you look at two exhibits - the first is a 
plan which he drew of foundations (Ex. 7 before 
the witness). Can you see any of Mr, Goodwin's 
handwriting on that? A. Yes, I recognise this 
as Mr. Goodwin's handwriting. 
Q. Which part of it has his signature on it? 
A. He has initialled it. He has not completed his 
signature. 
Q. Would you also look at some detailed pages of 
the foundations compiled by Mr. Stone (Ex. D before 

20 witness)? Do you se| some handwriting on this Ex. 
3 in pencil on p. 4 Contractor claims ....."? 
A. Yes. 
A. Is that in Mr. Goodwin's handwriting? A. That 
is in Mr. Goodwin's handwriting. 
Q. And the other pencilled comments on other pages? 
A. It is all Mr. Goodwin's handwriting. 
Q. Now, would you look at Ex. 46? A. Yes. 
Q. Does that start "Thank you for your letter dated 
23rd August"? A. It does, dated 6th September 

30 1955. 
Q. That was your draft? A. Yes. 
JUDGE: Q. It was drafted by you? A. Yes. 
Q. Mould you look at the third query on that: "You 
do not a matter for negotiation". Does that 
correctly set out xvhat the dispute was between the 
Council and the contractor at -this stage? A. Part 
of it. 
Q. In other words, was the situation that the con-
tractor had indicated his willingness to remedy any 

40 defect in terms of Clause 9 (2) of the General 

Ronald Frederick 
Mould. 
Cross-
examination 
- continued. 
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0 onditi one 
very much 
A. Yes. 

, but that the Council wish 
further than that? Is that 

:?d him to 
RI H H T ? 

go 

Q. And he was prepared to fulfil his obligations 
as laid down by section 9(2) and that was not good 
enough for the Council, is that clear? A. We 
were beginning to find out it was not good enough, 
Q. That is clear, isn't it? A. Tha t is c.iear. 
Q, And it was in consequence of his refusal of 
that extra demand that negotiations broke down? 

everv chance to A. Not at all. Mr. Ata U1 Haq had 
go further - 6th September, signed by 
Mr. Salmon took up his appointment on 
ber and it was not until November, and 
been a series of negotiations with Mr. 

Saunders; 
1st Septem-
there • had 
Salmon in 

which the 
extent. 

matter could have been resolved to some 

Q. He never did agree to do the major recondition-
ing, surely that is the crux of the dispute between 
you? A." I feel that I an entitled to put the 
answers in the best way that I know them. You re-
ferred to the major things, I would like to point 
out that it was not until even some months after 
that we really realised what the major defects 
were. 
Q. I am putting to you that in that letter you have 
correctly represented, oi> set out, the .nature of 
the issue between yourself and the contractor. I 
am suggesting to you that what you wrote in that, 

You appear to want to 
to suggest that you were 
to the words 

what you wrote was wrong, 
qualify, when I am trying 
right? A. You referred 
foots". 

"ma jor De-

Q. Yes? A. The real major defects 
were not known until later. 

I am sorry, 

Q. Well, now, will kindly concentrate on my 
question. When you wrote that letter in the be-
ginning of September, did that paragraph accurately 

you 
vrrc 

represent the 
contractor? 

issue between the Council and the 

JUDGE: Q. Issue at that time? 
letter which was mac curate? 

0'Donovan. I have 
Q. Or did you write a 
A. I do apologise here to Mr. 
used the word "major reconditioning" and it was 
probably major in the light of what we were seeing 
at the time. 
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JUDGE: Q. Did that accurately set out the dispute 
at that time? A. These ore reversed quite a hit, 
can I just get it all in context? We are taking 
one part, it does refer to 
JUDGE: Q. Does it directly set out the dispute as 
it was at this stage? I have already answered 
this, it covers a part of the dispute. 
Q. Is it accurate? A. 'This part is accurate. 
Q. It does accurately set out the issue? A. Yes. 

10 Q. And it was the failure to resolve that issue, 
as such, which led to the Council taking over the 
contract? A. It probably led to it; but, as I 
have already said, there were other parts. It led, 
at the end of this letter, to a negotiation with 
the Mayor. 
Q. But, basically, you wanted everything redone 
and the contractor would only do what he called 
maintenance? A. I agree. 

Q. I think you said it was not until about March 
20 of the following year that you had any real con-

ception of the extent of the defects, is that 
right? A. Yes. 
Q. March 1956? A. The defects concerning founda-
tions . 
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Q. I want to puc something to you from the record 
of the Commissi en of Inquiry. First of all you 
refer to the letter to Mr. Ata ul Eaq dated 22nd 
October, Ex. 50. Is that a letter saying? "I 
received your letter are as follows"? 

30 A. It is the same letter. 
Q. And it ends, does it not: "You have now been 
provided with all the information you require"? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you say to the Inquiry with reference to 
that letter, when you were asked: "What does that 
moan, exactly"? "We had asked " Do you 
remember saying that? A. Yes, I think I do. 
Q. So, in other words, that letter sets out the 
sum total of the information which Mr. Ata ul Haq 

40 was given? A. It answers the question, here Mr. 
Haq is asking for the laboratory report on the 
samples of mortar. 
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0. But it ends by saying: "being provided with all 
the information you require"? A. In answer to 
his letter. 
Q. Does tha b represent all he was told about the 
defects? A. To the best of my knowledge it must 
have been so. 
Q. This question and this answer are recorded in 
the record of the proceedings. Mr, Brooks said to 
you: "Finally you ordered him off the site, did 
you"? answer: "Finally yes, Sir". Did you give 
that answer? A. Yes, X should imagine 1 did. 
Q. Was that a truthful answer? A. No. When I 
saw he means "you", I do not suppose he means 
personally "me", he was referring to the Council. 
Q. Was that a truthful answer! A. That is truth-
ful. He was given a date to return and do the 
work and if he failed to do it he would invoke the 
clause. 
JUDGE: Q. He did not necessarily refer to you per-
sonally, but he was ordered off by the Council? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you work out this estimate - 30th September 
1955 "Estimate of cost of replacing floors £3,750" 
signed by you. Is that your estimate? Did you 
sign that? A. I signed it. 
Q. Is it your estimate? A. Yes. 
Q. And did you there estimate the total, cost of 
taking up 50/ at £3,750? A. Yes. 

(Estimate put in as Ex. 71) 
Q. Your estimate, that is that 50/ of the floors 
would have to be taken up and redone, is a rough 
estimate? A. It is a rough estimate. 
Q. You have not determined the exact proportion by 
proper inspection of each of them? A. Not by 
proper inspection in as much as you could not 
until you took -them up. 
Q. Have you had experience in conditions in Kenya 
on which, to estimate the life of a building? 
A. Only that I have had just three years now. At 
the time you can say a year, I suppose. 
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Q, When you say these "buildings would last 20 
years, isn't that a blind guess? A. No, it is 
not exactly a blind guess; and I would say you 
did not have to live in Kenya to make that guess. 

Q. Do you know how many reports Mr. Wevill put in? 
A. I an sorry, I think you had better ask Mr.Wevill 
that one« 
Q. Have you discussed this with him? A. I have 
had a number of discussions with Mr. Wevill and, 
as far as I know, he put in one report on each of 
the contracts. I think he put in maybe one, or 
possibly two, smaller reports prior to this. 
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Q. Earlier ones? A. Yes. 

No. 14 
Ronald Frederick 
Mould. 
Cross-
examination 
- continued. 

Q. On this contract? A. It may have "been just 
separate, it may have been joined to all three. I 
cannot remember particularly. 
Q. The re-pointing of walls which was done by the 
City Council, was that done under your supervision? 
A. It was done under the supervision of my Clerk of 
Works. I used to visit the site about once a week 
so, directly, the answer is yes. 
Q. And were you satisfied with the way it was done? 
I would just like to know what your present stand-
ards are? A. I would not say that I was highly 
satisfied, but it was as near as we could get under 
the conditions we had. 
Q. And do you agree that "as near as you could get 
under the conditions you had" with regard to the 
re-pointing, v/as a great deal worse than the con-
tractor achieved? A. If you are referring to the 
mortar that was dug out on Wednesday, that was not 
done under my supervision, 
Q. You agree that is a great deal worse? A. Yes, 
no, it was pretty soft. It may not have been so 
low in cement content. 
Q. It was pretty bad, whatever the reason? 
A. Well, I qualify it in a more technical way. 
Q. Who supervised that Block 37? 
kn ow. 

A. I v/ould not 

Q. When was it done? A. I should imagine it has 
probably been done since I left the City Council. 
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Re-examine d by Mr. S chermbrucker. 
(Ex. 71 before the witness ). Q.That was an estimate 

This estimate was made on the you made when? A, 
30th September, 1955. 
Q, And on what basis was that estimate made? Yfeat 
does it refer to, how much, of this contract? 
A. It is estimated on 50$ of the floors being 
repaired. 
Q. Does it cover anything other than floors? 
A. No, it refers to floors and the hard core fill-
ing. 
Q. How does that compare with your opinion of 
what is required in this township today - as to 
what it would cost to put Part B in order today? 
A. Nell, the cost would be more today because of 
increases in prices of material and labour. 
Q. I am talking about the whole contract. When I 
was examining you in-chief, you gave rat: a fairly 
big figure. Is there any reconciliation? 
A, This estimate is an alternative estimate. 
made an original estimate and I have made others 
since on comparable lines , for taking out ill the 
hardcore and breaking it up into pro per sizes, 
putting it back and consolidating it and replacing 
floors to specification. I would make it quite 
clear this does not take into account taking up 
the hard core. This says "ram the floors". 
JUDGE: Q. What is the essential difference? That 
that estimate does not take into account the tak-
ing out and replacing of the hard core and Mr. 
wevill's does?" A. Yes. 
Q. /aid what was the main object and purpose of 
that one in front of you now? A. This was a 
matter of some discussion that was going on behind 
the Council's doors, as to what would, happen if 
they pushed the issue, as we might compromise and 
ask for a different standard instead of taking out 
and getting it to specification, whereas we might 
try and get the floors up to reasonable standard, 
that was the basis of this estimate here. 

Q. And if you. had gone through with that, would 
that still leave the work below specifj.cation? 
A. It would have left it considerably below speci-
fication, yes. 
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Q. And did anything finally eventuate on that pro-
ject between the Council and the contractor, or 
was it between the Council and the contractor, or 
was it the Council only? A. I really cannot 
quite remember at the moment. 
Q. Did you go ahead to do anything on the basis of 
that estimate? A. I do not think this report 
came to anything. 
Q. Is that your handwriting (Document before the 
witness)? A. Yes, that is my handwriting. 
MR. SCEERMBRD'CKKR: This is a letter,_or report, 
addressed by the witness to the City Engineer and 
it puts on record various complaints. May I read 
it, My lord? 

(letter put in as Ex. 3 - Read to the Court 
by Mr. Schermbrucker) 

In the Supreme 
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Q. What led you to produce this report? 
A. Having seen more of the contract in detail, I 
had come to the conclusion that it really was not 
worth spending a great deal of money on them, as 
we were doing. 
Q. That figure . of yours there, of £62,000, would 
that have produced a result better than the speci-
fication, or not? A. No, it could not have pro-
duced a result better than the specification. 
Q. What I want you to do is look at that in con-
junction with Ex. 71, that estimate of£3,750. On 
the face of it there seems to be a big discrepancy? 
A. Well, there is a considerable discrepancy. Of 
course, this refers to floors and Part Bs "Estimate 
for taking .... £18,000". Out of memory, I suggest 
it was about £17,000 earlier. 
0. What do you mean by that? Can you compare Ex.71 
with this? A. Yes. 
Q. Are they different estimates of the same thing 
or not? A. lie, they are not estimates of the 
same thing. One involved considerably more work. 
Q. Is there any item here in Ex. E that you can 
compare with Ex. 71 on any basis? A. No, only 
that the floor was relaid in each case. 

Evidence for the 
City Council of 
Nairobi 

No. 14 
Ronald Frederick 
Mould. 
R e - e x am inat ion 
- continued. 
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Q. Nov/, you refer to your item 2: "Estimate for 
taking up floors and bock fill and to relay 
£18,000". How does that compare with rhe other 
£3,750? A. Inasmuch as that in this one I am 
allowing for all floors to be taken up and relaid % 
all back fill to be taken out, put back and con-
solidated; as asked for in the specification. In 
this case we are only asking for 50ft. of the 
floors to be relaid, 
Q. You told my learned friend that that 50$ was a 
ro ugh es t jmat e ? A. Ye s , 
Q. What grounds have got for including in your 
estimate, in Ex. B ...... 
JUDGE: Q. On the basis of this estimate, Ex. E, 
50$ of Item 2 under the Part B contract, that is 
the taking up of floors, back fill and relaying, 
would be £9,000? A. Yes. ' 

0. The other exhibit, 73., for relaying 50$ 
of the floors, the estimate would be something 
mider-£4,000? A. That is correct. 

Q. Do I understand you right, that the 
difference of the two estimates is due to the 
tiking up of the back fill? A. Yes, it means 
taking up of the 

Q. Taking out of the back fill and relaying 
the back fill would cost something in the nature 
of over £5,000, it would be the bulk of the expens-
es? A. Yes, it would contribute to a consider-
able amount, yes. 
MI. S0HBRMERU0KER: 
Q. Do you consider that there is any reasonable, 
practical, way of getting those floors satisfac-
tory for a 40 year life in a less expensive way 
than taking out ail the back fill and compacting 
it back again? A. To produce a really satisfac-
tory job, no. 
Ml. 0'DONOVAN: 

I am not objecting to the letters going in. 
Ml. SCHEEI SRI JOKER: 

They are only put in on the point my learned 
friend raises and I quite agree there is no record 
of the witness' complaints. 
JUDGE: 

This is very much earlier. 
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Mi. SCKERMBRUCKER s . 
I have not got any earlier records, 

some time before the suit. 
This is 

Q. Would you look at that one (Before the witness). 
Is that your handwriring? A. Yes. 

IMMMIMimiUCKER ; 
This is a letter of the 6th February, 1956, 

from the witness to the City Engineer. 
(netter put in as jjjx. F.) 

10 Q. Will you look at those items under A. & B there, 
are they relative to part B? A. They are in 
part, yes. Where we refer to "we found 2ft. black 
cotton soil and recommend total demolition", that 
refers to part A. 
Q. Otherwise, are they fairly relative to Part B? 
A. Otherwise they are. 
Q. You have told us that you have had only a limit-
ed experience of Kenya. What experience as an 
Architect have you had before coming here? The 

20 number of years A. From about 1946. 
Q. You told my learned friend that after Tanner 
left, you went on trying to improve the buildings, 
very little work was done after he left. First of 
all, you went on trying to improve the buildings. 
Bid you perhaps over-emphasise your efforts and try 
and get then above specification, or not? A. No, 
I knew they would not have reached specification. 
Q. When it came to the signing of certificates, I 
think you have sold us -chat the City Engineer al-

30 ways signed then; that you wrote them in accord-
ance with practice, on his instructions, is that 
right? A. Yes. 
Q. (Ex. 43 before the witness). That was the 
letter you wrote to the contractor, asking him if 
he would like the. maintenance period to run separ-
ately or jointly for the lot: "Some of your blocks 
are now due for maintenance under the conditions of 
the contract. Do you wish to carry out this work 
as each block falls due, or to deal with the whole 

40 of the contract at a later date? I should be 
grateful if you will let me know" . If you look at 
your file there is a note in your writing below 
that. Would you refer to that note and tell His 
lordship what information you wrote the letter on 
and do you know where you got that from? A. Yes. 
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Q. You did it on information received? 
A. Received from Mr. Goodwin. 
Q. Now, have you ever sent a .reply to that letter? 
Did you personally know of any specific allega-
tion that the contractor made on that letter of 
yours? A. I was of the opinion that we had had 
a letter also from the contractor confirming what 
Mr. Goodwin had told me. 
Q. In Ex, 48, the last paragraph, a letter 'om 
the City Engineer to Ata 
ber: "In conclusion ... 
terms of the contract", 
whether. there was ever 
the same subject. 

• i * 
11 n 

Hap, dated 14th Octo-
in accordance with the 
vou know, vourself, 

a reply? That refers ;o 

JUDGE: 
I should have thought, on the basis of it, 

that that would have referred to different repairs 
MR. SCHERMBRUCKER : 

Perhaps 1 am wrong. 
JUTS CE: 

This would appear to refer to the main sub-
ject's which are in dispute. 
MR. SCHERMBRUCKER: 

I thought fox- a moment it referred to the 
same thing. 
Q. Can you say, from your own knowledge, whether 
you have ever seen anything1; from the contractor, 
what he would like to do, in reply to that letter 
of yours? A. I was under the impression, I may 
well be mistaken, that wo had a letter from Mr. 
Ata ul Haq. stating that he would do the mainten-
ance work from the total acceptance of the last 
block by Council, 
Q. Now/, you said when yoxi took over, or prior to 
taking over: "I would lists of defects". Did 
you go through the blocks, room by room, prepara-
tory to the issue of each of the certificates that 
was issued? A. Yes. 
Q. Up wo the date of the issue of the last of those 
certificates, had you seen the nature of the back 
fill under the floors of any of the blocks in 
Part }3? A. No. 
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10 

Q. You said, as •egardE foundations? "I checked 
details. I left a list of defects with the Clerk 
of Works". When it comes to defects, would you 
tell His Lordship what is the normal duty of the 
Architect and the normal duty of the Clerk of 
Works? A. With regard to defects, the Architect 
would authorise what defects he wished to "be at-
tended to; it would he the Clerk of Works who 
would he responsible to see that that work was 
carried out. He would then report to the Archi-
tect that the work had been satisfactorily com-
pleted. Some times the Architect would accept the 
Clerk of Works word for it. I usually weni 
and saw it myself. \t down 

Q. T. think you used the word "deputised" - "I 
deputised work to the Clerk of Works". Lid you 
ever, in fact, hand over to the Clerk' of Works any 
work that should have been done by the Architect, 
as such? A. Ho. 
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20 Q. And you said that you knew that you were en-
titled to order removal of defective work under 
Condition 9 (1). You did have tiles removed and 
floors relaid. When you talk about "floors relaid", 
what do you mean? A. It was not the floor, it 
was the screed surface that was relaid. I can only 
think of the 
in the early 

creed being 
stages. 

)laid in about two cases 

30 
Q. And did you ever depute to Goodwin the right to 
say whether or not any work should be taken up and 

down again? A. With regard to certain de-
yes . 

put 
foots 
Q. What defects? A. I should think the most 
serious of the nature that I had authorised to he 
taken up and Mr. Goodwin to supervise would have 
been the screeds to the floors. 
Q. Did you ever depute to him the right of ordinary 
concrete floor to be taken up and the filling under-
neath to be taken up? A. Yes, in one instance, 
Part B on Block 39. 

40 Q. What did you do on Block 39? A. It was the 
result of an incident. I found that the floor, 
from the point of view of normal testing, did not 
seem stable, 
revealed so as 
matter of fact, 
repeated reques' 

asked for part of the floor to be 
;o examine the back fill. As a 
this was not done and it was at 
;s that we finally got that part of 

floor onened UP; and that waS the first time 
saw any back fill of Ata ul Haq.' 
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Q. I think you did say the date of that? A. It 
must have been late July. I am sorry, 1 cannot 
recall it at the moment exactly. 
Q. Who was the one who ordered the taking up of 
the floor on that occasion? A. I did. 
Q. What do you mean when you say that you deputed 
to C-oodwin the right to order the taking up? 
A. To see that it was carried out. I was not 
present when it -was actually opened up. Mr. 
Goodwin's job was to be to negotiate with the 
contractor and get it taken out, 
Q. I understand from your answer that you handed 
over your job to Goodwin. Did you ever say to Mr. 
Goodwin that he exercised the discretion and say 
whether .this should have been taken up or not? 
A. This does not refer to the same instance. It 
was at a much later date, after the contractor had 
been relieved of his responsibilities. Otherwise, 
no, 
10.30 a.m. 8th July, 1957, resumed. 

All present as before. 
MR. RONALD FREDERICK MOULD: 
Re-examination by Mr. Schermbrucker% (continued). 
Ml. SCHERMBRUCKER : 

We had suggested that we go down to see the 
site during Mr. Saunders evidence and it may be 
convenient to do so during Mr. Wevill's evidence. 
We have had the holes dug as agreed and if it is 
satisfactory to the Court I would like to ask to 
do a visit this afternoon. 
JTJDGE t 

There is something that you think I should 
see there? 
Ml. oCKERMBR'JCICER s 

I do not think it will be a long visit. But 
there was a hole done that Your lordship saw. 
There are three more open which have been selected 
by Mr.Stone, and I have to get over any suggestion 
of unfairness. 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: 

I would oppose that as taking up woo much of 
the C cur t' s t im e . 
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JUDGE: 
I am no expert on building matters and I have 

to rely very largely - in fact, entirely - on the 
expert evidence. I am not in a position to judge 
by looking at the site, apart from getting a gener-
al idea of what witnesses are talking about. if 

really should see, I am 
otherwise I should imagine 

there is something that I 
perfectly willing to go. 
that I can be told everything that there is to be 
told about these holes by Mr. Wevill. 
111. SOEEHMBRUCKER: 

I feel that in this case there is something 
that Your lordship should see. 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: 

I would ask that a decision on the matter be 
deferred until Mr, Wevill has given his evidence. 

In the Supreme 
Coiirt of Kenya 

Evidence for the 
City Council of 
Nairobi 

No. 14 
Ronald Frederick 
Mould, 
Re-examination 
- continued. 

It is perhaps a pity that Mr. Wevill has not 
soen them. There should be evidence before me as 
to whether a visit to the site is necessary or not, 
as to those holes. 

MR SCEERMERNCICR : T think we could arrange to let him go down 
and see it at lunchtime. 
R e-exaninations 
Q. You said in cross-examination that a different 
standard was applied when accepting the blocks 
than you apply now. Would you explain what you 

a t bi thav In accepting the blocks I was 
only aware of what I could see and what I had dealt 
with myself. The standard that I now judge those 
buildings on is that of having seen work done prior 
to my going to the site and supervising the work. 
Q. Could you explain, as briefly as possible, what 
your reaction was when you first saw the site and 
when you came to realise that it was something 
otherwise? A. When I first saw the work, ob-
viously I could only judge on what I could see and 
as a professional person carry out normal profess-
ional etiquette in building that my predecessor, 
who I did believe was extremely capable, had seen 
the work done efficiently. 

J LEGE: Q. I thought that the comment that you made 
in the cross-examination on the different standards, 
was that the different standards were applied by 
your predecessor and yourself? A. I did not mean 
to imply that at all. 
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you mean to imply? A. Y/ell, I was 
ossion that Mr. Tanner had tried to 
standards that one would normally 
that Is the standard of the specifica-
was my first impression, first under-
This answer would be varied by my 
The more I found there was wrong the 
there was some explanation by some-

body that something had been overlooked for certain 
reasons -Emergency, labour, shortage of materials 
were blamed - and I would try and resolve them. 

Q. What did 
of the imprc 
work to the 
accept, and 
tion. 'That 
standing, 
experience. 
more I found 

Q. Was your first impression, when you first took 
the work on - a knowledge or an assumption? You 
told us by the time you took over the work was 80$ 
complete. You gained a first impression when you 
first saw the work. Was that first impression 
based on any personal knowledge or was it sn as-
sumption? A. A small part of it was on personal 
knowledge, that I could see, particularly with 
regard to the foundations that I was looking at; 
and it was only a small mart of the contract, 
Blocks 25, 26, 2.7, and they were 95 to '100$ com-
pleted - in that few that I i 
by what I was told. Mr 
tion. And there was a very 
that he did make clear to me 
Mr. Stone's reports when it 

n.ied, were coloured 
gave me no indica-

'rong point 
that I could rely on 
r Ci 7-

' — J 
oame to assessing the 

work that was done each week and each month, and 
that had been his practice. I did feel that the 
work had been done well. 
Q. What led you 
a very gradual 
A. It was Par 
work on Part A and 
then about Part B. 
Mr. Ata ul Haq was 
lot more polish on 
them. 

to cliange your mind? A. It was 
process. I should not discuss Part 
t A opened my eyes. I found bad 

obviously I was more suspicious 
As I have already mentioned, 

a contractor who could put a 
to his buildings in completing 

Q. leaving aside Part A end confining yourself to 
Part B, what led you to form different views about 
Part B? A. It is very difficult to divorce my 
views totally on Part A and Part B. If I. may be 

just to refer once more to Part A? permitted 
Q. No, we do not want Part A: A. The cracks in 
the floors of Blocks 25 and 27 in Part 3, there 
were a considerable number of cracks in the floor 
screed. You could attribute cracks in the screed 
to almost as many symptoms as you can some human 
ailments. 
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Q. Seeing 
anything? 

thoi se craclrs, did that lead you to do 
L. It did. 

0. W3iat did you do on Part B? A. On Part B, 
where I found a particularly bad floor I asked for 
it to be opened up. It is that one I have already 
referred to on Block 39. Having opened up the 
floor, I found the back fill and the quality of 
the floor was about the same as I had experienced. 

Q. Did you gain a sufficient knowledge of the 
underground work to enable you to express a gener-
al opinion on Part B, underground? A. Ho. I had 
only seen one. I could only make an assumption, 
but I could not get Council's officials to go all 
the way with me. 
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Q. Did you ever acquire sufficient knowledge of 
the underground work in Part B? A. Yes, I cer-
tainly did. 
Q. To express a general opinion? A. Yes* 
JUDGE: Q. When, to express a general, confident, 

20 opinion, it would have been about February 1956, 
that is during the period that the Council's direct 
labour were working on the buildings? (No answer). 
MR.SCHTRMHRUCKER. 
Q. You said you form; 
was better than A? 
Q. Does that in any 
Part B as a job? 
a i> all. 

id the impression that Part B 
A. Yes. 

way lessen your criticism of 
A. No, it does not lessen it 

Q. Do you think that you v/ere being a little too 
30 critical of the work in Part B? A. No, I do not 

consider I have beon too critical at all. As a 
matter of fact, I consider that probably in the 
early stages I .gave too much crcdit to the founda-
tions, which deceived me. 

40 

Q. You said you knew Mr. Tanner had given many 
verbal instructions. Did you have any personal 
knowledge of that? How did you know that? A. On 
many occasions I was querying details on the site 
with the Contractor and Mr. Stone and often I would 
bo told "That has been changed. Mr. Tanner asked 
for it to b; changed". 
Q. It was just what the contractor 
A. And the Cleric of Works; and I u 
time that Mr. Tanner was there, check one 
of these points with him. 

told you? 
d, during 

or 
the 
two 
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JUDGE: Q. And he agreed, did he? A. He agreed 
on some of them. 
Q. Do you know of any altered instructions, verbal 
or otherwise, in regard to the hard core filling 
under the floors.? A. By Mr. fanner? 
Q. By anybody? A. Excluding myself, of courso, 
in this case? 
Q. Including yourself? A. I know of no instruc-
tions, I cannot recall any, that were made by any-
body else to the hard core back fill. 
Q. You saw the hard core filling in the floor, 
that was opened down in Part B? A. Yes, Block 
37. 
Q. Could that, anything there, be described as to 
specification or satisfaction? A. No, it could 
not be compared with what was required in the 
specification. It is most unsatisfactory. 

10 

Q. You referred to a visit to the site with Mr. 
McConnell. Do you remember how long that visit 
took? A. I do not remember how long exactly on 
part B. We were on Ofafa Estate just over an hour. 
I think we spent about half an hour on Part B. 

20 

Q. Y/as the contractor present then? 
contractoi" v/as present. 

i s . . Yes the 

Q. Was there any conversation regarding mor'car by. 
any of you? A. We were discussing mortar con-
stantly as we went round the buildings. 
Q. Did the contractor say anything about the mor-
tar? A. Yes, I remember exactly where we v/ere 
standing at the time, too. The contractor said 
that if there was any mortar in his work that 
exceeds 1 to 12 - something like that, it v/as 
certainly a modest estimate on his part - he said 
we could keep all the money that was outstanding 
to him. I asked Mi'. Goodwin to make particular 
note of that comment. 

30 

MR. 0'DONOVAN: 
I submit this does not arise in ro-exainina-

tion. 
JUDGE: 

I do not know, offhand, precisely what it 
arises out of, but there v/as a lot of re-examina-
tion about mortar. 

40 
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20 

30 

Q. What is that (Document before the witness) and 
is your signature at the bottom of it? A. Yes, 
my signature is at the bottom of it. 

(letter dated 25th July 1955, addressed to Mr. 
Saunders, Acting City Engineer, by the wit-
ness, read to the Court by Mr. Schermbrucker -
put in as Ex.G.) 

Subject to my right to cross-m . 0'DONOVAN 
examine. 

10 MR. SCiIERMERU0KEE : v & cs .L v >-> 9 agree. 
Q. Is that your signature? (Letter before the 
witness). Would you read that letter out. It is 
dated 10th August, 1955, to Mr. Saunders. 

40 

(Letter of 10th August, 1955, to Mr.Saunders, 
read to the Court by the Witness - put in as 
Ex. H subject to cross-examination by Mr. 
0 'Donovan. ) 

Cross-examination on Exo* G and H by MR. 0'DONOVAN. 
Q. Where aid you get these papers? A. A lot of 
these were found in various files in the City 
Council. Some of these come out of the City Engin-
eer's own r e c ords. 
Q. Weren't they available before? A. I have 
asked on many occasions for information on these 
contracts to be given to me or to be passed to Mr. 
Saunders. Many of these are copies of originals 
and had been sent and the copies are not available, 
JUDGE: 

We are only referring at the moment to Exs. G 
and H, It is only G and H that have been put in 
evidence, no other documents. 
Q. Where did these two particular ones come from? 
A. 1 am not sure where each one came from. I have 
collected a lot of records that come out of memo 
books. I should say some of those are copies, 
those two I have put in, are copies. The originals 
should be with the Engineer. They should automat-
ically go back on to the files. 
Q. Did they come out of a memo book you kept? 
A. I think possibly those did. 
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Q. One is numbered 39 and the other 56? A. Yes. 
I could produce the memo book. The other letters 
do not refer to this contract. 
Q. Did you select these yourself? 
them out. They are my copies. 

A. I took 

Q. As a general comment, both these letters are 
on Parts A, 3 and C? A. Yes. 
Q. You could not say which particularly relates to 
Part E - you could not specif;/ here which relates 
to Part B? A. I do not specify, 10 

MR. 0'DONOVAN: No formal application for discovery 
was made. My learned friend was well aware that I 
had asked for inspection of any papers with the 
City Council for this contract. They made avail-
able t o me all the papers they had. 
JUDGE: Any objection to these going in. 
MR. SCHERMBRUCKER: I do not object. 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: 
Q. Did you submit this memorandum on the 19th July, 
to the Oity Engineer? (Before the witness) 20 
A. Yes. 
Q. And did it have attached to it a report by the 
Clerk of 'Works? A. I cannot recall whether this 
report 
Q. It looks as if it was probably attached? 
A. Yes, but this is a copy of the original that 
went to the Engineer. 
Q. Tliis report is now attached, and it was so 
attached when you searched out the original papers? 
A. Yes. 30 

Q. That is where it was kept in the file of what-
ever file it was kept in? A. Yes. 

(Memo, and annexure of the 19th July, 1956, 
to the City Engineer put in as Ex. 72 - read 
to the Court by Mr. O'Donovcn.) 

Q. Why did you not mention in your detailed 
dealing with the detailed report, this attempt at 
deceiving you by re-pointing the mortar . in the 
trial hole? A. I am not sure whether I had seen 
it at that time or not. 40 
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Q. July, 1956? A. It would have been in July, 
1956. I am not quite sure of the date. 
Q. On going through your files now, have you found 
any such complaint? A. No. 
Q. On that point? A. No, I am still hoping 
that some of my reports will be brought forward. 
The Engineer is locking for them amongst his files 
and his predecessor's files. 
Re-examined by MR. S0EERP1BRUCKBR on Ex. G, H. and l o _ -- - -

Q. In this report Mr. Goodwin talks about a very 
strict inspection by you. Will you tell His 
lordship, were you requiring anything above speci-
fication in that inspection? A. No. 
Q. Is it correct when he says it was too late to 
get this contract to specification? Did Goodwin 
say that to you when he was reprimanded? A. It 
is too late, obviously, to get all the contract to 
specification. 

20 Q. Did he say it to you? A. I have a recollec-
tion. that something in this form of words was said. 
Q. Was it too late to get it to specification? He 
says, right at the end: "Hy main complaint was 
that it was impossible to produce the work given by 
Mr. Mould." You say that was not above specifica-
tion standard? A. Yes. 
Q. "At this late stage " Would that be correct 
to say, in order to get it to specification at that 
stage you would have to pretty well re-do the whole 

30 job? A. You would. 
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No. 15 
EVIDENCE OF ALFRED EDWARD WEVILL 

ALFRED EDWA1D WEVI1L: duly sworn, states: 
mination-in-Ohief by MR. MACKIE-ROBERTSON; 

No. 15 
Alfred Edwarc. 
Wevill. 
Examination. 

0. Your full names are Alfred Edward Wevill? 
A. Yes. 
0. And you are a Fellow of the Royal Institute of 
Chartered Surveyors? A. I am. 
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Q. Which you have been since January 1922? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Are you also a Member of the East African 
Institute of Architects? A. I am. 
Q. And I think you were registered in Kenya as a 
Registered Architect? A. Registered as an 
Architect and a Quantity Surveyor. 
Q. Have you any academic qualifications as an 
Architect? A. No. 
Q. And you have been in practice in Kenya as an 
Architect and Quantity Surveyor since November, 
1919? A. I have. 
Q. In February, 1956, did you receive instructions 
to make an examination of the Ofafa Estate from 
the City Council? I made a preliminary examina-
tion, a cursory examination, in February, 1956. 
Q. And following that preliminary examination were 
you instructed to make a full inspection and de-
tailed report? A. Yes, I was. 
Q. In pursuance of that, did you subsequently 
mit a detailed report to the City 
A. Yes, I did. 

3ub-
Council? 

Q. (Ex. 61 before the Witness) Is that a copy of 
the report which you submitted, 
A. Yes, this is a copy. 

5r. Wevill? 

Q. Would you indicate in general terms to His Lord-
ship the nature of the inspections which preceded 
your preparation of that report? A. My instruc-
tions were to inspect the buildings with a view to 
ascertaining whether they conformed to the speci-
fication or, if not, to what extent they departed 
from the specification. 
Q. At that time one was able to see what was above 
ground. Were you able also to see what v/as below 
ground? A. A considerable number of holes were 
dug amd we examined the sub-structure as far as v/e 
could, until we could get pumps to pump the water 
clear. They were mostly flooded. 
Q. Lid you subsequently get pumps? A. We got 
pumps, and I examined them funther after that. 
Q. Can you give My Lord any indication of what 
number of holes were dug? A. °ome .50 holes. 
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Q. And, speaking generally, what did you find in 
those 50 holes? A. Por the most part the con-
crete appeared to "be uneven in thickness, the 
spread beyond the wall face varied very consider-
ably. The concrete was very variable, thickness 
and composition. 

Q. What about the b 
laid? A. That is 
de finit e st at ement, 

10 it was laid on a de 
between cotton soil 
some cases there we 
not been levelled, 
the walling at all. 

ottom on which the concrete was 
extremely difficult to make a 
but I would say in most cases 
composed rock which is found 
and a hard rook surface. In 

re outcrops of rock which had 
and there was no concrete under 
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Q. That was in the places where the rock outcrop 
came? A. Yes. 

Q. Can you tell His Lordship whether this soft, 
decomposed, rock was sufficiently load bearing to 
carry the buildings which had, in fact, been erec-

20 ted on it? A. With reasonably good concrete I 
should say yes - the load which would be superim-
posed in these buildings, 

Q. Nov/, tell My Lord whether on your own examina-
tion and the tests which you have carried out,that 
you consider this concrete used to be reasonably 
good concrete? A. No. 
Q, Does that concrete 
cation for the job? 

.ised conform to the specifi-
A. No. 

Q. Would you tell My Lord whether the divergence 
30 from specification is negligible, substantial or 

serious? A. I should say it is quite substantial. 
Q. Have you had any opportunity of examining the 
hard core below the floors of these buildings? 
A. I had five holes dug. 
Q. This was at the time of preparing the report? 
A. At the time I had five holes cut in the floors. 

40 

Q. And what did these holes reveal? A. They 
revealed that the filling was very large sized 
boulders, with considerable interstices; and from 
the very fact of their being such a size it was 
Impossible for them to be consolidated in 6 in. 
layers. 
Q. I think you were present when the Court visited 
the sire of this housing estate last week? A. Yes. 
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Q. And did you there see the hole 
opened up in one floor which the 
A". I did. 

which had been 
lourt inspected? 

and Q. Is there any comparison between that hole 
the five holes that you opened up in 1956? 
A. There was no dissimilarity at all, the filling 
was much the same. 
Q. I think you said a moment ago that with this 
type of hard core consolidation was very largely 
impossible? A. Consolidation of the hard core 
filling without the stones being broker- to a 
smaller size and finer materials used for filling 
the interstices, it cannot be properly consolida-
ted. 

10 

Q. Can you say whether, from what you observed, 
there had been any attempt to lay this back fill 
in 6 in. layers? A. It was not apparent to me. 
In fact, I should say it was impossible. 
Q. Can you say, from what you observed, whether 
there had been any serious attempt at ramming or 
consolidation? A. No, there was no such sign. 
Q. And does back fill of this type 
specification laid dov/n? A. No. 

comply with the 

Q. You mentioned a moment ago a need for some 
smaller material to be put in with the back fill. 
Is that required by the specification? A. It 
does not specifically mention it, but it is normal 
practice to do so, to combine stone and murram or 
some finer material, in a fill. 

20 

Q. HE 
you? 

ve you got 
A. Yes. 

copy of the specificstion with 30 

Q. Is there anything in the contract documents ' 
which, in your opinion, is sufficient to require 
the contractor to have used a small aggregate, 
that is back fill, in this case? A. The speci-
fication calls for a hard core "Hard dry broken 
;one in layers not exceeding 6 ins, and ram 

layer". If each layer is rammed in itself, 
consolidates it to make a perfect job o 
material should be added". 

each 
it 

it, "small 
40 

Q. Would you look at para. 2 of page 1 of the 
specification; "Any details in the contract" 
Would you tell My Lord whether that clause could 
have any application to the question of adding 
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aggregate to the "back fill? A. In common prac-
tice, it is essential for consolidation to have 
smaller material mixed with the larger material. 
Q. Have you the plans with you? A. Yes. 
Q. Is there anything on the plans at all, which 
would indicate the adding of aggregate to the back 
fill? A. There is one drawing, typical section, 
reference Ho.3183/AH/2/14. The stone is shown in-
side and outside the outer walls, with dots indica-

10 ting that there is sane material between the stones, 
a finer material. 
Q. And as a professional man in such matters, how 
would you interpret that? A. That there is a 
mixture of stone and finer material in the filling, 
Q, Finally on this subject, could you state your 
opinion as to whether - taking into account the 
documents and drawings and the terms of the general 

20 

conditions - whether, in fact 
fied in refusing to add small 
this back fill without 
for extra payment? A. 
upon him to do so. 

getting 
I, 

you would be justi-
fine, material in 
a variation order 

personally, would call 
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Q. When you male your .inspection in 1956, what did 
you find with respect to the floors? A. I found 
that in most of the rooms cracks had appeared in 
the concrete and the finish, which I considered 
was due to the bad fill. 

We are now talking of the screed? A. The sur-
face 

30 JUDGE: Q. You say cracks appeared in the concrete 
screed surface? A. Yes. I then had the holes 
cut in the floors and found that the concrete 
varied very considerably in quality. 

Q. When say "concrete" now, what are you speak-
ing about? A. The concrete underneath the screed. 
Q. Varied very considerably in quality? A. In 
quality, and appeared to be very much weaker than 
the 1:3:6 mixture specified. The screed was of 
b e 11 e r q u al it y . 

40 Q. Did you examine the mortar in the walling? 
A. Yes. 
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Q. And what did you find with respect to that, 
above ground? A. The mortar which I tested in 
-some cases was powder. 

Q. You say in some cases. In some places was it 
reasonable? A. In some places it was harder 
than others, but even there one could drive a nail 
into it quite easily, it varied. 
Q. Well, isn't it reasonable that you should be 
able to drive a nail into it? A. You should not 
be able to push a nail into it, not 1 to 4 cement 
mortar. 
Q. 1 to 4 is the one below ground? 
below and 1 to-6 above. 

A. 1 to 4 

10 

JUDGE: Q. What about 1 to 6 mortar, can. you push a 
nail into that, if it is properly mixed? How hard 
is it from the point of view of pushing a nail into 
it? A. 'Well, you should not be able to. 

MR. MAC KIE-RG BERTS ON: 
Q. How did you carry out your tests? Y/hat did 
you use? A* The foundation tests I had the 20 
water pumped out of the holes, broke off the 
concrete with a hammer and chisel; and the mortar 
in the joints I simply scraped out with a nail or 
chisel. 

Q. And did you take some samples for chemical 
analysis? A. Yes, I took 20 samples of concrete 
aid mortar, mostl}^ concrete - concrete, screed and 
mortar. 
Q. Did you take these personally? A. Yes. 
Q. And are you sure that they wore all taken from 30 
Part B. of Ofafa Estate? A. I took samples from 
all three parts, but the parts which are under dis-
cussion at the moment, of Part B, were kept separ-s 
afcely and were packed separately and tested .separ-
ately. 

Q. Y/ell now, what did you do with each sample as 
you took it? A. I packed it into containers and 
then took it to my office, labelled it in more 
substantial containers. 
Q. Did you label it at all before you took it to 40 
your office? A. I labelled it on the container 
when I took it, on each one separately, on the site 
as I took it. 
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10 

20 

Q. And what information did you put on each sample 
container? A. I put what it was; where it came 
from; and signed the label as having taken it my-
self. 
Q. Then you took them to your office? A. Yes. 
Q. And you say you gave them a more permanent 
title? A. More substantial. As you understand, 
a great deal of this concrete was wet and conse-
quently I had to repack it with more permanent 
material. 
Q. And did you do this yourself? 
myself with my assistant. 

A. I did this 

Q. Were you present .-all the time it was; being done, 
did you supervise it? A. I was. 
Q. And when it had been re paekeed and relabelled, 
what did you do with it? A. It was sealed. 
Q. Again in your presence? A. Again in my pres-
ence. And I delivered it personally to the 
Materials Laboratory at the Public Works Depart-
ment . 
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Q. And to whom did you hand the samples there? 
A. To the soils chemist. I forget his name. 
Q. Did you get a receipt for them? A. I got his 
receipt for it. It was received by Mr. R.V.Adamson. 
Q. What date? A. On the 22nd June, 1956. 
Q. And did you subsequently receive an analytical 
report on these samples? A. Yes, I did. 
Q. (Ex. A before the Witness.) 
a copy of what I have here. 

A. Yes, that is 

30 Q. This report deals with samples taken from Part B 
and. Part 0 of Ofafa Housing Estate? , A. Yes. But 
they were separately packaged, as you will see by 
the sample numbers. 
Q. Do the items there-, 1 to 19 and 40, refer to the 
samples which you took from part B? A. They do. 
Q. ibid in regard to the analyses shown in respect 
of those samples, what is your professional opinion 
as to the average quality of concrete and mortar? 
A. It was considerably below that called for in the 

40 specification, except for the screed. 
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Q. I think that in your report of the 11th August, 
1956, you made reference to some pockets of black 
cotton soil. Do you recollect that? A. Yes. 
Q. Are you in a position to say whether these 
pockets were shallow or deep? A, Well, they 
varied very considerably. In places they went 
down 6, 9 ins., but it was a mixture of black cot-
ton soil and the decomposed rock. 
Q. It has been suggested in the evidence that the 
only black cotton soil which could have been found 
in the area of any of these buildings might be 
such as was carried in on boys* feet, or perhaps 
washed back into the excavations by heavy rain. 
Would you accept that as explaining such black 
cotton soil as you found? A. It might have been 
sucked back by the pumps, when we were pumping out, 
from the surrounding black cotton soil.; but I am 
not going to be absolutely adamant on the fact as 
to how it got there, whether it was there before 
the concrete was laid or after, but it was there. 

Q. There must have been material of some kind be-
low the concrete when that was laid? A. Yes. 
Q. The concrete could not be laid on fresh air, 
could it? A. No. 

10 

20 

Q. And accepting, therefore, that there 
been no voids below the concrete, is it 
for your pumps to have sucked that black 
soil into a position below the concrete? 
substance which the pumps got out of the 
was very much a porridge, and it is very 
to say how much of it was really black c 
and how much of it was the finer of the 
rock. 

could have 
possible 
cotton 

A. The 
trenches 
difficult 
otton soil 
decomposed 

30 

Q. There were examinations and inspection - are 
you prepared to say that the contractor left black 
cotton soil below his foundations, or are you not? 
A. I am not. I never have said so. 
Q. At the time of your inspection in 1956, had any 
repairs been effected to the buildings since they 
were originally put up? A. Quite considerable 
repairs had been effected and were still being 
made. 

40 

Q. Did you have any guidance from the city Council 
staff as to what work had been done by them? 
A. I was told that certain blocks had been re-
paired by them. 
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10 

Q. Were you in any way confused in your inspection 
by the work that had been done since the buildings 
wore put up? A. Obviously, work which had been 
done subsequently confused the issue as far as I 
was concerned, in making an inspection. 
Q. Gould you tell 
was repair work? 

which was original work and which 
In most cases, yes 

Q. Can you tell My lord whether those samples which 
you took and which you sent to the P.W.D. were 
samples of original work or repair work? A. The 
maples which I s e nt 

Q. Do you have any mix 
the absolute accuracy 
I am, I will just check up on my samples, 

were all from original work. 
givings in your mind as to 
of that statement? A. If 

In the Supreme 
Coiirt of Kenya 

Evidence for the 
City Council of 
Nairobi 

No. 15 
Alfred Edward 
Wevill• 
Examination 
- continued. 

20 

Q. When were these lists made? A. These lists 
were made at the time the samples were taken. No, 
none of the samples which I took had been affected 
by repairs made by the City Council. 

about the hard core filling as 
te of the foundations, the s ca 

Q. You have told us 
you found it - the 
condition of the mortar in the walling - putting 
all these things together, is there going to be 
any effect on the buildings? A. In my opinion, 
the effect of the concrete being under-strength 
and the variable nature of the sub-soil 
foundations, subsidence in that sub-soil 
suit in cracks in the concrete foundations. 

under the 
would re-

Cl. 
A. 

And in turn would that lead to anything? 
Had the concrete been of proper strength, the 

30 risk would have been considerably reduced. 
JUDGE: Q. When you say "of proper strength", I 
take it you mean of specification strength? 
A. Yes. 
MR. MACKIE-ROBERTSON: 
Q. But taking the concrete as you found it, Mr. 
Wevill, is there going to be any residual effect? 
A. The. weak concrete, the weak mortar and the wide 
joints in the wailing - thick beds and wide joints 
in the walling - very considerably reduce the 

40 strength of the substructure and is liable to re-
sult in quite considerable damage to the super-. 
structure. 

Q. 
A. 

Over 
That 

what period is that likely to appear? 
I am afraid is very much conjecture. The 
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movement of the black cotton soil will affect it. 
You have got the pressure from the outside of the 
black cotton soil. Cotton soil will expand when 
it is wet and create a pressure; as it dries'it 
creates a void. 
Q. Could you try and put some figure to my question 
- over what period are these possible cracks in the 
superstructure likely to materialise? A. I found 
a number when I made my inspection. 
Q. It has been suggested that two years-, more or 
less, having passed since the erection of the 
buildings, that any cracks that might be expected 
will already be there. Would you subscribe to 
that? A. If they have not been repaired by the 
City Council. 
JUDGE: Q. The suggestion was made that if any 
cracks that were going to appear, would have ap-
peared by nov/? A. I do not think that even 
that is a foregone conclusion. It occurs over 
variable times, because there is no uniformity in 
the figures of cotton soil, or even bad walling, 
as far as that goes. 

10 

20 

Q. You do not'agree with that - if cracking of the 
wall was going to appear due to the poor workman-
ship, that it would have done so by now? Do you 
think that defects might still cone at any time 
after this? . A. Yes. 
MR. MAC K EEC -R 0 BSR TS ON: 
Q. leaving black cotton out of it altogether for 
the moment, is there any possibility of settlement 
in any other way? Is there likely to be any 
settlement of the sub-soil below the foundations? 
A. 1 would not say, under normal conditions, that 
there would be, 
Q. Is there likely to be any settlement of the 
hardcore filling? A. Oh very definitely, yes. 

30 

Q. Do you think that that settlement may be com-
plete by now, or is it still possible for further 
settlement to occur? A. It"is still possible 
for it to occur continuously. 
Q. For ever and a day, or for the next period of 
years? A. Until such time as something solidi-
fies, and it will never solidify in its present 
state, 
JUDGE: Q. It is liable to continue indefinitely? 
A. Yes, there will always be voids there, that* the 
concrete won't bridge. 

40 
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Q. What is the result of settlement of the hard 
core? A. It will cause cracks in the floor -
the support under the floor and the floor itself 
cracks as it sinks. 

Q. That would affect the'fLoors. Can it also affect 
the superstructure? A. In view of the fact that 
we have been told that the chimney stacks were 
allowed to be built off the concrete floor, if 
there is any settlement in the concrete floor which 

10 is supporting the chimney stacks, we shall have 
cracks in those. 

Q. You are referring now to the floors which the 
Court saw lost week, when the chimney stack had no 
foundation? A. Yes. 

2.15 p.m. 
Witness continues evidence on same oath. 

Examine:tion-in-Chief of MR. WEVILL by MR. MACKIE 
ROBERTSON (Continued! 
Q. During the adjournment have you been able to 

20 examine the further holes that have been opened up 
in the floors at the contract site? A. Yes, I 
did, My lord. 
Q. How many holes did you see? A. Three. 
Q. Other than the ones the Court saw last week? 
A. Yes. Rooms'204, 35 and 386. 
Q. Will you teEL My Lord what you found in these 
holes? A. In each case there was a rough level-
ling bed on top of the boulder filling which was 
murrain and Load varied from 3", 2" - 4", 1-1" - 6" 

30 in thickness. Beneath that there were large bould-
ers with .quite considerable interstices as we saw 
before. 
Q. When you say as we saw before, do you mean simi-
lar? A. Similar. 
Q. Any better or any worse? A. Certainly no 
better. 
Q. The concrete in the floor was if anything ap-
parently without a test, of better quality. There 
was water in two of the holes. The third one was 

40 damp but no standing water. 
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JUDGE: While on the subject of water, some evi-
dence was given earlier that this Nairobi grey 
stone is in fact porous and water will penetrate 
through it. Do you agree? A. Water will always 
penetrate inside. In any case it would penetrate 
below the foundation if there is subsoil water. 
JUDGE: The fact there is water standing inside 
these foundations is in itself no sign that the 
building was bad? A. No, i.t is a normal condi-
tion. 
MR. MACKIE ROBERTSON: Were you abfe to get at the 
foundations? A. The foundations as we saw them 
were much'the same. I didn't have time to take 
any tests. 
Q. You didn't test the mortar for hardness? 
A. Yes, the mortar was as ft . 
Q. You tested it? A. We scraped the mortar with 
a chisel. 
Q. Did it appear to be up to specification? 
A. No. 
Q. Did you get at the concrete foundations? 
A. That is what I say, we didn't have time to get 
down to test or examine closely the concrete 
foundations. 
Q..Y/ere there indications in these holes of laying 
the hard core in 6" layers? A. No. 
Q. Or consolidation? A. No. The only consolida-
tion I would say would have been was in the level-
ling bed of murrain on top of the boulder fill. 
Q. Can you tell the Court whether these three 
floors were cracked floors. Cracked before these 
present excavations began? A. They were covered 
with debris. I could not see them. 
Q. We must leave that. Were there any signs of 
settlement in the hard core? A. No. No signs of 
settlement. It could have moved without it being 
noticeable. 
Q. You indicated this morning that in such circum-
stances settlement of the hard core is something 
which might be expected. Would you say that it is 
a possibility or a probability? A. It is almost 
a certainty. 
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Q. Was there any evidence in these excavations you 
have, just "been looking at of the damp proof course? 
A. Yes. 
Q, What grade was it? What ply was it? A. It 
was one ply damp course, no bed underneath it. Not 
bedded in asphalt. 
Q. By that do you mean bitumen as in the specifi-
cation? A. The specification does say that it 
is to be bedded in asphalt. 

10 Q. If v;e may turn to the va.garies of black cotton 
soil. Would you explain to His Lordship the 
characteristics of black cotton soil which affect 
buildings? A. Black cotton soil varies accord-
ing to the moisture content. If it is wet it 
swells and exerts pressure, If it is dry it 
shrinks and if anything causes tension rather than 
pressure. 

Q. If a building is put up on a black cotton site 
what is liable to happen to that building? 

20 A. The thing that is liable to happen is that if 
all the black cotton soil is not removed from in-
side the build rag is that when the soil gets wet 
it swells, pushes up the floors and pushes out the 
walls. 
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Q. And causes? A. Cracks, 
Q. Bo cracks become more evident in dry weather or 
wet weather? A. The action is such that the 
pressure caused by the swelling of the black cotton 
soil would be inclined to close the cracks whereas 

30 the contrary occurs when it shrinks. 

Q. The swelling is associated with which weather? 
A. Pressure. Wet weather. 
JUDGE: I must confess as a layman I find it 
difficult to follow because if the swelling is 
going to cause the cracks surely they would be 
most evident .... A. If you get your black cot-
ton soil in a confined space it must swell when it 
gets wet and therefore whatever is confining it is 
thrust outwards. 

40 JUDGE: Isn't the crack most evident at the time of 
the swelling? A. There is not sufficient black 
cotton soil inside to create that effect. The 
black cotton soil is outside and the pressure is 
round the outside of the building, closing up, 
pressing in on the shell. 
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JUDGE: Are you getting to the proposition that 
where the cracks are caused by some cause other 
than the black cotton soil - when they have origin-
ated for some other reason - then the pressure of 
the black cotton soil is tending to close the 
cracks up? A. No, the actual movement of the 
black cotton soil during seasonal changes is apt 
to cause cracks. Cracks nay occur without any 
action of the black cotton soil and in these build-
ings it is probable they will. 

JUDGE: . let us confine ourselves to cracks that 
may be caused by black cotton soil. There is not 
sufficient black cotton soil within the buildings 
to cause expansion inside? A. No. 

10 

JUDGE: There may be pressure 
soil outside? A. Yes. 

from the Black cotton 

JUDGE: Might that cause cracking? A. Yes, par-
ticularly if the filling is not consolidated. 
JUDGE: 
Assuming 

C onfining ourselves to that cracking, 
that the cracks were caused by that 

pressure outside. Would those cracks be most evi-
dent when the black cotton soil is wet or when it 
shrinks? A. When it is present it is quite poss — 
ible that the cracks will close but when it shrinks 
away the cracks will open. 

20 

JUDGE: If there is pressure from the outside which 
is tending to do that (Judge demonstrates) surely 
when the pressure is there the crack opens? 
A. It is a wavy action. It is very difficult to 
describe it. For one thing, nobody can. really de-
fine the vagaries of black cotton soil. It will 
cause cracks in that way which are transmitted to 
the superstructure. 

30 

JUDGE: -There has been evidence before in this 
case which is the precise converse of yours. That 
the cracks will tend to close when the black cotton 
soil dries. I am merely trying - it is more logic-
al that the cracks should appear when the pressure 
is present? A. I shouldn't like to say definite-
ly whether the cracks are caused by black cotton 
soil. 40 

JUDGE: At the moment I an dealing with cracks 
which are caused by black cotton soil? A. I 
wouldn't like to say that there are any of those 
JUDGE: You wouldn't like to say that there are 
any of those? A. No. 
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JUDGE: Coming to the next category, cracks which 
have originated 
stanc e, s inking 
What effect 
that? A. 
movement in 

from some other 
of the filling, 

cause. For m -
or had workmanship. 

black cotton soil likely to have on 
None, My Lord, unles it had caused any 
th sup er s truc ture. 

JiJDCE: We have possibly been pursuing something 
of a hare in this black cotton soil. 
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MR. JACKIE ROBERTS ON: 'There is one fact that per-
10 haps you ought to knew. We have had it in evidence 

that at the tame the casting of the concrete found-
ations was proceeding, the ground was very wet, and 
in fact the foundation trenches had to be baled out 
sometimes, to get them dry enough for casting con-
crete. Well, now, does that indicate that the 
black cotton soil would be at its maximum expansion 
when the concrete was laid? A. If it was there, 
yes. 

Alfred Edward 
Wevill. 
Examination 
- continued. 

Q. So that when the 
20 maximum support? 

loncrete was laid there was 

JU EDGE: You are asking at the moment whether it is 
laid on black cotton soil? A. If it isn't on 
black cotton soil there is black cotton soil round 
about. When the foundations were laid until the 
filling was put in there would be no pressure or 
otherwise from the sides. 

evidence was, I think, 
building 

JUDGE: The 
area of the 
were then suhk? 

30 until the filling 
tion and the foundation wall 
unsupported upon both sides . 
be no pressure exerted until 
back. 

that the whole 
was excavated and the trenches 

A. 'The point I am making is that 
was put in the concrete founda-

in fact entirely 
that there v/ould 
filling was put 

was 
So 
the 

40 

MR. JACKIE ROBERTSON: 
condition of the black 
placed against the wall 
on the outside? A. The 
round the outside face n-p 
could gather was black 

Would it turn at all on the 
cotton soil that was re-

.e wall had been built 
backfill in every case 

of the walls as far as I 
cotton soil and that would 

if 

naturally exert pressure 
Q. The nature of the pressure would turn upon 
whether the backfill was wet or dry? A. And 
amount of consolidation inside and out. 

the 
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Q. Can you tell the Court whether the specification 
makes any provision about the backfill round the 
buildings? Is it provided to be black cotton or 
any other? A. I don't think it mentions in. the 
specification what the backfill outside should be. 
But there is a drawing which shows the hard core. 
Q. That is the drawing we saw this morning. When 
you visited the scene this morning, did you ob-
serve any cracks? A. Yes, several. 
Q. Minor or serious? A. I should say quite 
serious. One had been repaired and opened up 
again. 
Q. In the floor or in the walls? A. In the 
walls. 
Q. How high did it go up? A. It went from the 
door handle level right up to the roof. 
Q. Can you tell My Lord in which block this was 
observed? A. 'Three separate blocks. 
Q. Was it at one of the places you were inspecting 
a hole? A. I think it was in 36, 35 and possibly 
29. I looked at several. 
Q. Did you examine any joints this morning? 
A. I did. 
Q. What results did you find? A. Any number of 
them anything from 1 a ', 2" or. 2-g-" thick, which is 
even v/orse than joints. 
Q. And the nature of the mortar? A. The mortar 
was very poor. 
Q. Following'the submission of your report on 11th 
August,. 1956, did you later submit any amendment 
thereof to the City Council? A. I amended my 
report at a later date after I discovered from the 
City Engineer that the method of carrying out re-
pairs ?/hicli had been followed in the past could 
not. be followed in the future. They had previously 
carried out the repairs with their own departmental 
maintenance gang and they said that major repairs 
such as I suggested in my report, they would have 
to do it by contract. In consequence I said they 
would have to make a greater allowance for the 
cos t. 

Q. So that your report of 11th August, 1956, was 
based on the work being done by direct labour? 
A. Yes. 
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Q. And your amendment allowed for the provision of 
the prices to have it done by contractual engage-
ment? A. Yes. 
Q. Here is a copy of your amend.ed report. I tender 
this as an exhibit (Exhibit 1). 
Q. These two reports of yours - if implemented, 
would achieve what? Would it bring the buildings 
up to specification throughout? A. In some res-
pects it would bring it to specification, and in 
other respects as I have said in the report, it 
would improve stability. 

Q. Improve the stability with or without achieving 
specification standard? A. The point is that it 
would net be possible in these places to bring it 
up to specification without total demolition. 
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20 

Q. And the figures which you give in your report 
for cost of implementation are the figures appro-
priate to what date? The date of your report? 
A. The date at the time I made my renort which was 
1956. 
Q. Have building costs come down at all since 1956? 
A. Today I think they are slightly down. 
Q. Would you care to put a percentage 

something approximate? 25 per cent, 
on the basis of Loot 

- 5 per cent, 
A. Taking it 
from 60/- to 

probably 55, 
work, 

the superficial 
/- to 56/-. I speak now of domestic 

This type of work would be very much less» 

30 
JUDGE: Would approximately the same percentage of 
reduction apply? Something in the nature of 8 per 
cent? A. That would be about right. 
MR. MACKIE ROBERTSON: 
commendations of your 
t he f oun da t io ns , 

The first item 
original report 

m your re-
deals with 

and you provide for the underpin-
Does that cover all the foundations through-

out the whole site? A. No, only in such places 
I found defective concrete. 

iiing. 

Q. You provide for: "Hacking up ..... relaying 
the floors" . Does that cover all the floors? 
A. Yes, every floor throughout the buildings. 

40 Ci. From what you have been able to see did you 
consider that that course is necessary throughout 
the whole site? A. From .what I have seen of the 
state of the floors and the flooring in the places 
which have been exposed, I am quite satisfied that 
it would be necessary, 
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Q. In the superstructure walling it provides for: 
"raking out, etc." does that cover walls through-
out or in places? A. Walls throughout. Some 
of them I have made allowance for their having 

• Council. already been done by the C: 
Q. The reinforcing and respiking of roof timbers 
Is that to be a general measure throughout the 
work? A. Yes, My Lord. 

Alfred Edward 
'Wevill. 
Examination 
- continued. 

Q. And why is that necessary? A. The specifica-
tion calls for framing to the roof timbers. These 
timbers are not framed. I don't say it is necess-
ary to frame them but they should have been at 

a 
side. 

least halved at their joints and spiked with 
nail which could be clenched on the opposite 

10 

Q. The specification doesn't actually say that the 
nails are to be clenched? A. No, it says it is 
to be framed. 

in Q. Why do you say it should 
prevent the drag from pulling 
Movement of the timber. 

clenched? A. To 
.t out of the wood. 

20 

Q. In your inspections, did you notice any move-
ment of the timber? A. Some of the timbers had 
moved. Of course, it is green timber and it is 
bound to move, but this is a case where the joints 
had opened in places. 
Q. It has been said in evidence in this Court that 
the framing of timbers in these roof trusses, 
bearing in mind the size and dimensions specified, 
would have had the effect ox weakening the trusses 
instead of strengthening them. A..Framing to my 
mind is a wrong expression. Framing 

30 

JUDGE: What was said here was that framing or 
halving, owing to the dimensions of this timber, 
have forgotten what they were, would reduce the 
strength so much that it was better not to frame 
them. A. They were all 2" timbers and I would 
say that I always halve and spike them. 
JUDGE: You don't agree that it would weaken them? 
A. I don't agree 
MR. MACKIE ROBERTSON: In your report you made a 
recommendation for a claim in respect of loss of 
rent based upon the rooms being vacated in blocks 
of 20 rooms at a time. Would it be possible to 
achieve your recommendations without the rooms 

40 
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having to be vacated? Then this loss of rent 
could be avoided. A. It would mean that it 
would take considerably longer to do the job. 
JUDGE; txr-i a matter of common sense, you couldn't 
pull up the floors without vacating the rooms. 
Ml. MAGKIE ROBERTSON: Do you consider a block of 
20 to be an economical unit? A. Yes. 
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Q. And then you made a recommendation that: "If 
the repair cover this risk". By which re-

10 commendation you arc suggest ring that an extra 
per cent maintenance should be claimed from' the 
contractors 
A. It 
Lord. 

How did you arrive t? per cent. 
was an attempt at an intelligent guess, My 

Alfred Edward 
Wevill. 
Examination 
- continued. 

20 

Q. Do you consider 1-f per cent would not adequately 
cover the maintenance? A. Not for this class of 
work. This class of user. 

Q. Nov/ Mr. Wevill, if your .recommendations were not 
carried out, would the works as they were left by 
the contractor be up to the value which you would 
anticipate from having read the specifications? 
A. No. 
Q. Can you give the Court any indication of the 
value that you would expect to find in the contract 
buildings as a result of the contract documents and 
specifications? A. May I ask if that is intended 
what would I value that work at had the specifica-
tion been followed. 
Q. Had the specification been followed. Yes. 

•30 A. My valuation of the work would be £100,000 to 
£110,COO. 
Q. Whereas the tender was approximately £85,000? 
A. I believe that was the contract sum. 
Q. Knowing that was the contract sum do you still 
think the value should still have been £100,000 
to £110,000? A. I cannot see why because he has 
under estimated he shouldn't follow his specifica-
ti-on. 

40 
Q. You think that the contractor has under-estimat-
ed? A. On my figures I reckon he has. 
Q. That is the value that you put on the specifica-
tion, so to speak. Are you in a position to give 
;he Court youi opinion of the value of the buildings 
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as they were left by the Contractor? A. The 
only way I could arrive at any figure would be 
what I consider the capital cost of the extra 
maintenance. That I think, My Lord, is_the only 
way I could arrive at any figure. And 1 should 
say it would probably be three times as much. 
Q. Three times as much as normal? 
times instead of ih. 

A. About 3i 

Alfred Edward 
Wevill. 
Examination 
- continued. 

Q. This is always assuming that your recommenda-
tions have not been carried out first? 10 
A. Precisely. 
JUDGE? You say about three times the normal rate? 
A. Yes, I hope it is .an intelligent guess. 
JUDGE: And does that mean that you ore not in a 
position to estimate the capital value of the 
buildings as left by the contractor? 
MR. MAOKIE ROBERTSON: 1 on coming to that. Have 
you endeavoured to ascertain how that would capit-
alise out? A. Yes, I have. I have got figures 
from the City Treasurer based on the formula which 20 
I followed. 
Q. I have got a schedule here which has been pre-
pared in the City Treasurer's Department. I have 
shown a copy to my learned Friend. If it is com-
plicated can we call a member of the City Treasur-
er's D e par tmen t ? 
Ml. 0'DONOVAN: I agree, subject to my being able 
to understand it. 
JUDGE:' What did you describe this as, Mr. Mackie 
Robertson? A. A statement showing the capitali-
sation of the maintenance cost, and it is done in 
i per cent grades, My lord. To show the Court how 
it ..... 

30 

JUDGE: This had better go in as Exhibit J. 
MR. MACKIE ROBERTS ON: Us Dig that table, Mr. Wevill, 
you gave a figure of 4-g- per cent as for the main-
tenance costs. If we work from that what would be 
the capitalised figure using your- estimate of 
£110,000? A. The capitalised figure would be 
£76,279. 
Q. Which would leave from your original estimate 
of £110,000 a residue of what? A c , 54,000. 

40 
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Q. And if, instead of your figure of £110,000 we 
work on the contract price of £85,000 what does it 
come to? A. £58,943. 
Q. Which would leave a residual "balance of about 
£26,000? A. Yes. 

Q. It has been said in-the course of evidence that 
the value of materials contained in this site when 
demolished might be about £60,000. 
JUDGE: I thought it was less. 

10 MR. 0'DONOVANs I thought it was for all three 
blocks. 
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20 

30 

MR. MACEIE ROBERTSON: It was in a report by Mr. 
Mould. I think it was £50,000 for Part B. My 
i'riend is right. Exhibit E. It is in paragraph <> ̂  II r s it worth • s « • could be re-used". It 
refers to a total of £180,000 - £60,000 covers the 
whole lot. Leaving Mr. Mould's estimate aside, 
there is obviously seme value in the bricks and 
mortar as they stand. Do you consider that that 
relates in any way comparable to the actual fig-
ures? A. In work of this nature probably the 
value of material, new, to the value of labour is 
very nearly 50/50. It might be 40 labour and 60 
material, but it must be taken into consideration 
that this material has been used and a lot of it 
could not be re-used. Timbers could probably not 
be re-used, 
Q. Having considered the arithmetical side of the 
matter, and taking that into account together with 
your own professional experience and your knowledge 
of the building as it stands. What do you consider 
would be a fair figure roughly? A. Taking 
If the buildings were demolished, taking my own 
£110,000 as value, at a very approximate gues.s I 
should say that the value of reusable materials 
might be £40,000. 

JUDGE: I don't think that actually was quite the 
question. 

40 
IS. HACKLE ROBERTSON And if they were not de-
molished, taking them as they stand when the con-
tractor left... You have considered the figure side 
of it produced by the Treasurer's Department. You 
know the practical side. A. I should say my 
estimate less the cost of the sinking fund. 
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Cross-
examination. 

Q. You think that is a way of arriving at it? 
A. The only possible way I can think of. 

JUDGE: That is, in fact, £34,000? 
A. Approximately. 
JUDGE: And would you say that was the approximate 
value of the buildings as left by the contractor? 
Rather than taking my figures which are some 
£40,000 for repairs plus the -N per cent extra 
maintenance. 
MR. MACXIS ROBERTSON: My friend suggests there 
may be some confusion. The depreciated value is 
£110,000 less £76,000, that is £34,000. A. Yes. 
JUDGE: That is what I understand. I understood 
he was capitalising the value. As 1 understand it 
that £34,000 is what Mr. Wevill said would be the 
capitalised value of the buildings as left by the 
contractor. 
Cross-examination by Mil. 0'DONOVAN : 
Q. You have very considerable experience. How 
many years? A. 33 years in this country, 6 years 
in South Africa, and some 10 years at home. 
Q. Half a centurv? A. Yes. 
Q. In your 50 years of experience have you ever 
struck any case where defects on this scale are 
advanced in respect of a building which has been 
almost completely paid for? A. I wouldn't allow 
it to occur in any of my buildings. 
Q. It is unique' A. Yes. 
Q. The criticisms you have to make must have been 
quite obvious to a clerk of works? A. Not neces-
sarily. The contractor should be ashamed of him-
self. 

Q. Would they not have been partly obvious? To the 
Contractor and the architect and the Clerk of Works? 
A. Yes. If he is living on the job. 
Q. This table you have put in starts off with the 
phrase: "Present value " Do you understand 
it? A. i did not calculate it. 
Q. Do you understand it? •'• v p < 
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Q, That is only the present value? It is therefore 
a fluctuating value? A. I don't know. 
Q. What is the meaning of the word "present"? It 
is based on something comparable not expressed in 
this document? A. I don't know. 
Q. You don't understand it? Let us be honest. You 
don't understand it? A. I am not an actuary. I 
see how it is worked out. 
Q. You don't want to admit that you don't under-
stand it? A. I do understand it. 
Q. What does the word 'present' mean? 
means exactly the same. 

A. It 

In the Supreme 
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Q. You know perfectly well what I mean. Do you 
understand it? In other words I think 'present' 
could be left out. A. Its value 
Q. Specifications over-ride drawings, do they not? 
A. They are taken together. 
Q. Which over-rides the other in case of a con-
flict? A. That is for the architect to say. If 
the contractor finds any discrepancy between draw-
ings and specifications he refers to the architect 
for a ruling and takes the architects ruling. 
Q. In this case, I see that the architect for Plan 
B was Mr. Tanner o presumably he knew better 
than you do, Mr. Wevill. the meaning of this rather 
obscure .... (inaudible) which he put in the hard 
core filling? A. I have only used my common 
sense in interpreting the plan, My Lcrd. 
JUDGE Which elan? A. 31S3/AH/2/14. 
I,®. 0'DONOVAN: Would you agree that Mr. Tanner, 
who drew this plan, probably knew more than you do 
about the meaning of the dots which he drew in the 
hard core filling? A. Yes, if he has got any 
statement to that effect I should like to hear 
what it is. It is obvious to any draughtsman what 

Q. If he declined to authorise the use of any finer 
material to fill in the interstices on the ground 
of economy, what would you say? 
extremely surprised, My Lord. 

A. I would be 
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Q. Do you say that there should be any filling 
outside the foundation wall? A. On this drawing-
it isn't shown. 
Q. Did you complain in your report about there be-
ing no filling outside the walls? A. Only to 
the effect that there should be filling outside tc 
give support to the drains. 
Q. That is a fact which must have been obvious to 
the architect and Clerk of Works? A. It all 
depends, it might have been filled in in his ab-
sence. 
Q. Would you deal with the subject of black cotton 
soil? let us take the case first of black cotton 
soil underneath the building. Not surrounding it. 
Underneath it. Would you confine your attention 
to that place? 
JUDGE: Is there any point in pursuing this black 
cotton soil because this witness has said he would 
not be prepared to say whether there was any black 
cotton soil. 
MI). 0'DONOVAN: He still claim: 
affects nart of his estimate. -§- Pej cent. It 

JUDGE: If you wish to pursue it, do so. But as I 
understand it he has said he is not prepared to 
say there was an appreciable amount of black cotton 
soil left either below the foundations or the 
filling. 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: I want to cross-examine him in how 
it affects other things. I will deal with it very 
briefly, if you agree. If it is underneath you 
say the effect is to thrust the building up so 
that it will appear to burst outwards? A. If 
there is sufficient of it, yes, I would 
Q. That is not the case? 
that. 

A, I have not said 

Q. What you are saying now is that this is. sur-
rounded by black cotton soil. Is that right? So 
that when the black cotton soil gets wet it will 
tend tc squeeze the building in. Is that right? 
A. Yes, 

Q. Is that the first case of this kind in your 50 
years' experience? A. I have seen it act both 
ways both from inside and outside. 
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Q. But the squeezing in of the "building v/ould tend 
to thrust the floor up. It would break it? 
A. No, because the filling under the floor is not 
sufficiently well consolidated. The walls would 
go but not the filling. 
Q. Y/hat about the screed? A. If the squeeze is 

the squeeze is underneath the floor. The 
black cotton soil is underneath. 
Q. In other words, it cannot produce a crack at 
all? A. By weakening the wall 
JTJDGE: You are saying it would produce cracks in 
the walls but not cracks in the floor. 
If;., 0'DONOVAN: Did you make a, remark when you 
were at the site when the Court visited it. Did 
you make a comment that the cracks in the floor 
were not visible because the black cotton soil 
being wet it closed them UP? A. Never. 
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Q. Did you hear that remark? 
remark. 

A. I did hear some 

20 Q. By Mr. Mould? A. I don't think it referred 
to the floors. It was only the walls. 
Q. I don't think Mr. Mould had any idea of your 
new theory about black cotton soil when he said 
that? A. I wouldn't know. 
Q. The pressure of black cotton soil from the sur-
roundings of the building couldn't cause any sinking 
of the foundation, could it? A. It would he 
Q. It couldn't cause any subsidence? A. It 
shouldn't. 

30 Q. It couldn't. .. It shouldn't. 

40 

Q. You don't anticipate that it would? A. If a 
is pushed in it occupies less space than when 

it is in its normal condition. 

Q. So your conclusion in your report you wish to 
abandon, do you? I will read it to you. "The 
subsoil underpinning it". Do you abandon 
that? A. No, you have missed out an important 
part. I said: "Due to defective concrete 
due to movement". It would have been bridged in 
d e o ent conc rete . 
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Q. Will you look at page 1 and page 2 of your 
report? You deal first with excavation. Secondly, 
with concrete foundations. Hay we confine our 
attention first to excavations? The excavations 
as such do not render any underpinning necessary, 
do they? A. The excavations left a mixture of 
black cotton soil with the finer decomposed rock. 
It would probably be necessary if any subsidence 
occurred. It would be in these points that the 
subsidence would occur and that is where underpin-
ning is necessary. 
Q. I/here the subsidence would occur? You didn't 
see any? A. It was Impossible to see anything -
there was so much water about. 
Q. You are not suggesting that the excavations 
were not according to specification? A. I am, 
My Lord, because the specification calls for 
excavation down to hard rock. This is not hard 
rock. 
Q. Doesn't the specification say; "Excavation 
down to rock or murrain suitable for foundation". 
A. You will find in another place it says; "hard 
rock". 
Q. I am referring to the specification which you 
quoted. A. "Trenches for foundation 
murram bottom". There is no murrain on that site, 
My lord. 
Q. Do you expect any settlement then of the founda-
tions? A. Settlement might occur due to bad 
concrete. 
Q. Do you expect any settlement because of the 
excavations? A. Yes. 
Q. When, in another 50 years' time? A. Not be-
ing the architect of the universe I cannot prophesy 
that. 
Q. You cannot prophesy when? A. When the subsi-
dence will occur. 
Q. Wouldn't you expect the effect to occur when 
the cause exists? A. Yes, when the cause exists. 
Q. And the cause lias existed for the past two 
years during two rainy seasons? A. It has been 
extremely lucky up to now, in my 'opinion there are 
cracks. 
Q. Were you invited to point them out when vie 
visited the site? A. Yes. 
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Q. You immediately replied that they had all closed 
up because it was wet. A. I beg your pardon. I 
stated 1 would not be prepared to take the court to 
where these cracks were because the majority of 
them had already been repaired. 
Q. Have you any notes where the cracks were? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Have you notes? A. I have 
Q. Which you made at the time of your inspection? 

10 A. Yes. 
Q. last year? A. Yes. 

Q. In the rainy season? A. Just after the rainy 
season. 
Q. You said the site was waterlogged then? 
A. Hot all of it. 
Q. lid you say the site was waterlogged? A. I 
said water was found in the foundations to a con-
siderable depth. 
Q. Was it very much like the site when we visited 

20 it this week? A. In those places we went to see 
it was, where there was water. 
Q. How man;/ holes did you dig to examine the 
foundations? A. 49 or 50. 
Q. How big was each hole? A. Some of them were 
trenches which went the full length of the build-
ing. I hove a diagram. 
Q. How many feet were exposed of the foundation? 
A. Ho place less than 3 ft. 
Q. And the total? A. The total footage exposed? 

30 It will take a lot of calculation. 
Q. Can you ansvier another question more easily? 
What proportion of the total foundations did you 
examine? A. I should say about 25 per cent. 25 
- 30 per cent. 
Q. With 50 holes? A. 50 holes and trenches. 
There were several trenches. 
Q. How many trenches? A. In two places. Along 
the. whole of one side of the building 
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Q. The whole of one side cf the building. In two 
places slightly less than half the building was 
exposed out of 17 blocks, and 50 3 ft. holes were 
dug. One of your not so intelligent guesses. 
Would it be correct to say that you actually ex-
amined an infinitesimal proportion of the founda-
tions? A. I would say 
JUDGE: Answer the question. A. I have said 
that we examined sufficient to give us a fair 
cross-section. 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: I didn't ask you that question. I 
asked you what percentage? A. I haven't calcula 
ted it My Lord, and I cannot answer the question. 
Q. What'is the length of a block where you exposed 
the whole length? A. 260 ft. 
JUDGE: In each case? 
and the other 200 ft. 

A. In one case 260 ft. 

MR. 0'DONOVAN: 460 ft. and 50 holes 3 ft. long, 
about 150 ft. 150 plus 460, that is 610 ft. That 
is not very difficult is it? You exposed 610 ft. 
of the foundations? A. That is probably correct 
Q. There must be about 8,000 running feet? 
A. I would say so. 
Q. There are 17 blocks each of 8,000 ft. You ex-
amined about six out of 8,000, Less than 1 per 
cent. I am sorry, less than 10 per cent, about 8 
per cent? A. I don't know what the total length 
of the walling is, I merely say we got samples of 
the total length. 
Q. Do you say any cracks were caused by this 
squeezing in of the black cotton soil?' A. I 
cannot say, the cracks are there. 
Q. Do you anticipate cracks from any black cotton 
soil? A. There again, the vagaries of black 
cotton coil 
Q. You cannot possibly tell whether cracks were 
due to black cotton soil or whether any further 
cracks will be caused by it. So we can forget 
about black cotton soil. A. Only in so far as 
the foundations are concerned. 
Q. Thy is underpinning necessary? -H there is uneven resistance « « « « • 

A. Because 
The subsoil is of 
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uneven bearing capacity, My lord, and tlie concrete 
and walling on top are of not sufficient strength 
to breach the weaknesses. 
Q. If one went back next year and still there were 
no signs of cracking, that would leave you quite 
unconvinced. And if we went back a year later, or 
a year later, you would still stick to your theor-
ies, would you? A. I am not going to answer ..., 

Q. If in a year's time there were no signs of 
settlement would that affect your theory? A. No. 
Q. Two years' time? A. No. 
Q. Ten year's' time? A. If a building is badly 
built 
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• • • • • 

JUDGE: If a building is badly built it may not 
affect its specified life but it is still badly 
built. 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: Did you in your report say - I am 
reading from page 5s "No matter dug out". 
Do you abandon that? A. The emphasis is on the 

20 filling. 
Q. The black cotton soil doesn't need to be taken 
out? A. Very definitely. 
Q. It doesn't necessitate the taking up of the 
floor by itself? A. Hie bad filling is what 
necessitates the taking up of the floor. 
Q. The black cotton soil doesn't require this 
operation on its own? A. No, but if you are 
taking out the filling you might just as well take 
out the black cotton soil. 

50 Q. If it is there. You said that the mortar was 
variable in the foundation walls? A. Yes. 
Q. Presumably part of it? A. Yes. 
Q. Do you consider the concrete foundation is 
adequate having regard to the load it would take? 
A. If it was properly mixed. The present concrete 
is not. 
JUD Crib « You are referring to the concrete founda-ion which is actually allowed in the specification. 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: Did you not say this about the con-

40 crete foundation: "Although it might ...points of 
settlement will occur "? (page 2) A. Yes. 
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Q. So that the concrete foundation by itself you 
regard as sufficient, do you? A. No, I don't 
say that. As a levelling bed for a solid base. 
Q. A foundation or a levelling bed still performs 
the same function does it not? A. Not necessari-
ly. 
Q. The building rests on it. You say the remedy 
is underpinning. Underpinning where? A. Where 
the concrete 
Q. "Cutting out and replacing soft concrete"? 10 
A. Yes. 
Q. It doesn't all require to be redone, only those 
parts that are soft? A. That is what I suggest. 
Q. Cut out the bad bits? A. I am of opinion 
that this building is sub specification. 
Q. You have said so. Do you suggest only replac-
ing the bad portions? A. With the object of 
saving time and. money. 
Q. Did you say the only remedy is cutting out the 
soft concrete? A. Demolition would be better, 20 
Q. Mr. Wevill, you may be years my senior, but 
would you kindly answer my question? A. What 
was the question. 
Q. Did you say the only remedy was cutting out the 
soft concrete? A. Of course, it is true. 
Q. That involved cutting out how many feet of con-
crete in the 600 odd feet you saw? How many feet-
would have to be cut out? A. 31 places, 4 ft. 
long. 
Q. What does it cost to cut out per foot? 30 
A. About 30 cents a foot. 
Q. And the total number of feet? A. 120 ft. 
length. 
JUDGE: 30 cents per foot length or cubic foot? 
A. Yes. 

MR. 0'DONOVAN: And how many cubic feet ? And 
then there is the concrete in the underpinning it-
self. 

Q. How many places did you find it was necessary 
to underpin? A. 31. 40 



499. 

10 

Q, Y/hat did the underpinning cost in each case? 
A. 1270/-. 
Q. The total of that work is about £75? A. As I 
said, ?[ haven't made a big point of the underpin-
ning . 
Q. In how many places did you think the foundation 
wall had to be repointed? A. The whole of it. 
Q. You didn't say the whole of it? A. No. 
Q. How much of what you saw had to be repointed? 
A. From what I saw I thought the best thing would 
be to expose it all and repoint. 
Q. If on exposing it all it seemed to be unnecess-
ary wouldn't it be wasteful? A. I suppose it 
would, but there is no question, of it from what we 
saw of the mortar. 
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Q. The safest thing? A. My Lord, this pointing 
is very largely to make up for the lack of bond. 

Q. What does it cost to repoint? A. Externally 
it would probably cost about 11 cents a square 

20 foot, and internally about 16 cents a square foot, 
the reasoai being difficulty of access. But the 
excavation has got to be done to get at that. 

Q. What would that cost, the total amount of wall-
ing that had to be repointed? A. I have taken 
it on the total. I haven't taken jt on the por-
tions which we exposed. I took the portions of 
which we exposed as being a fair sample of what we 

G. You said that your costs were based on putting 
30 right only what you observed to be defective? 

A.'l think My Lord, I said what I considered to be 
defective. 

Q. How do you get Sh.39,000? Can you explain that? 
"Excavating for underpinning " 

JUDGE: Do you think we might have them in the 
morning in the form of a list. 
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9th July, 1957 
10.30 Turn. 
Witness continues evidence on same oath. 
Cross-examination of Witness AIMED EDWARD WEVILL 
b f~W^~~0rnUS(J<l7Sr "Tc onTImecrrr~ 
Q. Mr. Wevill, in your estimate of the cost of re-
pairing the foundations I see that the largest 
item is concerned with excavating and back filling 
the walls with hard core. A. I have not my copy 
of that statement, I handed it over .... 

JUDGE: Is there a. spare copy to be handed to the 
witness? 
Q. Would vou agree that that item accounts for 
over Shs.21,000 out of the Shs. 39,000$ 

JUDGE: What is the item - excavating ana back 
filling with hard core - that is excavating on 
the external face? Witness:A. I don't know My lord, 
1 have not got those papers in front of me. 
JUDGE; Could you hand it up? 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: I am not trying to catch you out 
Mr. Wevill. 
JUDGE; I am sorry, what is the answer? 
Mil. 0« DONOVAN: It accounts for Slis .21,193/20. 
Witness; I believe Counsel, for the outside of 
the walls I am not certain of that. I cannot say, 
MIA 0'DONOVAN: I will read it out correctly -
"Excavate entirely face of walls to expose face 
and back filling with hard core Shs.21,193/20. 
A. It is in my statement, I accept that. 
JUDGE; Out of a total of Shs. 39,000. 
III. 0 '.DONOVAN: To what extent would that item be 
reduced if no hard core - if no back filling with 
hard core were put in? A. It would have to be 
back filled My lord. Probably the value of the 
hard core would be about five cents a foot. I 
have not got the measuresents in front of me. 

III. 0'DONOVAN; Very well. 
Q. Would a Clerk of Works who was ordinarily con-
scientious have been well aware - should he have 
been well aware of the quantity and quality of the 
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mortar put in tiie foundation walls? A. Not un-
less he v/as constantly on the work. 
JUDGE: The evidence is that he was on the work 
about a third of his time. He was dividing his 
time between this and other work - several hours a 
day. A. A lot of mortar can be used and mixed in 
the time he was not on the work. 

JUDGE: On the basis of his spending about a third 
of his time there, should he be aware of the type 

10 of mortar that v/as going in? A. He should he, 
yes My Lord. 
MR. 0' DOHCVAN: It is very easy to test is it not . 
What the Clerk of Y/orks described as field tests -
prodding the mortar with a knife etc? A. It 
should be possible to check it that way, My Lord. 

MA. 0'DONOVAN: This is not what you so described 
as a hidden defect then? To some extent yes it is 
hidden. 
Q. To what extent? A. To the extent of it having 

20 been done and covered up in the absence of the 
Inspector. . 
Q. The Clerk of Y/orks do you mean when you say 
"Inspector"? A. Yes. 
Q. Normally it v/ould be the Clerk of the Works' 
duty would it not, to.reject all work whenever he 
saw it? A. Yes. My Lord. 
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Q. In that respect he v/as actually the Deputy 
Engineer? A. The Clerk of the Works' duty is to 
act as Inspector for the Engineer. 

30 Q. He deputises for the engineer? A. Yes. 
Q. That is the normal procedure. A. Yes, My 
Lord. 
0. And it applies also in this particular contract. 
A. I v/ould definitely say so. 
Q. Y/hat do you mean by work being covered up? 
A. In foundation work very frequently filling is 
put in after walls are built and are thereby cover-
ed up and hidden. 
Q. What do you mean by filling? A. Back filling 

40 which you spoke of. 
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Q. But here there is no back filling? A. Some 
would be necessary for the trenches My Lord. 
Q. That is after the wail is completed surely? 
A. Not of necessity. 
Q, It is not of necessity they should be covered? 
A. It is necessary. 
Q. Why? A. You can't build a wall and leave an 
empty trench alongside the built wall. 
Q. Why not? A. It would be very foolish to do 
so. Anybody could fall into the trench. When you 
have built your wall you fill back the trench. 
Q. The Clerk of the Works has said he was there 
about three hours a day and when he came he was 
able to see the work which had been done? A. It 
would have been possible - it is very difficult. 
Q. You say it is very difficult for you to say 
that the Clerk of Works would undoubtedly be in a 
position to see? A. He should be, yes. 
Q. And you would find nothing startling about his 
statement that on an inspection of three hours a 
day, he was able to see all the work being done? 
A. I think he would be extremely clever man to see 
all that is done if he is working three hours and 
they are working eight hours.a day. 
Q. Then at least he would see the quality of the 
mortar put in whilst he was there? A. Such as 
was put in whilst he was there. 
Q. And -would that be insufficient for him to form 
an opinion or conclusion on the mortar. He must 
have seen a third of it being nut in. A. I took 
tests haphazard My Lord, from what I saw I formed 
an opinion. 
Q. And if you based it 011 examination of about six 
hundred feet out of a total of eight-thou3and or 
more, surely he was in a position to say what the, 
quality of work was whilst at least a third of it 
was being completed in his presence.'. A. I based 
my opinion on the strength of the chain being in 
its weakest link. 

Q. You have got your own way of anaw'ering my ques-
tions. A. The difference being, Hy Lord/ I 
have had practical experience vbiereas my Learned 
Counsel has not. 
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Q. Your experience presumably does not cover the 
field in answering questions directly. A. I am 
not a lawyer. 
JUDGE: Yes, well, will you please answer questions 
directly, 

MR. 0'DONOVAN: Now the actual underpinning which 
you allow for the foundations. The two items 253/ 
25 for the excavations and Shs.1017 for the con-
crete? A. I believe that is right my Lord. 
JUDGE; This document is not in evidence? 
111. SCHSRHBRUCKER: May I suggest we put it in? 
Mil. 0'DONOVAN: There are only one or two items. 
JUDGE: What was that last item you referred to? 
Mi. 0'DONOVAN: Underpinning Shs. 253/25 and con-
crete for the underpinning Shs.1017/-. 
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Q. Your figure for the floors includes all the 
floors does it? A. Yes My Lord. 
Q. Plow many floors did you actually examine? 
A. Live, plus the three which I saw yesterday, 
Q. That:is eight altogether? 
viously and three yesterday. 

A. Yes five pre-

Q. The total number of rooms is - here is an extra 
copy - how many rooms are there in all? A. I am 
afraid I have forgotten that My Lord. I suppose 
there must be some hundreds. 
MP!. 0'DONOVAN: I leave it at that - some hundreds. 
Q. Would you agree 4-28? A. That is probably 
correct My Lord, I cannot say for sure. 
Q. And you approved them for filling with hard 
core? A. To all of the rooms. 
Q. That is new hard core is it? 
broken to specification. 

A. Hard core 

Q. But you did not take into account the existing 
hard core or did you? A. I would definitely say 
so. I have taken into consideration the value of 
the old material which could be re-used. 
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Q. Where' A. J.n filling. 
Q. What is it worth? A. i have put it down here 
at twenty-five cents a cubic foot. 
Q. Is that the cost of hard core as you buy it? 
A. No. 
Q. What is it? A. I cannot say My Lord, some-
where about ten cents. 
Q. Is what hard core costs? 
ten cents a cubic foot. 

A, Approximately 

Q. You said fill back with hard core and you are 
charging twenty-five cents per cubic foot? 
A. The labour must be allowed for. 
Q. How much labour? A. Ten-fifteen cents, but 
what is to be talien into consideration is the in-
accessible position of ;no Aceessibility 
would make a very considerable difference between 
the cost of new and the cost of reinstalment. 
JUDGE: What do you mean by accessibility? 
A. They have to get into the rooms which is in a 
c onfin ed spac e. 
JUDGE: You mean that entrance is now only through 
a door way as opposed to the original filling hav-
ing been opened all the way round? A. Yes. 
JUDGE: I follow. 
Mli. 0'DONOVAN• You should calculate twenty 
per cubic foot 
A. Yes in ray estimation. 

in filling back with hard core. 

Q. And you have charged the whole of that based on 
ten cents for the material and fifteen for the 
labour? A. I have not analysed it My Lord, that 
is approximate - a reasonable analysis. 
Q. Mi ere did you allow7 for the value of the exist-
ing material? A. Hie cost of breaking up the 
existing material to the approved size would com-
pensate for the extra labour. 

Hi. 0'DONOVAN: Perhaps we are at cross-purpose s. 
Q. You have dram up an estimate of re-doing these 
floors, and foundations to the 'buildings - the fill-
ings under the floors. You have listed item by 
item what it would cost to rebuild all these floors. 

10 

live cants 

20 

30 

40 
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You have charged amongst.other things, twenty-five 
cents per cubic foot for filling back with hard 
core. That would be the cost would it not, if you 
were going to fill back with hard core, if there 
was none there in the first place? A. I am be-
ing asked s question, Sir, My lord , which I have 
based all my calculations on schedule rates for 
work that is being carried out. 
JUDGE; The point is this; Counsel is trying to 

10 find out whether the cost that you put down there 
is the cost of filling with hard core back on the 
basis of there not being any hard core present -
new hard core? A. I have based it on a schedule 
rate which I have in my office 
JUDGE: That would be 
brought in? A. Yes, 

lor fresh hard core being 
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IQ 

JUDGE: And the point Counsel is getting at, I 
think, is the existing hard core v/hich no doubt 
would have to be taken out and put out - why could 
that not be broken up and brought back into the 
room? A. Because of the extra work entailed. 
JUDGE: Would not any nev/ hard core being brought 
to the site have to be broken up also? A. Not if 
if already bought to the right gauge, My Lord. 
ITR. 0 'DONOVAN 
say tl: 
A. That is the case. 

You described this filling You 
fundamental important defect is the filling? 

30 

Q. Eunc. anient ally io that there is no finer material 
in the interstices to add it? A. It is too large. 
Q. There is an absence of finer material? 
A. There is no finer material to consolidate it. 
Q. Is that the important aspect in which it is 
v/rong? A. The important aspect is that it can-
not be consolidated. 
JUDGE: What we 
the more import; 
wore very large 
no small fill in; 
is one to the o 

4-0 interstices it 
large pieces of 
Hi. 0'DONOVAN: 
used do you thi: 
broken to parts 

are trying to find out is which is 
mt aspect - the fact that these 
blocks or the fact that there was 
g between? A. The only corollary 
her but even with filling to the 
ould not be consolidated with such 
stone. 
What is the maximum should have 
lk? A. I personally specified 
of three inch mesh. 

been 
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20 

Q. There is nothing here to prevent a two foot 
boulder being used? A. If it can be ramaed in a 
six inch bore, no, My lord. 
Q. There is a -preliminary clause regarding words 
normal and practicable in the instructions - I 
think you will see it in the specification My lord. 
Q. You mean 'any details that are fairly and ob-
viously intended - that is a matter of a rather 
different interpretation isn't it? A. No, I 10 
should not think so, 
Q. Do you think experts are always unanimous? 
A. No, very definitely not. 
Q. So very much will depend on the opinion of the 
supervisors? A. The opinion of the experts. 
Q. What have you got to say of the experience of 
Mr. Stone? A. I am afraid I don't know Mr.Stone. 
Q. In fact it is unheard of, is it not, that these 
sort of criticisms should be brought forward at 
this stage after the building has been completed? 
A. I don't quite get that. 
Q. It is unheard of that in a contract where there 
was such close supervision as apparently there wars 
in this case, that these sort of criticisms should 
arise at this stage - it should have been dealt 
with when the filling was put in, should it not? 
A. Oh yes, My lord, it should have. 
Q. Now, the superstructure walling - there could 
have been no cover up there could there? 
A. Should not have been possible to cover it up. 30 
Q. Would it have been possible to cover it up? 
A. Only by pointing - only where it has been 
pointed, 

Q. Not otherwise. Even where it is pointed it is 
very easy for a Clerk of the Works to test? 
A. Oh yes. 
Q. In fact it is an important feature of the work 
of the Clerk of Works? A. Not unless he consid-
ers it necessary - I would not test it if I was 
satisfied. 40 
Q. If you were satisfied? A. If I was satisfied. 
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Q. I do not wish to go through your report in de-
tail Mr. Wevill as you were,not asked for it in 
detail in the Examinat.ion-in-Chief. 

JUDGE: Exhibit? 
HE. 0'DONOVAN: A. Six My Lord. 
Q. 'Hie inside walls - those had to be dressed to a 
fair face? A. That is what is specified. 
Q. You would agree with me that what is a fair 
face is a matter of opinion? A. No, My Lord, I 

10 should not. I should say a fair face is a fair 
face. 
Q. That is probably an unassailable proposition -
does it get you anywhere. A. Ib gets me down to 
a fair face. 
Q. Where is the dividing line, can you express it 
in mathematical terms - can you say for instance 
what size or shape of projection expressed in frac-
tions of an inch or angles assess to be a fair face 
and what assesses to become a rough one? 

20 A. A rough .face has projections on the stones and 
hollows My Lord - a fair face is a uniform flat 
surface. 

Q, There are projections on every surface aren't 
there? A. Not on a fair surface. 
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Q. On every stone surface? 
dressed fair. 

A. No not if it is 

Q. Oh: So your point is this then - is that every 
architect should know exactly what a fair face is? 
A. Well may I add the finish and the last paragraph 

30 of thaw which says 'cement mortar is not to be 
used ,.. 
0. Is your point that everybody should know exactly 
what a fair face is? A. Every experienced prac-
tical man should know My Lord. I know sufficiently 
well to define that this has been levelled off for 
cement My Lord. 
Q. That was obvious was it to the Clerk of the 
Works, it must have been? A. I might say that 
some of this has been done subsequently. 

40 JUDGE: Let us confine ourselves to what the con-
tractor did. 
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In fact, levelling off for all MR. 0 'DONOVAN s 
plastering is more expensive isn't it, 
but not so effective. 
Q. Will you define a fair 
done so I believe My lord. 

face now? A. 

A. Yes 

nave 

Q. You have said a fair face..? 
face without projections. 

A. An even 

Q. You think even that is not a matter of opinion? 
A. I don't know what learned Counsel is getting at 
but I certainly say there is no question of opinion 
as to what is a fair face and what is a rough face. 
Q. 1 will tell you what I am getting at in plain 
words. Is it possible for one architect or clerk 
of works to accept a standard of work and for you 
to disagree with it? A. I should disagree with 
it. 
Q. You mean you are right and everyone else is 
wrong? Do you agree it is a matter of opinion? 
A, It is very much a question of sight My lord. 
Can you see a rough, face or can't you see a rough 
face. 
MR. 0'DONOVAN; I give up. 
Q. Would you be able to classify all your critic-
isms into two categories; that is to say the 
hidden defects and those which must have been 
patent? A. Yes. Yes My Lord I would. 
Q. Would that classification be those .... Would 
you agree that, apart from the mortar in the found-
ation walling which might have been put in while 
the clerk of works was not there and covered up 
before he returned, that he should have seen every-
thing else? A. I think, the only way I can 
answer that question is to say that pointing on 
the walls on the mortar joints of the walls would 
disguise a lot of the uneven surfaces which I have 
reported. The 
the joints. 

size and shape of the stones with 

Q. Well let. us try and get it in a way acceptable 
to you Mr. Wevill. Would you a; 
have seen everything else? 

that he would 

JUDGEt As a practicable proposition whether a 
Clerk of Works is spending two or three hours a 
day on the site could an;/ one bo covering up all 
the joints by covering, by pointing during his 
absence? A. It is a big area and it is quite 
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possible f 
work while 
fending 

or work to be done in one section of the 
he is inspecting another. I am not de-

the Clerk of Works . 
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JUDGE: I am not asking you to defend him. I am 
asking this. As a practical proposition is it 
practicable for covering up to be done by pointing so 
that he would not know, would not be aware of, 
what was going on? A. It would My Lord. 
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size of the joints? 
it he could. 

JUDGE: I don't say he wanted to do it - it is 
possible that work, can be hidden on an area like 
that in the absence of the Clerk of the Works? 
A. It remains Mv Lord that has been done. 
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i/.l: v t 0'DONOVAN: What? A. Defective work. 

20 

JUDGE: The point now is whether the Clerk of the 
Works would or would not have been aware of the 
general standard of the work that was put in. 
A. Ee should My Lord. 
ME. 0'DONOVAN: He must have been aware? A. I 
would say that if he was doing his job he would 
not have passed it. 

30 

40 

Q. Would you try a rather more direct answer now? 
A. I am not going to criticise the Clerk of Works. 
C>. Do you agree he must have been aware of the 
general standards of the work. A. No. 
JUDGE: If he was doing his job properly, on the 
basis of spending three hours a day there, must he 
have been aware of the standard of the work? 
A. He should have been there eight hours a day. 
JUDGE: Would you answer the question directly. 
Should he have been aware of the general standard 
of the v/ork? A. The general standard of work, 
Yes My Lord. 
ME. 0'DONOVAN: Now with regard to the superstruc-
ture concrete it is quite easy to test its hardness 
by simple field tests is it not? A. Yes, 
Q. And did you not - and Mr. Mould - give a demon-
stration in that when the Court visited the site? 
A. I was not there, I did not notice any testing 
o.a the superstructure. 
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Q. You did not see various people digging it out 
that would indicate whether it is soft or not? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Would you try to see if you can state that you 
agree with the division of your criticisms into 
latent and patent defects. You say part of the 
foundation mortar might have been put in while the 
Clerk of the Works was not there and you would 
describe that as being a hidden defect is that 
right? A. Yes. 10 

Q. Would you agree that nothing else should have 
been hidden? With the Clerk of the Works doing 
his job three hours a day? A. No I should not 
say that. Mortar can be mixed in half a dozen 
machines in half a dozen parts of the site and the 
Clerk of the Y/orks could not see what mixture was 
going into every machine. 

Q. How much of the mortar of the superstructure 
have you tested? A. It is very difficult to say 
My Lord. I tried practically every block. I dug 
my chisel in two or three places. 
Q. In what area? A. All of the areas except 
those which have been repaired by the City Council. 

20 

Q. How long did that take you to do? 
on the work about three weeks. 

A. I was 

Q. That particular feature of it? A. I was in-
vestigating other things at the same time. 
Q. You did not test all the mortar, obviously you 
cannot? A. It was an impossibility. 
Q. You can only test its hardness with a knife 30 
here and there? A. Yes. 
Q. You decided on the surface of those walls? 
A. I have previously said I go on the weakest link 
in the chain. That is why I say what I decided on 
was a reasonable sample and repoted it. I found 
the weakest links and based my report the way I 
did. 

Q. You think the Clerk of Works must have been 
aware in the course of supervision over months and 
months what you were aware of over three weeks? 40 
A. He should have been My Lord. 
JUDGE: Can I just interrupt - I UiCt know whether 
you are coming to this point'- the bad mix, assum-
ing that there was a bad mix,'in the cement could 
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presumably have occurred in one of two ways. It 
could either have occurred by deliberate reduction 
of the cement content or it could occur by inade-
quate supervision of workmanship with weak mixes 
being put into the mixer. In some cases there 
might be a weak mix going in and in other cases it 
might be stronger. Do you think on the basis of a 
deliberate attempt at fraud - is that a practical 
proposition. Would it entail the contractor giving 

10 instructions to his workmen to put in a correct mix 
when the Clerk of Works is present on site and put 
a weak mix when he is absent? A. I don't think 
that necessarily follows. The mixing of mortar is 
frequently left to the African labourer and they 
may mix it badly for him. 

JUDGE: I am actually only concerned now with the 
question of deliberate weakening on the mixture -
of deliberate attempt at fraud by saving cement -
from your practical experience you consider that 

20 that is feasible? A. It could be done. 
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JHD Crhv ® X G could be done but it would entail giving 
instructions to workmen to use a different mix when 
the Clerk of the Works was present to what he was 
using when lie was absent? A. It would be. 

J-JDGE: The contractor would be placing himself very 
much in the hands of his workmen? A. It very 
-P-V-, efluently occurs My lord, 

30 
JUDGE; That instructions are given to mix a weaker 
mix in the absence of the Clerk of the Works? 
A. It is frequently done. 
JTJDGS: Then the contractor would be placing him-
self in the hands of his workmen? A. It is a 
very frequent occurrence My lord, I have found it 
on my own work. 
JUDGE: You will agree with this note, 'that is a 
frequent occurrence that a contractor arranges for 
a weaker mix of mortar to be mixed in the absence 
of the Clerk of the hoiks' . 
111. 0'DONOVAN: How many cases have you met? 

40 A. That is an impossible question to say in fifty 
years how many cases I have noticed. 
Q. Have you ever had proof of what you have said? 
It is very difficult to prove. 
Q. Have you ever had proof? A. No. 
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Q. From your or,a knowledge it has never occurred 
to you - it has never occurred where you could 
prove it? A. I have proved that the weak mix is 
there. 
Q. That is all? A. Yes. 
Q. This is another of your intelligent guesses? 
A. It is an inference Hy Lord which I have said in 
the first place. 
Q. Would you agree that the hidden defects stop 
there or -would you like to increase the list? 
A. Stop where, nay I ask? Just exactly what is 
the line of demarcation? 
Q. Yes. The line between latent and patent defect? 
A. Those things which are hidden and buried and 
things which are obvious. 
JUDGE: We are talking about things in your report? 
A. Defective mortar in the joints is fifty/fifty 
My Lord - Bad workmanship should be patent. 

10 

MR. 0<DONOVAN hould be patent. 
Q. What do you mean by 'fifty-fifty1? A. Some of 
it can be hidden when the Clerk of the 'Works is off 
the site. It should not be hidden. 
Q. It cannot be hidden if he is keeping his eye on 
it? A. It cannot be hidden. 

20 

Q. So that is a patent defect as well? 
Q. Which are latent defects? A. Those portions 
of work which fire done in the Clerk of 'Works' ab-
s enc e. 
Q. Mr. Wevill, you yourself can draw a conclusion 
to your satisfaction about the quality of the 30 
floors, mortar and everything else by examining, 
lot us say a small percentage of the total amount 
of the material used - Correct? A. By sampling 
end testing it, Yes. 
Q. A tiny percentage? A. A percentage. 
Q. Surely the Clerk of Works can draw a far more 
positive inference as to the characters of the 
works f rom the portion lie must have seen being 
constructed. A. It does not alter the fact 
that the proportions are not with a .... 40 
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JUDGE: That is not an answer to the question ... 
The point that Counsel is trying to find out is 
whether the defects of which you complain in your 
report would have been obvious - would have been 
patent - to the 01 or!: of the Works. A. Had he 
been there at the time or tested everything, Yes. 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: Hot tested everything, tested part 
of it? A Yes. 
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Q. You draw a conclusion from seeing five floors 

10 and three yesterday and you said the quality was 
better? A. I said the concrete was better. 
Q. Even the eight is only 1.9$ of all the floors -
you agree? A. Yes. 
Q. You draw an observation on 1.9$ of the work? 
A. I have examined every floor of the buildings 
and found cracks in 99$ of them I think I can say. 
Q. You agree that you were unable to show any 
cracks to the Court on the inspection of the site? 
A. I showed the Court one crack in. one place. I 

20 could have shorn them others but I could not get 
into the rooms. 

Q. 99$ of the rooms that were opened had cracks in 
them? A. I can show in one block half a dozen 
floors which are cracked. 

Alfred Edward 
Wevill. 
Cross-
examination 
- continued. 

Q, Nov/ when we went to the site,you saw concrete 
being tested by Mr. Stone - I am sorry - mortar 
being tested by Mr. Stone and Mr. Mould by putting 
in, I think it was a screwdriver or knife or some-
thing. Do you remember now that mortar - was it in 

30 your opinion satisfactory or unsatisfactory? 
A. Some of it was in the repointed work - those 
blocks have all been done for the City Council. 
Q. But the tested portions which had not been re-
pointed by the City Council? A. Yes I think so. 
Q. Did you hear Mr. Stone say that he thought that 
mortar was satisfactory - did you agree? A. Some 
was reasonably satisfactory and other poor. 
Q. Mr. Stone stated there was none he would have 
ordered to be redone. Don't you disagree with his 

40 judgment? A. From samples which I have found... 
JUDGE: We are talking about tests that were made, 
when the Court visited the site. 
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MR. 0'DONOVAN: Do you agree that his judgment was 
right, or disagree? . A. I agree with his judgment 
if the mortar was as some of it was. 
JUDGE: He stated there was none of that mortar 
which he would have ordered to be replaced? 
A. He found one bad place My Lord, he said. 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: Do you challenge that judgment? 
A. Not of the mortar lie tested ..... probably not. 
Q. Did you see the mortar which Lad been redone by 
the City Council? A. I have not tested that. 
Q. Did you see it? A. No. 
Q. Did you see Mr. Stone testing that? A. No I 
didn't. 
Q. You have allowed in your estimate for repoint 
ing the superstructure walling - a total of 
Sh.14,937/— is that right - top of page two? 
A. Yes. 
Q. That is for the whole of the seventeen blocks? 
A. Yes except the portions which have been done by 
the City Council. 
Q. Then you allow colour wash, Sh.3,636/-? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Your largest item is for dressing for the in-
ternal faces? A. Yes. 
Q. Coming to nearly Shs.200,000/— Shs.195,000/-? 
A. Yes. 
Q. You agree that the standard there must have been 
obvious to every City Council Official who went 
out and looked at it? A. The rough face is very 
olvious, Yes. 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: 1 have no further questions My 
Lord. 

Re-examination. Re-examination of witness ALFRED HOWARD WEVILL by 
MR. S CIIERMER TIC KER f ' " 
Q. May we hear about these figures. You said that 
you would have put a value of £100,000 - £110,000 
on this job if it had been done to specification? 
A. Had I been asked to give an estimate of the 
cost that is the figure I would have given. 
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JUDGE: That you mean if you had been asked to 
tender for the job? A. As asked, I had been 
asked to estimate what the tender should be, 
JUDGE: I see. 
MR. SCHERMBRUCKER: Does that mean that if the job. 
had been completed to specification the City Coun-
cil would have an asset~worth £100,000 to £110,000? 
A. Yes, My Lord. 

in 
Q. A 
wha t 
get? 
I tnink 
on the 
cost of 

you in a position to give an opinion as to 
fact was the value of the asset they did 
A. A very difficult question My Lord which 
I said in the first case can only be based 
;ost of maintaining these buildings 
maintenance . 

and the 
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JUDGE: That we did have. 
I.H. SCHIRMBRUCKGR: 
ultimate answer to 
opinion after your 
would probably be? 
be 

I think - Can you give us the 
it - whether you formed an 
various investigations what it 

A. The maintenance cost would 

Q. I don't want the maintenance costs. Can you 
give me your final answer? A. I would say My 
Lord that the value of these buildings would have 
depreciated some 55/. 
JUDGE: Then going into the workings an answer as 
to what on the basis of your calculation the value 
of the asset as completed by the contractor? 
A. Some £35,000 to £40,000 approximately. 
MR. SCHERMBRUCKTR: Now you were asked in detail as 
to how much work you did on this site - about eight 

ten per cent - I am sorry I am wrong, how much 
of the underground, how much of the underground 
lateral portion you examined - about 8 - 10/. 
A. Ye: My Lord. 
Q. Speaking as an architect, are you satisfied you 
did sufficient investigation to justify your re-
port? A. Yes. Reporting from experience, I 
v/ould say that what I have said might happen will 
happen eventually. 

Q. You would say that the completed job was mater-
ially below specification - have you any doubts cn 
hat? A. No doubts whatsoever My Lord. 
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Q. You eay the mortar was variable - parts were 
bad, were there any very good parts? A. I took 
samples My lord but none of the sarapD.es came up to 
the specification. 
Q, Did you take samples of both good and bad work. 
I am not suggesting anything wrong in this but did 
you confine your samples to where you found weak 
work or did you take a cross section? A. X took 
samples haphazard. 
JUDC-E: 
only? 

You did not concentrate on the weak links 
No My lord. h, 

•tx . 
MR. SCHEEMBRUCKER: Now you recommended cutting 
out parts of the bad concrete. If your recommenda-
tions were carried out would that in your opinion 
bring the whole job to the specification as re-
gards concrete? A. Are you talking about founda-
tions? 
JUDGE: let us take foundation concrete first. 
111. SCEERMERUCKHR's Is it correct that cutting out 
referred to foundation concrete? A. No My Lord, 
It would not be up to specification it would 
improve the standard of the work. 
Q. I think you said the whole foundation wall 
should be re-pointed? Is that correct? 
My lord. 

A. Yes 

Q. Have you any doubts about that as to whether 
the whole thing should be done? A. No. No 
doubts at all My lord. From what I saw it was 
essential. 
Q. You were asked for certain items concerning 
your detailed'estimates for repairing. The first 
item was excavating on external face of walls to 
expose face and back fill with hard core. The 
figure you gave is Shs. 21,000/-. 
JUDGE: I think it would be an advantage to have 
that document in as an exhibit. That is an esti-
made of your calculations. That will be Exhibit K. 
A. Yes. 
MR. SCZEEMBRI JOKER: 
Q. The item is number three on page one My lord, 
under foundations. Now, Mr. Weviil, if the whole 
of that item was carried out would the job be to 
specification? A. The back filling would have 
been up to drawing not to specification. 



Q. Perhaps I am wrong, do you mean the drawings 
are not part of the specification? A. They are 
taken in conjunction they are part of the contract. 
Q. Then i will refer to 
part of the contract? 

contract. It v/ould be 
A. Yes. My Lord. 

Q. how is it usual for all building or most build-
ing contracts, to have an architect, an engineer 
and a Clerk of Work 
A. Yes, My Lord. 

of any considerable size? 

Q. Where you have that position, where you have a 
job where there is an architect and Clerk of Works, 
do they have separate or the same functions? 
A. The architect provides occasional supervision, 
the Clerk of Works is full supervision. 
Q. I think you have got a copy of the contract -
the contract document - v/ould you look at condition 
one? 
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JUDGE: General conditions is this? 
MR. SCETSISBRUCKIB: A. Yes the printed document. 

111. SCIP'IRhBkUOKtlR: Where an engineer is defined, 
'the term used hereinafter..' 
WITNESS: I am afraid I have not a copy. 
Mil. GOEERT.TBRITOKER: Take mine. Would you read (i). 
Q. As an architect do you have experience of proper 
conditions of contracts and specifications? 
A. Yes, My Lord. 
Q. Now is that definition of engineer normal or ab-
normal? A. It is a normal thing, it applied to 
the architect or the engineer. 
Q. Do you understand that also as covering a Clerk 
of Works? A. The Clerk of Works would be 'such 
person or persons duly authorised to represent the 
engineer'. 
Q. Can it be said the engineer and the Clerk of 
Works under this contract can be identified? 
A. I don't quite understand that question My Lord. 
Q. Let us put it this way. There are several 
duties attaching to an engineer under this contract 
- see specification 15 ... 'payments will be made 
on certificates issued by the City Engineer'. Would 
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it be normal for a Clerk of Works to issue a certi-
ficate for payment; ? A. No, My lord. 
Q. Would you consider that he had not authority to 
do so under this contract? A. No. 
JUDGE: Isn't this a matter for argument more on 
the wording of contract. 

L3R. SCHERMERUC ICR. 
leave it. 

I think it is. I think I can 

Q. Nov; you were asked a lot of questions as to 
whether the Clerk of Works had performed his 
functions properly during three hours a day. 
Generally from what you saw of this work, were you 
able to draw any conclusions, whether in fact the 
Clerk had done his work properly? A. I wouldn't 
like to criticise the Clerk he had a very diffi-
cult job and o very big area to cover and I don't 
think he could possibly cover the whole area that 
he did in three hours a day. 

That is the whole of war" B - three hours JUDGE: 
a day. The evidence is that on part B he spent 
three hours a day on the average? A. Yes. 
Q. The rest of his time he was spending on the 
other work he was concerned with? A. He should 
have been able to look over the major portion of 
the work Yes My Lord. 
MR. SCHERMBRUCKER: Now dealing with the back 
filling you say under the floors of these build-
ings, would you concede any possibility of a 
different opinion bringing those fillings within 
specification? A. I cannot possibly see it. 
It is physically impossible to get that stone in 
conformity with the specification My Lord. 
Q. Bearing in mind all you have seen since your 
report, the questioning in this Court, have you 
any aspect in which you would like to alter your 
report. A. I was asked, my Lord, whether I 
would revise my opinion after something happened 
in twelve months or if something happened in two 
years. I would not revise my opinion. It is based 
on experience and I think .... 

JUDGE ; No I don't think that is quite the ques-
tion. Would you repeat it? 
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MR. SCHIRIiBRUCEIR: Taking into account what you 
have seen since your report and the questions that 
have been asked you in this Court, is there any 
part of this report you would like to alter in any 
way? A. No, My lord. 
JUDGE: I wish to get a point clear oil this back 
filling of the floors - evidence was given that 
the bock filling, that the type of back filling 
was specifically drawn to the attention of the 
architect at the time, with particular reference 
to the absence of small filling between the stones 
and that he apparently accepted the size stones 
that had been put in and did not require small 
material to be combined with it. Do you think 
tha,t that was an unauthorised or a gross departure 
iron the specification? A. In my opinion a very 
unwise one. I would have bad it all pulled out and 
re-done. 
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JUDGE: This was during the course of construction? 
A. It would have been a very unwise thing to do, 
JUDGE: The evidence is that he did that, 
my opinion he was wrong. 

A. In 

MR. SCIURMBRUOKGR: Taking into account the speci-
fication was to be done in six inch mesh - was the 
work actually done a cross departure from that 
specification? A. Yes, My Lord, 
Q. Now page two of details of your figures - you 
were asked about the item under 'three' - super-
structure walling. It is headed 'first contingen-
cies' - "dress for internal face of wails ... and 
twice lime wash". In your opinion is that item 
necessary to bring the job to specification? 
JUDGE: Yes thank you Mr.Wevill. 

No. 16 
EVIDENCE OE NORMAN FALLON 

UORUAIT FALLON (Sworn) 
Examination-in-chief by MR. MACKIE ROBERTSON of 
NORMAN FALLON. 
0. Your full name, please, Mr. Fallon? 
A. Norman Fallon. 

No. 16 
Norman Fallon. 
Examination. 
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Q. You are assistant City Treasurer?, with the 
City Council of Nairobi? A. Yes. 
Q. Exhibit J please? Did you prepare the original 
of that document? A. Yes. 
Q. Have you got a copy with you you can refer to? 
A. Yes I have. 
Q. Now in the first place Mr. Fallon, could you 
explain to the Court what you mean by word 
•present' where it appears in the first line and 
where it appears in the heading in the fourth and 
sixth columns? A. Yes, the word 'present' is to 
show how much, money would have to be invested to-
day assuming an interest rate of three per cent to 
produce one pound (£1) per annum over a period of 
thirty years. 

Q. The price in advance so to speak? A, That is 
so. 
Q. Now if we may come to the line in which you 
have set out figures opposite 44$ as being total 
maintenance fund contribution - would you explain 
to the Court what the figures extended from that 
signify? A. If we take the total maintenance 
fund contribution at 4-2$ as shown in the first 
column, I have put in the second column what that 
is in addition to' a standard i-g$. It involves an 
extra three per cent, which going on to the third 
column, assuming a capital value of £110,000 means 
an addition £'5,300 per antrum. 
JUDGE: The third column is what? A. The annual 
additional contribution represented by 4--§$ in addi-
tion to 1 
JUDGE: On what? A. £110,000. 
WITNESS: By reference to tables the present value 
in terms of a capital sum to produce £3,300 for 
forty years is £76,279 as shown in column four- My 
Lord . 
MR. MAOKIE ROBERTSON: What sort of tables Mr. 
Fallon? A. The tables are 'Tables for repayment 
of Loans 7th Edition, commonly laiown as 'Archers 
Tables' Standard form of reference. 
Q. Would the figure be any different in. the fifth 
and sixth editions, save always a printers error? 
A. No. 
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Q. Can v/e proceed to the next column? A. The 
next column gives similar information only is 
"based on £85,000 capital value. 

Q. Instead of £110,000? A. The difference in 
terms of an annual payment "being £2,550 and the 
capitalized figure for that "being £58,943. 
Q. Nov/ that is worked out on the same tables? 
A. Yes exactly the same tables. 

waking the capital value of £110,000, if the Q • Tak 
maintenance costs on a building scheme of that 
value were to be 4"g/ per annum instead of 1 -g/ how 
much extra cost is the Council being put to? 
A. £76,279. 
Q. And if you take the other capital value of 
£35,000 the answer would be? ~A.£58,943. 
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JuJGE: That is the extra cost to the Council 
capitalised as at present, over forty years, but 
capitalised as at today? A. Yes, My lord. 
MR. MACKIE ROBERTSON: In other words in order to 
produce an annual sum of £3,300 each year to do 
the maintenance is £76,279 Sinking Fund you have 
to establish. A. Yes, that is correct. 
JUDGE: Which is? Say that again. A. In order 
to produce the annual sum of £3,300 as in column 
three for maintenance work, the Council would be 
required to establish now a single sum of £76,000. 

Cross-examination of Witness NORMAN FALLON by 
MT. 0' DONOVAN . 

Cross-
examination. 

Q. Just one question - don't you think Council 
could get more than three per cent on their money? 
A. The problem is really related to forty years. 
Council might get more than three per cent today 
for a limited period of time the question of what.. 
Q. Are you in touch with the money markets in this 
country? A. I think so. 
Q. May I suggest nobody ever secures a loan at 
three per cent? A. The question as I see it My 
lord, that to invest money for forty years at a 
rate of interest is a very difficult thing. One 
might, at the moment be able to invest for a period 
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of ten or fifteen years or may be twenty years at 
a rate higher than three per cent. One is then 
faced with re-investment at a time amen interest 
rates may be changed completely. The figure of • 
three per cent is related to the Council's own 
sinking funds. They are based on three per cent 
with the approval of the Kenya Government. 
JUDGE? Thank you Mr. Fallon. 
MR. SCIERMBRUCKERs Mr. Stone is being re-called 
by the defence on one of the documents. 10 

EVIDENCE FOR ATA-U1-EIAQ 
No. 17 

EVIDENCE OF DEOHAS HENRY STONE (RECALLED) 
THOMAS HENRY STONE (Sworn) 
MR. SCIIERI/EBRUGKSR: Mr. Stone, you gave evidence 
earlier on in this case? A. I aid yes. 
Q. Would you look at this document and tell me if 
that is your writing? A. Yes, that is my writing. 
Q. And your signature? A. Yes. 
Q. I have had this copy made and I wish to put the '20 
document in but I must explain, that the copy is 
imperfect. 
JUDGE? I think the original had better go in. 
Exhibit L. 
MR. SCHERMBRUCKER ? I wonder if you could read that 
report out? A. It is not dated .....Two months 
ago, X ..... 
Q. What is the heading? A. "Ofafa Estate; Parts 
A and 3; Contracts 60 and 73". 

"Two months ago, I took over the site supervision of 30 
the above contracts ........ 11 

(Read report, Exhibit L) ..... 
Q. You will agree with me that the report generally 
was concentrated on parts a and E. A. I would 
like to see report number one. 
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Q. When you wrote this you wrote yourself, on the 
top of this paper, 'parts A and B, contracts 60 
and 73' is that right? A. I think the reason 
for that is that I have control of A and B hut I 
was definitely referring to A I can remember now. 
It was because I happened to be in charge of A and 
B. 

MR. SCHERMERUCKSR; 
think that is A. 

What was contract 60? A. I 

Q. One is A and the other B? 
could find report Number one. 

A. I wish you 
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JUDGE; There is not very much in this particular 
report that is really ma.terial. 
111. 0'DONOVANs Except of course that my right of 
cross examination is not limited. 
Q. Have the City Council all your reports? 
A. I submitted them I take it that is so. 
Q. Bid you make other reports specifically about 
part B? A. Very difficult to say how many re-
ports I wrote or what particular report I wrote, 
but I think those could be obtained for informa-
tion. I did send, I sent it to the architect, it 
would be in his files. 
Q. Bid you send weekly reports? A. Yes. 
Q. On the Plaintiff's work? A. I sent it on the 
whole of the work including the Plaintiff's work. 
Q. You sent reports every week? A. Yes certainly. 
Q. One thing I find puzzling Mr. Stone, perhaps you 
can explain. This report starts - "Two months ago 
I took over site supervision of the contract ....? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Now Mr. Mould has put in a report in which he 
has copied the whole of that first paragraph and 
quite a lot of other material? A. I don't know 
how he did that, he had the report. 
Q. You didn't write the report for him? A. Not 
at all. I wrote this and sent it in. 
JUDGE: Can you just follow/ that point up - it 
appears from further down you say in this report, 
'Yes Mr. Mould took over on 14,3.55? A. So I 
did, yes. 
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JUDGE: So this report must have been written 
after Mr. Mould took over, in fact? A. Yes. 
JUDGE: 1 may be wrong, I got the impression from 
previous evidence that you had been on the site 
for more than two months before Mr. Mould took 
over? 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: You were there for nearly a year? 
A. Yes. 
Q. You see Mr. Mould put'in a report, in fact I 
cross-examined about it. I asked him one question 
and he replied, 'Oh that refers to Block A1. You 
have no explanation as to hew his report uses the 
same wording as yours? A. None miless he copied 
mine. 
Q. This does not refer to you at all correctly, 
you did not take over the site two months ago? 
A. No, I took over the site from the commencement, 
the early period. I can't understand that. I 
have never seen Mr. Mould's report. 
JUDGE: But what we want now is an explanation. It 
is obviously not a correct statement on the face 
of the first two lines of your report. It is ob-
viously not a correct statement if it refers to 
you? A. No it doesn't. If I wrote that it is 
incorrect. 
JUDGE: You can't explain it now? A. I made a 
mistake there. 
Ml. 0'DONOVAN: You have written something here 
very correctly which applies to Mr. Mould? 
A. I would have to dig deep into this. This 'two 
months ago'. I can't connect it. But I can 
assure the Court it refers to part A. 
Q. Two points I wish to ask you about which will 
come up rather later. Testing the foundation 
walls it appears there is not any hard core back 
filling? A. On the outside? 
Q. On the outside? A. The specification as far 
as I nan remember did not call"for backing filling 
of hard core outside the walls, between the black 
cotton soil of the walling. 
Q. It did not? A. Not to my knowledge, I should 
like to refer to that if I may. 
MR. 0'DONOVAN: There is a plan. This plan number 
3183/AB/q/14- - half scale section - Do you see that? 
A. Yes. 
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10 

WITLESS: There is one small stone "boulder shown 
there, 

MR. 0'DONOVAN: Do you see hard core filling under 
the step, was that put in? A. Yes I don't take 
it as going to the top of the concrete foundation 
anywhere. 
Q. Would you look at the hard core filling? 
A. Yes it is shown vertical. 
Q. Do you see some dots? 
there is some small ...., 

A. It looks as though 

In the Supreme 
Cotirt of Kenya 

Evidence for 
Ata-Ul-Haq 

No. 17 
Thomas Henry 
Stone (Recalled). 
- continued. 

Q. Do you read that as meaning there should he some 
small degree in there? Did Mr. Tanner take it as 
that? The trials were done for him? A. Yes. 
Q. Down to the foundation? Surely all those would 
show there was no hard core filling outside the 
walls? 
Q. It must have been obvious to Mr. Mould as well? 
A. Yes he was there. 
Q-. Did either of them question the absence of the 

20 hard core filling? A. No not to my knowledge. 
Q. Did you conceive that you had power on behalf of 
the engineer? Did you have power on behalf of the 
engineer to order any defective work to be correct-
ed? A. I did. 
Q. you represent him on the site? A. I take 
it I did. 
Q. You vie re ... Hie engineer appointed you in 
writing did he not? A. He appointed me as Clerk 
of Works. 

30 Q. In writing? A. Yes. 
Q. Were you aware what the class of mortar used in 
foundation wails was? A. Yes I observed the mix. 
Q. Was any of it covered up while you were not 
there so that you could not see when you came back? 
A. Not to my knov/ledge. I was very careful in 
supervising" this work and I did not find any mortar 
le ft. 
Q. You ascertained the quality of all of it and 
approved it? A. Well I didn't examine every .... 
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- continued. 

Re-examination. 

Q. Sufficient of it to approve of it? Every hit 
of it I could not, but I examined daily a bit of 
it and approved it. 
Q. And the mortar in the superstructure walls. The 
suggestion is that you might have been misled by 
defective work being covered up by pointing? 
A. I don't think I was misled and in any case I 
used to scrape some of the mortar off. It had 
been done to my satisfaction. 
Q, Did you see any case where pointing had been 
put on to seal inferior jointing? A. No I didn't 

JUDGE: Is not this going over ground we have ai-
re ad v had? 
MR. 0'DONOVANt I have no further questions. 
Ro-examination by MR. SCHBRLtDRliCKBR: 
Q. Can you look at that report? Hie Second para-
graph, you say 'work v/hich was in an advanced 
stage I ordered to be completed, paying special 
attention to the finishes. Other work especially 
part A I ordered to be held up'. Other than part 
A, where would it be? A. I considered that was 
all part A. It was work which was done when Mr. 
Mould came along. I cannot remember the number of 
the block but it v/as a block - pier haps I can see a 
plan. 
Q. When you say 'especially on part A' do you 
imply there was scmewhere other than part A? 
A. The whole of that was Part A 'because Mr. Mould 
wanted,this particularly. I should say Part B was 
very much better than part A. 
Q. Were the specifications the same? A. Almost. 
I should say they were. 
0. Can you imagine any reason you v/ould have for 
appending the two together in a report like this? 
A. Well I am perfectly sure I have not appended 
the two together, unfortunately I headed it A andB 
Q. When you say 'two months'? 
months, I made an error. 

A. Yes, it i Ci t two 

Q. look at that plan B where you saw the hard core 
under she step. A. yes. 

Q. Is there hard core shewn both inside and outsid 
the wall? A. At the step it is shown on the in-
side. 
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Q. Is any shown inside and outside? A. There is 
a small piece just shown helow. One Little boulder. 
Q. Would you look about the middle of the plan? 
A. Yes that is new floor, that is hard core. 
Q. Then there is a wall, then is there some show-
ing outside the wall? A. Only one little block. 
I think that is an error by the tracer. 
Q. Is it hard core? 

10 hard core. 
A. I would not class it as 

Q. I am 
at the 

looking on the ri 
ring inside? A. 

.ght in ... Would you look 
Yes that is hard core. 

Q. On the middle 
shown inside the 

of that page there is something 
wall and something outside. 7/ould 

you say they are both hard core? A. I maintain 
these are both inside the outside walls. 

In the Supreme 
Cotirt of Kenya 
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Ata-Ul-Haq 

No. 17 
Thomas Henry 
Stone (Recalled). 
R e -exam inat ion 
- continued. 

Q. Now you were appointed by the engineer as Clerk 
of the Works for that contract. Is there a recog-
nised difference or not between the duties of a 

30 Clerk of Works and the duties of an engineer. 
A. It would be a difference of duties because one 
is a supervising executive officer and I was 
appointed under him acting as representative and I 
consider I was his representative. 
Q. Were there any things which the engineer could 
do that you could not do? A. I should say so 
yes. 

30 
JUDGE: You had authority to do certain things? 
A. Yes. Eor instance I could not expel a man from 
the site, which, the engineer could. 

EVIDENCE EOR CITY COUNCIL OE NAIROBI 
No. 18 

EVIDENCE OE HUGH THORPE 
HUGH THORPE (Sworn) 
Examination-in-Chief by MR. HACKIB ROBERTSON. 
Q. Your full names Mr. Thorpe please? A. Hugh 
Thorpe. 
Q. And what is your present employment? 
A. Storekeeper in the City Council of Nairobi. 

Evidence for the 
City Council of 
Nairobi 

No. 18 
Hugh Thorpe. 
Examination. 
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Q. How long have you been in that appointment? 
A. Eleven years. 
Q. Amongst the stores under your control did you 
keep any 'damp proof felting? A. Yes we do. It 
is known to me as roofing felting. 
Q. And have you got with you your record card in 
respect of that commodity, A. Yes sir. 
Q. By referring to that card, tell the Court 
whether you had any stock in roofing felting dur-
ing the year 1954. 
whole of 1954. 

A. Yes I did, throughout'the 

Q. And 1955? A. And through 1955 as well. 
Q. Did you make any local purchases of this mater-
ial in the town in 1954? A. Yes we did, yes. 
Q. And 1955? A. m 1955 also. 
Q. To your knowledge lias this material ever been 
out of stock or out of supply during those periods? 
A. Not so far as I was concerned. When I asked 
for a supply of roofing felt it was always supplied 
when I asked for it. 
Q. And can you tell My Lord what ply roofing felt? 
A. Three ply normally. It is the only kind we 
a bock. 
Q. And is the material also used for making damp 
courses in buildings? A. Well so far as I know. 
I issued it. What it is always used for I don't 
know, 
Q. Is it sometimes used for making damp courses? 
A. Oh, yes. 
MR. 0'DONOVAN : No Questions Hy Lord. 
MR. SCIIKRMBRTJCKER% Kay it please Your Lordship 
that closes the case. I was expecting to have an-
other witness but he is not readily available. 
J'UDGE: Would you prefer to adjourn to tomorrow 
morning before preferring an address. I don't 
think it is unreasonable in view of the length of 
the case. How long are you likely to address? 
MR. SCHERMBRITCKER: A. I have just been arguing 
that out with my Learned Friend. I think I shall 
be longer than I think. My case should finish in 
the morning. 
JTJDGE: You think both addresses should be deliver-
ed tomorrow? A. I do yes. 
JUDGE: 10.30 a.m. or earlier than that? A. As 
your Lordship pleases. 10.30 a.m. will suit us 
alright. 
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No.19 In the Supreme 
Court of Kenya 

ADDRESS FOR NAIROBI CITY COUNCIL ; 
No.19 

10.7.57. 
Address for 

Hearing resumed. Bar as 'before. Nairobi City 
Council 
10th July 1957 

Schermbrucker for Defendant. 
Contract documents. Here Engineer and 

Clerk of Works. Concede Engineer's duties 
largely deputed to Architect. Olerk of Works 
occupies well recognised place in contract 

10 which does not coincide with that of Engineer. 
Engineer did keep to himself the issue of 
certificates. Verbal alterations to specifi-
cations . 
(a) Under contract alterations should have 
been in writing. 

(b) No alterations alleged in pleadings. In 
absence of Tanner must rely on legal aspect 
and claim bound by contract and pleadings. 
Engineer employee of building owner, but in 

20 many respects acts independently as engineer. 
(Written -substance of argument handed irk. "In 
circumstances shorthand note of addresses un-
necessary) . 
Dakin and Lee (1916) 1 K.B. 566 and 579/8 (at 
p.578) - "It is immaterial that the Plaintiffs 
considered..."etc. Foot of P.579/80. 
(Note: Court: Are agreed results of tests of 
recent samples to be handed in as agreed. 
Schermbrucker: Results of tests not yet 

30 available: Agreed that results should be hand-
ed in when available and should be taken into 
consideration in statement. Joint letter will 
be sent forwarding results). 
Submit Clause 16 of General Conditions is the 
vital provision - submit filling up of inter-
stices of hard core filling is "good building 
practice" and should have been done. 
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Address for 
Nairobi City 
Council 
10th July 1957 
continued 

Specification 17 - "final Certificate" - suggest 
the certificate for 95$. P.7 of Notes Submit 
Plaintiff's case that work good does not harmonise 
with his case that work accepted and certified 
Exhibit L - Concede Stone said refers almost en-
tirely to Part A. But purports to refer also to 
Part B. Submit parts of report general to Parts 
A and B and work in B bad too. Submit" "City. En-
gineer is not merely City Council employee but 
Engineer to Contract. 10 

(Close of Address - Notes of Counsel on his 
address from part of notes on case). 

NOTE OE CLOSING ADDRESS FOR DEFENCE 
AS HANDED IN BY COUNSEL AND MADE PART OF RECORD. 

Plaintiff claims Shs. 140,018/- balance of 
Price due on a contract to do work and supply mat-
erials . 

ISSUES 3 & 4. If issue 3 is answered 'Yes' then 
Plaintiff gets Shs. 140,018/-. 
No argument on detail. 20 

If answer is 'No1 this item must be 
dismissed. 

ISSUE 4. Hardly arises. 
Only arises on Counter claim. 
'Waiver' must be with knowledge. 
It must be bjr the Council NOT by 
Engineer. 

ISSUE 5-
ISSUE 6. 

No proof of any Waiver. 
ISSUE 7. Estoppel - Gould only arise if De-

fendant is bound by certificates 
of Engineer. 

30 

Not so in this case. 
N.B. Condition 16. Law referred to in 

opening. 
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ISSUE 8. Arises with Issue 5 on Counter 
Claim. 

10 

ISSUES 9 & 10 'Extras'. 

Main Issue is No. 3. 
I approach this as in Opening address. 

1. If Plaintiff has completed works 
he is entitled to full contract 
price (i.e."balance of Shs.140,018/-) 
against which damages for defec-
tive work can "be set off (McConnel 
puts this at 5$ on contract price). 

In the Supreme 
Court of Kenya 

No.19 
Address for 
Nairobi City 
Council 
10th July 1957 
continued 

2. If Plaintiff has not completed 
the works he is only entitled to 
90$ of the value of the work pro-
perly done. 

But in assessing damages allowance must be 
made for the fact that if he had done the work 
properly he would have been entitled to full 
balance. 

20 (N.B. I think this means that the proper 
measure of damages is NOT cost of repairs'but" 

Value of completed job as ) Whichever"is 
it should have been ) the more eco-
less value of job as it was) nomical for 
? less balance due on ) Contractor, 
contract ) 

This might in fact be less than full costs 
of bringing job to proper standard). 

But see Dakin v. Lee (1916) 1 K.B. 566 
30 appeal at 579 & 578. 

3. Alternatively Acceptance! was 
obtained by Fraud. 
This is new issue since we framed 
issues. 
Only rely on 3 in the alternative 
Rely first on submissions 

1. Plaintiff never completed 
the j ob 

2. What he did do was not done 
40 properly. 
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What did he undertake_ to_ do? 

See Form of Tender -
To build 17 blocks comprising 228 dwelling units 
and 24- ablution units in terms of a formal agree-
ment to be dram up and to the time schedule 
quoted. 

Delay in Completion not raised. 
Contraet was executed in terms of tender 

documents. 
Exhibit 1. Clause 1. 

of Tender for details. 
185,476. See Form 

10 
See Annexure to Plaint for further details 

reducing Claim to 
Balance of Shs. 140,018/-. 
We'll deal separate!;/ with further Claim for 

refund of Shs. 50,000/- deposited for security. 
We'll also deal separately with 3rd Claim 

f or : -
N.B. An. Order for enquiries to assess 

amount due for extras. 
Read Contract 1 - 4 . 
Refer General Conditions. 
1 (i) & (ii) 
2 (i) & (ii) 
3 
7 (iv) 
9 (i) first line 
16 

20 

Specification. 
Page 1 No.l 

No.2. (It is sound building practice 
to fill interstices in hard-
core fill) 

Page 2 No.8 
No.15 
No.14 

30 
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Page 4 No.23 
No. 25. cf. Condition 1 (ii) 
No.26. cf. Plan 3193/AH/2/14 'Dwell-

ing Units' 'which clearly-
shows a filling in inter-
st e ce s — 
K.B. Plan 3185/AH/2/15 'Ablu-
tion Units' does not - But 
see General Specification 1 
011 Page 1. ' "sound building 
construction practice". 
N.B. It might have justified 
a claim for an extra but it 
should have been done. Wevill 
would not allow an extra! — 
No semblance of ramming in"6" 
layers. Manifestly impossi-
ble with such boulders. 

'parging'. 
last 2 lines 
? 'flats' 

Page 5 No. 5. 
6. 
7. 
8. 
9. 

Page 6 No.15. 
Page 7 No.16. 

20 
21 
23 
25 
26 
27 

Page 8 No.28 
31 
32 
35 

Page 9 No.42 
Page 10 No.52 Ablution doors 
Taken individually some items may seem fussy 

or fastidious but the cumulative effect of de-
fects is serious. 

Hardcore filling below floors most serious. 
This cannot be patched up without taking 

it up completely 

In the Supreme 
C ourt of Kenya 

No.19 
Address for 
Nairobi City 
Council 
10th July 1957 
continued 
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Foundation footings are the next most serious 
same applies or1 underpinning'? 

Cannot possibly be said in general " that the 
work was done or that it was properly done. 

Mould may not have been the best of witnesses. 
But neither was Newlyn who positively dodged the 
question whether hardcore had been rammed in lay-
ers. 'I did not say it had been', was as far as 
he would go. 

In general Wevill supports Mould - thoroughly 
bad job - Even some support for this from Newlyn 
as regards hardcore fill which was the only item 
he saw underground. 

Although he spent many hours on the job be-
forehand and had Wevill's report, he never looked 
below floor level?? 

Perhaps he thought it wiser not to. 
Even McConnel does not saĵ  the job is com-

plete. He says the last 5$ maintenance deduction 
should be adequate to cover defects. 

That = £4274 
But he never commented directly on the hard-

core disclosed in the floor that was dug open and 
inspected. 

Plaintiff says:-
1. I did the work to contract. 
2. If not you are bound by the certificates 

of your Engineer, and 
3. If that is not enough, you are bound by 

his letters of acceptance and by occupation of 
the buildings. 

I have dealt with 1 under the contract -
which provides specifically in passages quoted 
that the Contractor will do the work properly ana 
even if anything is not definitely referred to, 
but fairly and obviously intended, and which is 
usual in sound building construction practice, it 
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10 

will be considered as having been included in 
the contract; (spec. 2 on P.l) - See 'Dwell-
ing house' plan. If there was any"doubt~~that~ 
filling of intersteces was not intended it could 
have been claimed as extra. 

No excuse for the hardcore filling that we 
saw on inspection of the site. 

Even if the contract did not go so far 
there is the common law liability that it will 
be properly done and with the skill of a reason-
able building contractor. 

Now if Plaintiff is correct that the whole 
work was completed and done properly 

In the Supreme 
Cotirt of Kenya 

No.19 
Address for 
Nairobi City 
Council 
10th July 1957 
continued 

1. When was it completed ? 
Contract provides for Completion block by 

block. 

20 

Last certificate is issued on take over 
and payment of 95/. 

Balance is due on expiration of 6 months 
from that date for each block. 

An offer was made to substitute a mainten-
ance period for all buildings to run from take 
over of the last of them but no evidence that 
this was ever accepted. 

Even if it had been where was power of" 
Engineer as such to alter this term of the con-
tract? 

It was not done. 
So even if Plaintiff is right balances due 

30 on Exhibits 3 & 4 are barred (Section 129 Muni-
cipalities Ordinance) (Issue 2). 

If the maintenance period was legitimately 
extended then it has not yet started to run and 
whole action is premature (Issue l). 

If there should have been-a final Certi-
ficate, there has not been one, and this also 
covers Claim No.2 for Shs. 50,000 refund (See 
Spec. 17 p.3). 
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Evidence shows substantially that 
1. excavations for foundations 
2. foundation footings 
3. foundation walling 
4. hardcore filling under floors 
5. superstructure walling 
6. roofs 
7. joinery 
8. drains 
Are all in a very large degree defective and 
i the standard called for. 
McConnel was not impressive and cannot be 

taken to contradict this. Neither can Newlyn. 
He saw nothing below ground until inspection of 
hardcore with the court. 

This has come about through 
? lack of supervision 
? lack ox ccnsciencious 
? even complete negligence or dishonesty of 

those supervising - we don't know. But does it 
matter. 

There is still a. duty on the contractor 
(1) under contract 
(2) in law. 
It must be clear if I am right that work was 

materially substandard that 
(1) he failed in his duty and 
(2) he deliberately scamped the work - i.e. 

he or his employees. If he did this whilst main-
taining a show of compliance with specification 
it is fraud. 

Will not consider evidence in detail but 
man;'" test results are shocking - they are on a 
par with the hardcore filling which is shocking 
and drains are p a t e n t l y shocking and do not even 
pretend to carry the water into estate drains. 

In the Supreme 
Cotirt of Kenya 

No.19 
Address for 
Nairobi City 
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10th July 1957 
continued 

bel 
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The remaining major 
proved in the evidence. 

defects emphasised are 

Defendants hesitated to allege fraud until 
after Plaintiff had sworn on oath without re-
servations except 1 ply damp course that all 
the work was good. If anything it was above 
specification e.g. Cedar facia boards. 

That position has been thoroughly exploded. 
Stone was a good witness - down to earth 

10 practical man - but well on in years - and with 
more to do than he could reasonably manage. But 
was he truthful? of. Report put in on being 
recalled for Defence. Ex.I. 

He made it clear that if the work was had -
and it was - then he had been defrauded. He 
would never have passed work to show a lot of 
the tests. It is a little difficult to under-
stand his passing the hardcore which' he must 
have seen; hut even if he passed it, that does 

20 not absolve Contractor. 

In the Supreme 
Cotirt of Kenya 

No.19 
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continued 

1. Inspection holes 
with poor mortar 

2. Good screed over 

showed good mortar 
in enlarged sections. 
defective concrete. 

3. Painting over of roof joints. 
N.B. Particularly good floor screed. 

Also marked contrast between screed and 
concrete (Adamson) also in work above and be-
low ground (Mould) (Wevill). 

All these point to concealment and fraud. 

20 But even apart from fraud:-
1. Defendant has shown work was not to 

specification - far below it in vital places. 
Substantial reduction in value of what 

Defendants should have got. 
Plaintiff says - Yes but your Engineer or 
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his representative approved and took over a large 
part of the works if not all. 

This argument entirely misconceived and must 
fail Hudson 3rd Ed. Vol. II p.23 and cases quoted, 
and 

Goodyear v. Weymouth Oornn (1865) 33 L.J. 
C.P. 12. 

(In August 1954 Plaintiffs contracted to 
"build a market house for Defendants for £3424 -
to the entire satisfaction of the Architect -
and there would be no de viations from specifica-
tion either by extras or omissions without written 
authority of the Architect - the works were com-
pleted and delivered up in December 1955 - On 
31/7/56 Architect certified £6283.10.2. - Defen-
dants had paid £3651.2.7. - Plaintiffs sued for 
balance including extras etc. - There was a 
provision that in case of dispute as to intent 
or meaning of contract the Architects' decision 
was to be final. 

See P.16 2nd Column, Erie C.J. held Archi-
tects' certificate was in the nature of an award 
binding both parties as his decision was final). 

10 

20 

All these support the contention that where 
work has been approved by Architect, it is too 
late to complain of defects afterwards. There 
are many other similar cases. 

In all of 
vided that the 
Architect wa 
of the work. 

them, however, the contract pro-
certificate or decision of the 
be conclusive as to the quality to 30 

In that class of cases the Architect's 
Certificate shuts out all subsequent complaints 
by the Owner, except in cases of fraud and the 
like. Deception would appear to be present here 
anyhow on the part of the builder or his employ-
ees but that is as far as I can take it. 

What went on before Mould came is difficult 
to say. Whatever his faults ma;?- be, he certain-
ly caused a change in things. He did not find 
out everything at once but when he did, he acted 

40 
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to the best of his ability. If he'had differ-
ence of opinion with his superiors,'it does not 
matter. Even-if he passed the work, and accept-
ed it himself, it would not matter in this case 
because 

The Engineer's decision was NOT final. 
IT.B. General Condition 16. 
The law is correctly stated at pages 238-9 

of Hudsons 7'fch Edition. 
If no provision in a contract for final or 

conclusive certificate by Engineer there is 
nothing on earth to prevent the owner from com-
plaining of defects, of. Keating, P.68 Section 
5.1. But here we have condition 16 which puts 
the matter beyond dispute. Newton Abbott Devel-
opment Co.Ltd. v. Stockman Bros. (1931) 47 
T.L.R. 616 at P.617 line 10 to line 21. 

True measure of damages is here stated to 
be the value of the works as they should "have 
been less their value as they were. But cf. 
Dakin v. Lee. 

It follows from Condition 16 that although 
the blocks were taken over, tne Defendants are 
not precluded from complaining of defects. 

In the Supreme 
C ourt of Kenya 
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(b). 
Hudson 7th Ed. P.234-6 N.B. P.236 Section 

Claim can he by way of set-off or counter-
claim or both. 

Thus even if the Defendants1 Engineer accept-
ed the work by signing taking over certificates 
and paying 95/ and even if the premises have 
been occupied, there is nothing to prevent the 
Counterclaim for breach of contract. 

I have dealt with Adcock's Trustees v. 
Bridge R.l (1911) 75 J.P.241, quoted by Plain-
tiff's Counsel and would ask that the whole of 
the judgment of Ihillimore J. be read especially -
"If in fact that work is badly done and mis-
chief follows in consequence the Architect is 
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not without his power and the employer is not 
without his protection, the Architect then uses 
clause 17 (Our 9 (ii) & (iii) and applies the 
retention money..." 

Adcock's Trustees does not help Plaintiff. 
Further there is nothing in our contract which 

makes clauses 9 and 10 exclusive remedies for De-
fective work. 

Even if maintenance period expired; in the 
absence of a certificate which'is conclusive as 
to the sufficiency of the work, there would be 
nothing to prevent a claim being made for damages 
for breach of Contract. Robins'v. Goddard (1905) 
K.B. 294 per Stirling I.J. at 303 - NJh General 
Condition 1 (ii). 

There is no evidence that anyone on the 
behalf ever approved in writing the 

bottoms of the trenches for foundations. 
Engineer' 

Spec. 25 required these to be "approved" 
before concrete was laid. 

In the absence of such written approval, it 
is still open to the Engineer to use'Kis~power 
under Condition 10 and require the work to'be 
opened up, but this is a very technical point and 
I do not think we will have to rely on it. 

2. Claim for refund of Shs.50,000. 
already covered this. 

I have 

In any case the Contractor never finished 
the work. The Defendants did so. 

Although the Engineer•threatened to act 
under General Condition 23, he did not really do 
so. He patched and completed the work to the 
standard the Contractor had adopted but he did 
not do all that he considered necessary and in-
deed it would not he justified in the circum-
stances . 

Perhaps the correct measure of damages 
should be 
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Value of Completed job as it 
should have been 

less value of it as it was 
If so give credit for full 
contract price in calcula-
tion 

less balance due on contract 140,018/-
3. Claim for Extras. But cf. Dakin v.Lee 
Here I must insist on Contract clause 2. 

10 (a) Notice in writing to Contractor 
(b) Value to be determined by Engineer. 
(c) He then adds to or deducts from Con-

tract price. 

If Contractor not satisfied with what he 
has done or refused to do he must proceed under 
Clause 26 of General Conditions 

I must also emphasise 
General Conditions 

1 (ii) 
20 17 i) 

18 (i) 1st 3 lines. 
19 
26 (i) 

Any order to assess claims for extras must 
be 

(1) to the Engineer 
(2) to be done subject to above provisions. 
COUNTERCLAIM 
Already dealt with. 

30 If basis of claim is wrong then I would 
ask the Court under "alternative relief" to 
apply the basis of the Newton Abbott case. 
Contractor knew what chamfered edges meant. Said 
Said 
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1 ply v/o i.f.o. Council 

Contractor says he did clench nails, admitted 
important to clench them. 

Crowbars - Overstating case - no bolts in 
hinges v/o i.f.o. Council. 

If Court feels disposed to assess extras in 
view of agreed issues 8 & 9 and is able to do so 
on the evidence then 1 claim deletion of 

13- 2736/- shelves 

15. 5660/- rendering concrete slabs. 
This is in the Spec. 

16. 2721/60 Podo batten 

10 

See Dakin v. Lee. The work must be done substan-
tially to Specification. It is not enough if 
there are material variations but nevertheless the 
buildings will stand. Last minute evidence is 
very revealing. 

Ex.72 Goodwin says too late to get this 
contract to Specification or even near bo it. 20 
(This put in by Plaintiff) 

Impossible to get work to Mould's standard 
without redoing it wholesale. 

Mould only demanded compliance with Specifi-
cation . 

The last Exhibit - Stone's Report completely 
confirms this and rather conflicts with the gener-
al tenor of his evidence for Plaintiff. Perhaps 
this explains the very bad hardcore filling. 
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0'Donovan for Plaintiff : 
Defence of fraud - stated only alternative 

defence - verbal representations alleged 
serious allegations - criminal offence. 
Plaintiff stated he made no verbal or other re-
presentations. Not cross-examined. Stone 
denied relying on any statement of Plaintiff. 
Not cross-examined. Mould not asked. Goodwin 
not called. On evidence - general comments. 
Burden of proof that there is defective work is 
on Council. Spectacular difference of opinion 
between experts. Submit finding should be in 
favour of Plaintiff. 
(a) Formal acceptance of 11 out of 17 blocks 
after close supervision. Acceptance of remain-
ing 6 subject to remedying of defects. 
(b) Specification called for class of work of 
economical type. 
(c) Failure of Mould and Wevill to justify 
criticisms on visit to site. No place where 
damp course missing - or use of hoop iron of 
wrong gauge missing - or lack of hoop-iron ex-
cept in one place in office block. Failure to 
point out cracks - explained that it was wrong 
time of year. Wevill - abandoned theory that 
there was black cotton soil in foundations in 
favour of theory of pressure from outside. 
Failure to point out any trace of subsidence -
foundations in water for 2 rainy seasons. 

(d) Mould's memo, to City Council - not case 
of detached expert but partisan with tendency 
to exaggeration. 
(e) Fact of occupation by City Council for con-
siderable time without repairs. 

Inference that what work was done was "re-
done" was to impress Commission of Enquiry. 
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(f) Inference against Council-from failure to 
call any of Officers - Goodwin, Briager, Saunders 
or Tanner. Some available here. Appears that 
Mould disagreed with all of them. Goodwin -
Plaintiff content to rely on his written admiss-
ions - "impossibility of pleasing Architect". 
(g) Comparison of re-pointing done by City Coun-
cil with work done by contractor - some indication 
of standard. 
(h) Mould - "A different standard in accepting io 
work from that in condemning it". Absence of 
written corroboration of protests stated to"have 
been made by him. Statement to water Engineer 
that blocks ready for occupation. Mould did not 
heartily condemn works till it became politic to 
do so. 
(i) In respect of 11 blocks 95$ of price paid 
and in respect of remaining 6 90$-paid - Buildings 
completed. Certificate not final, but striking 
evidence. 20 
Clause 15 of Specification - "work satisfactorily 
completed", "work properly completed" 
Samples. 

Samples taken by Mould not representative of 
overall character of works - said only interested 
in defects. No retention of analysis of Goodwin's 
samples which satisfactory. Other samples taken 
of which results missing - inference against 
Council. Mould before commission pointed out bad 
mortar which proved to be up to specification. 30 
McConnel's samples from floor satisfactory. Mould 
entitled to look for defects. Stone's samples 
satisfactory. Wevill's samples - taken haphazard-
ly - submit indications - inference that his 
samples not representative. Report says mortar 
varies in quality - but all samples bad. Mortar 
in foundations - Wevill examined 600' of founda-
tions - found 31 small weak patches requiring 
cutting out. 
Sand - must have been very carefully removed -
Newlyn - Wevill - weakest links - said report 
justified on that ground shows he looked for worst 
places. Weak patches in any building. Analysis 

40 
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of most recently taken samples will be signifi-
cant - first time samples taken which Plain-
tiff admits fair. If satisfactory further in-
dication that other samples not representative. 
Mould's evidence of attempt to deceive him. No 
written support for his allegation. Difficult 
to do and would have to be done surreptiously". 
Not put to Plaintiff in cross-examination. If 
Mould held up payments on certificates 11 and 
12 as "precautionary measure" only, inconceiv-
able he would not have done something about 
holding up certificate 13 when he discovered 
this. 

Mould's forwarding of Goodwin's report. Dates 
in Goodwin's report - Holes filled in and re-
opened. Inspection by Wevill a day or two be-
fore issue of Certificate 13. Yet Mould makes 
out Certificate for signature of Saunders not-
withstanding attempt to deceive. Mould states 
inferred repointing in holes because of rela-
tive hardness of mortar in and beyond holes. 
But re-pointing fresh and would be impossible 
to conceal. Probable he took no action because 
not certain of inference. Only affects case 
indirectly as affecting credibility of Plain-
tiff. No mention of this event in Goodwin's 
report. 

Defence that action premature. Based on argu-
ment that payment not due till Engineer's 
certificate issued. In 11 out of 17 blocks 
all formal certificates and written acceptances 
have been issued. Remaining 6, on any view of 
facts, Plaintiff entitled to payment. If' 
action under S.23 taken wrongly, breach. If 
rightly, Plaintiff entitled to balance after 
works completed to specification. 
Claim out of time - I accept evidence of de-
fence that it was arranged that all maintenance 
work should be completed at one time - Good-
win's statement and Mould's evidence. Don't 
agree this extends period, merely postpones 
period for remedying of defects appearing dur-
ing maintenance period. Some maintenance done. 
Submit follows right to payment of 5$ on first 
2 blocks completed would not arise till main-
tenance in fact done. If action of taking 
over of whole work in November 1955 and expell-
ing contractor were lawful, then cause of 
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In the Supreme action arose "by virtue of Clause 23 (4) within 
Court of Kenya reasonable time thereafter. Work to be completed 

in reasonable time thereafter. If not lawful -
breach - action filed in 6 months period. 

No.20 
Address for 
Ata U1 Haa haw. 
10th July "1957 " 
continued Admir departures from specification. In every 

case matter within knowledge of Council's Officers 
and met with approval - or was in accordance with 10 
specific verbal instructions. Pact pleaded in 
Reply - para.3 (d) - to amended Defence - in c/s 
170. On general principles Council cannot through 
officers instruct contractor to carry out work in 
certain manner - e.g. non-filling of interstices 
on ground of expense - and then after work taken 
over order contractor to re-do work. Law and 
equity would not allow it. 

Clause 2 (l) - Contractor to execute works in 
accordance with instructions etc. of Engineer. 20 
Agree "directions" stated to be directions in 
writing. No provision that instructions or ex-
planations to he in writing - Submit may properly 
be made orally. Surprising if every instruction 
or explanation to be in writing. 

Duties of contractor - clause 2 (1) and 7 (4) of 
General Conditions. Submit clear Clerk of Works 
represented Engineer for certain purposes - in 
• particular requiring work to be re-done or approv-
ing it - submit "Engineer" for some purposes 3C 
includes the Clerk of Works. Unimportant that 
they were called Clerk of Works. Functions they 
performed is important. Functions were'"within 
ostensible authority. "Engineer" also includes 
building inspectors, etc. 

2.15 p.m. Hearing resumed. Bar as before. 
01 Donovan - Address - contd. 

Effect of acceptance of work. Contract pro-
vides work to be done to satisfaction of Engineer. 
First 11 blocks - Engineer wrote letters to Con- 40 
tractor. Must operate as certificates of comple-
tion and cause maintenance period to commence. 
Apart from final acceptance - Architect or Clerk 
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of Works accepted every stage of all 17 blocks 
subject only to remedying of certain defects 
which was carried out. Effect of Clause 1 -
submit acceptance by Clerk of Works equivalent 
to City Engineer himself. Effect of acceptance, 
of one stage of construction as work went on. 
In principle no reason why such acceptance 
should not bind employer to same extent as final 
certificate. Acceptance during course of work -

10 no provision requiring such acceptance to be in 
writing. Expression of satisfaction with part 
of work means contract fulfilled as regards that 
part. In any event City Council has no case as 
regards patent defects. 
Halsbury (Simmons Ed.) Vol.3 at P.454 - para. 
867. Judgment of Court of Appeal - Bombay Eurni-
tux-e Works v. Gross. Civ. Appeal 95/55 
(unreported) 
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Patent defects waived. Rules out most, of 
Wevill's complaints - no hidden defects. Devi-
ations known. Even Mould aware of defects Mould 
protested against City Engineer issuing certifi-
cates by City Engineer. ' Submit that disposes of 
Defence case almost entirely. Class of cases of 
which Bateman an example or class of which New-
ton Abbott an example. Three grounds on which 
contract should be in former category. Agree no 
provision that certificate final. No such pro-
vision in Bateman's case. 
(a) Issue of Certificate is a condition prece-
dent to payment. Adopt argument as stated in 
Keating at P.68. Prima facie where conditions 
precedent, certificate is final and conclusive. 
Clause 15 of specifications - "satisfactorily 
completed". 

Clause 19 of specifications - responsibility of 
contractor to cease. Clause 7 (4) of General 
Conditions - Date of completion to be certified, 
Therefore until City Engineer has expressed 
final approval, contractor cannot recover bal-
ance due. 

Arbitration Clause - excludes matters left to 
decision or determination of Engineer. 
Clause 16 of General Conditions - Specification 
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excludes payment certificates but no other from 
being conclusive. Only "payment certificates" 
are those relating to 95$. No certificate, neces-
sary for final payment. Certificate referred to 
is payment Certificate. In terms does not relate 
to final certificate of acceptance of work as 
satisfactory. 

Hudson - P.239 - Distinguish this case from class 
there set out Newton Abbott case. Bateman's case 
- only report in 4th Edition of Hudson at P.36. 10 
Refer to judgment of Coleridge L.J. at pp.33/34. 
Also judgment of Grove J. P.495 also judgment of 
Archbold, P.50. Submit no dissimilarity between 
Bateman's case and this. Bateman's case still 
leading authority. Not over-ruled by Newton 
Abbott case. Judgment on construction of contract 
document taken as whole. Say certificate-of ac-
ceptance here becomes final at expiry of 6 months 
from date Engineer expresses satisfaction that 
work perfectly completed. 20 
Newton Abbott case - does not appear whether cer-
tificate a condition precedent to payment. 
Appears certificate was for ancillary purpose. 
Therefore distinguishable from this case Reten-
tion Clause - does not appear how it was worded. 
Maintenance Clause - here substantially similar 
to that in Bateman's case, Newton Abbott case 
referred in Halsbury Vol.3 at P.456. Here con-
tract also provided for specific approval of parts 
of work and material. 30 

Para.25 of Specifications - all 
approved before concrete laid. 

bottoms to be 

Para.15 of Specifications - samples of stone and 
dressing. 
Para.46 and 52 - Tiles and roofing furniture. 
Object - approval to be given to trenches before 
covered once and for all - also as to stone, 
tiles etc. before used. Object that approval 
should be final even before maintenance started. 
Inconsistent with clause 9 (2) of General Condi-
tions.. Latter apply to all City Council building 
contracts - specifications apply to this contract 
and submit prevail. Submit if bottoms approved, 
no complaint can thereafter be made. Approval 
should be in writing. But City Council and 

40 
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officers gave verbal approval and required 
Plaintiff to act on approval. City Council can-
not now rely on officers not expressing approval 
in right way. 
Adcock case - rely on general principles for 
which that is authority - Failure of Engineer 
to get defective materials, etc. removed or re-
done during progress means cannot be done when 
•work complete. 
Hudson, P.239 - Halsbury Vol.3, P.456. Agree 
failure to exercise power under Clause 9 (a2) 
results in loss of powers, but does not involve 
loss of other powers in contract, e.g. Mainten-
ance Clause. But Maintenance Clause can only 
apply to defects appearing in period - not to 
variations of which City Engineer fully aware 
and in cases result of his specific orders. 

Refer Hughes v Metropolitan Railway Company 
(1877) 2 A.C, 4T87 Birmingham and District Land 
Co. v London and North Western Railway (1889), 
TG" Ch. D. 2867 Argue! City Council entitled to 
demand work in accordance with Contract. If 
accept work net in accordance with contract 
Council precluded from later condemning works. 
City Council cannot now complain of defects 
arising after 6 months. Refer Bateman's case 
an<^ Marsden Urban District Council v Sharp and 
Another - 47 T.L.R. 549. Similar maintenance 
clause to present. Here no evidence defining 
accurately extent to which defects were"discov-
ered within 6 months of completion of each block. 
Mould said appreciated how bad work was in Feb-
ruary 1956 - more than 6 months after acceptance 
of 11 blocks. Burden of proof on defence - they 
have not discharged it. Wevill even now has 
only examined 600' out of 850' - 5$ of work. 
Defects not yet appeared in remaining 95$. 
Concrete floors - 5 out of total number of 460. 
There recently examined concrete better. Reli-
able inference as to remaining 450 cannot be 
drawn. In respect of 11 accepted blocks con-
tractor's liability governed by Clause 9(2). 
Contractor right to say prepared to do defects 
which appeared. Council wrong to insist on re-
construction. Exhibit 46 - Contract taken over 
in November because of that refusal. Council's 
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taking over therefore amounted to a breach of 
contract. Absolves Plaintiff from necessity of 
obtaining certificate in respect of last 6 blocks 
or of performing maintenance work. If Council 
acted within their rights in ordering Contractor 
off site, Clause 23, Contractor entitled to bene-
fit of covenants to be performed by Council under 
Clause 23, eg. completion of works 
delay or expense - certify expense's 
curred etc. Clauses 23 (4) and 23 

without undue 
properly in-
(5). 

Wevill's report - 15,000/- - hearsay. No 
evidence to support it and no certificate as pre-
scribed. No basis on which Court could make 
allowance to Council. 
Extras. 

Submit evidence shows clearly verbal contract 
for part of extras for which no written variation 
order. Evidence undisputed. Council's officers 
expressly ordered extra work knowing it outside 
contract. 
Molloy v Liebe (1910) 102 L.I. 616 
Contractor induced to do work on understanding 
that variation order would be issued. Cannot now. 
rely on own default to escape liability. 

I abandon claim to 2 of 3 items, 
abandon claim to Podo battens. Stone 
ence - it should have been allowed. 

Do not 
gave evid-

Costs. 
Deductions may have to be made - eg. parging 

single ply damp course. Submit if Plaintiff sub-
stantially succeeds he should have costs included 
costs of counterclaim. Alternatively that City 
Council should not have costs unless they substan-
tially succeed. Ask Stone's evidence be accepted 
witness of truth. Defendant's - Arguments. 
Issues 3 and 4 - submit Dakin v Lee is to contrary 
effect. Narshidas M. Meta and Company Ltd., v. 
The Baron Verheyen (1954) Vol.21 E.A.C.A. 153, 
i.e. variations do not disentitle contractor to 
payment. MoConnel said defects could be dealt 
with easily within scope of Retention Money. P.6 
of notes at bottom - not fraud pleaded. 
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P.9 - submit Keating contradicts submission. 

Actuarial tables - not in accord with contract 
If did apply - arbitrary. 

Multiplication of 4"l - small error in that 
figure v/ould result in large error. 40 years -
building out of date. 
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Investment at 3/ - not best obtainable. 

Close of address for Defendant. 

Schermbrucker on cases cited not previously 
10 mentioned. 

Bombay Furniture case - Grove went away giving 
architect a virtual power of attorney. Equity 
Principle — submit no facts in this case to 
show Council would not act if work bad. 

Bateman's case - Dakin v Lee - Nothing to say 
on E.A. case. 
C.A.V. 

A. G. Forbes, J. 
10.7.57. 

20 Note: Analyses of samples of set concrete • 
and mortar from Part B Ofafa Estate, which, 
by consent, were to form part of the evidence 
and he taken into account in the judgment, to-
day received and filed with Exhibits, marked 
Exhibit 73. 

A. C. Forbes, J. 
16 .1.51 • 
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In the Supreme N o.21 
Court of Kenya, 

J TJ D G M E K I 
No«21 

IN HSR MAJESTY'S SUPREME COURT OF KENYA 
Judgment 
6th September AT NAIROBI 
1957. 

CIVIL CASE NOS: 170/56 and 1314/56 

ATA UL HAQ v. NAIROBI CITY COUNCIL 
AND 

NAIROBI CITY COUNCIL v. ATA UL EAQ 

J U D G M E N T 

These two Suits, which have "been consolidated, 10 
arise out of a building contract entered into be-
tween Ata U1 Haq as contractor (whom I shall here-
inafter refer to as the Contractor) and the Nairobi 
City Council (to which I shall refer as the 
Council) for the construction of certain housing 
at the Council's African Housing Estate at Ofafa, 
Nairobi. 

•In Suit No: 170/56 the Contractor, as Plain-
tiff, claims Shs. 190,018, comprising Shs.140,018 
in respect of balance of the contract price for 20 
the work undertaken, including retention moneys, 
and Shs. 50,000 in respect of the amount of secur-
ity which was deposited for due performance of the 
contract; and also claims that proper enquiries 
be made into the value of extra work alleged to 
have been carried out by the Contractor in connec-
tion with the contract and that payment be ordered 
of the amount found to be due in respect of such 
extra work. 

The Council, on the other hand, denies lia- 30 
bility for the amount claimed, maintaining that 
the work has•not been completed in accordance with 
the contract, and in Suit No: 1314/56 (in which 
the Council is.the Plaintiff) claims Shs. 882,950 
damages from the Contract or comprising, as to 
Shs. 826,849, the alleged cost of bringing the 



553. 

10 

buildings up to specification or, where this is 
impracticable, the alleged reduction-in the 
value of the building; as to Shs. 9,88l/- the 
cost of a detailed survey and report on the 
work; and as to Shs. 46,220/-, excessive main-
tenance costs alleged to be required by reason 
of impossibility of bringing the buildings up 
to standard required by the specifications. 

The facts leading up to these conflicting 
claims are as follows s-
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In or about the year 1954 the Council 
undertook the development of an African Housing 
Estate at Ofafa. The projected estate was 
divided into sections for construction purposes, 
the particular section with which this case is 
concerned being known as "Part B". Part B 
comprised 17 blocks of dwellings and ablution 
units with minor ancillary works. Tenders were 
invited for the construction of Part B, 'that 
submitted by the Contractor was accepted, and 
a contract for the carrying out of the work 
was duly entered into between the Contractor 
and the Council of 29th June, 1954. The con-
tract itself as a fairly brief document of four 
clauses, but it incorporates in the Contract 
the General Conditions of Contract of the Coun-
cil, the Tender of the Contractor, the Specifi-
cation prepared by the Council1 s Engineer, a 
Schedule of Rates, and the Contract Drawings. 

By Clause 17 of the Specification the Con-
tractor was required to deposit with the Council 
the sum of Shs. 50,000 as security for the due 
performance of this contract, and this was duly 
done on 17th June, 1954. Repayment of this sum 
is one of the items claimed by the Contractor. 

Clause 1 of the Contract provided that the 
contract price was £85,476, subject to varia-
tion in certain events. In particular there 
was provision for payment for authorised extras 
and additions not provided for in the specifi-
cations, 

Clause 16 of the General Conditions provid-
ed for payments to the Contractor by instalments 
during the progress of the work on certificates 
issued by the City Engineer. Under Clause 15 
of the Specification interim payments were not 
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to exceed 90$ of the "work properly Executed". 
Upon "the satisfactory completion of the work" 
and its being taken over by the Council, the Con-
tractor was to be entitled to a certificate for 

value of the work so executed. There-95$ of th 
after the 
to be paid to the Contractor on th 
of a 6 month period of maintenance 

remaining 5$ of the contract price was 
le termination 

term "Engineer" being defined in 
ing "deemed to imply the City Engineer 

Clause 3 of the General Conditions required 
the work to be executed "under the direction and io 
to the entire satisfaction" of the Engineer; the 

; 1 as be-
or such 

person or persons as may be duly authorised to 
represent him on behalf of the City Council of 
Nairobi or the successors in office of such person 
or persons and also such person or persons as may 
be deputed by .such representative to' act" on" his" 
behalf for the purpose of this particular contract" 

In practice, day to day supervision of the 20 
execution of the contract works was carried out by 
an African Housing Architect and a Clerk of Works, 
both of whom were employed by the Council. 
Initially, the Architect was a Mr. Tanner and the 
Clerk of Works \v a s a Mr. Stone. Mr. Tanner was 
succeeded as-architect by a Mr. Mould who took 
over in June, 1955. Mr. Mould had been associated 
with the work since March, 1955, under Mr. Tanner, 
and it appeared that the works were about 80$ 
complete when Mr. Mould came on the scene. Mr. 30 
Stone was succeeded as Clerk of Works by a Mr. 
Goodwin in about May, 1955. 

In pursuance of the contract 
entered upon the site-and commenc 
1954. Work proceeded, and in due 
of the seventeen blocks provided 
tract were completed, accepted in 
taken over by the Council.* Payme 
the Contractor on certificates is 
Engineer under Clause 15 of the S 
to a total of Shs. 1,011,104/-, b 
certified value of the work in re 
blocks. 

the Contractor-
ed work in June, 
course, eleven 

for in the con-
writing, and 
nts were made to 
sued by the City 
•pecif i eat ion up 
eing 95$ of the 
spect of these 

40 

Of the remaining six blocks, four 7/ere com-
pleted and ready for inspection and the other two 
were complete except for minor details, when 
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differences arose between the Contractor and 
the Council. Interim payments made to the Con-
tractor in respect of these six blocks amounted 
to Shs. 493,398/-, being 90$ of the certified 
value of the work done. These blocks were nev-
er formally accepted, but were in fact occupied 
by the Council after the Contractor had with-
drawn from the site. 

Before the hearing commenced, eleven issues 
were agreed by Counsel, as follows -

1. Is the Contractor's claim premature. 
2. In the alternative is it barred by 

limitation wholly or partially. 

3. Have the works been completed by the 
Contractor in accordance with the 
contract. 
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4. If so is the Contractor entitled to 
the sum claimed, or any part thereof 
in the absence of the final certifi-
cate . 

5. If the answer to No:3 is in the nega-
tive in what respects has the Con-
tractor failed to perform the 
Contract. 

30 

6. Has the Council waived any breach of 
contract by the Contractor wholly 
or partially. 

7. Is the Council estopped from alleging 
such breaches or any of them. 

8. If the Council is entitled to any dam-
ages in respect of such breaches -
how much. 

9. Has the Contractor carried out the 
extra work as alleged in the Plaint. 

10. If so to what sum is the Contractor 
entitled in respect thereof. 

The bulk of the evidence in the case con-
cerns alleged breaches of contract by the 
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Contractor - that is, it relates to Issues Nos:3 
and 5. Before I go into details of the alleged 
breaches, however, I propose to dra?/ some general 
conclusions from the evidence, and also deal with 
the question of the extent to which the Council 
may be bound by acts of the City Engineer, the 
Architect in charge of the works end the Clerk of 
Works on the site in (a) waiving strict compliance 
with the specification, and (b) authorising addi-
tional work outside the specification. 10 

Five witnesses gave evidence for'the Contrac-
tor, including, the Contractor himself ,' hh'd five 
witnesses were called on behalf of the Council. 
The Contractor's witnesses were Mr. S. McConnel a 
consulting engineer with some 32 years' experience 
in Kenya; Mr.C.W.Newlyn, a Chartered Quantity 
Surveyor of 34 years' experience of which some 7 
have been in East Africa; Mr. R.V. Adamson, a 
chemist of the Public Works Department who gave 
evidence of the analysis of samples of concrete 
and mortar; and Mr. T.H. 
Works who was on site till 
the work had been done and 

Stone, the Clerk or 
something over 80/ of 
Who has had nearly 50 

years' experience of building, mostly in 
Africa. The witnesses for the Council we 
F. Mould, a qu 
ous experience 

Cast 
?e Mr.R. 

lified Architect but with no previ-
in East Africa, who commenced sup-

ervision of this contract under Mr. Tanner (the 
original Architect in charge) in March, 1955, when' 
work was about 80/ complete, and who, in June,1955, 
took over complete control as Architect upon Mr: 
Tanner's departure from Kenya; Mr. A.E. Wevill, 
a practising Architect and Quantity Surveyor with 
38 years' experience in Kenya, who carried out a 
survey of the works in April, 1956, and wrote a 
report for the Council; Mr. Norman Fallon, Assis-
tant City Treasurer, who gave technical evidence 
relating to the calculation of maintenance costs; 
Mr. T.H. Stone again, who was called as a witness 

the Contractor; for the Council as well as 
and Mr. H. Thorpe, Storekeeper to the City Council 
who gave evidence relating to 
damp course felting during 
construction of the works v 

:hc 
the availability of 
: period that the 
in progress. 

Expert evidence as to the standard and 
quality of the buildings constructed was given by-
Mr. McConnel, Mr. Newlyn, Mr. Mould and Mr.Wevill. 
As is not unusual, there was very considerable 

20 

30 

40 
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divergence between the opinions'"of the~experts~. 
Of the witnesses called, apart from the~Contrac-
tor himself, only Mr. Stone and Mr. Mould gave • 
evidence as to the progress of the work on site, 
and, of course, Mr. Mould's evidence on progress 
only related to the latter part of the work as 
he only came on the scene when the works were 
80$ complete. Conversely, Mr. Stone's evidence 
only covers the first 80$ or so of the work. 

10 Mr. Tanner, the Architect in charge up to' the 
time Mr. Mould took over, and Mr. Goodwin, the 
Clerk of Works'who succeeded Mr. Stone, were not• 
called as witnesses by either party. Mr. Tanner, 
it appeared, was no longer available in Kenya, 
but Mr. Goodwin was available in Kenya and could 
have been called had either party so wished. 

I consider Mr. Stone's evidence to be of 
great importance in the case since it covers the 
major part of the progress of the work under the 

20 contract. Mr. Stone was an impressive witness 
and appeared genuinely impartial. In general, I 
accept his evidence as a reliable account so 
far as he saw it, of the progress of the work 
under the contract, and the dealings between the 
Contractor on the one hand and Mr. Tanner and 
himself on the other. 
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I mav mention here that bhere has been no 
suggestion made of the existence of any fraudu-
lent collusion between Mr. Tanner or Mr .."Stone 

30 and the Contractor. And I may"as'well dispose" 
of one point in the pleadings forthwith, namely 
the allegation (which I allowed, with some hes-
itation, to be inserted by 'way of amendment in 
the Council's pleadings after the commencement 
of the hearing) that the Contractor was guilty 
of fraud in that he "falsely alleged and mis-
represented verbally to the Defendant's Clerk 
of Works and/or Architect from time to time and 
stage by stage of the contract that the works 

40 had been well done according to specification 
and such of the works as were taken over by the 
Defendant (i.e. the Council) were taken over in. 
that belief". I do not consider that there has 
been any evidence which can support this allega-
tion and Mr. Stone stated categorically that he 
did not rely on statements made to him by the 
Contractor but relied entirely on his own obser-
vation. I find, accordingly, that the fraud 
alleged has been disproved. 
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As regards Mr. Mould, I cannot, with the 
greatest respect to him, accept his evidence as 
entire!;/ impartial. He clearly had strong feel-
ings about the matter, perhaps with some justifi-
cation from his point of view, and while I do not 
for a moment suggest that this led to any deliber-
ately untruthful statement on his part, it cer-
tainly coloured his evidence and, I consider, gave 
rise to a tendency to exaggeration. 

Taking the evidence of Mr. Stone and Mr. 
Mould together, a very clear general picture 
emerges. I do not think disputed that the 
Council were seeking to erect cheaply priced 
buildings in this Housing Estate, and that :this 
contract did envisage a low, or shall I say, ' ' 
economical, standard of work. This, of course, 
is no excuse for an even lower standard than is 
called for by the specification. There is, how-
ever, some latitude for interpretation of the 
specification, and it is perfectly clear that 
during his term of office as Architect in charge 
of the contract, Mr. Tanner deliberately allowed 
a low standard of work within the specification, 
in a number of instances below specification, 
while Mr. Mould on arrival, no doubt performing 
the function of a new broom, did his best to 
insist on compliance with a far higher standard. 
The position is really summed up by Mr. Mould's 
admission in cross examination when he agreed • 
that a different standard is being applied now, 
when he whole-heartedlv condemns all the blocks 
of buildings, from that applied when acceptance 
of certain of the blocks was recommended to the 
Council. I accept Dir. Mould's evidence that when 
he drafted letters of acceptance in respect of 
five of the blocks he was not fully aware of the 
general character of the buildings. He had, of 
course, not seen the major part of the work being 
carried out; and I have no doubt that he was sin-
cerely shocked when he did discover the standard 
to which the building had been carried out and 
considered it•was a scandalously low standard. I 
do not accept, however, that the Council, through 
its officers, had no knowledge of the standard to 
which the works were being built..; It is clear 
from Mr. Stone's evidence that Mr. Tanner'was" in 
general fully aware of the standard'of the work 
that was being done and accepted it, and there is 
some evidence that this knowledge and acceptance 

10 
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was shared by more senior officers of "the 
Council. Mr. Mould stated that he did not re-
commend acceptance of the five blocks of build-
ings without protest, but that he was overruled. 
He said that he indicated his objections to Mr. 
Roberts, then City Engineer, and that later, 
when Mr. Saunders was Acting City Engineer, he 
explained his grounds of objection to Mr.I Saund-
ers in detail. Mr. Mould said that MriSaunders 
put it to him often that he (Saunders) would 
have to put it to the.Council, and Mr.Mould also 
said that there were many meetings between Heads 
of Departments. Mr. Mould was not present and 
was unable to say what was put to the Council 
or what was discussed at the meetings of Heads 
of Departments, and no other evidence does indi-
cate that Mr. Mould's superior officer, and 
possibly the Council itself, was at one time 
prepared to accept a lower standard of work than 
he was. 
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However this may he, I am satisfied that, 
with certain exceptions to which I will refer 
later, Mr. Tanner, and Mr. Stone on Mr.Tanner's 
authority, a low standard of work; and that in 
many cases work was authorised or knowingly 
accepted which was not strictly in accordance 
with specification. I am also satisfied that 
on occasion Mr. Tanner directed work to be done 
which was additional to specification. It seems 
equally clear that notwithstanding the provi-
sions of the contract documents, to which I will 
refer in detail presently, practically the whole 
of the dealings between Mr. Tanner (and later 
Mr. Mould) and the Contractor were on a verbal 
basis and that the Contractor accepted and gave 
effect to verbal directions given him by Mr. 
Tanner. Written variation orders for additional 
work in accordance with the contract/appear"to 
have been issued in only three cases, that is, 
Exhibits 18, 19 and 20. 

There is one matter in the evidence to which 
I should perhaps refer specifically, and that is 
Mr. Mould's statement that on one of his inspec-
tions on Block 33 A in a number of the inspec-
tion holes which had been dug he found hard 
mortar had been put into the foundations in the 
part exposed, - in the holes in place of defec-
tive mortar - that Is, in effect, that there 
was a deliberate attempt by the Contractor to 
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conceal defective work, 
evidence on the matter, 
that the Contractor was pre 
ment was found, and that he 
the Contractor of doing it. 
both the concealment and 

There was a conflict of 
since Mr, Mould stated 

ent when the conceal-
then and there accused 
The Contractor denied 

been" accused' of it. having 
Mr. Mould also stated that Mr. Goodwin and Mr. 
Thomas saw where the hard mortar had been put in. 
but, of course, neither of tho 
evidence. It also appeared -j-V, O-l UJ-lcX I 

gent 1 ems 
there wf 

n 
of Mr. Mould's on the file mei 
ery of this alleged attempt at concealment 

iti oning 
gave 
no note 
discov-

having confused the 
incident described, or that it might 

In these circumstances I hesitate to find as 
a fact that the act of concealment was carried out 
by the Contractor. Mr. Mould'denied that there 
was an;/ possibility of his 
scene of the 
have taken place at the site of one of the neigh-
bouring contracts which were under construction 
i.e. either Part A or Part C of the Ofafa Housing 
Estate, on which the evidence suggested that the 
standard of work was a good deal lower than that 
on this contract site. Nevertheless I find it 
difficult to exclude a suspicion that this may 
have occurred. 

However, apart from this, I do not think the 
incident is really very material. If it is true, 
it reflects very adversely on the Contractor's 
credibility ana honesty, but it does not in itself 
establish the existence or extent of defects. And 
as regards the Contractor's credibility, I do not 
in any case base my findings of fact on his 
evidence. 

I come now to what is perhaps the"" mbst"diffi-
cult and most important question in the case, 
namely the extent to which the acts of the City 
Engineer, Architect and Clerk of Works are binding 
on the Council. It is, I' think,, necessary to 
refer to the relevant provisions of the contract 
documents in detail, and 
provisions relevant. Eo: 
out in full here even 
mentioned some of ther 

i consider the following 
convenience I set them 

I have already though 

Clause 2 of the Contract urcvides 
" In case the Engineer thinks proper at 
any time during the progress of the works to 
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make any alteration in or addition to or 
omissions from the works or any alteration 
in kind or quality of the materials to be 
used therein ana shall give notice thereof 
in writing to the Contractor the Contractor 
shall altor add to or omit as the case may 
require in accordance with such notice but 
the Contractor shall not do any work extra 
to or make any alteration or addition to 
or omission from the works or any"deviation 
from any of the provisions of this contract 
without the previous consent in writing of 
the Engineer, and no claim 
for any extra shall be allowed unless it 
shall be carried out by or under the author-
ity of the Engineer herein mentioned". 

The term "Engineer" is defined in the Contract 
to mean the City Engineer, and Clause 4 provides 
that the other contract documents are to form 
and be deemed part of the contract except where 
they are varied by or are inconsistent with the 
terms of the Contract itself. 
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In the General Conditions of Contract are 
the following provisions, which I think are 
relevant -

"1. (i) ENGINEER. The Term "Engineer" 
wherever used hereinafter and in all con-
tract documents shall be deemed to imply 

. the City Engineer or such person or persons 
as may be duly authorised to represent him 
on behalf of the City Council of Nairobi or 
the successors in office of such person or 
persons and also such person or persons as 
may be deputed bjr such representative to 
act on his behalf for the purpose of this 
particular contract. During the continu-
ance of this contract, any person"acting 
for the Engineer, or exercising his author-
ity, or any successor in office of such 
Engineer, shall not disregard or over-rule 
any decision, approval or direction given 
to the Contractor, in writing, by his pre-
decessor, unless he is satisfied that such 
action will cause no pecuniary loss to the 
Contractor or unless such action be order-
ed as a variation to be adjusted as here-
inafter provided. 
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(ii) APPROVED AND DIRECTED. The terms 
"Approved" and "Directed" wherever used here-
inafter and in all contract documents shall 
mean the approval and direction in writing, 
of the Engineer." 
"2. (i) The Contractor shall at b 
and cost execute and perform the 
described in the Contract Agreeme 
tailed in the Specification and D: 
vided and supplied to the Contrac 
purpose of the Works and complete 
the said Works in a good and work 
manner with the best materials an 
ship and with the utmost expediti 
accordance with the said Contract 
Specification, and Drawings, w1 
been signed by the Contractor and 
eer, and in accordance with such 
drawings, details, instructions, 
and explanations as may from time 
given by the Engineer. 

is own risk 
Works 
nt and de-
rawings pro-
tor for the 10 
ly finish 
man like 
d workman-
on, in 
Agreement, 

h shall have 
the Engin-
further 
directions 
to time be 20 

(ii) The Contractor shall satisfy himself as 
to the correctness of all drawings and 
measurements. If the Contraitor finds any 
discrepancy in the Drawings or between the 
Drawings and Specification, be shall immedi-
ately refer the same to the Eigineer who 
shall decide which shall be followed." 
"3. The said works shall be executed under 
the direction and to the entire satisfaction 
in all respects of the Engineer 1 

30 

o l c . J- Cla- b "9.. (i) All matei 
be the best of th 
shall be provided 
as may be otherwi 
the Specification or directed 
and the Contractor shall, upon 
the 

and workmanship shall 
ir respective"kinds and 
by the Contractor, except 
e particularly provided by : 

the Engineer, 
the request of 

by 
Engineer, furnish him with proof that the 

materials are such as are specified. The 
Engineer shall at all times have power to 
order the removal of any materials brought on 
the site, which, in his opinion, are not in 
accordance with the specification or with his 
instructions, the substitution of proper 
materialy and the removal and the proper re-
executi>'u of any work executed with materials 

40 
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or workmanship not in accordance with the 
Specifications and Drawings or instruc-
tions, and the Contractor shall forthwith 
carry out such order at his own cost. 
(ii) Any defect which may appear, either 
of material or of workmanship, during the 
period of maintenance provided by the Con-
tract, shall be made good by the Contractor 
at his own expense, as and when directed." 
"16. Payment shall he made to the Contrac-
tor by instalments in accordance with the 
provisions of the Specification under the 
Certificates therein stipulated to he issued 
by the Engineer to the Contractor. 

No Certificate so issued by the Engin-
eer shall of itself be considered conclusive 
evidence as to the sufficiency of any work 
or materials to which it relates so as to 
relieve the Contractor from his liability 
to execute the works in all respects in 
accordance with the terms and upon and sub-
ject to the conditions of this Agreement cr 
from his liability to make good all defects 
as provided thereby". 

"17. (i) The Engineer may at any time 
during the progress of the Works, hy order 
in writing under his hand, make or cause to 
be made any variations from the original 
Specification and Drawings hy way of addi-
tion or omission or otherwise deviations 
under his direction and to his satisfaction, 
as if the same had been included in the 
said original Specification and Drawings, 
and any work or materials which' shall be 
ordered not to be done, or used, shall be 
omitted or shall not be used by the Con-
tractor". 
"18. (i) No variations 
Contract and all extras 

shall vitiate the 
and omissions 

authorised as herein'provided for which a 
price may not have been previously agreed 
upon, shall be measured and valued by 
Engineer " 

the 
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And lastly, Clause 26 provided for reference 
to arbitration -
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" if any dispute shall arise between the 
Engineer and the Contractor as to anything 
contained in or incidental to the Contract, 
otherwise than suoh matters or things here-
inbefore left to the decision or determina-
tion of the Engineer " 
The Specification requires the work to be 

done and materials to be provided under the super-
vision of and to the entire satisfaction of the 
City Engineer and individual items in the Speci- 10 
fication contained specific reference to approval 
by the City Engineer e.g. Clause 25? which requires 
the bottoms of trenches for foundations ""to be ap-
proved by the o.ity Engineer before concrete is laid". 

It is, I think, olear from those provisions 
and from the retract documents as a whole that the 
general contra of the contract on behalf of the 
Council was in the hands of the City Engineer. The 
City Engineer could order variations and extras. 
The work was to be performed to the satisfaction 20 
of the Engineer. The Engineer was to issue 
certificates for payments. From the general tenor 
of the contract documents I think there can he no 
doubt that the intention was that the City Engineer 
should he the agent of the Council for the pur-
poses of the contract, and, in fact, all deal-
ings between the Contractor and the Council were 
conducted on the Council's side by the City 
Engineer or his subordinates. 

Subordinated to the City Engineer were the 30 
Architect and the Clerk of Works.' It is not easy 
to define their precise authority, particularly 
that of the Architect, tinder the contract docu-
ments. It was conceded that the Architect was in 
fact duly authorised to represent the Engineer 
under Clause 1 (i) of the General Conditions, and 
the General Conditions authorise the "Engineer" 
as therein defined to give directions in writing 
for extras and variations. On the other hand, 
Clause 2 of the Contract requires the extras and 40 
variations to be authorised by the City Engineer 
himself,•and, by virtue of Clause 4"of"the ~ 
Contract, this provision must prevail over the 
provisions set out in the General Conditions. I 
conclude thai; under the contract documents author-
ity to orde; - extras or permit variations is limit-
ed to the C:;iy Engineer personally. And in fact 
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the only variation orders issued - Exhibit 18, 
19 and 20 - were signed by the City Engineer 
himself. On the other hand I am satisfied 
that the Architect on behalf of the Engineer 
had authority under the contract to approve 
work and to give instructions and explanations 
within the scope of the specifications. The 
contract documents do not provide that "instruc-
tions" or "explanations" are to be in ''writing, 
though it is perhaps difficult to see what the 
difference is between an "instruction" and a 
"direction". 

In the Supreme 
Cotirt of Kenya 

No. 21 
Judgment 
6th September 
1957 
continued 

As regards the Clerk of V/orks, any author-
ity he may have had on behalf of the Engineer 
was obviously very limited. On the evidence I 
conclude that he was in certain matters deputed 
by the Architect to act on his behalf and there-
fore in respect of those matters falls within 
the definition of "Engineer" in the General Con-

20 ditions. Mr. Mould, for instance, said that 
he ordered the taking up of a floor in Block 39' 
and deputed then the Clerk of Works, Mr .Goodwin, 
to see that it was done. 

In the case of Mr. Stone it would appear 
that Mr. Tanner deputed him to see that work 
done was done up to the standard set by Mr. 
Tanner, but in the circumstances of the case I ' 
do not think this is very material. The 
evidence which I have accepted is to the effect 

30 that Mr. Tanner saw and approved or directed 
certain standards of work, and that work seen 
by Mr. Stone though not by Mr. Tanner came up 
to those standards. It is therefore of little 
moment whether or not Mr. Stone was authorised 
to accept that work. 

As I have stated, the contract'documents 
expressly provide that the work is to be done 
to the satisfaction of the Engineer. Consider-
able argument turned on whether and to what 

40 extent the certificates for interim payments 
and the acceptance of certain blocks were con-
clusive in this respect. 

There is no provision in the contract docu-
ments that the certificates are to be conclusive. 
On the contrary Clause 16 of the General Condi-
tions provides that -
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"No certificate so issued by the Engineer 
shall of itself be considered conclusive 
evidence as to the sufficiency of any work 
materials to which it relates so as to re-
lieve the contractor from his liability to 
execute the works in all respects.in accord-
ance with the terms and upon and subject 
to the conditions of this Agreement or from 
his liability to make good all defects as 
provided thereby". 
It is abundantly clear from this that no 

such certificate is conclusive as regards any 
latent defect - that is any defect of which the 
Engineer was not aware. The position, however, 
appears to me to be vitally different where the 
Engineer (or the Architect acting on his behalf) 
was fully of the alleged defect and accept 
ed it - in some cases directed it. Clause 9 
(i) enables tlu- Engineer during the course of the 
work to order the removal of materials and the 
re-execution of work not up to specification. 
Y/here the Engineer has not made use of this Clause 
but with full knowledge has accepted work as sat-
isfactory and subsequently issues a certificate 
in respect of that work, 1 consider that the cer-
tificate must be held to be conclusive in so far 
as the Engineer had knowledge of the quality of 
the work and materials; that the issue of the 
certificate operated as a waiver •!' strict "com-
pliance with the specification; and. that the 
Engineer cannot subsequently exercise the power 
conferred by the clause (Hudson on Building 
Contracts, 7th Edition, p.239 citing Xdcock's 
Trustee v Bridge R.D.C. (1911) 75 J.P. 2TI7. 

It was argued, relying on Robins v Goddard 
(1905) 1 K.B. 294, that by virtue" of the" arblt-" 
tration clause the certificate could not be held 
to be conclusive. The arbitration clause does 
not expressly provide that the arbitrator shall • 
have power to open up and review any certificate, 
as was the case of the contract considered in 
Robins v Goddard. I would, however, accept 
the proposition that by virtue of the arbitration -
clause the certificates issued are not conclusive, 
but I do not think this adds anything to the 
express provisions of Clause 16 of the General 
Conditions„ 
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The basis of my finding is that under this 
contract the Engineer was the agent•of the 
Council for the purpose, inter alia, of passing 
the work as satisfactory. There is some reason 
to "believe from the evidence that the City 
Engineer, "by reason of personal visits to the 
site, must have "been aware from his own observ-
ation of the general standard of'the work of 
the Contractor; "but in any case, as I have 
said, it has "been conceded that the Architect 
was duly autho].ioed under Clause 1 (i) of the 
General Conditions to represent the Engineer, 
and I consider that the knowledge of the Arch-
itect must in the circumstances "be regarded as 
the knov/ledge of the Engineer; and acceptance 
of work by an owner (or his agent authorised in 
that behalf) v/ith knowledge of defects does dis-
entitle the owner from claiming for those de-
fects. (Halsbury 3rd Edition, Vol.3, p«454 
and Bombay Furniture Works v Gross, E.A. Civ. 
App. 94 of 1955 (unreported). 

I consider this is clearly the position in 
so far as the standard of work within the terms 
of the Specification is concerned. There is 
evidence that the standard was deliberately re-
laxed on account of difficulties arising from 
the Emergency and anxiety that the work should 
not be delayed. 

The position is more difficult as regards 
work which amounts to a variation from the 
terms of the Specification. This was permitted, 
or in some cases, directed, by the Architect 
for the same reasons, but as I have said, under 
the contract variations were required to be in 
writing and to be authorised by the City Engin-
eer personally. Nevertheless, in view of the 
conflict between the provisions of the Contract 
and the General Conditions, and of the fact 
that the general conduct of the contract was 
left in the hands of the Architect, I consider 
that the Architect was held out as having auth-
ority to waive strict compliance with details 
of the specifications, and that such waiver hy 
the Architect is therefore binding on the 
Council . 
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It appears to me in fact that certificates 
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given by the Engineer with knowledge (either 
personal or through the Architect) of defects 
amount to written approval of the work with those 
defects and fall within the provision of Clause 1 
(i) of the General Conditions which requires that 
any successor in office of the Engineer-"shall 
not disregard or over-rule any decision, approval 
or direction given-to the Contractor in writing 
by his predecessor, unless he i: 
such action will cause 
Contractor 

no pecuniary ti 
satisfied that 

loss to the 10 

A fortiori, where blocks have been accepted 
in writing by the Engineer with know],edge of de-
fects, I consider the acceptance is binding on 
the Council as a waiver of the defects. 

As regards extras claimed by the Contractor, 
I am of the opinion that the position "is "different. 
Where, as in this case, extras are required to be 
ordered in writing, it would appear that the 
builder can refuse to perform additional work not 
ordered in writing, but if he does perform such 
work without written orders, he cannot recover • 
payment therefor (Halsbury, 3rd Edition, Vol. 3, 
p.482, paragraph 941, and the cases there cited). 
The circumstances in this case- come very close to 
being a waiver of the condition; hut it would 
appear that something more than a mere verbal 
order is necessary to amount to a wliver in the 
case of extras. (Iialsbury, 3rd Edition, Vol.3, 
p.483, paragraph 934). I hold therefore that as 
a general preposition the Contractor cannot re-
cover for extras which have not been ordered in 
writing. There are exceptions to this where it 
can be said that extras are entirely outside the 
contract, or where a promise to pav can be implied, 
•and I will examine this aspect wht I 
the details of the extras claimed. deal, with 

I propose now to deal as briefly as I can 
with the individual defects alleged by the Council 
in the order in which they are alleged in 
Council's pleadings. 

the 

(a) It is alleged that excavations were not 
carried down to rock or mux-ram suitable 
for ioundations, and that black cotton 
soil was not all removed from the trenches 
before the foundations were put in. 
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The specification calls for the trenches 
for foundations to he excavated down to 
a solid hard rock or murrain "bottom and 
levelled, and for all black cotton soil 
to be removed. 
These allegations, as is the case with 
most, if not all the allegations, are 
based on the report dated 21st August, 
1956, made by Mr. Wevill, which was in 
evidence as Exhibit 61. That report 
certainly indicates that Mr. Wevill 
considered that black cotton soil had 
been left under the"foundations, but in 
evidence he stated that he was not pre-
pared to say that the Contractor left 
"black cotton soil under his foundations. 
Mr. Stone stated that he saw all black 
cotton soil removed from the foundations. 
In the circumstances I find that the al-
legation that black cotton soil has been 
left under the foundations has not been 
proved. 

As regards the requirement that the ex-
cavations be carried down to hard rock 
or murrain, Mr. Stone stated that the 
trenches were checked by himself with a 
pick for solidity and that he was satis-
fied that they were dug down to hard., 
rock - there was no murram on the site. 
Mr. Wevill's opinion from his inspection 
was that the foundations appeared in 
most cases to be laid on decomposed rock. 
There appeared to be some conflict be-
tween the experts as to v/hether or not 
decomposed rock'would be adequate for 
the foundations, but Mr. Wevill did state 
that with reasonably good concrete it 
should he adequate to support the build-
ings . It seems probable that the trench-
es were in fact not strictly in accord 
with the specification requirement that 
the excavation should~be down to "solid 
hard rock", and I so "find! """"It also 
seems that on the basis of the concrete 
being up to specification, the failure 
to excavate to "solid hard rock" would 
not make•any material difference to the 
building, and I accept that this was the 
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case. I am also quite satisfied that 
both the Clerk of Works, Mr. Stone, and 
the Architect, Mr. Tanner, were fully 
aware of the degree to whi'ch~fhe~trehches 
had been excavated and accepted it as a 
compliance with the specification. 

(b) It is next alleged that the bottoms of 
the trenches for the foundations were not 
levelled off as required by the specifi-
cation. 10 
Mr.Wevill stated that in some cases there 
were rock outcrops -which had not been 
levelled. Mr. Stone stated that the 
trenches were dug down into the boulder 
sub-stratum, and that it was difficult to 
achieve a very smooth surface, but that 
the trenches were levelled to his satis-
faction and that in his opinion the Con-
tractor did achieve a satisfactory bottom. 
He also stated that Mr. Tanner approved 20 
the trenches. On the evidence I have 
reached the conclusion that there was not 
a strict compliance with the specifica-
tion, but I am also satisfied that Mr. 
Tanner and Mr. Stone were duly aware of 
what was done and accepted it. 

(c) The next complaint in regard to the found-
ations is.that the concrete mix was not 
1:3:6 cement,, sand and aggregate or was 
not properly mixed or laid. 30 
A great deal of the evidence in the case 
was concerned with the state of the con-
crete and mortar of the foundations, 
floors and walls and it is convenient to 
deal now generally with the whole question 
of the concrete and mortar that was used 
in the construction of these buildings. 
The evidence generally regarding the 
concrete and mortar was extremely con-
flicting and showed consideraole diver— 40 
gence of opinion among the witnesses who 
gave expert evidence. The tests of sam-
ples taken also gave conflicting results 
which it is difficult to reconcile. The 
analysis results-of four sets of samples 
were in evidence, together with the 
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20 

analysis result of a single•sample of mortar, 
apparently taken in June, 1956, during an 
inspection of the site by the Commission 
which v/as at that time enquiring into af-
fairs of the Council. These analysis results 
are set out in Exhibits A,C.65, 66 and 73. 
Exhibit A relates to a set of samples taken 
by Mr.Wevillj Exhibit C relates to samples 
taken by Mr. Mould; Exhibit 65 relates to 
the single mortar sample I have 
above; Exhibit 66 relates to a 
pies taken by Mr. Goodwin; and 
relates to a set of samples taken by arrange-
ment betv/een the parties during the hearing, 

referred to 
set of sam-
Exhibit 73 

the analysis of which was, "by consent 
form part of the evidence in th 
general, Exhibits A and C would 
indicate a standard of concrete 

to 
case. In 

appear to 
and mortar 

mix far below specification, v/hile Exhibits 
65, 66 and 73 would appear to indicate a 
standard substantially in accordance with 
specification. 

In the Supreme 
Court of Kenya 

No. 21 
Judgment . 
6th September 
1957 
continued 

Mr. Mould, it is true, stated that he took 
the samples referred to'in Exhibit C from 
the had places he found, so that the figures 
in Exhibit 0 would not be typical of the 
whole of the work. 

30 

40 

Mr. Wevill, however, stated his samples""were 
taken at random, as were the samples referred 
to in Exhibits 65, 66 and 73* 
Apart from the analysis results, Mr. Wevill 
and Mr. Mould in general condemned the con-
crete and mortar work as seriously sub-stand-
ard, v/hile Mr. McConnel and Mr.Newlyn (both 
of whom gave expert evidence for the Contrac-
tor) did not agree that the mortar and con-
crete appeared unduly v/eak. Mr.Stone's 
evidence was that while he was Clerk of Works 
he was in the habit of making spot checks of 
concrete which had been mixed, and also used 
to watch the 
course, in a 
the whole of 
the evidence 
his time v/as 
this contract 

nixing process. He v/as not, of 
position to watch the mixing'of 
the concrete and mortar used, 
being that about one third of 
devoted to the supervision of 
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However, he'stated that he satisfied himself hy 
field tests, that is, hy testing hy hand or knife, 
that the concrete and mortar appeared to he up to 
specification. He did say that on occasion he 
found the wrong mix being made and rejected it. 
It is not unreasonable to suppose that wrong 
mixes also occurred in his absence, and that these 
did go into the buildings. 

Another factor besides the question of the 
actual proportion of cement to sand and aggregate, 
is whether the mixing was properly carried out 
and whether the concrete or mortar was sometimes 
allowed to set partially before being used. In 
either•of•these cases the strength of concrete 
or mortar, as the case might be, would be seri-
ously affected. There has been evidence of 
labour difficulties owing to the Emergency at the 
time work under the contract was being carx'ied 
out, and of difficulties in supervision of the 
labour, and I consider it probable that bad mix-
ing and use of concrete and mortar which had 
stood too long did occur. 

Finally, when, during the course of the 
hearing the Court visited the site, " St one 
carried out a number of field'tests of the mortar 
in the walls of the buildings, aril he stated sub-
sequently in evidence that on the whole the ex-
ternal mortar which he tested was of very reason-
able quality though in one place he did see 
definitely weak mortar. 

My conclusion from this mass of conflicting 
evidence is that the complaints of weak concrete 
and mortar have been exaggerated, but that a 
proportion of weak concrete and mortar did go 
into the work. This, I consider, is indicated 
by the evidence to have been due to poor or in-
adequate supervision rather than to any deliber-
ate attempt at fraxid on the part of the Contrac-
tor. And it is of course evident that neither 
Mr. Tanner nor Mr. Stone was aware of the fact• 
when a bad or weak mix went into the structure, 
though I am satisfied that concrete and mortar 
as a whole was approved by them. 

Applying these general conclusions to the 
complaint regarding the foundation concrete, I 
find that there was a proportion of this concrete 
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which was not up to specification or was 
"badly mixed and therefore unduly weak, and 
that the Architect and Clerk of Works were 
not aware of the fact that this weak con-
crete had gone into the buildings. 

(d) Next is a complaint that the concrete 
foundations did not conform to drawings in 
respect of width or projection beyond the 
face of the walling built thereon. 

10 The drawings call for an 18 inch con-
crete foundation with a 6 inch projection 
on either side of the wall. Mr. Stone 
stated that • the concrete" was set out 18 
inches wide, but that the width of the wall 
sometimes exceeded 6 inches and so reduced 
the projection. According to Mr. Wevill, 
the projection was irregular - in some 
places more than 6 inches, in others less, 
and Mr. Mould also gave evidence that the 

20 projection was in many cases less than 6 
inches - he said that in many places the 
projection was only one or two inches. On 
this evidence I accept that a consistent 
6 inch projection has not been" maintained 
and that in places the projection is sub-
stantially less than 6 inches. I am sat-
isfied, however, that what was done was 
seen and accepted by Mr. Tanner and Mr. 
St one. 
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30 (e) The next complaint is that the stones 
used in the foundations•were not of regu-
lar shape or square cut, and that some 
soft stone was used. Once again there was 
considerable conflict of evidence as to 
whether the stone used complied with the 
specification requirement (Clause 15) that 
it should be "first quality local stone... 

quarry dressed with all corners square 
and regular". It was clear from the evid-

40 ence that this specification permitted con-
siderable latitude in interpretation. I 
accept that there is a difficulty in re-
conciling the provision that the stone used 
is to be "quarry dressed" with the require-
ment that all corners were to be square and 
regular, and that owing to the Emergency 
the standard of "quarry dressing" had de-
teriorated. I am quite satisfied on the 



574. 

evidence that both Mr. Stone and "Mr .'""Tanner 
were fully aware of the type of stone being 
used and accepted it as being an adequate 
compliance with the Specification. In view 
of the Council's anxiety that the works 
should not be delayed, and the lower stand-
ard of quarry work due to the Emergency, 
their action does not seem unreasonable. 

(f) The next allegation is that the cement 
mortar was not 1:4 mix as specified or not 10 
properly mixed or laid. I have already 
dealt with the subject of mortar, when• I 
dealt with the concrete. 

My finding is that a proportion of the 
cement used was not up to specification or 
was badly mixed or laid, and that this was 
not known to the Architect or Clerk of 
Works. 

(g) The next complaint is that the hoop-
iron reinforcement was not laid as speci- 20 
fied. This is also mentioned in Mr.Wevill's 
report, but the evidence concerning it seem-
ed somewhat indeterminate. There may have 
been some failure to comply strictly with 
specification, though Mr. Stone said hoop-
iron banding was used, but, if so, it does 
not appear that any very material differ-
ence to the building would have resulted. 

(h) Finally, it is complained that the 
buttresses did not conform to drawings. In 30 
Mr. Wevill's report it is stated that the 
buttress foundations in many cases start 
off the concrete floor and do not rest on 
the concrete foundations. I cannot find 
that much evidence was given on this point, 

- though in relation to the kitchen .stack Mr. 
Stone stated that he brought up the' question 
of foundations with Mr. Tanner, who directed 
that the kitchen "breast" should be built on 
the floor. At least I am satisfied that the 40 
Architect and Clerk of Works must have been 
aware of what was done and approved it. 
The next series of complaints concerns the 
floors. 
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(a) It is complained that the excavations 
were not carried down to rock or murrain 
and the "black cotton soil was not all re-
moved. What I have said regarding'"thS 
similar complaint in relation to the found-
ations applies. I am not satisfied that 
it has "been proved that any significant 
amount of black cotton soil was left, nor 
am I satisfied that the excavation was not 
carried down to "rook or murram•suitable 
for foundations". In any event, I am sat-
isfied that the Architect and Clerk of 
Works were fully aware of what was done 
and accepted it as satisfactory. 

(b) The next complaint in regard to the 
floors is that the filling material was 
not according to, and the laying and ramm-
ing was not carried out according to spec-
ification. This complaint gives rise to 

item of damages 
the Council. 

for the largest single 
defects claimed by 

The Specification (Clause 26) pro-
vides that the fill in between walls shall 
be: "Approved hard, dry, broken stones, 
in layers not exceeding 6" up to underside 
of floor slab and ram each layer". It is 
alleged that the filling consisted of 
large boulders up to 2» long or irregular 
shape with considerable voids between; 
that these were not and could not be laid 
in 6 inch layers; that in the absence of 
small filling in the voids these boulders 
could not be adequately rammed;"" ahd"that 
though the specification-did not mention 
the filling of the voids, this was impli-
cit in the requirement that the work be 
done "in a good and workmanlike manner". 

The Court visited the site and saw a 
test hole showing a sample of the filling 
which was stated to be typical. The 
boulders used for filling were undoubtedly 
larger than could go into a 6" layer.' Mr. 
Stone, in reference to this test hole, 
said in evidence that the rock fill was 
similar to what he had seen going into the 
buildings; that the boulders were of con-
siderable size and length, but as regards 
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depth he did not notice anything more than some 
9". He agreed that ramming was difficult with 
hard core of this nature in the absence of small 
filling, but stated that in fact he had seen ramm-
ing done during the course of construction end 
had watched it many times. There obviously was 
no filling between the boulders except in the top 
few inches. There is no specific'requirement for 
such filling in the specification, but it was 
pointed out that in one of the contract drawings 10 
(N0.3183/AH/2/14-) filling between the boulders is 
indicated by a series of dots. 

Mr. Stone stated that the question of 
filling the voids was discussed with Mr. Tanner 
during the construction, and that Mr. Tanner did 
not agree to the filling of the voids because of 
the added expona e. So far as the dots in the 
drawing indication filling of the voids between 
the large stones is concerned the matter would 
appear to fall within Clause 2 (ii) of the Gener- 20 
al Conditions which provides that in the event of 
any discrepancy the engineer shall decide which 
is to be followed. Incidentally, drawing No. 
3185/.AH/2/15 • which deals with the ablution units, 
shows a hara core filling which bears a striking 
resemblance to that seen by the Court. In the 
circumstances, I am not satisfied /hat the absence 
of small filling between the larger boulders is a 
non- compliance with the Specific^ ion or drawings. 
I accept that the hard core filling without such 30 
small material is unlikely to be satisfactory, 
but this appears to have been the provision in 
the Specification and certainly was accepted as 
such by the Architect, Mr. Tanner. 

On Mr. Stone's evidence I am also satisfied 
that ramming of a sort was undertaken but it is 
clear that the ramming would not be very effective 
in the absence of small material. The boulders 
used were 'undoubtedly larger than would go into 
6" layers. Once again there seems to be some dis-' 40 
crepancy between the Specification and the drawing, 
as the boulders shown in the drawing would appear 
to be much larger than 6" in depth, but the 
Specification in this case must I think prevail, 
and therefore there has been a breach of the terms 
of the Specification. However, I am fully satis-
fied that both the Clerk of Y/orks, Mr. Stone, and 
the Architect, Mr. Tanner, saw the hard core fill-
ing that was being put in and approved both the 
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type of stone used and the method of 
laying. 

It is next complained that the con-
crete floor and screed do not conform to 
the drawings in thickness. 

The evidence indicates that there v/as 
some variation in the thickness of the-con-
crete and screed. However, I am"satisfied 
that this v/as not a concealed defect. Mr. 
Stone stated that he checked the floors 
for thickness. He said that he and his 
assistant put down pegs for levels and saw 
that the floors came up to these levels. 
The floor thickness were therefore in 
accord with the directions- given by 
the Clerk of V'orks, Mr. Stone, and were 
clearly approved by him. 

It is further complained that the 
concrete floor v/as not up to 1:3:6 mix as 
specified, or not properly mixed or laid. 

Once again what I have already said 
regarding mortar and concrete applies, and 
I am of the' opinion that a proportion of 
the concrete was either not of the correct 
mix or not properly mixed or laid, and 
that this defect was unknown to the Clerk 
of Works ana Architect. 

The next series of complaints con-
cerns the superstructure walling. 

It is complained that the stones used 
were not of regular shape or square cut, 
and that some soft and porous stone has 
been used. 

I have already dealt v/ith stone used 
for foundations, and my remarks apply to 
the stone used for superstructure walling 
as well. I am satisfied that the stone 
used v/as seen and approved by the Archi-
tect and Clerk of Works. Mr. Stone stated 
that he had discussed the quarry dressed 
stone with Mr. Tanner and that Mr. Tanner 
was satisfied v/ith it. 
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(b) Once again it is complained that the 
cement mortar was not up to specified mix, 
or not properly mixed or laid, and as I 
have already stated, I have"reached"the con-
clusion that the complaint"is justified 
with regard to some proportion of the cement 
mortar, and that this defect was not known 
to the Architect or Clerk of Works. 

(c) It is complained that the hoop-iron 
re-inforcement was not according to Speci-
fication. The Specification (Clause 21) 
required walling to be•reinforced in each 
alternate course with f-" wide hoop iron. 

10 

The evidence indicated that this re-
quirement had not been strictly complied 
with in ail cases though it was difficult 
to reach any conclusion as to the extent to 
which the requirement had not been complied 
with. In any event, it did not appear that 
the non-compliance would make any very 
material difference to the building. 

(d) It is complained that' the dump course 
was in single ply and not 3-ply material 
as specified, and not set in bitumen on a 
screed bed. 

20 

There was conflicting e-Idence as to 
the availability of 3-ply material for the 
damp course. Mr. Stone said that there was 
difficulty in getting the 3-ply and that 
1-ply was used with his approval. He agreed 30 
that in some cases bitumen"was not used but 
said that he was aware of this and did not 
order it to be redone as he regarded the 
cement screed as a more satisfactory damp 
course. He also said that he informed the 
architect, Mr. Tanner, and that Mr. Tanner 
did not disapprove. In the circumstances I 
accept that the Specification was not 
complied with. I am satisfied that Mr.Stone 
and Mr. Tanner were aware of the use of 40 
single ply material and approved it, and in 
some cases accepted the lac.1, of bitumen, 
but it appears probable that there were 
many instances where bitumen was omitted 
without their knowledge. 
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(f) 

30 

(g) 

4-0 

It is complained 
faces of walling were 
a fair face. 

that the internal 
not dressed off to 

There 
divergence 

appe to he considerable 
of opinion as to what consti-

tutes a "fair face". One thing, however 
is perfectly clear, and that is that no-
one who saw these buildings could possi-
bly fail to be aware of the type of wall 
face provided. Buildings were accepted 
with this type of face not only while Mr. 
Tanner was Architect, but also when Mr. 
Mould was Architect. The City Engineer, 
himself, when visiting the site, could 
not fail to have been aware of the type 
of face left on the walling. I am fully 
satisfied that the faces of the"walling 
were accepted as a compliance with' the 
Specification up to the time when the 
last six blocks were ready for final in-
spection . 

The next complaint is that the ex-
ternal faces of walling were not "struck 
jointed" as specified. 

This apparently is correct, but Mr. 
Stone stated that Mr. Tanner expressly 
gave instructions to himself and the Con-
tractor that "flash joints" were to be 
substituted for struck joints, and that 
Mr. Tamer saw the results of his direc-
tion and seemed satisfied. Mr. Mould 
also said that he had raised the matter 
with Mr. Tanner, who stated that he had 
directed what was to be done. I am sat-
isfied that the Architect was aware of 
and accepted what was.done. 

It is further complained that door 
frames were not properly set or fixed. 
Once again there seemed to he some diver-
gence of evidence on this subject. It 
appears to me that the Architect and 
Clerk of Works were aware of what was be-
ing done in general, though in particular 
cases it may be that the door frames were 
badly set without this being noticed- at 
the time. This would seem to be a 
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matter which it should be easy to pick up 
either during inspection of the buildings 
prior to the taking over or during the 
maintenance period. Nevertheless it pro-
bably does constitute a breach of contract 
for which the Contractor is responsible. 

(h) It is stated that chamfered edges 
were not formed at window openings as 
specified. 

It appeared that a slope was given to 10 
window ledges by cement filling instead"of 
by cutting away the stone. It was'ncdrverjr 
clear tc me on the evidence that "chamfer-
ing" necessarily referred to the cutting 
away of the stone as against building up 
the ledge with mortar, but in any case 
what is obvious is that the Architect must 
have bees i fully aware of what was done and 
that he raised no objection, and that Mr. 
Stone stated that he had raised no objec- 20 
tion. 

(i) It is complained that the flues were 
not properly parged. 

This is correct, but it would appear 
that the Architect and the Engineer him-
self were aware of the fact;. Mr. Stone 
has stated that Mr. Roberts, Mr. Mould and 
Mr. Saunders had a meeting on the site and 
a meeting in the Town Hall regarding this. 
I think it must be accepted that the 30 
Engineer was aware of the failure to parge 
when he issued certificates. 

(j) It is said that steps were not set on 
hard core back filling. 

It appeared that the steps 'were set 
on some hard core back filling, but that 
the back filling was not carried down to 
rock. It is certainly not clear'to'me that 
this is required by the Specification. In 
any case, I am satisfied that the Architect 40 
was aware of what was done, and accepted it. 

(k) 1';nnlly, it is complained that the 
boundary walls were not bonded or tied as 
spec:; f ied. 
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Mr. Stone stated that it was decided 
by the Architect at the site that one wall 
should be bonded and one left-free at the 
junction of the next building, and that 
what was done was instructed by himself 
and the Architect. I accept that the Arch-
itect was aware of and accepted the work 
on the boundary walls. 

The next series of complaints relates 
to the reof and joinery. 

* 

(a) It was complained that the robf"tim-
bers were lap jointed and nailed with wire 
nails, the timbers not framed, screwed, or 
halved at joints, and nails used were not 
long enough to go right through for clench-
ing on one face. 

Once again there appeared to be a 
considerable divergence of opinion as to 
the precise meaning of the Specification 
and what would be called for by standards 
of "good workmanship". At the least I am 
satisfied on the evidence that the Archi-
tect and Clerk of Works saw and approved 
the type of work done. 

(b) It is stated that no wall plates 
were provided as shown in the drawings. 

As regards this, Mr. Stone stated 
that this was done on instructions because 
the wall was carried up to the tiles and 
thus displaced the wall plate. 

(c) It is further complained that valleys 
were formed with 6" x 1" boards instead of 
9" x 1" boards, that there were no fillets 
on the upper edges, and that the valleys 
were lined with galvanised sheeting 15" 
in girth instead of 18". 

Mr. Stone stated that he consulted 
the Architect in regard to the valleys 
and that the modifications complained of 
v/ere effected on the definite instructions 
of the Architect. There can be no ques-
tion but that the Architect was aware of 
what was done. 
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(d) It is complained that the door and 
window frames were not fixed with metal 
cramps, that door hinges were not as speci-
fied, and were fixed with screws without 
any b olt s. 

not 
The evidence indicates that there v/as 
a compliance with Specification in that 

screws and not bolts v/e re used, but it is 
also clear on the evidence that the varia-
tions were known to arid accepted by the 
Architect and Clerk of Works. 10 

(e) Finally, it is complainea that the 
doors of the ablution blocks were not hung 
to be self-closing as specified. 

It appeared that types of spring clos-
ing device were used on these doors and 
that as a general rule the doors were not 
set so as to close on their own account. 
This is an apparent failure to comply with 
the specification, but is not a matter 20 
which can be concealed. Both the Architect 
and Clerk of Works must have been aware of 
what was d one. 

Complaints were made regarding the•drains, that 
they wore not laid to adequate falls, that excava-
tion was inadequate, that no hard core back fill 
was put in and that the cement mix was not up to 
1:3:6 as specified, or not properly-mixed or laid. 

The Specification (Clause 67) states that the 
Contractor is to allow for excavating, and provid- 30 
"ing and laying drain blocks to falls as directed 
on a 3" murrain bed. It does not appear that the 
drains, whether effective or otherwise, were not 
in fact laid as directed. The type of drain laid 
must have been obvious to the Clerk of Works and 
Architect. As regards the cement mix"'I-am prepar-
ed to accept that some proportion of this v/as not 
up to Specification. 

There may be some other matters in respect of 
which complaint has been made whi< h I have not 40 
touched on, but these v/ould be of minor importance. 
In any case 1 do not think that they fall into the 
category of•having been accepted by the Architect 
without knovaedge of the defect. 
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The third Issue is as to whether the works 
have been completed "by the Contractor in accord-
ance with the contract. On the principle of 
Dakin v. Lee (1916) 1 K.B. 566, I take this as 
a question whether there has been a substantial 
compliance with the contract or whether the con-
tractor abandoned the contract or the work done 
is such that the result is something entirely 
different from the work which the Contractor 
contracted to do and is useless to the Council. 
In my opinion, the work-in this case has been 
substantially completed, though with some de-
fects, and also with variations from the Speci-
fication which have been either directed or ac-
cepted hy the Engineer, or by the•Architect as 
the Engineer's deputy. There was, I think, 
some suggestion that there might have been a 
refusal on the part of the Contractor to per-
form the contract because when differences 
arose between the Council and the Contractor 
the Contractor left the site, and refused to 
carry out instructions as to repairs or to com-
plete the buildings. However, the repairs in 
issue largely relate to the alleged defects 
with which this case is concerned, and apart 
from that it is clear that the buildings were 
substantially complete apart from some minor 
details (Exhibits 31 and 34). I do"not"con-' 
sider that the Contractor can be said to have 
abandoned the contract. On the principle stat-
ed in Dakin v. Lee, I accept that the Contrac-
tor is entitled to recover the contract price 
less so much as may be found ought to be allow-
ed in respect of items y/hich are defective. 
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On the basis of my findings so far I 
now answer Issues 3, 5, 6 and 7 as follows: 

40 

Issue 2>i I find that the works have been sub-
stantially completed in accordance 
with the contract, with some defects 
in respect of which the Council is 
entitled to a reduction in the amount 
recoverable on the contract. 

Issue 5t I find that the Contractor has -
(a) failed to maintain the specified mix 

for mortar and concrete in a pro-
portion of the mortar and concrete 
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used, or that the mix was riot properly 
mixed,or laid, the result in either 
case being defective mortar and concrete 

(b) failed in certain other comparatively 
minor details to comply strictly with 
specification e.g. hoop-iron re-inforce-
ment; bitumen damp course*, fixing of 
door-frames; 

(c) .failed to comply strictly with a number 
of other specifications as detailed 
earlier in this judgment but that in 
each of these cases the variations were 
either expressly directed by or else 
known to and accepted by the Architect 
or Clerk of Works acting for the 
Engiaeer. 

Issue 6i I find that the acceptance of work by 
the Engineer or Architect on his behalf 
with express knowledge of variations 
from the terms of the Specification and 
the issue of certificates in respect of 
such work amounts to a waiver by the 
Engineer as agent of the Council of any 
breach of contract that might be con-

. stituted by such variations. 
Issue 7: Does not arise. 
It xs convenient now to consider Issues 1, 2 and 
4. 

As I have already mentioned, the contract 
provided that interim certificates were to be 
issued in respect of 90$ of the value of the work 
properly executed, and that when "the work had 
been satisfactorily completed and taken over by 
the Council, the Contractor should be entitled to 
a certificate for 95$ of the value of. the work so 
executed. And that the remaining 5$ should be-
come payable on the expiration of the 6 months 
period of maintenance. 

Clause 14 of the Specification provides that 
the "period of maintenance of any dwelling"and/or 
ablution blocks shall be six months after the 
date of completion of the block as certified by 
the City Engineer under Clause 7 of the General 
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Conditions"; and Clause 7 of the General Condi-
tions provides that when the works have heen com-
pletely executed according to the provisions of 
the contract and to the satisfaction of the Engin-
eer, the date of such completion shall be certi-
fied by him and such date shall be the date 
commencement of the period of maintenance. 

of 

Certificates for payment for 95$ of" the 
value of the work were issued in respect"6f" the 

10 11 blocks of buildings which were taken over by 
the Council, and letters of acceptance were 
issued in respect of these blocks giving the 
dates of acceptance in each case of the units 
accepted. It is clearly contemplated in Clause 
14 of the Specification that there should he 
separate maintenance periods in respect of each 
block. So far as I am aware no certificate pur-
porting in terms to be a certificate under Clause 
7 of the General Conditions has been issued. 
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20 It was argued by Mr. Schermbrucker for the 
Council that the issue of a certificate of com-
pletion was a condition precedent to payment, 
and that payment of the 5$ remaining could not • 
become due till the certificate had been issued, 
and that the Contractor's claim was therefore 
premature. On the contract I accept that a cer-
tificate of completion is a condition precedent 
to the payment of the 5$ balance of the contract 
price. However, Mr. O'Donovan for the Contrac-

30 tor has argued that the letters of acceptance 
written by the City Engineer must operate as 
certificates of completion and cause the main-
tenance period to commence; and this appears 
to have been the view taken by the City Engineer 
himself since, on 19th August, 1955, we find him 
writing to the Contractor in the following terms:-

" Some of your blocks are now due"for 
maintenance repairs under the conditions of 
the contract. Do you wish to carry out 

40 this work as each block falls due, or to 
deal with the whole of the contract at a 
later date". (Exhibit 43). 

The blocks could only be due for maintenance re-
pairs if the maintenance period had commenced, 
and the letter certainly seems to indicate that 
the City Engineer was treating the letters of 
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acceptance as certificates of completion. In the 
circumstances I think I must accept that the 
letters of acceptance were intended to and did 
operate as certificates of completion. I there-
fore find that the maintenance period in respect 
of each of the 11 blocks accepted commenced on 
the date certified as the date of acceptance. So 
far as these blocks are concerned, therefore, the 
Contractor's claim is not premature. 

/ / ~ ~ — . -

A further point arose, namely, that Mr,Mould 10 
stated that as a result of the letter - Exhibit 
43 - the Contractor intimated that "he'd like the 
maintenance period to be six months from the tak-
ing over of the last block". This is not quite 
the question that is asked in Exhibit 43, which 
is whether the Contractor would wish to carry 
out the maintenance work on the whole contract at 
once or on each block as it fell due - not whether 
the liability period of 6 months from completion 
should, in effect,be extended. In the absence of 20 
the written reply to Exhibit 43 - which appears 
to have been lost, if it ever existed - I consider 
that whatever arrangement was reached in this 
matter - and Mr. 0'Donovan for the Contractor 
accepts that an arrangement was arrived at - it 
must have been in terms of the letter, Exhibit 43 -
that is, that it was an agreement that the main-
tenance work on the contract as a whole should be 
carried out at the end of 6 months from the date 
of acceptance of the last block accepted, not that 30 
there was an agreement to extend or vary the 
liability period. 

As regards the six blocks which have not been 
accepted, certificates for payment of 90$ of the 
work completed have been issued, but not the cer-
tificates for payment of 95$. As I have said, I 
accept that the issue of certificates is a con-
dition precedent to payment, and here"both the' 
certificate for 95$ and the certificate'of com-
pletion (or letter of acceptance operating as a 40 
certificate of completion)"are lacking. Mr. 
0'Donovan, for the Contractor, did argue, if I 
understood him correctly, that by virtue of Clause 
1 of the General Conditions acceptance by the 
Clerk of Works was equivalent to acceptance by 
the City Engineer, and that therefore the two 
notes (Exhibits 31 ana 34) from the Clerk of Works 
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(Mr.Goodwin) stating that the blocks in question 
(Nos.30,37,38,38A,38B and 39) have been complet-
ed, repairs carried out and are ready for handing 
over, are binding on the Council. I cannot 
accept this argument as I do not consider that 
the Clerk of Works had any authority to accept 
the buildings, nor can the two notes possibly 
operate as certificates. 

Mr. 0'Donovan, however, argues that the 
Contractor is entitled to payment in respect of 
these six blocks on the basis either -

(a) that if action was rightly taken hy 
the Council under Clause 23 of the 
General Conditions, then cause of 
action arose by virtue of Clause 23 
(iv) 

or 
(b) if action was wrongly taken by the 

Council under Clause 23, then such 
action constituted a breach of con-
tract, on which the Contractor was 
entitled to sue 
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The position as regards these blocks ap-
pears to he as follows s-

When the blocks were stated by the Contrac-
tor to be complete they were inspected and lists 
of defects to be made good were supplied to the 
Contractor - v. Exhibits 32 and 33. The Con-
tractor made good these defects to the satisfac-

30 tion of the Clerk of Works (Mr.Goodwin) who so 
informed both the Architect and the Contractor 
- v. Exhibits 31 and 34, dated respectively 9th' 
June, 1955, and 25th July, 1955. On"2nS"August, 
the Contractor wrote to the City Engineer 'ask-
ing for a completion certificate (Exhibit 37). 
In reply he was informed by letter dated 4th 
August that a further inspection would be held 
on the following day, 5th August (Exhibit 3 8 ) . 
The subsequent course of negotiations appears 

4-0 to have been largely verbal (v. Exhibit 4-6), but 
it appeared that the Engineer refused to accept 
the blocks principally on the basis that the 
mortar and concrete were unsatisfactory (v. 
Exhibit 48.) In the final paragraph of that 
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letter (Exhibit 48) the Contractor v/as asked for 
a final ansv/er by 19th October as to his willing-
ness or otherwise to undertake the work necessary 
to put the contract in order. I cannot find any 
very satisfactory evidence as to v/hat the Con-
tractor was actually required to do. The corres-
pondence does not give details, hut Mr. Mould 
stated that after a discussion v/ith the Mayor at 
the Town Hall there was a further visit to the 
site and the work required to be done was pointed 10 
out to the Contractor. He continued that there 
was partial agreement with the Contractor; that 
the Contractor was willing to do some of the work 
the Engineer required; that the general require-
ments v/ere that the Contractor should rake out 
the defective mortar and replace it v/ith mortar 
to specification standard; and that this related 
to all blocks 25 to 39. Bag-wiping and craoks in 
the floor screed v/ere also apparently mentioned. 
The Contractor, who apparently had left the site 20 
prior to this, did not in fact carry out any 
further work, and after some further correspond-
ence he v/as informed by letter dated 29th October, 
1955, from the City Engineer that "In view of 
the fact that I have not received your decision I 
must inform ycu that it is my intention to take 
such action as may be necessary in accordance 
v/ith the terms of the contract". ' Pre siMably" this 
referred to action under Clause 23 of the General 
Conditions, as Mr. Mould stated that Clause 23 30 
was invoked. 

Under Clause 9(i) of the General Conditions 
it is provided that "The Engineer shall at all 
times have pov/er to order ......... the proper 
re-execution of any work executed v/ith materials 
or workmanship not in accordance v/ith Specifica-
tion 

Clause 9(iii) and 9(iv) read as follows -
"9 (iii) If the Contractor shall fail to carry 

out any such order, as by the preced-
ing sub-clauses provided within such 
reasonable time as may be specified 
in the order, the materials or work 
so affected may, at the option of the 
Engineer, be made good by him in such 
manner as he may think fit, in which-
case the cost thereby incurred shall, 

40 
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upon the-written Certificate of the 
Engineer, he recoverable by the City 
Council as a liquidated demand in 
money. 

9 (iv) If any defect be such that, in the 
opinion of the Engineer, it shall be 
impracticable or inconvenient to 
remedy the same, he shall ascertain 
the diminution in the value of the 

10 works due to the existence of such 
defect and deduct the amount of such 
diminution from the sum remaining to 
be paid to the Contractor, or fail-
ing such remainder, it shall be re-
coverable as a liquidated demand in 
m i: noney 

Clauses 23(i) and 23(ii) read as follows -
23(i) In case at any time during the pro-

gress of the woiks 
20 (a) Any unnecessary delay shall"occur in 

the carrying out of the same through 
some default of the Contractor, or 

(h) the Contractor shall not carry out 
the said works to the satisfaction 
of the Engineer, or 

(c) the Contractor shall fail to comply 
with the•directions given by the 
Engineer, or 

(d) the Contractor shall at any time 
30 neglect or omit to pull down or re-

move any work or material which the 
Engineer shall have certified in 
writing to be defective or not ac-
cording to the Contract then, and in 
any such case, the Engineer shall 
give written notice to the Contrac-
tor to proceed- with the said works 
or to remedy such default or defect 
to the satisfaction of the Engineer. 
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40 (ii) If the Contractor shall -
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(a) fail to comply with the instructions 
given in such written notice to the 
satisfaction of the Engineer, within 
six days after such notice shall have 
been given, or 

(b) assign or sub-let the Contract or any 
part thereof without permission in 
writing from the Engineer, or 

(c) become bankrupt or insolvent or shall 
compound with or make any assignment 
for the benefit of his creditors. 

then, and in any such case, the Engineer 
shall be•at liberty, without avoiding the 
Contract, to take the said Works wholly 
or partially out of the hands of the 
Contractor " 

As I have found, defective mortar-and con-
crete was to be found in-the buildings, and as 
this was a latent - defect, the Engineer according-
ly, in my opinion, was entitled under Clause 9(i) 
to call upon the Contractor to re-execute the 
defective work in the blocks which had not been 
taken over, and in the event of failure to comply 
would apparently be entitled to take action under 
either Clause 9 or Clause 23 of the General 
Conditions. 

10 

20 

From Mr. Mould's evidence no distinction 
appears to have been made between the blocks 
which had been accepted and those which had not. 
The Contractor's liability in respect of the 30 
blocks which had been taken ever would; Under 
Clause 9 (ii) of the General Conditions be limited 
to "any defect which may appear, either of mater-
ial or workmanship, during the period of mainten-
ance provided by the Contract".- I will deal with 
this aspect of the matter later, but in view of 
the arrangement that the maintenance work should 
be done in respect of the whole contract at one 
time, the request to the Contractor to replace 
defective mortar in the accepted blocks forthwith . 4-0 
would appear not to have been in order. 

As regards the 6 blocks which were not ac-
cepted, Mr. Mould stated, as I have already men-• 
tioned, that Clause 23 of the General Conditions, 
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was invoked. The Engineer, however, does not 
appear to have complied with Clause 23. The 
applicable provision of Clause 23 would appear 
to be paragraph (i) (d) which is set out above, 
and requires the defective work to be certified 
in writing by the Engineer. I cannot find that 
the Engineer or Architect at this time certified 
in writing that any particular work was defec-
tive. It appears to me that in default of such 
a written certificate specifying the work or 
material alleged to be defective, resort to 
Clause 23 of the General Conditions and taking 
over of the Works amounts to a breach of con-
tract, giving rise to a cause of action, as 
argued by Mr. 0'Donovan and I so hold. 
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It follows that the action is not premature 
in respect of these 6 blocks, notwithstanding 
the absence of certificates. 

The answer I find to Issue No.l is accord-
20 ingly in the negative. 

As to the second Issue, this, as I under-
stand it, only concerns the first two blocks 
taken over. By virtue of section 129 of the 
Municipalities Ordinance (Cap.136) a suit 
against the Council must "be commenced within 6 
months from the date when the cause of action 
arose. The cause of action in respect of a 
block which has been accepted would normally 
arise at the expiration of the 6 month mainten-

30 ance period. In the case of the first"two* 
blocks accepted this was more than 6 months be-
fore the Contractor's suit was filed. 

I have already dealt with the special 
arrangement made for the carrying out of work 
found to be necessary during the maintenance 
period, and have found that an agreement was 
reached that such work was to be carried out at 
the expiration of the maintenance period in re-
spect of the last block accepted. Mr. 0'Donovan 

40 argued, I think correctly, that in the circum-
stances the right to payment would not arise 
until the maintenance work was in fact done. 

I therefore find that the answer to the 
second Issue is also in the negative. 
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As regards the fourth Issue, the reference 
to a "final" certificate is misleading". "The 
"final" certificate could be either the certifi-
cate for payment of 95$ or the certificate of 
completion. As I have already said, both these 
are lacking in respect of the 6 blocks which the 
Council have not accepted, but I have found that 
there has been a breach of contract by the 
Council in respect of these six blocks, and that 
therefore the Contractor has a right of action 10 
in respect of them. 

The answer to this Issue in relation to the 
blocks which have not been accepted is according-
ly in the affirmative. 

I come now to the eighth Issue, namely 
whether the Council is entitled to any damages 
in respect of breaches of contract by the Con-
tractor. On the findings I have made, the 
breaches of contract' in respect of which damages 
could accrue to the Council are as follows - 20 

(a) defective concrete in 
(i) f oundat i ons; 
(ii) floors; 
(iii) walls; 

(b) defective mortar in 
(i) foundations; 

(ii) walls; 
(c) hoop-iron banding not in accord with 

specification; 
(a) damp-course proofing not in accord 30 

with specification; 
(e) defective door frames. 

The rights of the Council in respect of these 
defects must, I think, be considered separately 
in relation to the 11 blocks accepted and the 6 
blocks which have not been accepted. 

As-regards the 11 blocks .accepted by the 
Council, the responsibility of the Contractor 
under the contract documents appears to be limited 
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under Clause 9(ii) of the General Conditions 
which reads -

"9(ii) Any defect which may appear, 
either of material or of workman-
ship, during the period of main-' 
tenance provided hy the Contract, 
shall he made good hy the Con-
tractor at his own expense, as 
and when directed". 

10 It appears to me that certificates of completion 
(and I have held that letters of acceptance 
operate as certificates of completion) must he 
conclusive subject to Clause 9(ii). The provi-
sion in Clause 16 that certificates are not to 
be considered conclusive applies only to certi-
ficates for payments. As I have held also, a 
certificate of completion is a condition prece-
dent to payment of the final amount due under 
the contract. The Arbitration Clause (Clause 26 

20 of the General Conditions) excludes from arbi-
tration matters "left to the decision or deter-
mination of the Engineer". Clause 7fiv)"ofthe 
General Conditions requires the completion date 
to he certified "when the works have heen com-
pletely executed according to the provisions of 
the contract and to the satisfaction of the 
Engineer". 

It could be argued that the works are not 
executed according to the provisions of the 

30 contract if there are defects, but I do not 
think thi s is the intended meaning of the clause. 
It is obviously contemplated in Clause 9(ii) 
that defects will appear after the date of com-
pletion has been certified. I think the con-
struction to be put on Clause 7(iv) is that it 
means when the works - that is, by virtue of 
Clause l(iv) of the General Conditions and 
Clause 14 of the Specification, when a block -
has been completed and defects remedied to the 

40 point when it is ready to be handed over; that 
is, when there has been substantial completion 
within the rule in Dakin vs. Lee. It would 
be otherwise if it were found that there had 
been no substantial completion or that the con-
tract had been abandoned. 

In the Supreme. 
Court of Kenya 

No. 21 
Judgment 
6th September 
1957 
continued 

Once the maintenance period has commenced, 
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the liability of the Contractor is limited by-
Clause 9(ii) to such defects as may appear within 
the six months maintenance period. This cannot 
include "defects" which were known to and accepted 
by the Engineer (or Architect on his behalf) dur-
ing the course of construction. And I do not 
consider the Contractor is liable under the con-
tract for defects which may be discovered after 
the maintenance neriod has expired (Marsden IJ.D.C. 
v. Sharp and Another, 47 T.L.E. 549). 

The dates on which the different blocks were 
accepted were as follows -

Blocks 28 and 29 ... 
Blocks 25 and 27 ... 
Block 26 ... ... 
Block 35 ... ... 
Block 36 •'...• • ... 
Blocks 31, 32, 33 
and 34 ... ... 

18th December, 1954 
28th March, 1955. 
29th March; 1955. 
16th April7D95 
10th May, 1955. 

7 • 

10 

28th June, 1955. 
On the basis that defects of mortar and other 
items were discovered at the inspection held in 
August, 1955 (Mr. Mould's evidence) the Contrac-
tor should be liable to make good the defects 
found in all but Blocks 28 and 29, or suffer 
diminution of the contract price (Clause 9(iii) 
and 9(iv) of the General Conditions). 

It does not appear that defects of concrete 
or of mortar in the foundations were discovered 
within the maintenance period as"Mr. Mould stated 
that it was not till March, 1956, that he had an 
idea of the defects concerning the•foundations. 
As regards the mortar in the walls, again on Mr. 
Mould's evidence, it would appear that raking 
out and replacement of defective mortar was con-
sidered to be the appropriate remedy. However, 
unfortunately, I can find no evidence as to the 
extent of the defects, either as regards mortar 
or otherwise, discovered within the maintenance 
period on which I am able to assess a figure for 
defects. As the burden of proof is on the Council 
to establish its claim for damages for defects, 
although I am satisfied that the Contractor ought 
to suffer some diminution of his claim in respect 
of these 11 blocks by reason-of defects, arid " 
especially defects of mortar, discovered within 
the maintenance period, I am reluctantly obliged 

20 

30 

40 
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to find that the extent of the defects has not 
been established sufficiently to enable me to 
assess a figure for damages. I appreciate the 
difficulties of the Council in the matter, but 
without the necessary evidence I cannot make a 
finding as to the amount of damages. 

As regards the six blocks which v/ere not 
taken over, I think the position is somewhat 
easier. In regard to these blocks, there should, 
no doubt, have been a certificate by the~En'gin-
eer under Clause 9(iii) or (iv) or Clausd 23(iv) 
of the General Conditions. Nevertheless, I con-
sider the Council is entitled to deduct from the 
contract monies such sum as it may he establish-
ed represents the amount required to bring those 
blocks up to specification, or alternatively the 
diminution in value of the blocks, in so far as 
latent defects are concerned. It is difficult 
to make an assessment, since in general the 
evidence as to cost of repairs v/as not broken 
down to relate in particular to the six blocks 
or to the had concrete and mortar. However, on 
the basis of Mr. Wevill's report I think I can 
attempt some assessment. I v/ill take the items 
in the order set out in his report. 

I. Foundations. 
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This estimate appears to relate to had 
concrete and mortar in the 17 blocks. 
I therefore propose to take 6/l7ths of 
the sum assessed. If my arithmetic is 
correct, this results in a figure of 
shs.13,764 to the nearest shilling. 

II. Floors 
This estimate does not relate solely 
to faulty concrete, and I find it 
impossible to reach any estimate as to 
the figure attributable to faulty con-
crete . 

40 
III. Superstructure Walling. 

Item (a) appears attributable to 
faulty mortar and I accordingly take 
a figure of 6/l7ths of the sum assess-
ed, which I make Shs. 6,564. 
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Item (b) includes refixing of door frames, 
but I am unable to separate the value 
attributable to this item from the rest 
of the item. 
Item (o) - I do not think the whole of 
this item is properly allowable, but it 
is a very minor one in any case.' I 
will allow 6/l7ths of shs. 500/-, which 
I make shs. 174-/-

The other items under the remaining Heads in Mr. 
Wevill's report are not, on the basis of my find-
ings, recoverable. As regards repair work 
alleged to have been carried out by the Council, 
I have no proper evidence as to this nor anything 
to indicate how much of it was done on the 6 
blocks in question. The figure should have been 
certified under either Clause 9 or Clause 23 of 
the General Conditions. In the absence of a 
certificate or satisfactory evidence, I cannot 
assess any figure in respect.of this item. 

10 

20 

Nor on the evidence before me do I feel able 
to allow anything in respect of loss of rent or 
excessive maintenance. The relevant evidence was 
given on the basis of the whole of the Council's 
case relating to alleged defects being established. 
I have not found the Council's case established in 
respect of the bulk of the alleged defects, and 
on the evidence I find it impossible to assess 
anything in respect of loss of rent or excessive 
maintenance attributable to the defects which I 30 
have found to be established. 

As regards the Council's claim for cost of a 
detailed survey and report, it appears, to me that 
part of this claim may properly be allowed in 
view of my findings. Assessment of an appropri-
ate, proportion is difficult, but I oropose to 
allow a sum of shs. 2000/-. 

In the result, therefore, I find that the 
answer to the eighth Issue is that the Council is 
entitled to shs.22,502 damages in respect of 40 
defective work. 

I now come to Issues 9 and 10 which relate 
to the Contractor's claim for extras. The extras 



597. 

10 

20 

claimed were not set out in the Contractor's 
pleadings, but in view of the issues framed and 
the evidence given I propose to make a finding 
in respect of them. The details of the extras 
claimed appear in Exhibit 10. In general, as I 
have already found, I do not consider the Con-
tractor is entitled to recover for extras not 
ordered in writing. I will, therefore, only 
deal with those either covered by written orders 
or which I consider constitute exceptions to the 
general rule 

(a) Items (i), (ii) and (iii) in Exhibit 
10 which relate to depth of excavation 
as follows 

(i) Stone masonry in founda-
tion 16,969 sq.ft. @ 
l/50 per sq.ft. 

(ii) Extra excavation of 
blacl: cotton soil. 
27,345 cubic feet @ 
shs. -/20 per cubic ft. 

(iii) Extra filling under 
floor 27,345 cubic ft. 
@ shs.-/25 per cubic ft. 

shs.25,453/-

shs. 5,469/-

shs. 6,836/-
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shs.37,758/-

The Specification (Clause 23) provided that the 
Contractor was to allow in his tender for the 
excavations and footings being carried down to 
a depth to allow four courses of stone work be-

30 tween top of foundation concrete to underside 
concrete floor slab, and that any greater or 
less depth of foundation work found to be neces-
sary should form the subject of Variation Orders. 

I consider that this provision constituted 
an obligation on the Engineer to issue Variation 
Orders if in fact the excavation was carried 
deeper than four courses; and, in fact, this 
appears to have been accepted as the position 
by the Engineer who, in the 5th paragraph' 5f" 

40 his letter of 22nd January 1955, to the 
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contractor, states : 
"The Clerk of Works has been instructed to take 
measurements of the foundation depths and agree 
them with you. Variation orders:will be issued' 
as soon as this is done." This, in my opinion, 
is clearly an undertaking to pay for additional 
depth of excavations. I do not think that the 
figures in the claim relating to extra excavation 
are in dispute, and I am of the opinion that the 
contractor is entitled to recover for these items. 

(8) Items (iv), (v) and (vi), as follows:-
(iv) Providing and fixing 

flashing to 2-flue 
stacks - 188 @ 
shs. 142/- each shs.26,696/-

(v) Providing and fixing 
flashing to 1-flue 
stacks - 32 © 
shs. 120/- each shs. 3,840/-

(vi) Providing and fixing 
flashing to 1-flue and 
stacks - 24 ® shs.75/- shs. 1,800/-

shs.32,336/-

These items are covered in variation orders 
3739 and 3740 (Exhibits 18 and 19), and in my 
opinion the contractor is entitled to recover the 
sums claimed. 

(c) Item (x) 
(x) Murrain path to 

Block 29 shs. 366/-
It appeared that this murrain 
path was constructed on ' 
instructions given by the 
Architect when the rooms in 
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these blocks were re- In the Supreme 
quired for occupation Court of Kenya 
by some missionaries. 
This work appears to „ 
be entirely outside 
the contract, and I Judgment 
consider the contrac- X , cL,//.^,^ 
tor is entitled to 6th September 
payment for it. continued 

10 Item (xii) i -

(xii) Children's latrines 
3 @ 40/- each shs. 120/-
This is covered by 
variation order 3741 
(Exhibit 20) and the 
Contractor is entitled 
t o payment. 

(e) Item (xvi) :-

(xvi) Extra for repairing 
20 wall damaged by 

lorry shs. 270/-
This item again appears 
to be work outside the 
contract and I consider 
the contractor is en-
titled to recover. 

The total of these extras in respect:of 
which I consider the contractor's claim is 
justified is : shs. 70,850/-

30 In the result, I find the Contractor has 
established his claim to the extent of 

(a) shs. 140,018 in respect of the 
balance of the contract price; 

(b) shs. 50,000 in respect of the 
deposit for security; 
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(c) shs. 70,850 in respect of extras 
Against this I find that the Council is 

entitled to shs. 22,502 damages in respect of 
defective work. 

I accordingly give judgment for the Plain-
tiff (i.e. the Contractor) in Suit No: 170 of 
1956 in the sum of shs. 260,868/- and costs. In 
Suit No: 1314 of 1956 I give judgment for the 
Plaintiff (i.e. the Council) in the sum shs. 
22,502/- v/ith costs to he assessed as if the 
claim had been for the amount of the sum awarded. 

For the purpose of assessment of the costs 
of the hearing attributable to each suit," I 
direct that one eighth of the costs of the hear-
ing shall be deemed to be attributable to Suit 
No: 1314/56. 

10 

DATED at NAIROBI the 6th day of September, 1957 

Sgd/- A. G. Forbes 
PUISNE JUDGE 

Costs for two Counsel certified. 20 

By consent the fees allowed for qualified experts 
to he £10. 10. 0. per day. 

Sgd/- A. G. Forbes, J. 
6.9.57. 

Stay of execution for 14 days granted. If notice 
of appeal filed within that time an application 
for any further stay will be considered on 
merits. 

Sgd/- A. G, Forbes, J. 
6.9.57. 30 
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No. 22 
D E C R E E 

IN HER MAJESTY'S SUPREME COURT OF KENYA AT NAIROBI 
CIVIL CASES NOS.170/56 & 1314/56. 

ATA UL HAQ versus NAIROBI CITY COUNCIL 
. and 

NAIROBI CITY COUNCIL versus ATA UL HAQ 

D E C R E E 
Before the Honourable Mr. Justice Forbes 
These Suits having been consolidated and 

coming for hearing'on the 4th, 5th, 8th, 9th days 
of April 1957,' lst, • 2nd, ' 3rd, 6th,•7th days of'May 
1957, 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th, 5th, 8th, 9th and 10th 
days of July 1957, and for Judgment on the 6th 
day of September 1957, in the presence of Counsel 
for Plaintiff and Counsel for Defendant: 

IT IS ORDERED: 
(1) That the Defendant, City Council of 'Nairobi, 

do pay to the Plaintiff, Ata U1 Haq, inCivil 
Case No. 170 of 1956, the sum of Shillings. 
260,868/- together with taxed costs of the 
said Civil Suit; 

(2) That the Defendant, Ata U1 Haq, do pay to the 
Plaintiff, City Council of Nairobi, in Civil 
Case No. 1314 of 1956, the sum of Shillings. 
22,502/- together.with taxed costs on that 
amount, and 

(3) Por the purpose of assessment of costs of the 
hearing attributable to each Suit, that one-
eighth of the costs of hearing shall be deemed 
to be attributable to Suit No.1314 of 1956. 
GIVEN under my hand and the Seal of the Court 

at Nairobi, this 6th day of September, 1957. 
ISSUED the 14th day of November, 1957. 

(Sgd) J. CHAMBERS 
SEAL. DEPUTY REGISTRAR. 

SUPREME COURT OF KENYA. 

In the 
Supreme Court 
of Kenya 

No. 22 
Decree, 
6th September 
1957. 
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No.23 . 
Proceedings, 
Stay of 
Execution, 
2nd, 9th, 16th 
and 24th 
October 1957. 

No.23 
PROCEEDINGS, STAY OP EXECUTION 

2.10.57 
Gockar. 
Br istow. 
By Consent stand-over 9.10.57. 
, . G.B. Rudd. 
9.10.57 
Mackie Robertson for Applicant. 
Cockar for Respondent. 
Mackie-Robertson: Applies for stay of execution 
pending appeal. 
Affidavit of Riseborough. Trial Judge gave stay 
of 14 days and said that if appeal filed applica-
tion for further stay could be made. Affidavit 
in reply in which Respondent says he has property 
worth Shs.525,000/-. Not alleging Abdul Haq 
insolvent. His property not quickly realisable. 
If need be money will be brought into Court. 
Would offer interest at 8$ from date of filing if 
appeal suocessful. 
Cockar asks for adjournment to 16.10.57 to take 
instructions on that offer. 

G.B. Rudd, 
16.10.57 
Mackie-Robertson. 
Cockar. 

no adjournment By consent stand-over 24.10.57 
fees. 

24.10.57 
Mackie-Robertson. 
Cockar. 

G.B. Rudd. 

Stay of execution pending appeal 
the Principal Amount 

Order by consent, 
on terms that (l) interest on 
decreed shall be at 8$ until date of payment and it 
must be date of institution of suit of course. 
(2) The nett costs to he paid on taxation. Costs 
of application to Decree holder. 
24th October, 1957- t. B. Rudd, J. 
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No. 24 
MEMORANDUM OF APPEAL 

IN HER MAJESTY'S COURT OF APPEAL FOR EASTERN AFRICA 
AT NAIROBI 

CIVIL APPEAL NO. 83 OF 1957 
CITY COUNCIL OF NAIROBI .. .. APPELLANT versus 
ATA UL HAQ RESPONDENT 
(Appeal from a Judgment and Decree of the Supreme 
Court of Kenya at Nairobi (Mr. Justice Forbes) 
dated the 6th day of September, 1957, 

in 
Civil Case No.170 of 1956, 

between 
Ata Ul Haq 

and 
City Council of Nairobi 

and 

Plaintiff 

Defendant 

Civil Case No.1314 of 1956, 
between 

City Council of Nairobi Plaintiff 
and 

Ata Ul Haq Defendant 
(Consolidated) 

In the Court 
of Appeal for 
Eastern Africa 

No. 24 
Memorandum of 
Appeal, 
16th November 
1957. 

MEMORANDUM OF APPEAL 
City Council of Nairobi, the Appellant above-

named, appeals to Her Majesty's Court of Appeal 
for Eastern Africa against the whole of the deci-
sion above-mentioned on the following grounds, 

30 namely 
GROUNDS OF APPEAL 

1. The learned Judge erred in finding as he did 
in the result of his deliberations concerning the 
11 blocks handed over that the Respondent could 
omit work included in the Contract or do work of 
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1957 -
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less quality than that specified in the Contract 
and yet recover the full Contract price; and in 
failing to make adequate diminution of the Contract 
price for any departure from the Specification or 
an award of damages for breach of Contract. 
2. The learned Judge erred in failing to recog-
nise that an agreement on the part of the Appellant 
Council to accept a lower standard of work at the 
same price could only he inferred if at all in the 
most' exceptional circumstances which did not exist 
here, nor was there any consideration for such an 
agreement. 
3. The learned Judge erred in finding that the 
Appellant could not claim damages in respect of 
defeots of which the Architect and Clerk of Works 
were aware. 

10 

4. The learned Judge erred in equating the 
Engineer with the Appellant for all purposes and 
in failing to find that although the Engineer was 
the agent of the Appellant for many purposes, he 
was not acting as such agent in expressing satis-
faction or dis-satisfaction with the work. 

20 

5. The learned Judge erred in finding that 
because the Architect, who was authorised to 
represent the Engineer in practice, gave oral 
directions (which he was not authorised to do) the 
Council held the Engineer out as an agent having 
authority to waive the contractual requirement 
that variations should be ordered in writing and 
that the acceptance of work by the Engineer with 30 
knowledge of variations from specification anoun-
ted to a waiver by the Appellant. 
6. Whatever the position of the Engineer, the 
learned Judge erred in failing to distinguish this 
case from that of Bateman v. Thompson quoted by 
him, and in failing to find that the Contract in 
this Case (Clause 2 of the General Conditions) 
required the work to be done in a good and workman-
like manner and (Clause 3 of the General Condi-
tions) that the works should be executed under the 40 
direction of and to the entire satisfaction of the 
Engineer, and that the latter provision amounted 
to a superadded protection to the Appellant. 
7. The learned Judge erred in failing to find 
that even if the Engineer, expressed his satis-
faction with part of the works and the Appellant 
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occupied that part, the right to sue for breach 
of Clause 2 of the Contract remained with the 
Appellant in respect of the whole of the works. 
8. Even if the Engineer had power to sanction 
departures from specifieation otherwise than in 
writing (which is denied) the learned Judge erred 
in failing to adjust the Contract sum to take 
account of such variations. 

9. The learned Judge erred in finding that 
10 there could be no claim for defects discovered 

after the 6 months maintenance period in any of 
the 11 blocks handed over, and in finding that the 
completion certificate issued under Clause 7 of 
the Contract was conclusive subject to Clause 9(ii) 
and in failing to find that such certificate was a 
certificate for payment and as such not conclusive 
hy virtue of paragraph 16 of the Specification, 
and in wrongly applying the decision in Marsden 
U.D.0. v. Sharp, 

20 10. Having found that there was defective work 
and that some pecuniary loss was suffered by the 
Appellant, the learned Judge erred in failing to 
award damages to the Appellant. 

11. The learned Judge erred in holding that the 
Appellant was in breach of contract in acting 
under Clause 23 of the General Conditions and in 
failing to hold that the Council was justified in 
acting under the said Clause and that no special 
formality was required and further, if the learned 

30 Judge was right in holding that the Appellant was 
in breach of Contract in acting under Clause 23, 
he erred in awarding the balance of the whole 
Contract sum without regard to the cost of the 
work which the Respondent had not done. 

12. Having held that a certificate of completion 
was a condition precedent to final payment, the 
learned Judge erred in holding that the Respondent 
was entitled to full payment on the last six blocks 
in the absence of such certificates. 

In the Court 
of Appeal for 
Eastern Africa 

No. 24 
Memorandum of 
Appeal,• 
16th November 
1957 -
continued. 

40 13. The learned Judge erred in his application 
of the principle of Dakin v. ^ee in failing to 
find that the express provisions of the Contract 
with regard to release of retention money excluded 
the application of that principle and in failing 
to find that the Respondent was not in any event 
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entitled to the last five per centum of the Con-
tract price for any of the "blocks or to a refund 
of the deposit, particularly as he had clearly 
found that the works had not "been completed to 
Contract. 
14. For reasons to "be urged under Ground of Appeal 
No.3 above, the learned Judge erred in failing 
to allow to the Appellant damages or diminution 
of the Contract price in respect of all the defects 
found by him as fact whether in the 11 blocks 10 
completed or in the 6 blocks uncompleted. 
15. The learned Judge erred in finding that the 
Appellant was only entitled to damages in respect 
of defects discovered within the maintenance 
period and in not allowing any damages or diminu-
tion of the Contract price in respect of the 
defective concrete mortar and other defects found 
as fact by the learned'Judge in the 11 blocks 
which had been taken over. 
16. The learned Judge erred in failing to award 20 
damages to the Appellant for loss of rent and for 
excessive maintenance that would be incurred by 
reason of Respondent1s failure to complete the 
works to specification. 

17. The learned Judge erred in failing to allow 
the Appellant's full claim for cost of a detailed 
survey and report. 
18. The learned Judge erred in"allowing the Res-
pondent's claim for Shs. 6,836/- in respect of • ' 
extra filling under floors when the evidence 30 
showed that such filling was not in accordance 
with the Specifications and neither the Architect 
nor Clerk of V/orks acceptance thereof was binding 
on the Appellant Council. 

19- The learned Judge erred in failing to find 
that the works had not been completed by the Res-
pondent in accordance with the Contract or even 
substantially so completed within the meaning of 
Dakin v. lee and that the Respondent was not 
entitled to any part of his claims. 40 

WHEREFORE the Appellant prays that the Judg-
ment in the Court below be set aside and amended 
or otherwise dealt with as to this Honourable 
Court may seem fit and that the Appellant be 
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10 

awarded the costs of this Appeal and the costs or 
such revised portion of the costs in the Court 
"below as to this Honourable Court may seem fit. 
DATED AT NAIROBI, this 16th day of November, 1957-

(Sgd) KAPLAN & STRATTON 
ADVOCATES EOR THE APPELLANT. 

To: 
The Honourable the Judges of Her Majesty's 

Court of Appeal for Eastern Africa, 
ana 
Messrs. Oockar & Cockar, 
Advocates for the Respondent, 
Regal Mansions, 
Northey Street, 
Nairobi. 

In the Court 
of Appeal for 
Eastern Africa 

No. 24 
Memorandum of 
Appeal, 
16th November 
1957 -
continued. 
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30 
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No.25 
J U D G M E N T 

IN HER MAJESTY'S COURT OE APPEAL FOR EASTERN AFRICA 
AT NAIROBI. 

CIVIL APPEAL NO. 83 OF 1957 
BETWEEN 

CITY COUNCIL OF NAIROBI .. APPELLANT 
and 

ATA UL HAQ .. .. RESPONDENT 
(Appeal from a judgment and Decree of the Supreme 
Court of Kenya at Nairobi (Mr. Justice Eorbes) 
dated the 6th day of September, 1957, in 

Civil Case No.170 of 1956. 
Between 

Ata U1 Haq .. .. Plaintiff 
and 

City Council of Nairobi .. Defendant 
and 

Civil Case No.1314 of 1956. 
Between 

City Council of Nairobi .. Plaintiff 
and 

Ata U1 Haq .. .• Defendant). 

J U D G M E N T 
O'CONNOR P. 

No. 25 
Judgment, 
10th December 
1958. 

This is an appeal from a decision of the 
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Supreme Court of Kenya in two consolidated suits 
arising out of a contract to build seventeen • 
blocks of African housing in the Ofafa Estate, 
Nairobi; -The contract, which is dated the 29th 
June, 1954, was made between Ata Ul Haq (therein 
and hereinafter called the Contractor) of the one 
part and the City Council of Nairobi (therein and 
hereinafter called the Council) of the other part 

Eleven out of the seveteen blocks were accep-
ted and taken over by the Council, the contractor 10 
being paid 95$ of the contract price. The 
Council refused to take over the remaining six 
blocks on the ground that the Contractor had been 
guilty of breaches of contract in respect of all 
seventeen blocks and that the building was far 
short of the standard required by the specification 
which formed part of the building contract. When 
this decision was made 'by the Council, the Con-
tractor had been paid 90$ of the contract sum in 
respect of the six blocks not taken over. The 
Contractor denied the breaches of contract alleged 
and took no steps to remedy them. 

On the 18th February, 1956, he issued a 
plaint against the Council in Civil Case No. 170 
of 1956 in which be claimed that he had duly 
completed the work in accordance with the contract 
and had supplied extras and done additional work 
and claimed: 

(i) Shs.140, 018/- in respect of 
balance of contract price in- 30 
eluding retention monies; 

(ii) Shs.50,000/- in respect of a 
deposit which he had made by 
way of security; 

(iii) Enquiries into the value of 
the extra work carried out by 
him and payment of the amount 
shown to be due. 

20 

He also claimed costs, interest and other relief. 
On the 28th May, 1956, the Council filed a 

defence to this suit in'which they denied liability 
and said that the works had not been completed in 
accordance with the contract and that they were 
justified in not taking over the six blocks; and 
they claimed to be entitled to make deductions for 
defects. They further pleaded that the Contrac-
tor's suit was -premature as a final certificate 

40 
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had not "been issued and, alternatively, that it 
was barred by limitation under section 129 of the 
Municipalities Ordinance (Cap.136). 

On the 14th November, 1956, the Council filed 
a plaint in Civil Case No.1314 of 1956 in which 
they alleged inter alia that the Contractor had 
failed to execute the works in accordanco with the 
contract in various respects of which they gave 
particulars. They said that these were latent 

10 defects of which they had not known when the pay-
ment certificates had been issued to the Contrac-
tor, and they claimed special damages amounting to 
Shs.826,849/- being the estimated cost of remedying 
the defects and for loss of rent of the buildings 
and supervision charges while the work-was being 
done. The Council also claimed Shs.9,881/- in 
respect of the fee paid to a Mr. Wevill, a quan-
tity surveyor, for a detailed survey and report 
on the works, ana damages amounting to Shs.46,220/-

20 in respect of the unusual maintenance costs which 
would be necessitated by the poor quality of the 
buildings; together with interest, costs and 
further or other relief. 

In the Court 
of Appeal for 
Eastern Africa 

No.25 
Judgment, 
10th December 
1958 -
continued. 

On the 31st January, 1957? the Contractor 
filed a Defence in Suit 1314/56 in which he averred 
inter alia that he had duly completed the contract, 
that the Council had accepted all the works (in-
cluding the six blocks), had gone into possession 
and let them and had continued to collect rents 

30 for them. He denied that there were any latent-
or other defects and pleaded, in the alternative; 
that if there were any such'defects, the Council, 
with full, knowledge of them, had waived any claim 
in respect thereof. He said that the Council by 
its servants or agents had inspected the works 
from time to time, had required the Contractor 
to carry out repairs or alterations as the Council 
considered necessary and that he (the Contractor) 
had duly completed such repairs and alterations, 

40 that the Council by its servants or agents had 
approved all the works and taken possession, and 
that the Council by its City Engineer had issued 
interim payment certificates amounting to Shs. 
1,612,540. The Contractor also pleaded that the 
Council was estopped from denying that the works 
had been carried out in accordance with the con-
tract, having induced the Contractor to think that 
the works were approved and having failed to object 
during the progress of the works when any altera-

50 tions or repairs could more easily have been 
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remedied. The Contractor alleged that the 
Council by refusing to pay the balance due were 
in breach of their contract. He denied any 
breaches by him and prayed that the Council's suit 
be dismissed. 

These two suits were consolidated and tried 
together. 

Before the hearing the ten issues which arose 
on the pleadings (apart from an issue as to costs) 
were agreed by Counsel, as follows: 

1. Is the Contractor's claim premature? 
2. In the alternative is it barred by 

limitation wholly or partially? 

3. Have the works been completed by the 
Contractor in accordance with the 
contract? 

4-. If so, is the Contractor entitled to 
the sum claimed, or any part thereof 
in the absence of the final certificate? 

5. If the answer to No.3 is in the negative 
in what respects has tho Contractor 
failed to perform the Contract? 

6. Has the Council waived any breach of 
contract by the Contractor wholly or 
partially? 

7. Is the Council estopped from alleging 
such breaches or amy of them? 

8. If the Council is entitled to any 
damages in respect of such breaches -
how much? 

9. Has the Contractor carried out the 
extra work as alleged in the Plaint? 

10. If so, to what sum is the Contractor 
entitled in respect thereof? 

A considerable amount of evidence was called 
on each side and the trial lasted for about 
seventeen days. 
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On the 6th September, 1957, the learned trial 
Judge delivered judgment. He negatived a plea 
(which had been introduced by an amendment) that 
the Contractor had been guilty of fraudulent mis-
representation of the quality of the work. He 
found that the Contractor had established his 
claim to the extent of: 

(a) Shs. 140,018/- in respect of the balance 
of the contract price. 

10 (b) Shs. 50,000/- in respect of the deposit 
for security. 

(c) Shs. 70,850/- in respect of extras. 
Against this he found that the Council was 

entitled to Shs. 22,502/- for damages in respect 
of defective work. He accordingly gave judgment 
for the Contractor in suit No.170 of 1956 in the 
sum of Shs.260,368/- and costs. In suit No.1314 
of 1956 he gave judgment for the Council in the 
sum of Shs.22,502/- with costs to be assessed as 

20 if the claim had been for the amount of the sum 
awarded; and he directed that one eighth of the 
costs of the hearing should he deemed to be attri-
butable to suit No.1314/56. A Decree was signed 
on the 6th September, 1957• It is against this 
judgment and decree that the present appeal is 
brought. 

It will he necessary now to set out the facts 
a little more fully. The facts as found by the 

' • learned Judge are not seriously questioned on the 
30 appeal, though the inferences which he drew from 

them are challenged. 
I take the following extracts from the judg-

ment of the learned Judge: 
"In or about the year 1954 the 

Council undertook the development of an 
African Housing Estate at Ofafa. The pro-
jected estate was divided'into sections 
for construction purposes, the particular 
section with which this case is concerned 

40 being known as "Part B". Part B comprised 
17 blocks of dwellings and ablution units 
with minor ancillary works. Tenders were 
invited for the construction of Part B, 
that submitted by the Contractor was 

In the Court 
of Appeal for 
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No. 25 
Judgment, 
10th December 
1958 -
continued. 
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accepted, and a contract for the carrying 
out of the work was duly entered into be-
tween the' Contractor and the Council on 
29th June, 1954. The contract itself is 
a fairly brief document of four clauses, 
but it incorporated in the Contract the 
General' Conditions of Contract of the' 
Council, the Tender of the Contractor, the 
Specification prepared by the Council's 
Engineer, a Schedule of Rates, and the 
Contract Drawings." 

10 

"In practice, day to day supervision 
of the execution of the contract works was 
carried out by an African Housing Architect 
and a Clerk of Works, both of whom were em-
ployed by the Council. Initially, the 
Architect was a Mr. Tanner and the Clerk of 
Works was a Mr. Stone. Mr. Tanner was 
succeeded as Architect b;r a Mr. Mould who 
took over in June, 1955. Mr. Mould had been 20 
associated with the work since March, 1955, 
under Mr. Tanner, and it appeared that the 
works were about 80$ complete when Mr.Mould 
came on to the scene. Mr.Stone was succeeded 
as Clerk of Works by a Mr. Goodwin in about 
May, 1955. 

In pursuance of the contract the Con-
tractor entered upon the site and commenced 
work in June, 1954. Work proceeded, and in 
due course, eleven of the seventeen blocks • 30 
provided for in the contract were completed, 
accepted in writing, and taken over by the 
Council. Payments were made to the Contractor 
on certificates issued by the City Engineer 
under Clause 15 of the•Specification up to 
a total of'Shs.1,011,104/- being 95$ of the 
certified value of the work in respect of 
these blocks. 

Of the remaining six blocks, four were 
completed and ready for inspection and the 40 
other two were complete except for minor 
details, when differences arose between the 
Contractor and the Council. Interim payments 
made to the contractor in respect of these 
six blocks amounted to Shs.493,398/- being 
90$ of the certified value of the work done. 
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These blocks were never formally accepted, 
hut were in fact occupied "by the Council 
after the Contractor had withdrawn from the 
site." 

"Taking the evidence of Mr. Stone and 
Mr. Mould together, a very clear general 
picture emerges. I do not think it is dis-
puted that the Council were seeking to erect 
cheaply priced buildings in this Housing 
Estate, and that this-contract did envisage 
a low, or shall I say, economical standard of 
work. This, of course, is no excuse for an 
even lower standard than is called for by 
the specification. There is, however, some 
latitude for interpretation of the specifi-
cation, and it is perfectly clear that during 
his term of office as Architect in charge 
of the contract, Mr. Tanner deliberately 
allowed a low standard of work within the 
specification, in a number of instances below 
specification, while Mr. Mould on arrival, 
no doubt performing the function of a 
new broom, did his best to insist on 
compliance with a far higher standard. 
The position is really summed up by Mr. 
Mould's admission in cross-examination 
when he agreed that a different standard 
is being applied now, when he whole-
heartedly condemns all the blocks or build-
ings, from that applied when acceptance of 
certain of the blocks was recommended to 
the Council. I accept Mr. Mould's evidence 
that when ho drafted letters of acceptance 
in respect of five of the blocks he was not 
fully aware of the' general character of the 
buildings. He had, of course, not seen the 
major part of the work being carried out; 
and I have no doubt that he was sincerely 
shocked when he did discover the standard 
to which the building had been carried out 
and considered it was a scandalously low 
standard. I do not accept, however, that the 
Council, through its officers, had no know-
ledge of the standard to which the works 
were being built. It is clear from Mr. 
Stone's evidence that Mr. Tanner was in 
general fully aware of the standard of the 
work that was being done and accepted it, 
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and there is some evidence that this know-
ledge and acceptance was shared by more 
senior officers of the Council. Mr. Mould 
stated that he did not recommend acceptance 
of the five blocks of buildings without pro-
test but that he was overruled. He said 
that he'indicated his objections to Mr. 
Roberts, then City Engineer, and that later, 
when Mr. Saunders was Acting City Engineer, 
he explained his grounds of objection to Mr. 10 
Saunders in detail. Mr. Mould said that Mr. 
Saunders put it to him often that he 
(Saunders) would have to put it to the 
Council and Mr. Mould also said that there 
were many meetings between Heads of Depart-
ments. Mr. Mould was not present and was un-
able to say what was put to the Council or 
what was discussed at the meetings of Heads 
of Departments, and other evidence does in-
dicate that Mr. Mould's superior officer, 20 
and possibly the Council itself, was at one 
time prepared to accept a lower standard of 
w or k than he was. 

However this may be, I am satisfied 
that, with certain exceptions to which I 
will refer later, Mr. Tanner, and Mr. Stone 
on Mr. Tanner's authority, allowed a low 
standard of work; and that in many cases 
work was authorised or knowingly accepted 
which was not strictly in accordance with 30 
specification. I am also satisfied that 
on occasion Mr. Tanner directed work to 
be done which was additional to specification. 
It seems equally clear that notwithstanding 
the provisions of the contract documents, to 
which I will refer in detail presently, 
practically the whole of the dealings be-
tween Mr. Tanner (and later Mr. Mould) and 
the Contractor were on a verbal basis and 
that the Contractor accepted and gave 40 
effect to verbal directions given him 
by Mr. Tanner. Written variation orders 
for additional work in accordance with 
the contract appear to have been issued in 
only three cases, that is, Exhibits 18, 19 
and 20." 
The answers to the questions raised in the 

appeal turn largely upon the construction to be 
put on certain provisions of the contract docu-
ments, a matter upon which an appellate court is 50 
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in as good a position to pronounce as is the trial 
Judge: Powell v. Streatham Manor Nursing Home 
(1935) A.C. 24-3, 267- It will he desirable now 
to set out and to consider the relevant provisions 
of the contract documents. The contract docu-
ments are: 

(i) The Deed of Contract (already mentioned) 
dated 2Sth June 1954- and made between 
the Contractor of the one part and the 

10 Council of the other part (referred to 
hereinafter as 'the Deed1). This re-
cites that the Contractor has tendered 
and the Council has agreed with the 
Contractor for the execution of the 
work in accordance with -

(ii) General Conditions of Contract of the 
Council (hereinafter called 'the 
General Conditions'); 

(iii) Tender of the Contractor; 
20 (iv) Specification prepared by the Engineer; 

(v) Schedule of Rates; 
(vi) Numbered Contract Drawings. 

Documents (ii) to (vi) above are referred to in 
the Deed and hereinafter as "the attached docu-
ments". 

I do not think that it is necessary to set 
out the Deed in full, but the following provisions 
of it must be particularly noted. 
(a) By clause 1, in consideration of the Works 

30 thereinafter mentioned, the Council under-
takes to pay to the Contractor £85?476 subject 
to the provisions of Clause 2 at the times 
and by the instalments and subject to the 
provisions for retention monies mentioned in 
the attached documents. The contract price 
includes Shs.50,000 for contingencies. "The 
Engineer" is interpreted for purposes of the 
Deed as "the City Engineer for the time being 
of the Council." His representative and the 

40 deputy of his representative are not included 
in this definition. 
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(b) 

( c ) 

(d) 

By clause 2, in case the City Engineer thinks 
proper at any time during the progress of the 
works to make any alteration in or additions 
to or omissions from the works or any altera-
tion in the kind or quality of the materials 
to be used therein, and shall give notice 
thereof in writing to the Contractor, the 
Contractor is to comply with the notice "but 
the Contractor shall not do any work extra 
to or make any alteration or addition to or 
omission from the Works or any deviation from 
any of the provisions of this Contract with-
out the previous consent in writing 
Engineer ...." 

ig of the 

the Contractor is to observe and 
the stipulations mentioned in the 

y clause 3 
perform all 
attached documents and all references to the 
Works are also where the context permits it 
to include materials or goods. It is not 
clear whether this interpretation of "Works" 
is to apply to the attached documents only 
or also to the Deed itself. There is a 
definition of "Works" in General Condition 
1 (iv) which 
expressed to 

includes 
apply to 

"materials" 
"all contract 

and xs 
documents". 

By Clause 4, the attached documents and con-
ditions there set out are "except where the 
same are varied by or inconsistent with these 
presents" to form and be deemed to be part of 
the Contract as if the same were repeated 
therein categorically and the Contractor is 
to observe and perform the conditions set out 
in the attached documents. 

10 

20 

30 

The "provisions for retention monies" noted 
under (a) above are contained in paragraph 15 of 
Part I of the Specification set out below. 

The provision noted in paragraph (b) above is 
important. The effect of it is twofold, that is 
to say it is (i) a provision for the benefit of 
the Contractor to the extent that he cannot be 
required to do extras or vary the works contracted 
for, or to alter the kind or quality of the speci-
fied materials without a written notice from the 
City Engineer; and (ii) a stipulation for the 
benefit of the Council that the Contractor shall 
not do extras or make alterations or additions to 
or omissions from the works "or any deviation 

40 
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from any of the provisions of this Contract" In the Court 
without the previous consent in writing of the of Appeal for 
City Engineer. The object is clear. On the one Eastern Africa 
hand, the Contractor will have written variation 
orders upon which he can either claim additional' No.25 
payment or justify omissions. On the other hand, T n . 
the Council will not he bound to accept altera- Judgment, 
tions or additions to, or omissions from, the 10th December 
works or "any deviation from any of the provisions 1958 -

10 of the Contract" unless the City Engineer has con- continued, 
sented to them in writing. The first part of 
the clause specifically refers to "alteration in 
kind or quality of the materials". The second part 
contains no express reference to alterations to 
materials. It may be that the interpretation of 
"Works" in Clause 3 would cover materials.' But 
if not, I am of opinion that, since extras, altera-
tions and additions to, and omissions from the Works 
are already expressly provided for in this sentence, 

20 the expression "or any deviation from the provi-
sions of the contract" must have been intended to 
refer to alterations in the kind or quality of the 
materials to be used in the contract. This con-
struction would give effect to all the words of 
the sentence, and would make the obligation of the 
Contractor not to depart from the terms of the 
contract without the written consent of the 
Engineer commensurate with the power of the 
Engineer to direct such departures. This seems 

30 to be the plain and sensible construction. 
Accordingly, though "deviation" in a building 
contract commonly means a divergence from the 
plan or drawings, I think that in this clause the 
expression "any deviation from any of the provi-
sions of this contract" would include a diver-
gence from the requirements of the contract docu-
ments relating to the materials to be used. Eor 
instance, General Condition No. 2(i) mentioned 
below is to the effect that the Contractor shall 

40 execute and perform the works in a good and work-
manlike manner and with the best materials and 
workmanship in accordance with'the Specification, 
and the Specification provides, for example, for 
foundation concrete to be of a certain mix and 
for first quality local stone to be used. If 
concrete of a substantially weaker mix or inferior' 
quality stone were used, that would, in my opinion, 
be a deviation from a provision of the Contract 
within the prohibition in Clause 2 and would require 

50 the authorisation in writing of the City Engineer 
himself. The word "deviation" can be used to denote 
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a departure from the specified materials. Eor 
example, in Ellis v. Hamlen 128 E. R. 21, failure 
to- put into a building joists of specified 
materials and dimensions was described as a 
"deviation" from the contract; and the learned 
editor of Hudson on Building Contracts '7th Edn. 
at page 180 refers to Whitaker v. Dunn (1886) 
3 T.L.R. 620 (which was a case relating to the use 
of inferior concrete) as a case of a builder who 
"deviates" from a specification. I think that 
General Condition No. 17 (noticed below) which 
mentions "deviations" from the specification as 
including "materials" ordered not to be used 
supports the construction which I have put upon 
the word "deviation" in this contract. 

10 

The effect of the provision of the Deed noted 
under paragraph (d) above is that in case of in-
consistency between any provision of the Deed and 
of any of the attached documents, the provision of 
the Deed is to prevail: in fact the provision of 20 
the attached documents is not deemed part of the 
contract to the extent of suoh inconsistency. 

The following General Conditions are relevant: 
Condition No.l reads: 
"Definit- l(i) ENGINEER. The term "Engineer" 
ion of whereever used hereinafter and in all 
Terms contract documents shall be deemed to 

imply the City .Engineer or such person 
or persons as may be duly authorised 
to represent him on behalf of the City 30 
Council of Nairobi or the successors 
in office of such person or persons and 
also such person or persons as may be 
deputed by such representative to act on 
his behalf for the purpose of this par-
ticular contract; During the continuance 
of this contract, any person acting for 
the Engineer, or exercising his authority, 
or any successor in office of such 
Engineer, shall not disregard or over- 4-0 
rule any decision, approval or direction 
given to the Contractor, in writing, by 
his predecessor, unless he is satisfied 
that such action will cause no pecuniary 
loss to the Contractor or unless such 
action be ordered as a variation to be 
adjusted as hereinafter provided. 



619. 

10 

(ii) APPROVED AND DIRECTED. The terms 
'Approved1 and 'Directed' wherever used 
hereinafter and in all contract docu-
ments shall mean the' approval and 
direction in writing, of the Engineer. 

(iv) WORKS. The term 'Y/orks' wher-
ever used hereinafter and in all con-
tract documents shall mean all or any 
portion of the work, materials and 
articles .... which are to he used in 
the execution of this Contract 
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• • • • 

It will be observed that there is inconsist-
ency between the interpretation of the expression 
"the Engineer" in Clause 1 of the- Deed and this 
definition of "Engineer", in that, while this 
definition would include in the term "Engineer" 
not only the City Engineer for the time being, 
but such person or persons as may he duly 
authorised to represent him on behalf of the City 

20 Council of Nairobi and their successors in office 
and also such person or persons as may be deputed 
by such representative to aot on his behalf for 
the purpose of this particular contract, the 
expression "the Engineer" is in the Deed confined 
to "the City Engineer for the time being of the 
Council". The General Conditions are, as their 
name implies, general, and apply only to any 
contract of the Council to or in which they are 
applied or incorporated by express provision in 

30 the contract deed. It would be open to the 
parties to apply the General Conditions in whole 
or in part and with or without modification as 
expressed in the contract deed. It is also open 
to them to provide that the General Conditions 
shall only apply to the extent that they are not 
inconsistent with the contract deed. That is 
what has been done here. The question now arises: 
to what extent is the definition of "Engineer" 
contained in General Condition l(i) inconsistent 

40 with the interpretation of "the Engineer" in 
Clause 1 of the Deed? The interpretation in the 
Deed - "(herein referred to as 'the Engineer')" 
prima facie refers only to the Deed; but Clause 4 
of the Deed provides that the attached documents 
(which include General Condition l) shall except 
where the same are varied by or are inconsistent 
with these presents form and be deemed to be 
part of the Contract "as if the same were repeated 
herein categorically". It is arguable that 
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Condition l(i) is thus imported into the Deed and 
that that part of it which extends the meaning of 
the term "Engineer" to include the representative 
of the Engineer and the deputy of such representa-
tive must be discarded throughout the Contract 
documents as being inconsistent with the meaning 
ascribed'to "the Engineer" by the Deed. If 
possible, however, effect must be given to every 
part of a written contract and it must, therefore, 
be considered whether there is any way of recon- 10 
oiling these two interpretations. It may be 
that it would be possible to apply the extended 
definition of "Engineer" contained in Condition 
No.l(i) to matters not expressly provided for in 
the Deed itself where its application would not 
produce inconsistency with the provisions of the 
Deed; but, however that may be, it is clear that 
in any express provision of the Deed itself, the 
expression "the Engineer" must be given the meaning 
assigned to it by the Deed, namely "the City 20 
Engineer for the time being of the Council" and not 
the extended meaning provided by Condition l(i) of 
the General Conditions. The matter is important 
because, as already noted, there is a provision 
in Clause 2 of the Deed which expressly enjoins 
that the Contractors shall not "make any deviation 
from any provisions of this Contract without the 
previous consent in writing of the Engineer". 
That means, by the interpretation In the Deed 
itself, the previous consent in writing of the ' 30 
City Engineer for the time being' of the Council, 
and does not include the consent, either oral, or 
in writing, of his representative or his represen-
tative's deputy. 

It will be noted that "approved" and "directed 
are both interpreted to require writing by the 
Engineer. If the General Conditions stood alone, 
direction or approval in writing by the City 
Engineer's representative or deputy would be 
enough in all cases, but (as already pointed out) 40 
that extension of meaning is negatived by the 
express provision of the Deed in certain matters 
including deviations from the provisions of the 
contract. 

Condition 2(i) of the General Conditions is 
as follows: 

"2(i). The Contractor shall at his own 
risk and cost execute and perform the Works 
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described in the Contract Agreement and 
detailed in the Specification and Drawings 
provided and supplied to the Contractor for 
the purpose of the Works and completely 
finish the said Works in a good and workman-
like manner with the best materials and 
workmanship and with the utmost expedition, 
in accordance with the said Contract Agree-
ment, Specification and Drawings, which 

10 shall have been signed by the Contractor 
and the Engineer, and'in accordance with 
such further drawings, details, instructions, 
directions and explanations as may from time 
to time be given by the Engineer." 
It will be noted that there is here a speci-

fic requirement (incorporated in the Contract by 
Clause 3 of the Deed) that the Contractor will 
execute and perform the works "in a good and 
workmanlike manner with the best materials and 

20 workmanship." There is also a provision for 
further drawings, instructions, etc. to be given 
by the Engineer. Construing this latter provision 
with'Clause 2 of the Deed and General Condition 
l(i), the result seems to be that the Engineer or 
his representative or the deputy of his represen-
tative could give written or oral details, instruc-
tions and explanations, or written directions, or 
drawings, as to what was required under the Con-
tract, and, perhaps, as to matters upon which the 

30 Contract is silent; but that if alterations in, 
or additions to, or omissions from the specified 
Works or alterations in'the kind or quality of 
the specified materials, or other deviations from 
any of the provisions of the Contract were desired 
by either side, a written notice or written consent 
as the case might be, from the City Engineer him-
self would be requisite. Put more shortly, I think' 
the effect is that the City Engineer's representative 
or representative's deputy could illustrate, explain, 

40 instruct or direct (writing being required for a 
"direction"), within the'limits of the contract 
documents (and, no doubt, there is some room for 
flexibility here) and where the contract documents 
are silent; but that if alteration, variation or 
deviation from the contract were desired, the 
written direction or written consent of the Oity 
Engineer himself would be necessary. There is 
nothing unreasonable in such a provision. The 
reasons for it are plain. The benefit for the 

50 Contractor has already been pointed out. On the 
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other hand, the Council thereby give notice that 
they do not bind themselves to accept departures 
from the contract requirements which may be orally 
consented to by some complacent representative of 
the City Engineer or the deputy of such represen-
tative, or, indeed, by the City Engineer himself 
otherwise than in writing. So far as the repre-
sentatives of the Engineer are concerned, this is 
a proper precaution on the part of a body charged 
with the disposal of public funds. As regards 
the City Engineer himself, it is obvious that 
where the duration of contracts extends over 
months or years, if the City Engineer is absent on 
leave or has been replaced, the question of whether 
he has or has not consented can be readily and 
cheaply established only if written consents are 
required. But it is unnecessary to speculate as 
to the object of the provisions and whether they 
are reasonable or unreasonable. My duty is to 
construe the contract and the material point is-
that the authority of the Architect (and indeed, 
of the City Engineer) is limited and does not 
include power to approve orally departures from 
the Specification. A fortiori for the Clerk of 
W orks. 

10 

20 

Condition 3, so far as relevant, reads as 
follows: 

"The said Works shall be executed 
under the direction and to the entire 
satisfaction in all respects of the 
Engineer, who shall at all times have 
access to the Works .... " 

30 

The effect of this will be referred to later. 
Condition 7(iv) reads: 

"i SYhen the Works have been completely 
executed according to the provisions of 
the Contract' and to the satisfaction of 
the Engineer, the date of'such completion 
shall be certified by him, and such date 
shall be the date of commencement of such 
period of maintenance as may be provided 
by the Contract." 

40 

Condition 9(i) reads: 
"All materials and workmanship shall 
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10 

be the best of their respective kinds and 
shall be provided by the Contractor, ex-
cept as nay be otherwise particularly pro-
vided by the'Specification or directed'by 
the Engineer, and the Contractor- shall, 
upon the request of the Engineer, furnish 
him with proof that the materials are such 
as are specified. The Engineer shall at all 
times have power to order the removal of any 
materials brought on the site which, in 
his opinion, are not in accordance with the 
specification or with his instructions, the 
substitution of proper materials and the 
removal and the proper re-execution of any 
work executed with materials or workmanship 
not in accordance with the Specification and 
Drawings or instructions, and the Contractor 
shall forthwith carry out such order at his 
own cost." 
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20 Again there is a stipulation that the best 
materials and workmanship are required. 

read: 
Paragraphs (ii), (iii) and (iv) of Condition 9 

30 

40 

"9« (ii) Any defect which may appear, 
either of material or of workmanship, during 
the period of maintenance provided by the 
Contract, shall be made good by the Con-
tractor at his own expense, as and when 
directed. 

(iii). If the Contractor shall fail to 
carry out any such order, as by the preceding 
sub-clauses provided within such reasonable 
time as may be specified in the order, the 
materials or work so affected may, at the 
option of the Engineer be made good by him in 
such manner as he may think fit, in which 
case the cost thereby incurred shall, upon 
the written certificate of the Engineer, be 
recoverable by the City Council as a liqui-
dated demand in money. 

(iv). If any defect be such that, in 
the opinion of the Engineer, it shall be 
impracticable or inconvenient to remedy the 
same, he shall ascertain the diminution in 
the value of the works due to the existence 
of such defect and deduct the amount of such 
diminution from the sum remaining to be paid 
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to the Contractor, or failing such remainder, 
it shall "be recoverable as a liquidated 
demand in money." 

The last fourteen words of paragraph (iv) are 
interesting. Under- paragraph 15 of the first Par 
of the Specification, which will presently he 
noticed, the Contractor is only to receive 95/ 
of the value of the work properly executed on 
completion and taking over by the Council and the 
remaining 5/ is to be retained during the six 
months' period of maintenance provided for in 
paragraph 14 on the same page of the Specification 
and is, on the termination of that period, to be 
paid to the Contractor. Therefore, under this 
contract, there would be a "sum remaining to be 
paid to the Contractor" until the expiry of the 
period of maintenance. Yet Condition 9(iv) pro-
vides that "failing such remainder" the amount may 
be recoverable as a liquidated demand in money. 
It is possible that the 5/ might have been 
exhausted in meeting claims for defects previously 
discovered; but this px'ovision does seem to 
indicate that it was contemplated that sums might 
be recoverable for defects after the expiration 
of the period of maintenance. 

General Condition No.16 reads: 
"16. Payment shall be made to the Con-

tractor by instalments in accordance with 
the provisions of the Specification, under 
the Certificates therein stipulated to be 
issued by the Engineer to the Contractor. 

No certificate so issued by the Engineer 
shall of itself be considered conclusive 
evidence as to the sufficiency of any work 
or materials to which it relates so as to 
relieve the Contractor from his liability to 
execute the works in all respects in accor-
dance with the terms and upon and subject to 
the conditions of this Agreement or from his 
liability to make good all defects as pro-
vided thereby." 
It should be noted that the second paragraph 

of this Condition refers to a certificate "so 
issued", i.e. to payment certificates issued under 
paragraph 15 of the Specification (which will 
presently be referred to) and not to certificates 
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certifying the date of completion under Condition 
7(iv) supra. Thus, there is express provision 
that no payment certificate shall "be conclusive; 
hut there is no such express provision regarding 
a certificate given under Condition 7 (iv). 

General Condition No.17 reads: 

"17.(i). The Engineer may at'any time 
during the progress of the Works, by order 
in writing under his hand, make or cause to 

10 be made any variations from the original 
Specification and Drawings by way of addition 
or omission or otherwise deviating therefrom, 
and the said V/orks shall be executed according 
to the said variations or deviations under his 
direction and to his satisfaction, as if the 
same had been included in the said original 
Specification and Drawings; and any work or 
materials which shall be ordered not to be 
done, or used, shall be omitted and shall not 

20 be used by the Contractor." 
Again, construing this with Clause 2 of the Deed, 
a variation or deviation requires a written direc-
tion from the City Engineer himself. 

Condition No.23 paragraphs (i) to (iv) read 
as follows: 

"23(i). In case at any time during the 
progress of the works -
(a) any unnecessary delay shall occur 
in the carrying out of the same through 

30 some default of the Contractor; or 
(b) the Contractor shall not carry out the 
said works to the satisfaction of the 
Engineer, or, 
(c) the Contractor shall fail to comply 
with the directions given by the Engineer, 
or 
(d) the Contractor shall at any time 
neglect or omit to pull down or remove 
any work or materials which the Engineer 

40 shall have certified in writing to be 
defective or not according to the Contract 
then and in any such case, the Engineer 
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shall give written notice to the Con-
tractor to proceed with the said Works or 
to remedy such default or defect to the 
satisfaction of the Engineer. 
(ii) If the Contractor shall -
(a) fail to comply with the instructions 
given in such written notice to the satis-
faction of the Engineer, within six days 
after suoh notice shall have been given 

then, and in any such case, the Engineer 10 
shall be' at liberty, without avoiding the 
Contract, to take the said Works wholly or 
partially out of the hands of the Con-
tractor and to enter upon and take'possess-
ion of all materials, plant, tools, im-
plements and things on or about the said 
Works .... 

(iii) If the Engineer shall exercise the 
powers above described, he may complete 
the Works himself or may engage any other 20 
person to complete the Works and exclude 
the Contractor .... " 
It seems that the words in sub-paragraph (d) 

of paragraph (i) "then and in any such case" to 
the end of the sub-paragraph should apply to the 
whole of paragraph ti) and not only to sub-para-
graph (d). Nothing, however, turns upon this. 

Condition No.26(i) is an arbitration clause 
and reads: 

"26(i). If any dispute shall arise be- 30 
tween the Engineer and the Contractor as to 
anything contained in or incidental to the 
Contract otherwise than such matters or 
things hereinbefore left to the decision or 
determination of the Engineer, every such 

•dispute shall at the instance of either party, 
be referred to arbitration and unless the 
Engineer, and the Oontractor concur in the 
appointment of a single arbitrator, the ref-
erence shall be to two arbitrators and every 40 
suoh reference shall he deemed a submission 
within the meaning of the Arbitration Ordin-
ance, 1913, and any Ordinance in amendment 
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only 

thereof or in substitution therefor, and 
shall be subject to the provision of such 
Ordinances.11 

It will ne noted that this clause applies 

(a) to disputes between the Engineer and 
the Contractor; and 
(b) to matters not left by the Conditions to 
the decision or determination of the Engineer. 

10 Condition No.27 reads: 

"27. If any clause, stipulation or pro-
vision contained in any contract document 
shall be wholly or partially repeated in 
the same document or contained in these Con-
ditions or in the Contract Agreement and also 
in the Specification or on-the drawings, the 
Engineer may at his option, adopt'either of 
such clauses, stipulations or provisions." 

This would not, in my view, entitle the 
20 Engineer to override-the provisions of the Deed.' 

This condition would, under Clause 4 of the Deed, 
only operate to the extent that it is not incon-
sistent with the Deed. 

In the Court 
of Appeal for 
Eastern Africa 

No. 25 
Judgment, 
10th December 
1958 -
continued. 

The Eorm of Tender signed oy the Contractor 
begins with the following words: 

"I/We hereby undertake to supply 
all labour, plant, tools, materials, 
transport etc., and to execute and 
perform in accordance with the attached 

30 Drawings, Specification, General Conditions 
of Contract and to the entire satisfaction 
of the City Engineer, all works necessary 
to complete the buildings and erections 
enumerated below, together with all works 
pertaining thereto for the total sum 
stated below." 
The heading of the Specification is: 

"Specification of works required to 
be done and materials to be provided and 

40 used in the erection, completion and main-
tenance of the 161 dwelling units together 
with 18 ablution units and all works per-
taining thereto, for the City Council of 



628. 

In the Court 
of Appeal for 
Eastern Africa 

No. 25 
Judgment, 
10th December 
1958 -
continued. 

Nairobi, under the supervision of and to 
the entire satisfaction of the City 
Engineer." 
Paragraph 1 of Part 1 of the Specification 

reads: 
"1. Scope The Contract is for the erection, 
of con- completion and maintenance in-
tract. eluding the supply of all'neces-

sary labour and materials, of 
'Doonholm Neighbourhood, Stage 
1, Part C.' (This should be 

'Part B') 'African Housing Scheme', as•shown 
on and in accordance with the Contract, 
Drawings, this Specification and the General 
Conditions of Contract and to the entire 
satisfaction of the City Engineer." 
Paragraph 2 reads: 
"2. Ent- Any details of construction 
irety of which are fairly and obviously 
Contract, intended and which may not be 

definitely referred to in the' 
Specification and/or drawings, 

but which are usual in sound building con-
struction practice and essential to the 
works, are to be considered as included in 
the Contract." 
Paragraphs 14, 15 and 17 of Part 1 of the 

Specification read: 
"14. Period The period of maintenance of 
of main- any dwelling and/or ablution 
tenance. blocks shall be six months 

after the date of completion of 
the block as certified by the City Engineer 
under Clause 7 of the General Conditions. 

Payments will be made on Certi-
ficates issued by the City 
Engineer at his discretion. 

"15- Terms 
of pay-
ment . 

Interim payments shall not exceed 
$ of the value of the work properly 

executed. When the work has been satis-
factorily completed and taken over by the 
Council, the Contractor shall be entitled to 
a Certificate for 95$ of the value of the 
work so executed. The remaining 5$ shall be 
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paid to the Contractor at the termination 
of the period of maintenance as laid down 
in Clause 13 hereof. 

The value of any materials which it is 
intended to use in the work and which are 
unfixed will not be included in any interim 
payment certificate." 

"17. Cash The Contractor is required to de-
Deposit. posit'with the Council the sum of 

Shs.50,000/- as surety for the due 
performance of the Contract. This 
sum must be deposited when the 

Contract is signed and will be refunded when 
the final certificate is issued by the City 
Engineer." 
Paragraphs 23 and 25 read as follows: 

"23. Exca- The whole- area covered by the 
vation. buildings, plus the extra width 

and length necessitated by the ex-
cavation to foundations shall be excavated 
down to rock or murram suitable for found-
ations and the black cotton soil resulting 
from the excavation shall be entirely removed 
as specified below. The excavated area shall 
be entirely free of all black cotton soil 
before foundation works or filling proceeds. 

The Contractor is to allow in his tender 
for the excavations and footings being carried 
down to a depth over any building to allow 4 
courses of stono work between top of founda-
tion concrete to underside of concrete floor 
slab. Any greater or less depths of founda-
tion work found to be necessary shall form 
the subject of Variation Orders .... " 

"25. Bottoms Trenches for foundations etc., 
of trenches, are to be excavated down to a 

solid hardrock or murram bottom 
as specified and levelled be-

fore laying concrete. All bottoms are to be 
approved by the City Engineer before concrete 
is laid." 
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Paragraph 26 reads: 
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"26. Hard- Dill in between walls under 
core. concrete ground floor slab with 

approved hard, dry, broken stone 
in layers not exceeding 6" up to underside of 
floor slab, and ram each layer." 
Paragraph 6 of the Part of the Specification 

headed "Concretor" (p.5«) reads: 
"6. Mixing. All materials for concrete are to 

be well mixed by means of an 
approved mechanical mixer . ..." 

read: 
Paragraphs 8 and 9, so far as material, 

10 

"8. Foun-
dation 
concrete. 

9. Con-
crete in 
Ploors 
etc. 

Concrete in foundation is to be 
a 1:3:6 mix composed of cement, 
sand and aggregate mixed in the 
following proportions .... 
Concrete in floors, channels, 
drains, troughs, etc. to be a 
1:3:6 mix as specified above and 
consolidated 
shown on the 

to the thiclmes 
drawings." 

20 

There are some provisions in the Specification 
requiring approval of the City Engineer during the 
course of the 'Works. Dor instance, paragraph 25 
of Part I quoted above requires that bottoms of 
trenches are to be approved by the City Engineer 
before concrete is laid; and paragraph 15 of the 
Part entitled "Mason" on p.6 provides that samples 
of stone and dressing are to be submitted to the 
City Engineer for approval (See also paragraphs 30 
46 and 52). It will be observed that the term 
is "Oity Engineer" and not "Engineer" as defined 
in General Condition (i) of (l) and that "Approval" 
under General Condition l(ii) means approval in 
writing. 

The above are, I think, all the relevant 
provisions of the contract documents and it will 
be convenient now to consider the learned Judge's 
findings in respect of each of the Issues set out 
above and the objections to such findings raised 40 
on the appeal. 

As to Issue No.l, it was argued on behalf of 
the Council in the Court below, as regards the 
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eleven blocks taken over, that the Contractor's 
claim was premature because no certificate for 
payment of the 5/ remaining due to the Contractor 
had been issued. I do not agree. Nothing in the 
contract requires the issue of a further certi-
ficate after the issue of the certificate entit-
ling the Contractor to 95/ of the value of the 
work. Moreover, I agree with the learned Judge 
that the letters of acceptance by the Chief 

10 Engineer operated as certificates of completion 
and caused the maintenance period to commence. 
Neither do I think that the Contractor's claim 
was premature in relation to the six blocks not 
taken over. The Council had apparently required 
him to carry out further remedial work which he 
refused or neglected to do and left the site. 
The Council then proceeded to carry out the work 
and the Engineer declined to certify for,•and the 
Council declined to pay, the balance of 10/ which 

20 the Contractor said was due to him on the contract. 
I am not convinced that the Council committed any 
breach of Condition 23 as found by the learned 
Judge; but once the dispute had broken out and 
the Chief Engineer had declined to issue further 
payment certificates in respect of the six blocks 
to which the Contractor felt himself entitled, 
I think that the Contractor was justified in 
bringing a suit. I would answer Issue 1 in the 
negative. 

30 As to Issue No.2 the learned Judge found that 
the Contractor's claim was not barred by limita-
tion and there is no appeal against that finding. 

As to Issue No.4, I do not think that if the 
Contractor is otherwise entitled to the sum claimed 
or any part of it, the absence of a final certi-
ficate (assuming that by this is meant a certifi-
cate, under Clause 15 of the Specification, for 
payment of 95/ of the value of the work done) 
would preclude him from claiming. He could ask 

40 for arbitration or bring a suit to establish his 
right to a certificate and to payment. The learned 
Judge answered this issue in the negative and I 
agree, though not for precisely the same reasons. 

It will be convenient next to deal with 
Issues Nos. 3, 5 and 6. 

The learned Judge, having reviewed the evi-
dence, answered Issue No.3 as follows. He applied 
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the principle st; 
566 and found: 

;ed in Dakin v. Lee (1916) 1 K.B. 

"Issue No.3« I find that the works have 
"been substantially completed 

in accordance with the contract, with some 
defects in respect of which the Council is 
entitled to a reduction in the amount re-
coverable on the contract." 

Mr. Stewart Brown, for the appellant, submitted 
that while the principle of Dakin v. Lee supra 10 
applies to lump sum contracts where there is no 
provision for retention monies, it has no applica-
tion to a contract where payment.is to be made by 
instalments and retention money is only payable on 
perfect completion. Dakin v. Lee was a case of a 
lump sum contract; it was there argued that, as 
the contractor had not entirely completed the 
contract, he was not entitled to recover anything. 
It was held that he had substantially completed 
the contract and could recover for his services. 20 
But Dakin v. Lee was not a case where provision 
was made in the contract for retention money. In 
Hoenig v. Isaacs (1952) 2 All E. R. 176 Denning L.J. 
said at p.180: 

"This case raises a familiar question: 
Was entire performance a condition precedent 
to payment? That depends on the true con-
struction of the contract ... 

In determining this issue the first 
.question is whether, on the true construction 30 
of the contract, entire performance was a 
condition precedent to payment. It was a 
lump sum contract, but that does not mean 
that entire performance was a condition pre-
cedent to payment. When a contract provides 
for a specific sum to be paid on completion 
of specified work, the courts lean against a 
construction of the contract which would 
deprive the contractor of any payment at 
all simply because there are some defects 4-0 
or omissions. The-promise to complete the 
work is, therefore, construed as a term of 
the contract, but not as a condition. It is 
not every breach of that term which absolves 
the employer from his promise to pay the 
price, but only a breach which goes to that 
root of the contract, such as an abandonment 



633. 

10 

20 

of the work when it is only half done. 
Unless- the "breach does go to the root of the 
matter, the employer cannot resist payment 
of the price. He must pay it and "bring a' 
cross-claim for the defects and omissions, 
or, alternatively, set them up in diminution 
of the price. The measure is the amount: which 
the work is worth less "by reason of the de-
fects and omissions, and is usually cal-
culated by the cost of making them good: see 
Mondel v. Steel; H. Dakin & Co. Ltd. v. Lee 
and the notes to Cutter v. Powell in'SMITH'S 
LEADING CASES-13th edn. Vol. 2 pp. 19-21. It 
is, of course, always open to the parties "by 
express words to make entire performance a 
condition precedent. A familiar instance is 
when the contract provides for progress 
payments to be made as the work proceeds, 
"but for retention money to be held until 
completion. Then entire performance is 
usually a condition precedent to payment of 
the retention money, but not, of course to 
the progress payments. The contractor is 
entitled- to payment pro rata as the work 
proceeds, less a deduction for retention 
money. But he is not entitled to the reten-
tion money until the work is entirely finished 
without defects or omissions." 
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Keating in his work on Building Contracts at 
30 p.34 summarises the position as follows: 

"SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION. In the ordinary 
lump sum contract the employer cannot refuse 
to pay the contractor merely "because there 
are a few defects and omissions. If there is 
a substantial completion he must pay the con-
tract price subject to a deduction by way of 
set-off or counter-claim for the defects. 

ENTIRE COMPLETION. The parties may if 
they choose by clear language show that they 

40 intend that the contractor should be entitled 
to nothing until he has completed the con-
tract in every detail, or that he should not 
be entitled to the retention money until he 
has so completed the contract. 

NON-COMPLETION. If the contractor fails 
to complete, either substantially in the or-
dinary case, or in every detail in the special 
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case referred to in the last paragraph, he is 
not entitled to anything unless he can show 
either : 

(i) A contractual right to unpaid instal-
ments, or 

(ii) Prevention of completion by employer, 
or 

(iii) Implied promise to pay for the work-
done by way of waiver or acceptance, 
or 10 

(iv) Impossibility or frustration." 
Paragraph 15 of the Specification in the 

present case provides that payments will be made 
on certificates issued by the Chief Engineer at 
his discretion: interim payments are not to exceed 
90$ and "When the work has been satisfactorily 
completed and taken over by the Council, the Con-
tractor shall be entitled to a Certificate for 
95$ of the value of the work so executed", and 
after the expiration of the maintenance period to 20 
the remaining 5$. This seems to me to be clear 
language to the effect that payment of the retent-
ion money depends upon (a) satisfactory completion 
of the work and (b) its taking over by the Council. 
As regards the six blocks, the work has been held 
not to have been satisfactorily completed in all 
respects and the Council has not taken them over. 
Accordingly, the Contractor is not entitled to 
payment of the retention money in respect of those 
blocks unless he has shown one of'the matters 30 
mentioned under (i) to (iv) above, e.g. waiver, 
or that the refusal to take over the six blocks 
was unjustified. Prima faoie he would be 
entitled to the retention money in respect of the 
eleven blocks which have been taken over subject 
to any right which the Council' may have to show 
that the work was not, in fact, satisfactorily 
completed and to sue for defects notwithstanding 
acceptance of those blocks. This is discussed 
below. 40 

As to Issue 3, then, I accept the learned 
Judge's finding of fact that the works have been 
substantially completed in accordance with the 
contract, with some defects; but, with respect, 
I do not think that the principle stated in Dakin 
v. Lee applies to the retention money in this case. 
The retention money is only payable on satisfactory 
completion, on entire performance, and substantial 
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completion is not enough. 
As to Issue 5, the learned Judge found: 
"Issue 5« I find that the Contractor has -
(a) failed to maintain the specified mix 
for mortar and concrete in a proportion 
of the mortar and concrete used, or that 
the mix was not properly mixed or laid, 
the result in either case "being defective 
mortar and concrete; 
(b) failed in certain other comparatively 
minor details to comply strictly with 
specification, e.g. hoop-iron reinforcement; 
bitumen damp course; fixing of door frames. 
(c) failed to comply strictly with a number 
of other specifications as detailed earlier 
in this judgment, but that in each of these 
cases the variations were either expressly 
directed by or else known to and accepted by 
the Architect or Clerk of Works, acting for 
the Engineer." 
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I accept these findings, 
ferred to later. 

They will be re-

As to Issue 6, the learned Judge found: 
"Issue 6. I find that the acceptance of work 
by the Engineer or Architect on his behalf 
with express knowledge of variations from 
the terms of the Specification and the issue 
of certificates in respect of such work 
amounts to a waiver by the Engineer as agent 
of the Council of any breach of contract that 
might be constituted by such variations." 
The question (involved in Issue No.6) of the 

extent to which the Council is bound by acceptance 
of the work by the City Engineer or Architect on 
his behalf, the Architect having actual knowledge 
of deviations from the terms of the General Con-
ditions and the Specification, is probably the 
most important question in the case and it will 
be desirable to consider it now. It involves 
two subsidiary questions: 
(i) whether the City Engineer or the Architect had 
authority actual or ostensible, by oral acceptance 
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of inferior materials and work, to waive the due 
performance of the contract; and 
(ii) whether the issue by the City Engineer of 
letters of acceptance and certificates for payment 
of 95$ of the'value of the work in respect of the 
eleven blocks, Mr. Tanner and perhaps the City 
Engineer having notice of the defects, was con-
clusive against the Council and prevented them from 
subsequently alleging and claiming for defects. 

The learned Judge dealt with these matters as 
follows. After setting out the provisions of the 
contract documents which he considered relevant, 
he said: 

"It is, I think, clear from these pro-
visions and from the contract documents as 
a whole that the general control of the con-
tract on behalf of the Council was in the 
hands of the City Engineer. The City Engineer 
could order variations and extras. The work 
was to be performed to the satisfaction of the 
Engineer. The Engineer was to issue certificates 
for payments. From the general tenor of the 
contract documents I think there can be no 
doubt that the intention was that the City 
Engineer should he the agent of the Council 
for the purposes of this contract, and, in 
fact, all dealings between the Contractor 
and the Council were conducted on the Council' 
side by the City Engineer or his subordinates. 
I respectfully agree, except that the work 

was to be done to the specified standards with the 
specified materials and to the satisfaction of the 
Engineer. This will be referred to later. It 
has also been noted that the authority of the 
Engineer to demand or sanction departures from 
the contract which the Council had made was 
limited to written notices or to written consents. 

The learned Judge continues: 
"Subordinated to the City Engineer were 

the Architect and the Clerk of Works. It is 
not easy to define their precise authority, 
particularly that of the Architect, under 
the contract documents. It was conceded that 
the Architect was in fact duly authorised to 
represent the Engineer• -under Clause l(i) of 
the General Conditions, and the General 
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Conditions authorise the "Engineer" as there-
in defined to give directions in writing for 
extras and variations. On the other hand, 
Clause 2 of the Contract requires the extras 
and variations to he authorised by the City 
Engineer himself, and, by virtue of Clause 4 
of the Contract, this provision must prevail 
over the provisions set out in the General 
Conditions. I conclude that under the con-
tract documents authority to order extras or 
permit variations is limited to the City 
Engineer personally. And in fact the only 
variation orders issued - Exhibits 18, 19 and 
20 - were signed by the City Engineer himself. 
On the other hand I am satisfied that the 
Architect on "behalf of the Engineer had 
authority under the contract to approve work 
and to give instructions and explanations 
within the scope of the specifications. The 
contract documents do not provide that 'in-
structions' or 'explanations' are to he in 
writing, though it is perhaps difficult to 
see what the difference is between an instruc-
tion' and a 1 direction1. 
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The learned Judge then reviewed the position 
of the Clerk of Works and said that any authority 
that he might have had on behalf of the Engineer 
was very limited. He said: 

"In the case of Mr. Stone it would appear 
30 that Mr. Tanner deputed him to see that work 

done was done up to the standard set by Mr. 
Tanner, but in the circumstances of the case 
I do not think this is very material. The 
evidence whi.ch I have accepted is to the 
effect that Mr. Tanner saw and approved or 
directed certain standards of work and that 
work seen by Mr. Stone though not by Mr. 
Tanner came up to those standards. It is 
therefore of little moment whether or not Mr. 

40 Stone was authorised to accept that work." 

The learned Judge proceeded to consider to 
what extent the interim payment certificates and 
letters of acceptance of certain blocks issued by 
the City Engineer were conclusive. He said: 

"As I have stated, the contract documents 
expressly provide that the work is to be 
done to the satisfaction of the Engineer. 
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Considerable argument turned on whether 
and to what extent the certificates for 
interim payments and the acceptance of 
certain blocks were conclusive in this 
respect. There is no provision in the 
contract documents that the certificates 
are to be conclusive. On the contrary 
Clause 16 of the General Conditions pro-
vides that -

'No certificate so issxied by the 
Engineer shall of itself be con-
sidered conclusive evidence as to 
the sufficiency of any work mater-
ials to which it relates so as to 
relieve the contractor from his 
liability to execute the works in 
all respects in accordance with the 
terms and upon and subject to the 
conditions of this Agreement or from 
his liability to make good all de-
fects as provided thereby.' 

10 

20 

It is abundantly clear from this that no 
such certificate is conclusive as regards 
any latent defect - that is any defect 
of which'the Engineer was not aware. The 
position, however, appears to me to be 
vitally different where the Engineer 
(or the Architect acting on his behalf) 
was fully aware of the alleged defect 
and accepted it - in some cases directed 
it. » 

30 

Counsel for the respondent did not seek to 
support the finding that Condition 16 does not 
apply to patent defects and, with respect, I do 
not think it can be sustained. Condition 16 
expressly applies to all defects. The distinction 
between latent and patent defects may be important 
in other contexts, but, with respect, not as re-
gards Condition 16. 

The learned Judge continued: 40 
"Clause 9(i) enables the Engineer during 

the course of the work to order the removal 
of materials and the re-execution of work not 
up to specification. Where the Engineer has 
not made use of this Clause but with full 
knowledge has accepted work as satisfactory 
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and subsequently issues a certificate in 
respect of that work, I consider that the 
certificate must be held to be conclusive 
in so far as the Engineer had knowledge of 
the quality of the work and materials; 
that the issue of the certificate operated 
as a waiver of strict compliance with the 
specification; and that the Engineer cannot 
subsequently exercise the power conferred by 

10 the clause (Hudson on Building Contracts, 
7th Edn. p.239 citing Adcock's Trustee v. 
Bridge R.I). C. (1911) 75 J.P. 241." 
The passage in Hudson to which the learned 

Judge here refers merely says that where the 
architect has power to order the contractor to re-
execute defective work or remove inferior materials 
during the progress of the works and has seen the 
works in the course of execution'and the materials 
used, but has not ordered the re-execution of the 

20 work or the removal of the materials, he can no 
longer exercise the power when the work is com-
pleted. This refers to the power of an architect 
to order re-execution of work during progress of 
the work and not, with respect, to the right of 
the building owner to sue for defective work. It 
seems that the learned Judge did not have'the 
report of Adcock's case before him (which, by 
courtesy of Mi1. Stewart Brown, I have been able to 
borrow). If he had had this, it would, I think, 

30 have been clear to him that the fact that the 
architect does not act during progress of the work 
under a clause empowering him to order re-execution 
of bad work does not prejudice the other remedies 
of the building owner. The learned Judge con-
tinued: 

"It was argued, relying on Robins v. 
Goddard (1905) 1 K.B. 294, that by virtue 
of the arbitration clause the certificate 
could not be held to be conclusive. The 

40 arbitration clause does not expressly 
provide that the arbitrator shall have 
power to open up and review any certificate, 
as was the case of the contract considered 
in Robins v. Goddard. I would, however, 
accept the proposition that by virtue 
of the arbitration clause the certifi-
cates issued are not conclusive, but I do 
not think this adds anything to the express 
provisions of Clause 16 of the General Con-

50 ditions. 
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The basis of my finding i: 
this contract the Engineer wj 
of the Council for the purpo: 

i that under 
,3' the agent 
e, inter 

passing wo: 
to 

?k as satisfactory. alia, of passing the 
There is some reason to believe' from the 
evidence that the Oity Engineer, by 
reason of personal visits to the site, must 
have been aware from his own observation 
of the general standard of the work of the 
Contractor; but in any case, as I have said, 10 
it has been conceded that the Architect 
was duly authorised under Clause 1(1) of the 
General Conditions to represent the Engineer 
and I consider that the knowledge of the 
Architect must in the circumstances be re-
garded as the knowledge of the Engineer; 
and acceptance of work by an owne r (or his 
agent authorised in that behalf) with know-
ledge of defects does disentitle the owner 
from claiming for those defects. (Halsbury 20 
3rd Edn. Vol.3 p.454 and Bombay Furniture 
Works v. Gross, E. A. Civ.App.94 of 1955 
(unreported)." 
With great respect, I do not think that the 

statement of the learned Judge that "acceptance 
of work by an owner (or his agent authorised in 
that behalf) does disentitle the owner from claim-
ing for those defects" is a correct statement of 
the law or is supported by the authorities referred 
to by him. Acceptance with knowledge is not 30 
enough. There must be actual waiver as well. 
Paragraph 867, p.454 of Halsbury, 3rd Edn. Vol.Ill, 
which I think is a correct statement of the law 
and borne out by the authorities there cited, 
reads: 

"Effect of acceptance with knowledge of defects. 
Unless it can be shown that the employer 
has not only accepted the work with a 
knowledge of the defects, but also has 
actually waived the condition,as to per-' 40 
formance in accordance with the contract, 
the acceptance will not prevent the em-
ployer from showing that the. work was 
incompletely performed.or was not in 
accordance with the contract. 

Knowledge of the defects at the 
time the work was done is not sufficient 
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10 

to imply acquiescence in them so as to pre-
clude the employer from exercising any 
rights he may have in respect of the in-
complete performance of the contract: 
Whitaker v. Dunn (1887) 3 T.L.R. 602. 

Where the work, however, has been 
done to the approval of the employer if 
he has expressly or impliedly notified 
his approval he cannot go back on it 
and recover for patent defects - Bateman 
(Lord) v. Thompson (1875) 2 Hudson's 
B.C. 4th edition 35 - and it is sub-
mitted that in such a case payment by 
the employer might be held to imply 
approval so as to prevent him from 
bringing an action against the contractor 
for damages on account of the defective 
work. 
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Where the work is to be done to 
20 the approval of a third person such as an 

architect or engineer, and the expression 
of that person's opinion is conclusive, 
then, in the absence of fraud or collusion, 
such approval prevents the employer from 
having any right of action on account of 
defects, whether latent or patent. If the 
expression of the third person's opinion 
is not a condition precedent or is not 
final, for instance where it is subject to 

30 arbitration, the expression of that person's 
approval does not prevent the employer 
setting up a claim on account of defects." 
In the present case there was no express 

requirement that the work had to be done to the 
approval of the employer: it had to be done to 
cextain specified standards (General Condition 
No.2(i), and to the satisfaction of the Engineer 
(General Condition No. 3). I think that the City 
Engineer was the agent of the Council to accept 

40 the work on behalf of the Council (though an agent 
with limited authority, in that acceptance of any 
work or materials which diverged from contract 
requirements must be in writing); but that in 
the matter of expressing satisfaction or dis-
satisfaction he was bound to act fairly between 
the parties. In exercising that function the 
City Engineer had quasi-arbitral duties to per-
form and to that extent was a third party. There 
was no express provision in the contract that the 
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City Engineer's opinion was to be final. As to 
payment, there was express provision that no 
payment certificate issued by the Engineer was of 
itself to be considered conclusive as to the 
sufficiency of work or materials. 

Bombay Furniture Works- v. Gross supra cited 
an 

to be 
authority 
provi-

consent to 
for a 20 

The 
in the 

by the learned Judge is not, with respect, 
authority for the proposition that mere acceptance 
of work by an agent authorised in that behalf with 
knowledge of defects disentitles the owner from 10 
claiming for those defects. In that-, case the 
agent had authority, or was held out by the buil-
ding owner as having authority, to make the 
building contract and to pass the work as satis-
factory. There was no provision, such as there 
is in the present case, requiring the work 
done to certain standards and limiting the 
of the agent to permit deviations from the 
sions of the contract by requiring his 
such deviation in writing or providing 
maintenance period and retention money 
grounds for the decision of this Court 
Bombay Furniture case were not merely that the 
agent had power to accept the work, but that he 
had power to waive complete performance of the 
contract and had done so. 

"Acceptance will not prevent the owner from 
showing that the work is incomplete or badly done 
.... " Hudson 7th Edn. p.236 citing Dakin (H) & Co. 
Ltd. v. Lee supra. 30 

As has been said above, this contract does 
not merely require that the work is to be done to 
the satisfaction of the City Engineer (General 
Condition 3). It also requires that the work 
shall be executed and performed in a good and 
workmanlike manner with the best materials and 
workmanship in accordance with the Contract Agree-
ment, the Specification, etc. (General Condition 
No.2(i)). The appellant contends that on the 
face of the contract there is a dual obligation. 40 
It is important to consider whether there ..is a dual 
obligation imposed by independent covenants or' 
whether the description of the standards is mere 
surplusage and the certificate of, or acceptance 
by, the Engineer is conclusive as to the quality. 
On this point there is some conflict of authority. 
Counsel for the appellant contends that the under-
taking to execute the works in a good and workman-
like manner with the specified materials is the 
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primary obligation and that the obligation' to 
satisfy the Engineer is something added to, and 
not in substitution for, the primary obligation, 
something super-added for the further protection 
of the Council. He relies on Petrofina S.A. of 
Brussels v. Compagma Italiana Transporto Olii 
Mineral! of^Genoa (1937) 53 T.L.R. 223. and Con 
appeal) 650; and Newton Abbot Development Co. v. 
Stockman, 47 T.L.R. 616. In the Petrofina case 

10 the appellants had chartered a steamer from the 
respondent shipowners for the carriage of a cargo 
of oil. The charter party contained'a clause to 
the effect that the steamer was in every way fitted 
for the voyage and a clause (clause 16) providing 
that the captain was bound to keep the tanks pipes 
and pumps of the steamer always clean. It also 
contained a clause: "(27) Steamer to clean for 
the cargo in question to satisfaction of char-
terer's inspector." The inspection was carried 

20 out and the ship accepted by the charterers as 
fit to' load. The oil having become soiled on the 
voyage, the charterers alleged that the dis-
colouration was due to the condition of the ship's 
tanks. The owners contended that their liability 
in the charter party was to clean the tanks to the 
satisfaction of the charterers whioh they did, and 
that they were protected by the terms of the 
charter party from liability for any such dis-
colouration. Singleton J. held that clause 27 

30 was a clause which was super-added for the purpose 
of the charterers: it did not cut down the 
express warranty of seaworthiness contained in the 
earlier clauses or relieve the ship from respon-
sibility: if the shipowners desired'to exclude 
themselves from the express warranty, they should 
have used terms much more express, pertinent and 
apposite than they had done. On appeal, the 
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judgment of Singleton J. ws 
of the Rolls said, at p.653. 

upheld. The Master 

40 

50 

"So far, on this assumption of fact, there 
can be no question as to the liability of the 
ship-owners. But Mr. Devlin has argued 
that clause 27 has the effect of excluding 
this fundamental obligation and substituting 
for it an obligation merely to clean - that 
means to clean the holds before loading the 
cargo in question - to the satisfaction of 
the charterers' inspector. His argument is 
that that is a clause which is inserted for 
the owners' benefit, in this sense, that it 
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cuts down what would otherwise be their 
general obligation to have the holds fit to 
receive the cargo at the time when they are 
loading. I find it impossible to accept that 
contention. 

We 
freightment, 
mind the 
so often 

are dealing with a contract of af-
,t is necessary to bear in 

well-established view which has been 
stated, that if it is sought to 

effect a reduction of the over-riding obliga-
tion to provide a seaworthy ship, whether thai 
is express- or implied for this purpose does 
not matter, by other express terms of the • 
charter-party or contract of affreightment, 
that result can only be achieved if perfectly 
clear, effective, and precise words 
expressly stating that limitation, 
that the language of clause 27 here 
sufficient. To make it sufficient 
it would need to be amplified in 
like this manner. It would have 

10 

are used 
I think 
is not 
I think 

something 
to run: 

20 

'Steamer to clean for the cargo in question 
to the satisfaction of the charterers' 
inspector and if that is done that shall be 
treated as fulfilment of the obligations under 
clauses 1 and'16.' Clause 27 does not say 
so. I think, on the contrary, it has a 
much more limited effect. It gives, as I 
think, an added right to the charterers. 
They are entitled before they load the cargo 
to have an inspection, and to have a certi-
ficate, or whatever the form of the evidence 
is, that their inspector is satisfied. But, 
without express words, the satisfaction of 
the inspector cannot be relied on by the 
owners as a discharge and fulfilment of their 
obligations. From the point of view of the 
charterers this super-added right is something 
which it is worth their 
gives them some sort of 
their being involved in questions such as 
this, where, unfortunately, notwithstanding 
the inspection, there had been a failure to 
provide tanks sufficiently clean and in 
proper condition." 

30 

while to have. It 
guarantee against 40 

Romer L.J. said at p.654: 
"It'is inherent in construction to give 

effect, where it is possible, to every part of 
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a written document, none the less because the 
document happens to he a charter-party. In 
the present case, therefore, we must give 
effect both to clause 16 and to clause 27 of 
this charter-party, if it he possible. In 
my opinion, it is possible. In clause'16 
the owner undertakes to keep the tanks, 
pipes and pumps of the steamer always clean. 
In construing clause 27 you must do so with 

10 the knowledge of the fact that hy clause 16 
that obligation has been undertaken in plain 
terms by the owner. That being so, it is 
plain that the true construction of clause 27 
is this - that the owner is saying: lI have 
by clause 16 undertaken in plain terms the 
obligation of keeping the tanks clean. Not 
only will I keep the tanks clean, hut I will 
keep them clean to the satisfaction of the 
charterers' inspector.' The result is that 

20 the owner can only discharge his obligations 
in respect of cleaning under the charter-
party by cleaning the tanks, keeping them 
clean, and doing so to the satisfaction of 
the charterers' inspector. If he keeps them 
clean, and does not obtain the approval of 
the charterers' inspector, he has not ful-
filled his contract. Nor has he fulfilled 
his contract if he fails to keep them clean 
hut the charterers' inspector has expressed 

30 his approval of the state of the tanks." 
That was a case of a contract of affreightment, 

but the same principle has been applied to a buil-
ding contract. In Newton Abbot Development Go.Ltd. 
v. Stockman Bros. (1931) 47 T.L.R. 617, the defen-
dants agreed to build 18 houses for the plaintiffs. 
The houses were to be built in accordance with 
plans and specifications attached, and the work 
was to be carried out to the satisfaction of the 
surveyor and the sanitary inspector of the Newton 

40 Abbot Urban District Council. The houses were 
completed to their satisfaction and sold to pur-
chasers. It was argued that an express agreement 
relating to cement and the implied agreement that 
the work should be properly done had been broken. 
Roche J. said at td.617: 
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"It was contended that as the surveyor and 
the sanitary inspector had expressed satis-
faction with the houses there was nothing 
more to be said. But there was nothing in 
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the contract to say that their approval was 
to be final and conclusive, and he held 
that that provision in the contract was only 
a superadded protection." 

There is an old oase on a double obligation which 
may be in point: Bird v. Smith, 12 Q.B.786; 
116 E. R. 1065. In that case, on a contract for 
sale to the plaintiffs of iron rails in which it 
was provided that the rails were to be inspected 
and certified before delivery by an agent of the 10 
plaintiffs who was to be at liberty to approve and 
accept for the plaintiffs as he should think fit 
and certify as he should think fit, and that the 
rails were to be in qualitjr equal to any rails 
made in Staffordshire, it was held that a plea 
that the rails had been inspected, certified and 
accepted in performance of the agreement was in-
sufficient, as it dealt only with the provi si on 
for inspection and not with the warranty of quality. 
Denman C.J. said at p.1068: 20 

" each stipulation is in its terms 
distinct, and in its nature, as an absolute 
warranty for quality, may well be required 
in addition to a provision for inspection 
and approval, to guard against defects which 
inspection cannot discover." 
Mr. 01Donovan, for the respono.ent, dissented 

from the proposition that the provision requiring 
work to be done to the satisfaction of the Engineer 
was only a superadded obligation. He contended 30 
that the satisfaction of the Engineer was the 
required' criterion and that if thac had been 
obtained, it was conclusive. He relied princi- • 
pally on Bateman (lord) v. Thompson supra- at p. 30; 
and also on Dunaberg Railway v. Hopkins, 36 L.T. 
733-

It will be necessary to examine Lord Bateman's 
case at some length. In that case a contract was " 
entered into in the year I856 for building work to 
be done by the defendant's firm on Lord Bateman's 40 
residence in Herefordshire. In the contract deed 
were, inter alia: 
(B) a covenant by the contractors that they would 

".... in a good and substantial and workman-
like manner and with the best materials of 
their several kinds (to be provided in part by 
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the contractors and in part by Lord Bateman) 
.... but in every event and particular to the 
satisfaction in all respects of the architect 
and of the said Lord Bateman ... make, 
execute and complete the ... works described 
in the specification and drawings"; 

(C) a covenant by the contractors that they would 
carry out any alterations desired by Lord 
Bateman on the written instructions of the 

10 architect; 
(E) a provision whereby it was agreed by the 

parties "that the decision of the architect 
with respect ... to the completion of the said 
works or any portion thereof respectively and 
also with respect to every question which may 
arise concerning the construction or effect 
of the said specification, drawings, plans, 
designs, and instructions, or any of them, 
shall at all times be final and conclusive 

20 on the contractors"; 
(F) a provision requiring the contractors during 

the progress of the work or within twelve 
months thereafter upon notice in writing from 
the architect (which might be given notwith-
standing any certificate previously given by 
him as to the due execution of the'works) to 
take down and replace unscund work, and if 
the contractors failed to do so, a provision 
empowering Lord Bateman to take down and 

30 replace the work at the cost of the con-
tractors. 
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(G-) a proviso in the following terms: . 
"... if at any time within a period of 
twelve months from the date of the final 
certificate of the architect that all the 

. works have been well and truly performed to 
his satisfaction ... and either before or 
after the contractors ... shall have received 
... the sum of money hereinbefore contracted 

40 to be paid ... it shall appear that the con-
tractors have used any unsound materials or 
have in any other way not performed the said 
works ... in a substantial, workmanlike and 
proper manner ... it shall be lawful for the 
said Lord Bateman ... notwithstanding ... 
any certificate which may have been given by 
the architect of the due completion of the 
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said works ... to institute any action ... 
against the contractors ... for the damage 
which shall have been sustained in consequence 
of the use of any unsound materials by the 
contractors ..." 
The works were completed and 

Bateman and the architect in 1861, 
for. 

approved by Lord 
and were paid 

Much more than six years having elapsed and 
certain defects having appeared, due mainly to the 10 
use of unsuitable stone some of which had been 
sanctioned by the architect and some not, lord 
Bateman brought an action for damages against the 
contractors. It was found as facts that bad 
materials had been used and that there had been 
bad work on the part of the contractors, but it was 
held that, as both the architect and Lord Bateman 
had approved of them, the action failed. 

The passage relied upon by Mr. 0*Donovan is 
in the judgment of Lord Coleridge C.J. in the 20 
Common Pleas Division at p.30 of the report. 

"The question is whether there was any 
breach of this contract. I am of opinion 
that even without the proviso, upon the 
true construction of this contract, no 
action lies. The contractor is to perform 
the work in- a good, substantial and workman-
like manner, and with the best material of 
their several kinds, and to the satisfaction • • 
of the architect and Lord Bateman. That I 30 
think is the true construction of that con-
tract. They are to be good, substantial, 
and workmanlike, and to his satisfaction -
that is to say, he is to be satisfied that 
they are good, substantial and workmanlike 
materials and work. He was so satisfied, 
and within the terms of this contract both 
he and his architect, the architect by his 
certificate and Lord Bateraan by his conduct, 
as.a matter of fact, were'satisfied within 40 
the words of the contract, and accordingly 
the covenant in this deed was in its term 
performed by the defendant, and having been 
performed by the defendant clearly no auction 
lies upon it. I must say the matter is 
clear to my own mind upon the construction 
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of the contract irrespective altogether of 
the proviso. 

If there could he any doubt about it, it 
appears to me that it is taken away alto-
gether by the proviso, because the proviso 
says if in spite of the certificate of the 
architect of the works having been well and 
duly performed, which I already assume has 
been given, and in spite of the works having 

10 been certified as having been completed, 
which I have already said has been certified 
as having been done, if in spite of that 
Lord Bateman within a year after the giving 
of the certificate, finds out such a thing 
as has been suggested by Mr. Matthews, 
although I did not find it stated in this 
case that there has been a conspiracy between 
the architect and'the builder, he may set the 
certificate aside, and that if he finds there 

20 is a gross defect disclosed twelve months 
after the certificate has been given, that 
he may then bring his action." 

Grove J. inclined strongly to the construction 
that there'was not a double covenant to supply the 
best materials and to satisfy the"architect, but 
that the supply of the best materials was to be 
subordinated to the satisfaction of the architect 
and of Lord Bateman and that if after proper 
inspection they were satisfied, the covenant was 

30 to be taken as complied with; and he said that 
even if he were to take it otherwise, the proviso 
(G) when read with the covenant showed that the 
parties intended to limit any right against them 
to twelve months after the final certificate of 
the architect. ' Grove J. relied heavily on that 
proviso on which, he said (p.34), that the decision 
of the case mainly depended, and also on the pro-
vision ('E* above) that the decision of the archi-
tect with respect to the state and condition and 

40 completion of the works should be final and' con-
clusive on the contractors. He said at p.36: 

"Therefore I agree with my Lord, although 
I do not think it is absolutely necessary 
to the decision of the case that the 
question of soundness or unsoundness is to 
he decided by the certificate of the 
architect, and that if it were not for this 
proviso there would not be an action for 
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breach of covenant. I think on the true 
construction of the deed, taking it 
altogether, the plaintiff's right of action 
continues up to the end, of the twelve 
months after the certificate of the archi-
tect has been given of the completion of the 
works, but that after that time the certi-
ficate is final and conclusive, therefore 
I think oar judgment should be for the 
defendant." 10 
Archibald J. agreed that judgment must be for 

the defendant. He said at p.36: 
"Now the covenant of which the important part 
provides that the work is to be done in a' 
good, substantial, and workmanlike manner, 
and with the best materials, goes on to 
specify that there are some materials to be 
provided by Lord Bateman and some to be 
provided by the contractor, but in every 
event and particular to the satisfaction in 20 
all respects of the architect and of the 
said Lord Bateman, I read that as meaning 
that this work is to be done in a good and 
workmanlike manner so as to satisfy Lord 
Bateman and the architect, and that is what 
the contractors have stipulated to do, and 
upon the covenant alone I confess and 
incline very strongly to the opinion that 
if that is done, and if that satisfaction is 
expressed in the way provided that that is a 30 
performance of'the covenant on the part of 
the contractor, and thai except for the 
proviso which comes afterwards with regard 
to the year, no action would be maintainable 
against him, but if there were any doubt 
as to whether that was the true construction 
it would be entirely disposed of, it seems 
to me, when we look at the other portion of 
the deed, and, as my brother Grove has 
already pointed out, the true mode of con- 40 
struing a document of this kind is to look 
at all the provisions of it and see how 
they bear upon each other, and to soe what 
light each part reflects upon the rest." 

He relied upon Clause (E) and the proviso (G) as 
throwing light on the intention of the parties. 

I do not see how, upon the construction of 
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the deed which was under consideration in Lord 
Bateman's case the judgment could have been other-
wise than for the defendant. But the provisions 
of the deed under consideration in Lord Bateman's 
case were so different from the provisions of the 
contract documents in the present case that I 
cannot derive from it so much assistance as I 
could wish. In Lord Bateman's case there was a 
provision that the decision of the architect with 

10 regard to completion of the works was to he final 
and conclusive on the contractors. It is true 
that this applied only to the contractors. So far 
as the owner was concerned, there was a proviso 
that Lord Bateman, notwithstanding any certificate 
by the architect of satisfactory completion, could 
within twelve months from the date of such certi-
ficate institute an action for damages for defects 
appearing within that time. As all the learned 
Judges pointed oat, there would have been no point 

20 whatever in that provision if Lord Bateman could 
institute an action for defects whether or not 
appearing within that time. These are very 
different from the provisions of the contract 
documents in our case. To my mind the only assi-
stance to be derived from Lord Bateman's case is 
that the learned Judges who decided that case 
either held the view or inclined to the view that 
a covenant to construct in a good and workmanlike 
manner and with the best materials, but to the 

30 satisfaction of the architect and the building 
owner, was complied with if those persons were 
satisfied. Lord Coleridge would have held this 
view without the proviso. The proviso was what 
finally determined the other two learned Judges. 
Whether it would have made any difference if the 
covenants had, as in our case, been independent, 
it is difficult to say. 
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The learned author of the Article on Building 
Contracts in Halsbury 3rd edn. Vol. 3, p.454, 

40 paragraph 867, quoted above cites Bateman's case 
as applying to patent defects and' the approval of 
the employer. But, with respect, it does not 
appear to me that all the defects in Bateman's 
case were patent. (See paragraph 17 of the case 
stated). I find Lord Coleridge's opinion in 
Bateman's case and the opinion to which the other 
learned Judges inclined as to the obligation being 
single and not double very difficult to reconcile 
with the judgments of Singleton J. and of the 

50 Court of Appeal in the Petrofina case and of 
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Roche J. in the Newton Abbot case quoted above. 
In the last resort each case must depend upon the 
construction of its own contract documents and the 
contract in Bat email's case was very different from 
the one which I have to consider. 

I do not think The Dunaberg and Witepsk Rail-
way Co. Ltd. v. Hopkins Gilkes & Co. Ltd- supra 
on which Mr. 0'Donovan relied, is of any assistance. 
In that case there was express provision that the 
decision of the engineer on any point of doubt or 10 
dispute should be final and binding on all parties. 
It was held that an action for damages for breach 
of contract could not be maintained, as the engi-
neer had given a final certificate and the con-
tract showed that the parties intended the final 
expression of the engineer's satisfaction with the 
entire contract to be conclusive. Thereis no 
such express provision in our contract. 

A case which does seem to me to assist the 
respondent and which was not cited, is Harvey v. 20 
Lawrence (1867) L.T.N.S. 571- By a building con-
tract, a builder agreed to repair a house with the 
best materials of their kind in a perfect and 
workmanlike manner according to the drawings arid 
specifications, and to the satisfaction of the 
architect, the work to be done under the archi-
tect's directions. The architect certified his 
satisfaction of the completion of the works. It 
was held in an action by the builder against the 
owner of the house for money agreed to be paid by 30 
the latter, that no evidence could be received from 
the defendant that the work was not done according 
to the plans and specifications. Coleridge Q.C. 
(as he then was) made the point that the words of 
the contract were "according to the drawings, speci-
fications and directions, and to the full satis-
faction" of the owner or his"architect and that 
the word "and" could not be rejected from the 
sentence. Bovill C.J., however, did not deal with 
this argument: he decided purely on the fact that 40 
tho works were to be carried out under ie super-
intendence of the architect and said that that 
provision precluded the defendant from producing 
evidence of any variation from the specifications. 
Smith J. said that the defendant's intention 
evidently was that the architect should direct the 
building, and that the work should be completed 
to the full satisfaction of himself or his archi-
tect. Halsbury 3rd edn. "Vol. 3 at p.465 cites 
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this case as one of two authorities for the pro-
position: "Where the contract provides that work' 
and materials shall "be of some prescribed quality, 
and also that they shall be to the satisfaction 
of the architect, then, unless the covenants are 
independent, the description of quality is mere 
surplusage and the certificate of the architect 
is conclusive as to the quality." The other 
authority cited is a Scottish case which' is not 

10 available here. For what that is worth, the 
covenants in the present case are independent. 

There seems, therefore, to be some conflict 
of authority on the question whether an obligation 
to complete work according to specified standard 
and to the satisfaction of the owner's agent is a 
dual obligation or merely a single obligation 
which is answered by proof of acceptance of the 
work by the agent. On this point, certainly 
where the covenants are independent, I prefer to 

20 follow the high and comparatively recent authority 
of the Court of Appeal in England in the Petrofina 
case supra. In particular, if I may respectfully 
so say, the words of Romer L.J. quoted above seem 
to me to be sound law and of universal application. 
These words were spoken of a charter-party; but 
they are equally applicable to any other contract. 
The learned Lord Justice said that it is inherent 
in construction to give effect where possible to 
every part of a written document and he proceeded 

30 to hold that Clause 16 and Clause 27 of the 
charter-party imposed separate obligations, and 
that the ship-owner could only discharge his 
liability by keeping the tanks clean and by keeping 
them clean to the satisfaction of the inspector. 
Similarly, in the present contract effect must be 
given, if possible, both to General Condition 2(i) 
and to General Condition 3 and I should not, unless 
forced to do so, treat General Condition 2(i) as 
surplusage. Under General Condition 2(i) the 

40 Contractor assumed an express obligation to do the 
work in a good and workmanlike manner and with the 
best materials and workmanship; and I think that, 
as was held in the Petrofina case, that undertaking 
could only be curtailed by words much more 'express, 
pertinent and apposite' than those contained in 
General Condition 3. It is possible in.the present 
case, as it was, in the Petrofina case to give effect 
to both provisions of the contract. In my opinion, 
the Contractor could only discharge his obligations 

50 under the contract by doing the work to the speci-
fied standards with the specified materials and 
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doing it to the satisfaction of the Engineer. I 
think that he would fail to fulfil his contract 
if he failed to do work to the required standards, 
notwithstanding that the Engineer might have 
accepted the work. In the Petrofina case and the 
Newton' Abbot case the defects were latent and not 
patent, but I do not think that, this is material 
on the question whether the contract imposes a 
double or a single obligation. 

I proceed now to consider whether the accept- 10 
ance in writing and taking' over by the Council hy 
its agent for that purpose, the City Engineer, of 
the eleven blocks is, as the respondents strongly 
contend, conclusive, so as to prevent the Council 
from setting up a claim for defects in respect of 
those blocks. The answer must depend upon the 
construction of the contract documents in this case. 
We have here a contract which:-
(a) contains two clauses, the first requiring 

the Contractor to complete the work to 20 
certain standards and the second requiring 
that the Engineer shall be satisfied; 

(b) contains no express provision making the 
satisfaction of the Engineer or the accept-
ance of the works "by him on completion 
final or conclusive; 

(c) contains provisions (Condition 7(iv) and 
Specification 15) to the effect that when 
the works have been executed according to 
the provisions of the contract and to the 30 
satisfaction of the Engineer, the date of 
such completion shall be certified by the 
Engineer, upon which date a six months1 
period of maintenance is to start and the 
contractor is to be entitled to a certifi-
cate for 95/ of the value of the work 
properly executed and the remaining 5/ on 
the expiration of the maintenance period, 
but contains no provision for a final 
certificate or final acceptance at the 40 
expiration of the maintenance period; 

(d) contains provisions (Condition 9(ii) and 
(iii)) requiring the Contractor to make good, 
when directed, defects appearing during the 
maintenance period and in default empowering 
the Engineer to make them good, thereby 



655. 

clearly indicating that there may he defects 
for which the Contractor is to he liable 
after the acceptance and taking over of the 
buildings by the Council and the issue of 
the certificate for payment of 95$, and, 
accordingly, that taking over by the Council 
is not conclusive as to the absence of 
defects for which the Contractor is liable; 

(e) contains no express provision limiting the 
10 ordinary right of the Council to sue for 

damages for bad materials or workmanship 
after the expiry of the maintenance period; 

(f) contains no provision such as that in the 
Bateman case expressly conferring on the 
building owner a right to sue limited to the 
maintenance period, thereby implying that 
there was no such right beyond that period; 

(g) contains a provision (Condition 9(iv)) which 
appears to contemplate that claims in respect 

20 of defects may be made after the full amount 
due to the Contractor has been paid on the 
expiry of the maintenance period; 

(h) contains a provision (Condition 16) to the 
effect that :io payment certificate is of 
itself to be considered conclusive so as to 
relieve the Contractor of his liability to 
make good'all defects. A payment certifi-
cate for 95$ is to be issued on satisfactory 
completion, and I find it very difficult to 

30 believe that the Council would have inserted 
an express provision to the effect that this 
should not relieve the Contractor of 
liability for defects, if it was intended that 
he should have already been relieved, or be 
relieved from such liability by the letter 
of acceptance which would ordinarily precede 
or accompany the certificate for payment of 
95$. 
I think that all these matters indicate that 

40 the letters of acceptance by the City Engineer and 
the taking over by the Council of the eleven blocks 
were not conclusive so as to prevent the Council 
exercising any rights which they might have to sue 
for damages for defects arising from the substandard 
work or materials, notwithstanding that such 
defects might appear and suit might be brought after 
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10 

the expiration of the maintenance period, and, 
upon the construction of this contract, I so hold. 

Neither, as Roche J. said in the Newton Abbot 
case supra, would the clause which allowed the 
retention of part of the contract price for a 
certain time interfere with the right to claim 
damages for defects discovered after that time. 
Nor would Condition 9(ii) have this effect: 
Robins v. Goddard (1905) 1 K.B. 294, 303- Marsden 
v. Sharp, 47 T.L.R. 549 is distinguishable as, in 
that case, the contract contained express words 
limiting claims to defects appearing within a five 
year period. 

Mr. Stewart Brown (if I understood him cor-
rectly on this point) submitted that waiver implied 
a new contract and that in the case of such 
corporations (e.g. the Council) as can only execute 
contracts pursuant to a resolution or by-law no 
parol or implied contract con be proved: the only 
binding form of new contract is one executed in 20 
pursuance of section 41(2) of the Municipalities 
Ordinance. I think that this, though rather 
technical, is correct: Halsbury 3rd edn. Vol. 3 
p.478. But this would not prevent a written or 
oral waiver by an agent not under seal binding a 
corporation, if the contract provided for this 
and the agent acted in accordance with the contract. 
In holding that the letters of acceptance by the 
Engineer did not amount to waiver binding the 
Council, I have depended on the construction of 30 
the contract and not on this argument. 

I have held that the letters of acceptance of 
the City Engineer in respect of the eleven blocks 
were not final or conclusive or a waiver of the 
Council's right to sue for defects. Clearly, 
having regard to Condition 16, the 95$ payment 
certificates were not conclusive or a waiver. A 
fortiori the interim payment certificates issued 
in respect of the other six blocks were not con-
clusive or a waiver. I have also indicated my 40 
opinion that the Architect and the Clerk of Works 
had no actual authority from the Council to accept 
orally from time to time sub-standard work and 
materials. The only authority under the contract 
documents to sanction deviations from the specified 
work and materials was that given to the City 
Engineer himself and writing was required. He was 
a delegate and could not, I think, delegate that 
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power; but if he could, he certainly could not In the Court 
extend the authority so as to allow the Architect of Appeal for 
or Clerk of Works to sanction orally what he, Eastern Africa 
the Engineer, could only sanction in writing. 
There is no evidence and no finding that the No.25 
contract was ever varied in this respect or that 
the powers of the Engineer or the Architect were 
ever extended by the Council. 

These findings deal with actual authority. 
10 The question of ostensible authority must now be 

considered. The learned Judge has said that there 
was evidence that the standard was deliberately 
relaxed on account of difficulties arising from 
the Emergency and anxiety that the-work should 
not be delayed. The Judge has not, I think, made 
a definite finding that they were relaxed by the 
Council or by the City Engineer; but has found 
that they were relaxed orally by the Architect, 
Mr. Tanner, and the Clerk of Works. In any event, 

20 the learned Judge did not apply this to matters 
which amounted to variations from the specification. 
In regard to those he says: 

"The position is more difficult as regards 
work which amounts to a variation from the 
terms of the Specification. This was permitted, 
or in some cases, directed, by the Architect 
for the same reasons, but as I have said, 
under the contract variations were required 
to be in writing, and to be authorised by the 

30 City Engineer personally. Nevertheless in 
view of the conflict between the provisions 
of the contract and the General Conditions, 
and of the fact that the general conduct of 
the contract was left in the hands of the 
Architect, I consider that the Architect was 
held out as having authority to waive strict 
compliance with details of the specifications, 
and that such waiver by the Architect is 
therefore binding on the Council." 

40 This passage the appellant strongly challenged. 
There is some conflict (resolved, however, by 
Clause 4 of the Deed) between Clause 2 of the Deed 
and General Condition No.l as to the authority of 
the Architect to direct or approve deviations from 
the provisions of the contract; but there is no 
conflict as to the provisions requiring a direc-
tion or approval involving any deviation from any • 
of the provisions of the contract to be in writing, 
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and, with respect, it is difficult to see how the 
fact that the general conduct of the contract was 
left in the hands of the Architect would amount to 
a waiver of this express provision of the agreement 
between the parties. To leave the general con-
duct of the contract in the hands of the Architect 
is in no way inconsistent with the provision 
requiring written permission of the City Engineer 
for departures from the specification. It is true 
that the learned Judge refers to "details" of the 10 
specification and it may well be that the Architect 
had some discretion as to those; but it could 
hardly be suggested that this would extend, e.g. 
to authority to weaken seriously the cement or 
mortar mix or to sanction a deviation.from the 
specification in respect of the hardcore filling 
which would inevitably cause settlement and 
cracking of the floors. 

The section of the Indian Contract Act which 
in Kenya governs "holding out" and the ostensible 20 
authority of agents is section 237: 

"237. When an agent has, without 
authority, done acts or incurred obliga-
tions to third persons on behalf of his 
principal, the principal is bound by such 
acts or obligations if he has by his words 
or conduct induced such third persons to 
believe that such acts and obligations 
were within the scope of the agent's • • 
authority." 30 
The question is whether the Council by its 

words or conduct induced the Contractor to believe 
that the Architect had authority orally to accept 
sub-standard work and materials. This is not the 
ordinary case where the third party is dealing 
with an agent only and has no, or little, knowledge 
of the scope of the agent's authority. This is 
a case of a contract between the Contractor scad 
the Council in which the limits of the agent's 
authority are in terms laid down. The Contractor 40 
had only to lock at the contract to see that only 
the Engineer himself had power to v. on sent to 
deviations-from any of the provisions of the con-
tract; and, if there was any doubt about what this 
meant, there could be no doubt about the provision 
that'neither the Engineer himself, nor the Archi-
tect, had power to approve work or materials 
otherwise than in writing. (Clause 2 of the Deed 
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and Condition l(ii)). The Contractor must "be 
taken to have had actual notice of this limitation 
of the Architect's authority. And, in fact, on 
three occasions when he was asked to deviate from 
the provisions of the contract and do extra work 
which would cost him money he applied for and 
obtained written variation orders. In Pollock 
and Mulla on the Indian Contract Act 6th edn. at 
p.269 the learned authors say: 

10 "With regard to contracts and acts 
which are not actually authorised, the 
principal may be bound by them, on the 
principle of estoppel, if they are within 
the scope of the agent's ostensible 
authority; but in no case is he bound by 
any unauthorised act or transaction with 
respect to persons having notice that the 
actual authority is being exceeded." 

The rule is the same in English law: 
20 "V/here a principal, in conferring 

authority upon his agent to act on his 
behalf, imposes- conditions or limitations 
on its exercise, no act done by the agent 
in excess of the conditional or limited 
authority is binding on the principal as 
regards such persons as have, or ought to 
have notice of such excess of authority ..." 
Halsbury 3rd ed. Vol. I p.209, para.477-
Mr. 0'Donovan founded an argument on section 

30 40 of the Municipalities Ordinance (which deals 
with the validity of acts of officers of the 
Council notwithstanding defects in appointment) 
and section 49 (which empowers the Council from 
time to time to prescribe by resolution the duties 
of its officers). He said that the City Engineer, 
the Architect and Clerk of Works were all officers 
of the Council, the extent of their powers was a 
matter solely within the knowledge of the Council 
and there was no evidence of any limitation of 

40 their authority: he invoked the omnia praesumuntur 
rite esse acta maxim and argued that the Contractor 
was justified in assuming that the Architect and 
Clerk of Works had heen given any authority which 
they purported to exercise. I disagree. There 
were the express provisions of Clause 2 of the 
Deed and Condition l(i) to show the limits of the 
authority of the Architect and Clerk of Works and 
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in face of this, the Contractor was not entitled 
to assume without enquiry that they had some 
authority in excess of those limits. I cannot 
agree that the Architect or Clerk of Works either • 
had authority, or was held out as having authority, 
to waive orally departures from the provisions of 
the specifications. 

For all these reasons, I would answer Issue 
No. 6 in the negative. 

As to Issue No. 7, "the particulars of the 10 
alleged estoppel pleaded may be summarised as 
(a) inspection of the works; (b) approval and 
taking possession thereof after the Contractor 
had been required to, and had done, repairs and 
alterations; (c) the issue of interim payment 
certificates; and (d) thereby inducing the Con-
tractor to believe that the works had been approved 
so that alterations and repairs would he more 
expensive than they would have been if objections 
had been taken and the alterations and repairs 20 
effected during the progress of the work or within 
a reasonable time thereafter. 

As to (a) and (b), it has been pointed out 
that acceptance and taking possession of the works 
even with knowledge of defects does not, unless-
there has been actual waiver of due performance, 
prevent an employer from showing that the work 
has not been completely performed: Halsbury 3rd 
edn. Vol.3 p.454; Hudson 7th edn. p.236 quoted 
above. As to oral approval from time to time by 30 
the Architect or Clerk of Works of departures from 
the specification, there could be no estoppel if 
the Contractor knew the extent of their authority 
and knew that it was being exceeded. He did know, 
or should, from the terms of his contract, have 
known, this. As to (c) estoppel could not be 
founded on the issue of interim payment certifi-
cates which are only estimates of what it is safe 
for the owner to pay the Contractor, and are not 
conclusive of anything. As to (d), the Contractor 40 
was bound to put right defects appearing during 
the maintenance period (Condition 'j(iii)); but I 
think that if defects were patent before the 
commencement of the maintenance period and the 
Council by their officers knowingly stood by and 
did not ask for these to be corrected at or before 
acceptance of the building (when the Contractor 
was on the site and could have remedied them mo're 
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easily and cheaply), thereby causing the Con-
tractor to believe that he had no further liability 
in respect of these defects, there may be a case 
for relieving the Contractor of the additional 
expense (if any) caused by such standing by. 
The Council had a duty to mitigate damages in-
respect of defects which were patent or-could, 
with reasonable standards of inspection, have been 
discovered. This is dealt with when the measure 

10 of damages is considered hereafter. Mr.08Donovan 
cited Hughes v. Metropolitan Railway Co. (1877) 
2 A. C. 4391 448"; and Birmingham & District5 Band 
Co. v. Don don and North Western Railway (1889( 
40 Ch.D.28B, as authority for the proposition that 
if A. has contractual rights against B., and has 
by his conduct induced B. to believe that those 
rights will not be enforced, A. will not be allowed 
subsequently to enforce those rights or at least 
will not be allowed to do so without restoring B. • 

20 to his former position. I do not think, however, 
that that principle is wholly applicable to the 
facts of the present case. It could, in any event, 
apply only to the eleven blocks and to defects 
which were patent when they were taken over. As 
has been pointed out, the contract provided for 
the Contractor to make good defects appearing 
during the maintenance period and he cannot, or 
should not, have been induced merely by directions 
to do some repairs and approval and acceptance of 

30 the blocks to believe that those rights or the 
right of the Council to sue for defects appearing 
after the commencement of the maintenance period 
would not be enforced. I revert to this when the 
question of mitigation of damages is considered. 
With this reservation I would answer Issue Ho.7 in 
the negative. 

Issue No.8 will be dealt with later. 
As to Issues 9 and 10, I agree with the fin-

dings of the learned Judge and would award the 
40 Contractor Shs.78,850/- on this head. The con-

tract contains power in the City Engineer to order 
extras and his orders in so far as they were given 
in accordance with the contract, are binding on 
the Council: Halsbury 3rd edn. Vol. 3 p.478 
paragraph 929 and cases there cited. 
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I come now to issue No.8 - damages - which is, 
in my opinion, the most difficult part of the case. 
Generally speaking, the measure of damages for 
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failure to carry out a building contract in accor-
dance with the specification is the difference 
between the value of the buildings as they ought 
to have been and as they v/ere left by the contrac-
tor, and this difference is usually calculated by 
the cost of making the defects good. Newton Abbot 
Development Co. v. Stockman supra. Hoenig v. 
Isaacs supra. It is to be noted that the diminu-
tion in the value of the works due to the existence 
of the defects is the measure of damages envisaged 10 
by paragraph (iv) of General Condition 9 for 
defects to which that paragraph applies. The value 
of the buildings as completed by the Contractor 
was estimated by Mr. Wevill at p.414 of the Record 
on'a'comparative maintenance basis, at £35,000 to 
£40,000. Deducting £40,000 from the contract 
figure of £85,000 (though in fact Mr. Wevill valued 
the buildings if finished according to the speci-
fication at a higher figure than the contract 
price) the difference between the value of the 20 
buildings as they were left by the Contractor, and 
as they ought to have been would, on this basis, 
be £45,000. The Council, however, is not now 
claiming that amount. The Schedule of Claims 
now put in by the Council is based on the estimated•• 
cost of making defects good and totals Shs.527,540/90 
or approximately £26,370. This is more favourable 
to the Contractor than Mr. Wevillestimate of 
the difference in the value worked out on compara-
tive costs of maintenance. I will, therefore, 30 
discard any other basis of calculation and will 
assess the diminution in value between the buil-
dings as they were left by the Contractor and as 
they should have been by calculating the cost of 
making good the defects. 

I have already indicated my opinion that the 
right of the Council to sue for defects is not 
limited (as the learned Judge held in regard to 
the eleven blocks taken over) to defects appearing 
during the maintenance period. (See e.g. Newton 40 
Abbot Development Go. v. Stockman Bros. supra]u 

Claims for damages now made by the Council 
are summarised under six headings: 

I. Foundations and Foundation Walling. 
II. Floors and Hardcore fill underneath. 
III. Superstructure Walling, 

Damp course. 
Door frames, etc. 



663. 

IV. Joinery - Hinges. 
V. Loss of Rent. 

VI. Cost of Survey and Report. 
As to I - Foundations and Foundation Walling, 

the findings" of the learned Judge are: 
"I find that there was a proportion of 

this concrete which was not up to 
specification or was badly mixed and 
therefore unduly weak and that the 
Architect and Clerk of Works were not 
aware of the fact that this weak con-
crete had gone into the buildings." 
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"My finding is that a proportion 
of the cement used" (i.e. in the founda-
tion walling) "was not up to specification 
or was badly mixed or laid and that this 
was not known to the Architect or Clerk 
of Works." 
She learned Judge held that the Council could 

only recover, as regards the eleven blocks taken 
over, for defects discovered within the maintenance 
period. Being unable to find evidence as to the 
extent of the defects discovered within the main-
tenance period, he was reluctantly unable to 
assess a figure for damages. Having held that 
the Council's right to recover is not limited to 
the defects discovered within the maintenance 
period, I am not under the same disability. As 
regards the six blocks not taken over, the learned 
Judge accepted Mr. Wevill's report and awarded 
6/17ths of the whole sum (Shs.38,967/20) assessed 
by Mr. Wevill for excavation, underpinning, railing 
out joints and repointing. The bulk of this was 
for excavating to expose the external face. The 
learned Judge awarded 6/l7ths of the whole assess-
ment, notwithstanding that he had only found that 
a proportion of the concrete and cement was defec-
tive. He may reasonably have considered that the 
cost of excavating to discover what proportion was 
defective would in any event have to be allowed and 
that the cost of testing each joint to find out 
which were defective would be likely to amount to 
as much as, or more than, the cost of raking them 
all out and replacing with new mortar. I do not 
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propose to disturb this finding, except to make it 
apply to seventeen blocks instead of to six, that 
is-to say I would allow the whole sum of Shs. 
38,967/20 plus Shs.9,741/80 extra for work done 
by contract i.e. Shs.48,708/-. I do not think 
that the Council is bound to do the remedial work 
departmentally or to recover damages on the basis 
that it will be so done. There is no evidence 
that their departmental officers and labour are or 
could be made available for this work. I suppose 10 
that the Council is entitled, instead of doing 
the work, to accept inferior buildings with com-
pensation. If, however, the remedial work is 
actually done, I would allow a further Shs.10,000/-
(as estimated by Mr. Wevill) for pumping and 
baling to keep the foundations clear of water 
during the work. 

As to II - Floors and Hardcore fill under-
neath: The Council claims the whole cost of hacking 
up all floors, digging out filling, filling back 20 
with hardcore in 6" layers and ramming and relaying 
concrete floors and screed to a total of Shs. 
309,639/10 plus Shs.77,409/80 if the work is done 
by contract. 

The learned Judge found (a) that the absence 
of small filling between the larger boulders was 
not a failure to comply with the specification or 
drawings; that hardcore filling without such 
small material was unlikely to be satisfactory, 
but that that appeared to have been the provision 30 
of the specification, accepted as such by Mr. 
Tanner; (b) that ramming of a sort was -undertaken 
but that ramming would not be very effective in 
the absence of small material; (c) that the boul-
ders put in were larger than would go into 6" 
layers and that there had been a breach of the 
specification in this respect; but (d) that both 
Mr. Tanner and Mr. Stone saw the hardcore filling 
which was being put in and approved both the type 
of stone used and the method of filling. 40 

As to the concrete floors on top of the fill, 
the learned Judge found that a proportion of the 
concrete was either not of the correct mix or not 
properly mixed or laid and that the defect was 
unknown to the Glerk of Works and the Architect. 

With regard to the hardcore fill, Mr. Stewart 
Brown did not suggest that the Contractor was under 
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an obligation to import small rubble, but he did 
argue that if the stone had been broken smaller 
so as to go into 6" layers and the broken fragments 
had been put in, there would have been enough 
small stone to enable much better consolidation in 
layers not exceeding 6" and the ramming would have 
been much more effective. This'would appear to be 
reasonable. There was nothing, however, in the 
Specification (except perhaps paragraph 2 of the 

10 1st Part of the Speoification) binding the Con-
tractor to break up the stone on the spot and put 
in the resulting fragments, though this was the 
method adopted and one of the Contract Drawings 
shows small filling between the stones. 

Mr. 0'Donovan argued that the Council had not 
proved their damages because they had not proved 
how much, if at all, a better result would have 
been achieved if the large boulders had been 
broken down and the resulting fragments put in. 

20 Moreover, he contended that the Council were under 
a duty to mitigate damages and that they could not 
recover damages resulting from a failure to take 
reasonable steps at the time to have this done. 
He contended that they could have insisted on the 
blocks being broken down to the proper size when 
it would have been easy and cheap to do this, 
and that they cannot recover the greatly enhanced 
cost of taking up'all the floors to do the work 
now. Mr. 05Donovan relied on Trent and Humber- Co., 

30 ex parte Cambrian Steam Packet Co. (lbCTB) 6 Eq.396. 
In that case the Trent Co. had built a ship for the 
Cambrian Co. which was defective. The defect was 
not discovered until nearly a year after the 
delivery of the ship and after the ship had returned 
from a voyage. Expensive repairs were then neces-
sary. It was held that the defect could easily 
have been discovered by the representatives of the 
Cambrian Co. at or before the day that the ship 
was delivered and that, in those circumstances, 

40 the maximum amount recoverable was the amount which 
it would have cost to rectify the defect at the 
date of delivery. Mr. 0»Donovan argued that, by 
analogy, the most the Council could recover was 
the amount which it would have cost to rectify 
the hardcore fillings at the times that they were 
put in. 

Mr. Stewart-Brown in reply contended that, 
though the Council could have demanded rectifica-
tion of the hardcore fillings at the time, the 
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fact that they had not done so did not affect their 
right to damages: a building owner is not under 
an obligation to exercise an optional remedy and 
does not lose his right to damages if he does not 
do so (Robins v. Goddard (1905) 1 K.B.294, 303). 
Moreover, Mr. Stewart-Brown pointed out, in the 
Trent case the Cambrian Company was held to be 
entitled to damages at the date of completion, and 
in the present case the damages had not increased 
since the date of completion: the floors had 10 
already heen put down. 

I do not think that a building owner loses 
his right to damages if he does not exercise an 
optional power to have the work rectified when he 
discovers or ought to have discovered the defects; 
but it may be that his damages will be calculated 
at the date at which he ought to have acted to 
mitigate them, and that if he chooses to lie by 
and do nothing, he may not be entitled to recover 
the greatly enhanced cost of remedying the defects 20 
later. When the actual amount of damage has been 
affected by the conduct of the plaintiff or his 
agents, if that conduct was unreasonable, damages 
may be diminished on that account: Wilson v. Hicks 
(1857) 26 L.J. (N. S. ) 242. A party is bound to 
act not only in his own interests, but in the 
interests of the party who would have to pay the 
damages, and to keep down the damages so far as it 
is reasonable and proper, by acting reasonably in 
the matter: Smailes & Son v. Hans Dessen & Go. 30 
(1906) 94 L.T. (N.S.J 492,493^ The Trent case 
(supra) differs from the present case in that it 
was not shown that the Cambrian Co. had any rep-
resentative on the job supervising the work or that 
the defect was known to any officer of the Cambrian 
Co. before completion. In fact im was not dis-
covered until nearly a year a: fter comnletion. If 
a date before completion had been established at 
which an officer of the Cambrian Co. had discovered 
the defect, the damages might have been related to 40 
that date and not the completion date. 

As I have said, generally speaking, the 
measure of damages for failure to carry out a 
building contract in accordance with the specifica-
tion is the difference between the value of the 
buildings as'they ought to have heen and as they 
were in fact, and is normally measured by the cost 
of making the buildings good. (I omit, for the 
present, consideration of loss of rent, profits, 



6 6 7 . 

etc.). But the cost of making good is not always 
the measure. For instance, as Mr. Stewart-Brown 
conceded, the measure of damages for building a 
house 30 feet, instead of 35 feet, hack from a 
road would not he the cost of demolishing and 
rebuilding the house, certainly not if the owner 
could have discovered what was being done but did 
not do so, or did so and made no objection, until 
the house had been completed. He could not then 

10 recover the whole cost of making good as at the 
date of completion (I have assumed in this example 
that no building by-law was contravened). Simi-
larly, I think that here the Council or its agent 
the City Engineer could and should have known the 
type of hardcore and the method of filling which 
was being used. Mr. Tanner knew. It is in 
evidence that Mr. Tanner was not agreeable to 
incurring the extra expense of small rubble and 
took no notice when the practical difficulty oc-

20 casioned by attempting to ram large stones without 
the voids being filled was explained to him. Mr. 
Tanner should have reported to the City Engineer. 
The fill should then have been corrected and the 
damages mitigated. There is no evidence of what 
it would have cost at that stage (a) for the Con-
tractor to break down the fill to the specified 
size and (b) for small rubble, if still required, 
to be put in; but clearly the cost would have 
been much less than the cost of hacking up the 

30 floors, digging out the fill, filling back and 
relaying the floors which is now said to be the 
only satisfactory remedy. No doubt the Architect 
was at fault, and, perhaps the City Engineer also;, 
but the Contractor was by no means free from blame. 
The breach of contract was primarily his. He put • 
in, in breach of paragraph 26 of the Specification, 
stone, not approved in writing, of a size which 
could not go into layers not exceeding 6 inches 
and could not be effectively rammed. He could 

40 have avoided this trouble if he had observed the 
terms of the Specification or, when approached by 
the Clerk of Works to make a good job of the 
filling by adding small rubble he had not said 
that he was not going to, as it was not in the 
Specification. (See the evidence of Mr. Stone, 
whose evidence the learned Judge accepted, at page 
290). Even if the Contractor was not under an 
express obligation to put in small rubble, he must 
have known that boulders with little or no small 

50 filling in the voids and no proper compaction 
would cause uneven settlement and cracking of the 
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floor and would not be sound building construction 
practice within paragraph 2 of the Specification. 
He should have obtained a written direction and 
could, if he contended'that small filling was out-
side the Specification, have asked to recover the' 
cost of small filling as an extra. In any event, 
he was bound by clause 26 of the Specification read 
with General Condition l(ii) to get the type of 
filling which he was using approved in writing and 
this he did not do. It seems to me that both the 
parties acted unreasonably and were about equally 
to blame for the work going forward with defective 
hardcore filling and fo: 
therefrom. 

the results which flowed 

10 

As to the concrete floors, the learned Judge 
found that a proportion of the concrete in the 
floors was (unknown to the Architect and Clerk of 
Works) not of the correct mix or not properly 
mixed or laid; but he has not said what proportion. 
The learned Judge said that he found it impossible 20 
to reach any estimate as to the figure of damages 
attributable to faulty concrete' in the floors. If 
damage has been proved, however, and there is any 
evidence upon which an assessment of it can be 
made, the Court must not be deterred by difficulty 
in assessing it. "Difficulty in assessing the 
damages is no reason for refusing damages, or for 
awarding only nominal damages:" Mavne on Damages, 
11th edn. p. 610; Chaplin v. Hicks ("1911) 2 K.B. 
786 (C.A.). I consider that there is some evidence 30 
upon which an assessment of damages under Head II 
above could have been based. The facts that 
precision cannot be arrived at and that certainty 
is impossible are no grounds for not making an 
assessment: Chaplin v. Hicks supra at p.792. It 
is stated in Mr. Y/evill's Report, which the learned 
Judge seems to have accepted in those instances 
where he gave damages, that all the floors have 
cracked, leading, as Mr. V/evill says, to the reason-
able assumption that the type of filling which was 40 
exposed where the floors were opened up is similar 
throughout and that the cause of cracking, irres-
pective of possible weakness in the concrete, lies 
in the filling. Mr. V/evill1 s oral evidence and 
that of Mr. Stone support that inference. Mr. 
Wevill stated further that no matter what repairs 
were made to the floors themselves, no permanent 
cure could be effected until they were all taken 
up, the filling removed, all black cotton soil dug 
out and new filling which conforms to the Specifi- 50 
cation done and the floors re-laid. The Council 



669. 

would, on the "basis which I have stated above and 
apart from any question of mitigation of damages, 
be entitled to the cost of making the buildings 
good including the cost of having new filling 
put in of a size which conforms to the Specifica-
tion. For the purpose of rectifying the filling 
underneath, the floors would have to be removed 
and replaced. Mr. Wevill estimated the cost of 
hacking up the floors, digging out the fill, back-
filling and making new floors at Shs.387,048/90 if 
the work were done by contract. I think that the 
damages under this head should be assessed at that 
sum less whatever proportion ought to be deducted 
by reason of the failure of the servants of the 
Council to act reasonably in mitigating the 
damages. It is impossible, as it was in Chaplin 
v. Hicks supra, to make an accurate assessment, 
but damage is proved and the Court must make some 
assessment or order an inquiry as to damages. I 
have considered whether an inquiry as to damages 
should be ordered, but that would only involve 
further protracted and expensive litigation, and 
it is probable that no precise assessment could be 
achieved. Accordingly, I would allow Shs.387,048/90, 
diminished by the proportion which the Council ought 
to bear by reason of their servants' part in allowing 
-the work to go forward with defective hardcore fil-
ling, which, having regard to the figures and all 
the circumstances, I assess at fifty per cent. That 
is to say, I would allow the Council Shs.193,524/45 
on this head. 

As to III - Superstructure Walling. The 
finding of the learned Judge is: 

"I have reached the conclusion that the 
complaint is justified with regard to some 
proportion of the cement mortar and that 
this defect was not known to the Architect 
or Clerk of Works." 
The learned Judge allowed 6/l7ths of the sum 

(Shs.18,573/20) assessed by Mr. Wevill for external 
rectification, i.e. Shs.6,564/-. This was because 
the learned Judge held that the Council could only 
recover in respect of six of the seventeen blocks. 
For the reasons already given, I think that the 
Council can recover in respect of all seventeen 
blocks, and that, accordingly, the whole sum, 
Shs.18,573/20, should be allowed for external 
treatment, plus a further Shs.4,643/30 the cost 
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of having the work done by contract, making a 
total of Shs.23,216/50. A similar sum, i.e. 
Shs.23,216/50, will be recoverable in respect of 
similar internal treatment. Total Shs.46,433/-. 

As to Door Frames and Windows: 
The findings of the learned Judge are: 

"It is further complained that door frames 
were not properly set or fixed. Once again 
there seemed to be some divergence of evi-
dence on this subject. It appears to me that 
the Architect and Clerk of Y/orks were aware 
of what was being done in general though in 
particular cases it may be that the door 
frames were badly set without this being 
. noticed at the time. This would seem to be 
a matter which it should be easy to pick up 
either during inspection of the buildings 
prior to taking over or during the mainten-
ance period. Nevertheless it probably does 
c o n s t i t u t e a "breach of contract' f o r which the 
Contractor is responsible." 

"It is complained that door and window 
frames were not fixed with metal cramps, 
that door hinges were not as specified and 
were fixed with screws without any bolts. 
The evidence indicates that there was not 
a compliance with the specification in that 
screws and not bolts were used but it is 
also clear in the evidence that the variations 
were known to- and accepted by the Architect 
and Clerk of Works." 
The learned Judge allowed nothing on this head 

because he had held that the Council could not 
recover for patent defects. If, however, I am 
correct, the Council is entitled to recover on 
this head. It is not shown that the cost of 
taking out and replacing defective door frames, 
shutters and louvres is more now than it would 
have been had each defective door frame, etc. been 
required to be replaced immediately after it was. 
put in, except that the Contractor has now left 
the site. I cannot allow for this. He should 
not have left defective work behind him. The 
Council are entitled to the cost of making these 
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10 

matters good, which, following Mr. Wevill's 
figures in Exhibit K., I would assess at Shs. 
8,430/- plus 25$ for work done by contract, i.e. 
Shs.10,537/50. 

Damp•Course. The learned Judge allowed 6/l7ths 
of Shs.500/- for defects in the damp course. On 
my findings the whole of the Shs.500/- should be 
allowed. 

As to IV - Joinery - Hinges. 
One of the findings is quoted above. Another 

is: 
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Judgment, 
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"It appeared that types of spring closing 
device were used on these" (the Ablution) 
"doors and that as a general rule the doors 
were not set so as to close on their own 
account. This is an apparent failure to 
comply with the Specification but is not 
a matter which can be concealed. Both 
the Architect and Clerk of V/orks must have 

20 been aware of what was done." 
I think that the same reasoning applies as 

for door frames and windows and that the Council 
are entitled to recover the cost estimated in 
Exhibit K for carrying out this work, namely Shs. 
7,252/50. 

As to V - Loss of Rent. The claim on this 
head is now reduced to Shs.10,967/- (See Schedule 
of Claims p. 4). The Teamed Judge did not feel 
able to award anything on this head because the 

30 Council had not succeeded in establishing their 
claim in respect' of the bulk of the alleged 
defects. I think that a claim for loss of rent 
should only be allowed if the loss is in fact 
incurred. Accordingly, if the Council does the 
remedial work indicated under paragraphs I to IV 
above or any of it and in so doing the buildings 
concerned have to be evacuated so that rents are 
lost, the actual loss so incurred will be recover-
able by the Council as damages provided the 

40 remedial work is put in hand and completed with 
reasonable despatch. 

As to VI - Cost of Survey and Report. The 
Council claimed Shs.9,881/- on this head. The 
learned Judge on the basis of his findings allowed 
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Shs.2,000/-. On the basis of my findings I would 
allow Shs,6,000/-. 

To summarise, I would allow damages under 
Issue 8 as follows: 

I. Foundations and Foundation Walling. 
Shs.48,708/-; plus, if the remedial 
work is actually done, Shs.10,000/- for 
pumping arid haling. 

II. Floors and Hardcore fill underneath. 
Shs.193,524/45-

III. Superstructure Walling. 
Shs.46,433/-. 
Door Frames and Windows. 
Shs.10,537/50. 
Damp Course. 
Shs.5007-7 

IV. Joinery - Hinges. 
Shs.7,252/50. 

V. Loss of Rent. 
The Council may recover the amount 

of rent actually lost by reason of 
doing the remedial work mentioned or 
any of it. 

"Vi. Cost of Survey and Report.• 
Shs.6,000/-. 

As to the retention money, th- Contractor is 
not entitled to any of it until he has satisfac-
torily completed the work, which he has certainly 
not done to date. Only if and when the Contractor 
has discharged his liabilities to the Council 
enumerated above, so that it can be said that the 
defects for which the Contractor is liable have 
been remedied or damages paid in lieu, will he be 
entitled to receive payment of the retention money 
and of the sum of Shs.50,000/- deposited by way of 
security. He is not yet entitled to either. 

I would allow the appeal'and set aside the 
Decree dated 6th September, 1957, and substitute 
a Decree to- the effect (1) that subject to para-
graph 2 of the Decree, the Council do pay to the 
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Contractor, in Civil Case No.170 of 1956, the sum 
of Shs.70,850/- in respect of extras; and (2) a 
declaration that the Council is entitled in Civil 
Case No. 1314- of 1956 to the damages set out under 
Heads I to VI above and an order that the Con-
tractor do pa;/ the same accordingly. As to the 
sums awarded for pumping and haling under Head I 
and for loss of rent under Head V, judgment may 
be signed for these upon proof to the satisfaction 

10 of the Registrar of this Court (subject to refer-
ence to the Court) that the work has been done. 
The amounts payable by and to each party under 
paragraphs (l) and (2) may be set off. The Con-
tractor will also be entitled to-set off the 
retention moneys and the Shs.50,000/- deposited 
by way of security. The Decree had better be 
settled in Chambers and the parties must have 
liberty to apply from time to time as the Decree 
is worked out. 

20 As to costs, having considered the issues upon 
which the Council has succeeded and the extent to 
which they have been successful financially, and 
following the principle in Cinema Press Ltd. v. 
Pictures and Pleasures Ltd. (194-5) 1 K. B" at p. 364, 
I would order that two-thirds of the costs of both 
suits below and of the appeal be taxed and paid by 
the Contractor to the Council. There should be a 
certificate for two counsel on each side on the 
appeal. 

30 K.K. O'CONNOR. 
PRESIDENT. 

JUDGMENT OF GOULD J. A. 
I have had the opportunity of considering the 

judgment of the learned President in this appeal. 
I am in full agreement with it both as to reasoning 
and conclusions and I have nothing to add. 

T.J. GOULD. 
JUSTICE OF APPEAL. 

JUDGMENT OF CORRIE AG. J. A. 
40 I also agree. 

0. O.K. CORRIE. AG. JUSTICE OF APPEAL. 
Delivered hy the Registrar at Nairobi, on 

Wednesday the 10th day of December, 1958. 
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No. 26 
O R D E R 

IN HER MAJESTY'S COURT OF APPEAL FOR EASTERN AFRICA 
AT NAIROBI. 

CIVIL APPEAL NO. 83 of 1957 
BETWEEN 

CITY COUNCIL OF NAIROBI .. APPELLANT 
and 

ATA UL HAQ .. .. RESPONDENT 
(Appeal from a Judgment and Decree of the Supreme 
Court of Kenya at Nairobi (Mr. Justice Forbes) 
dated the 6th day of September, 1957, in 

Civil Case No.170 of 1956 
Between 

Ata U1 Haq .. .. Plaintiff 
and 

City Council of Nairobi .. Defendant 
ana 

Civil Case No.1314 of 1956 
Between 

City Council of Nairobi .. Plaintiff 
and 

Ata U1 Haq .. .. Defendant) 

10 

20 

In Court this 10th aav of December 1958. 
Before the Honourable the President (Sir Kenneth 

O'Connor) 
the Honourable Mr. Justice Could, a Justice 

of Appeal 
and the Honourable Sir Owen Corrie, a Justice of 

Appeal (Acting). 
O R D E R 

• THIS APPEAL coming on for hearing on the 23rd, 
24th, 25th and 26th days of September, 1958 AND UPON 
HEARING Stewart Brown, Esquire of Her Majesty's 
Counsel and J.A. Mackie Robertson Esquire of Counsel 

30 
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for the Appellant and B. 01Donovan Esquire and 
S.R. Cockar Esquire of Counsel for the Respondent 
it was ordered that this appeal do stand for 
judgment and upon the same coming for judgment 
this day 
(1) IT IS ORDERED 

That this appeal "be and is. hereby allowed, 
and the Decree of the Supreme Court of Kenya 
dated the 6th day of September, 1957, he and 

10 is hereby set aside; 
(2) AND IT IS ORDERED 

That the Appellant, then Defendant, do pay to 
the Respondent, then Plaintiff, in Supreme 
Court-Civil Case No.170/56 the sum of Shs. 
70,850/- in respect of Extras; 

(3) AND IT IS DECLARED 
That the Appellant then Plaintiff is entitled 
in Supreme Court Civil Case No. 1314/56" to the 
damages following:-

20 I. Dor Foundations and 
Foundation Walling Shs. 48, 708.00 
Plus: For pumping and 
baling if remedial work 
carried out Shs.10,000 

II. For Floors and Hardcore " ' 
fill underneath 193,524.45 

III. For Superstructure Walling 46,433.00 
Door Frames and Windows 10,537.50 
Damp Course 500.00 

30 I?. For Joinery - Hinges 7,252.50 
V. Loss of Rent - the actual loss 

incurred by evacuation of buildings 
for carrying out remedial work, if 
put in hand and completed with 
reasonable despatch 
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VI. For Cost of Survey and Report . 6,000.00 
Shs.312,955-45 
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AND ACCORDINGLY it is 
ORDERED that the respondent (then Defendant) do 
pay to the Appellant (then Plaintiff) in Supreme 
Court Civil Case No.1314/56 the said sum of Shs. 
312,955/45; 
(4) AND IT IS FURTHER DECLARED that against the 

said sum of Shs.312,955/45 payable to the ' 
Appellant under (3) above the Respondent may 
set off the sum of Shs.70,850/- payable to 
him under (2) above, the retention moneys of 
Shs.140,018/- and deposit by way of security 
of Shs.50,000/-. 

10 

(5) AND IT IS FURTHER ORDERED: 
That the Respondent do pay to the Appellant 
Two thirds of its costs of both suits below 
and this appeal to be taxed and certified by 
the Taxing Masters of the Court below and 
this Court respectively with allowance for 
two counsel on each side in this appeal. 

(6) AND IT IS FURTHER DECLARED: 20 
That the parties be at liberty to apply from 
time to time as the Decree is worked cut. 

GIVEN under my hand and the Seal of the Court at 
Nairobi, this 10th day of December, 1958. 

F. HARLAND. 
REGISTRAR, 

H.M. COURT OF APPEAL FOR EASTERN AFRICA. 

ISSUED on this 19th day of August, 1959-



677. 

No. 27 
ORDER GRANTING FINAL LEAVE TO APPEAL 

IN HER MAJESTY'S COURT OF APPEAL FOR EASTERN AFRICA 
AT NAIROBI 

In the Court 
of Appeal for 
Eastern Africa 

No. 27 
Order granting 
Final Leave to CIVIL APPLICATION NO. 3 of 1959 

(In the matter of an intendedvappeal to Her Majesty Appeal, 
16th October 
1959. 

APPLICANT 

in Council) 
BETWEEN 

ATA UL HAQ 
and 

CITY COUNCIL OF NAIROBI .. RESPONDENT 
(Intended appeal from a judgment and order of Her 
Majesty's Court of Appeal for Eastern Africa at 
Nairobi dated 10th December 1958 in. 

Civil Appeal No. 83 of 1957 
Between 

City Council of Nairobi .. Appellant 
and 

Ata Ul Haq .. .. Respondent) 

In Chambers this 16th day of October 1959-
Before the Honourable Mr. Justice Windham, a Justice 

of Appeal. 
O R D E R 

UPON the application presented to this Court 
on the 14th day of October, 1959, by Counsel for 
above named Applicant for final leave to appeal 
to Her Majesty in Council AND UPON READING the 
Affidavit of Sheikh Mohamed Akram of Nairobi in 
the Colony of Kenya advocate sworn on the 13th 
day of October, 1959, in support thereof AND UPON 
HEARING Counsel for the Applicant and Counsel 
for the Respondent THIS COURT DOTH ORDER that 
the application for final leave to appeal to Her 
Majesty in Council be and is hereby granted AND 
DOTH DIRECT that the record, including this Order, 
be despatched to England within 14 days from the 
date hereof AND DOTH FURTHER ORDER that the costs 
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of this application do abide the result of the 
Appeal. 
GIVEN under my hand and the Seal of the Court at 
Nairobi this 16th day of October, 1959. 

F. HARLAND. 
REGISTRAR. 

ISSUED this 16th day of October, 1959. 
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EXHIBIT 2. 
LETTER, CITY ENGINEER TO ATA UL HAQ. 

6th December, 1954. 
Mr. Ata-Ul-Haq, 
P.O. Box 2809, 
Nairobi. 
Dear Sir, 

Doonholm Neighbourhood 
Stage 1, Part B, Contract N.75 

The defects on the list which was handed to 
you by the Clerk of Works following the first take 
over inspection, have not been attended to satis-
factorily and no proper attempt has been made to 
do so. I require you immediately to attend to 
these defects, in particular the doors, tiles and 
floors. The inspection on the 2nd December re-
vealed that only one door mentioned in the list 
had been repaired. The list of defects will be 
checked before the buildings are taken over. 

In future all items listed by the Clerk of 
Works must be repaired and the Clerk of Works is 
not to be informed that this has been done, until 
it has in fact been done. 

Yours faithfully, 
Sd. ??? 

CITY ENGINEER. 

Exhibits 
2. 

Letter, City 
Engineer to 
Ata U1 Haq. 
6th December 
1954. 

EXHIBIT 3. 
LETTER, CITY ENGINEER TO ATA UL HAQ 

4th November, 1954-
Ata-Ul-Haq, 
P.O. Box 2309, 
Nairobi. 

5. 
Letter, City 
Engineer to 
Ata U1 Haq. 
4th November 
1954. 

Dear Sir, 
Doonholm Neighbourhood 

Stage 1, Part B, Contract N.75 
I have to inform you that the following units 

were accepted by Council on 1st November under the 
above contract •• 
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Exhibits 
2. 

Letter, City-
Engineer to 
Ata U1 Haq. 
4th November, 
1954 
- continued. 

Block No. No.of Rooms Room No. Value 
Part 29 

" 2 8 1 Ablution 
Unit 

349 - 352 Shs.13,200/-
5,000/-

Yours faithfully, 
Sd. ??? 

CITY ENGINEER 

4. EXHIBIT 4. 
Letter, City LETTER, CITY ENGINEER TO ATA UL HAQ 
S f f i / ? ' 18th December? 1954. 
18th Decent, I t g ^ i / H ^ ^ ' 

NAIROBI. 
Bear Sirs, 

Doonholm Neighbourhood 
Stage 1, Part B, Contract No.73-

I have to inform you that the following build-
ings have been accepted by Council. The Clerk of 
Works informs me that the timber used for the 
joinery appears unsatisfactory and will in many 
instances have to be replaced at the end of the 20 
maintenance period. I require that the standard 
of joinery be improved in future buildings before 
they can be taken overs-
31 lock No. Room Nos. No.of Rooms Est. Cost 
28 (Part) 387 - 406 2 0 + 2 abl. Shs. 77,000/-
29 (Part) 329 - 348 u n i t s 

353-386 54 " 178,200/-
Total No.of Rooms s 74 Total Value " 255,200/-

Site clearance lias not been completed. 
Yours faithfully, 30 

Sd. ??? 
c.c. C.A.A.O. . CITY ENGINEER. 

3.W.S. 
Mr. Hannington, 
Mr. Hatersley, 
Clerk of Works, 
Architect i/c African Housing, 
M.O.H. 
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EXHIBIT 5. 
LETTER, ATA IJL HAQ TO C ITY ENGINEER 

P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 
14tli January, 1955 

The City Engineer, 
P.O. Box 651, 
NAIROBI. 
Lear Sir, 

Doonholm Neighbourhood 
Stage 1, Part B, Contract No.73 

I refer to your letter CE.9369/t/DH/9/u/73 
dated 18th December 1954, and do not understand 
the statement that the Clerk of Works has informed 
you that the timber used for the joinery appears 
unsatisfactory and will, in many instances, have 
to be replaced at the end of the maintenance period. 

I am very concerned by this statement, par-
ticularly in view of tiie fact that none of your 
representatives at the time of the inspection be-
fore taking over, saw fit to raise this matter in 
these terms. During previous inspections a de-
fects list was handed to me by the Clerk of Works 
and all the defects noted in this list were com-
pleted before the final inspection. 

The specification for timber to be used for 
joinery states that "it shall be approved selected 
quality cedar free from all defects". This quality 
is being used for the manufacture of all joinery 
work, and in the event of any defects being noticed 
which fall within the terms of the specification, 
I have never refused to make good or replace. 

I feel that any general comment on the quality 
of the joinery timber could well have been made 
during the period of several weeks when the houses 
were standing empty and your representatives were 
not willing to take over because of the lack of 
progress on the construction of a drain which did 
not form part of my Contract. 

I shall be glad if you will provide me. at 
the your early convenience, with a schedule of 

defects in joinery timber. 
Site clearance was completed before the hand-

ing over of the houses, and was satisfactory to all 
concerned at that time. Since then the tenants 

Exhibits 
27-
Letter, 
Ata U1 Haq, to 
City Engineer. 
14th January, 
1955. 
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Exhibits 
27-
Letter, 
Ata U1 Haq, to 
City Engineer. 
14th January, 
1955 
- continued. 

of the houses have broadcast litter and the con-
struction of a deep sewer across the site has de-
posited quantities of excavated material and 
rubble. 

Yours faithfully, 
ATA-UI-HAQ. 

6. EXHIBIT 6. 
Letter, LETTER, ATA UL HAQ TO CITY ENGINEER 
Ata U1 Haq to p ~ B 2 8 0 g 
City Engineer. NAIROBI, 10 
14th January, 14th January, 1955 
1955. The City Engineer, 

P.O. Box 651, 
NAIROBI. 
Dear Sir, 

Doonholm Neighbourhood 
Stage 1, Part B, Contract N. 75^ 

Since the commencement of this Contract I have 
not received any variation orders covering the ex-
tra operations carried out in blocks of buildings 20 
where the foundat ions are at a greater depth than 
that specified. 

1 shall be glad if the Clerk of Works can be 
instructed to agree measurements already taken by 
him in my company, so that a variation order cover-
ing the whole Contract can be issued at an early 
date. 

Yours faithfully, 
ATA-UL-HAQ. 
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EXHIBIT 8. 
LETTER, ATA UL HAQ TO CITY ENGINEER 

The City Engineer, 
Nairobi. 

P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 
29th June, 1955. 

Bear Sir, 
Doonholm - Neighbourhood Scheme 

Contract No. 73-. C--L 0 J. * Stage B, 
With reference to the above contract, I wish 

to bring the following matters to your kind atten-
tion. 
1. I received from the Clerk of Works a Chart 
Statement dated the 28th June 1955 showing a num-

of Stonework in the building Foot-
is subject to Variation Order). 

This statement is not correct and to prove it so, 
dig Inspection Holes so the matter 
against the chart given to me. 

ber of Courses 
ings (this work 
I am willing to 
can be verified 
2. Blocks 31, 32, 33 , 34 on my work have now been 
completed and occupied since six weeks and I have 
not yet received a letter stating that these have 
been taken over. 
3. I was told to dig Twenty Inspection Holes so 
that my work could be examined. This was done and 
the opened work examined by your Architect-in-
Charge of the African Housing. This work is cov-
ered by the "Condition of Contract", but when I 
requested for the instructions to be given in 
writing in accordance with the "Conditions of Con-
tract", this was refused by him. 
4 . I wrote a letter on the 7th April, 1955 re-
questing a Variation Order to cover the repairs 
carried out by me on a Building damaged by someone 
elses lorry on my site. I regret to note that so 
far I have not received this Variation Order. 
5. Finally I wish to point out that I have re-
ceived no payment since last two months against 
this Contract. 

I shall appreciate if you will kindly look 
into these matters at your earliest convenience. 

Thanking you in anticipation. 
Yours faithfully, 
ATA-UL-HAQ. 

Exhibits 
27-
Letter, 
Ata Ul Haq to 
City Engineer. 
29th June, 1955 
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Exhibits 
9. 

Letter, 
Acting City-
Engineer to 
Ata Ul Haq. 
8th July, 1955. 

EXHIBIT 9> 
LETTER, ACTING CITY ENGINEER TO ATA 

TJL HAQ 

Mr. Ata-Ul-Haq, 
P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 

8th July, 1955. 

Dear Sir. 
Ofafa Estate, Stage 1, Part B 

Contract N.73-
Thank you for your letter of the 29th 

1955. 
I will answer the matters to which you 

in their numerical order. 

June, 

refer 

10 

1. I have no objection to you digging inspection 
holes to prove your claim that the Clerk of Works, 
Mr. Stone, has recorded them incorrectly. I under-
stand that Mr. Stone's figures are in many cases 
averages of stone courses below floor concrete. In 
this case it will be necessary for you to dig a 
minimum of three holes per block to prove your 
point. The cost for digging the holes will be pay-
able by 

(a) The City Council should Mr.Stone's recorded 
figures be proved wrong. 

(b) By you, the contractor, if the recorded 
figures are proved correct. 

These holes will be inspected by the African 
Housing Architect. 
2. Notification that the Council have accepted 
these blocks was sent on the 28th June 1955« 
3. It was Mr. Tanner's request that you should 
dig twenty inspection holes, and that Mr. Stone 
should supervise this work. I understand that Mr. 
Tanner and Mr. Mould inspected these holes, but in-
structed you to leave them open until samples of 
mortar from the joints had been taken for chemical 
tests by the Public Works Department, samples were 
not taken because you filled the holes in. Mr.Mould 
wrote to you about this on the 8th June 1955. Sam-
ples of mortar will be taken when you expose the 
walling to check the number of courses, and sent to 
the Public Works Department, for chemical analysis. 

20 

30 

40 
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4. This matter is being dealt with, I have writ 
ten to the contractor who damaged Block 28. 
5. Payment certificates for the months, May and 
June, have been prepared and you should have re-
ceived them by now. 

Yours faithfully, 
ACTING CITY ENGINEER. 

EXHIBIT 10. 
PARTICULARS OF EXTRAS CLAIMED BY ATA UL HAQ. 

Shs. Cts. 
10 1. Stone masonry in foundation 

16,969 sq. ft. © Shs. 1/50 
per sq. ft. 25,453.00 

2. Extra excavation, of black cotton 
soil 27,354 cu.ft. © Shs. -/20 
per cu.ft. 5,469.00 

3. Extra filling under floor. 
27,345 cu.ft. © -/25 per cu.ft. 6,836.00 

4. Provided and fixed flashing to 
two flue stacks No.188 © 

20 Shs. 142/- each 26,696.00 
5. Provided and fixed flashing to 

one stack No.32 © Shs.120/- each 3,840.00 
6. Provided and fixed flashing to 

one flue and stack No.24 @ 

30 

Shs.75/- each 1 ,800 .00 
7. Form steps in roof No.4 @ 

Shs. 338/- each 1 ,352 .00 
8. 6" precast concrete drain 827 run-

ning ft. @ Shs.5/- per running ft. 4 ,135 .00 
9. Extra for removing boundary wall 

Blocks No.26 and 27 415 .00 
10. Murrum path to block No.29 366 .00 
11. Dug inspection holes 800 .00 
12. Children's latrines No.3 @ 

Shs. 40/- each 120 .00 
13. Extra shelves in kitchen No.456 

@ Shs. 6/» each 2 ,736 .00 

Exhibits 
27-

Letter, 
Acting City 
Engineer to 
Ata U1 Haq. 
8th July, 1955. 
- continued. 

10. 
Particulars of 
extras claimed 
by Ata U1 Haq. 
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Exhibits 
10. 

Particulars of 
extras claimed 
by Ata TJ1 Haq. 
- continued. 

14. latrine Head Plate 4" x 2" 648 
running ft. © Shs.1/50 per 
running ft. 

15. 14,150 running ft. plastering 
4" wide to concrete slab @ 
Shs. -/40 per running ft. 

16. Extra for repairing damaged wall 
by somebody else's lorry 

17. Extra for If" x 1" podo batten 
including labour and nails, 
13,608 running ft. @ -/2G r/ft. 

Shs. Cts. 

972.00 

5,660.00 

270.00 

2.721.60 
89,641.60 

11. 
letter, 
City Engineer 
to Ata U1 Haq 
22nd January, 
1955. 

EXHIBIT 11 
LETTER, CITY ENGINEER TO ATA U1 HAQ 

22nd January, 1955< 
Mr. Ata-Ul-Haq, 
1.0. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 
Dear Sir, 

Doonholm Neighbourhood 

I refer to your 4 No. letters dated 14th 
January, 1955 in connection with the above Contract. 

Firstly, with regard to the 9" step-downs in 
the roofs. The Specification (preliminary and Gen-
eral Clause 13) clearly states that 'the Contractor 
shall furnish the City Engineer when requested with 
detailed measurements and prices of all work and 
materials which may be varied or specially ordered 
from time to time in such a form as will enable the 
quantity, price per unit and total price to be 
readily perceived'. In accordance with my letter 
C.E.9265/T/H/9/N/73 of 9th December, will you 
please do this? 

Secondly, with regard to the timber used for 
joinery. Both the Clerk of Works and the Architect 
i/c African Housing informed you verbally that they 
considered the timber was not satisfactorily seas-
oned and that serious shrinkages might we3.1 appear. 
It was not possible to give this opinion to you any 
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earlier as the joinery was well constructed and 
the shrinkages only began to appear at the time of 
taking over. A schedule of defects in the joinery 
as well as other items will be given you at the 
end of the Defects liability Period. 

There is no question of you having to clear 
the site of material left by the sev/er contractor 
or of rubbish from the house occupants. However, 
a certain amount of further site clearance will 

10 have to be done at a later date as your building 
operations have caused a small amount of rubble 
etc., to be deposited in the area of some of the 
buildings that have been taken over. 

Thirdly, the Clerk of Works has been instruc-
ted to take measurements of the foundation depths 
and agree them with you. Variation Orders v/ill 
be issued as soon as this is done. 

Fourthly, with regard to your request for ex-
tra payment for lime. The Specification states 

20 that approved lime shall be used - that is, lime 
approved by the City Engineer. In this connection 
it was decided that lime purchased from Messrs. 
Beales or another similar in quality could be used. 
The Architect was not aware that you had reverted 
to Kenya Marble Quarries' lime and in fact this 
was not authorised by him or by the Clerk of Works. 
However, in view of your many difficulties with 
this Contract, I am prepared to approve the use of 
this latter lime. There is no extra cost involved, 

30 since the approval of this lime is merely a re-
laxation from my original standards. 

The delay in obtaining tiles has hindered the 
progress of your Contract and I am prepared to 
grant you an extension of 4 No. weeks. The date 
of completion is therefore 16th May, 1955. 

Yours faithfully, 

Exhibits 
27-
Letter, 
City Engineer 
to Ata U1 Haq. 
22nd January, 
1955 
- continued. 

r! ITY ENGINEER, 
c.c. Mr. Tanner. 
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Exhibits 
27-

Letter, 
City Engineer 
to Ata Ul Haq. 
30th August, 
1954-

EXHIBIT 12. 
LETTER, CITY ENGINEER TO ATA III. HAQ, 

Mr.Ata-Ul-Hao, 
P.O. Box 2809% 
Nairobi. 

30th August, 1954. 

Lear Sir, 
I) o onho im Ne i ghb o urho o d, 

Stage 1, Part .B^C^ntract^JN.^^., 
I would be obliged if you would submit a price 

for stepping blocks, 9" average step, under the 
above contract. 

This price, which should be stated for one 
step only, will serve as the basis of a Variation 
Order. 

Yours faithfully, 

CITY ENGINEER, 

13. 
Letter, 
Ata TJ1 Haq to 
City Engineer 
9th October, 
1954. 

EXHIBIT 13. 
LETTER, AT1 A UL HAQ TO CITY ENGINEER 

P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI, 
9th October, 1954. 

The Oity Engineer, 
City Council of Nairobi, 
TOWN HALL, 
NAIROBI. 
Dear Sir, 

Re s Doonholm Neighbourhood 
Stage 1, Part B,_ Contract N.73 

With reference to your letter No.C.E.7852/MCP/ 
W/9/N/73 of 30th August 1954 I beg to submit the 
tender for 9" average step and will charge Shs.238/-
for each step. 

Hoping a favourably reply at your earliest 
convenience. 

Yours faithfully, 
Sd. ??? 

for UTA-UL-HAQ. 



689„ 

EXHIBIT 14. 
I' • Ii. STONE TO ATA UL HAQ 

Clerk of Works Office, 
Doonholm Road, 

Neighbourhood Site. 
13.10.54. 

Messrs. Ata U1 Haq, 
Contractors, 
Neighb0urhood Site. 

Steps to Buildings (Part B) 
The Architect informs me that you have sub-

mitted a price of Shs.238/- (Two hundred and 
thirty eight) for constructing the steps in the 
buildings under construction. 

Will you please arrange to submit a detail 
account or build up showing how the. figure of 
She. 238/- is made up. 

Please treat this as urgent. 
(Sgd.) T.l. Stone. 

Exhibits 
27-
letter, Clerk 
of Works to 
Ata U1 Haq. 
13th October, 
1954. 

EXHIBIT 15. 
LETTER. ATA UL HAQ TO CITY ENGINEER 

P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI, 
20th October, 1954. 

The City Engineer, 
Nairobi City Council, 
TOWN HALL, 
NAIROBI. 
Dear Sir, 

With reference to your Clerk of Works' letter 
of 12th instant I beg to inform you that the amount 
shown in my tender was made up as under 
As per tender from Messrs. Ilarn 
Din & Co., for flashing ... Shs.126.00 
One extra Truss including fixing 42.00 
Quarry tiles to Gable including 
fixing v/ith cement mortar ... 44.00 

15. 
Letter, 
Ata U1 Haq to 
City Engineer, 
20th October, 
1954. 
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Exhibits 
15. 

letter, 
Ata Ul Haq to 
City Engineer, 
20th October, 
1954 - continued. 

Cutting and fixing of Manglore Tiles on 
top of quarry tiles including pointing Shs. 29.00 
Gutting and fixing of Manglore Tiles to 
lower roof ... ... 17.00 

For attending to Tin Smith cutting 
chase and re-pointing to flashing ... 18.00 

4 Carbel Stones @ Shs.4/50 each ... 18.00 
The difference of labour and wastage in 
cutting of li" x 1" battens ... 14.00 

Profit ... ... ... 30.00 
TOTAL Shs.338.00 

In case ;rou require any sort of explanation 
as to how I made up this amount, I am always pre-
pared to explain it. 

Yours faithfully, 
ATA-UL-HAQ 

CONTRACTOR. 
PLEASE NOTE, 

I regret to inform you that a clerical error 
was made by my cleric in that when adding the amount-
he showed the figure of Shs. 238/- instead of 
Shs. 338/- thus making a mistake of Shs.100/- when 
submitting the tender of 9th instant. 

Under the circumstances I shall be grateful 
if you will please consider the previous tender cf 
9th instant as cancelled and the fresh tender of 
'338/- as shown above be regarded as correct. 

10 

20 

16. 
Letter, 
City Engineer 
to Ata Ul Haq, 
9th December, 
1954. 

EXHIBIT 16. 
LETTER, CITY ENGINEER TO ATA UL HAQ. 

9th December, 1954. 30 
Mr. Ata-Ul-Haq, 
P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 
Dear Sir, 

Doonholm Neighbourhood 
Stage One, Part B? Contract No.73 

I refer to your letter dated 20th October, 
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10 

1954, in which, you submit a price of Shs.338/00 
for each 9" step-down iii the roof. As already 
pointed out to you by the Architect, this sum is 
excessive. A sum of Shs.268/00 is considered more 
realistic, and I am prepared to authorise this 
amount. 

If this is not acceptable to you, I require 
you to submit detailed quantities and rates for 
the work involved. These quantities ana rates are 
to be brought to the Architect at the Town Hall, 
who will examine them.. 

ours faithfully. 

Exhibits 
16. 

Letter, 
City Engineer 
to Ata U1 Haq 
9th December, 
1954 
- continued. 

CITY ENGINEER. 
Copy to: Mr. Tanner. 

EXHIBIT 17. 
LETTER, ATA UL HAQ TO CITY ENGINEER 

P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI, 
14th January, 1955. 

20 The City Engineer, 
P.O. Box 651, 
NAIROBI. 
Dear Sir, 

Doonholm Neighbourhood 
Stage 1, Part B, Contract No. 73. 

I refer to your letter CE. 9265/T/R/9/N/73 
dated 9th December 1954 on the subject of the 
payment for the extra work involved by the con-
struction of 9" step-downs in roofs to blocks of 

30 houses. 
I regret that your offer of Shs.268/- per 

step-down is not sufficient to cover the actual 
cost of the work on which I have added a profit 
of only Shs.30/-. 

You instruct me to submit detailed quantities 
and rates for the work involved to the Architect, 
but in accordance with the Conditions of Contract, 
a copy of the Bill for your measurement and valua-
tion should be sent to me. 

40 Yours faithfully, 

17. 
Letter, 
Ata U1 Haq to 
City Engineer 
14th January, 
1955. 

ATA-UL-HAQ. 
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Exhibits 
18. 

"Variation 
Order, No.3739-
5th February, 
1955. 

EXHIBIT IS. 
VARIATION ORDER NO. 3759 
CITY COUNCIL OF NAIROBI 
CITY ENGINEER'S DEPARTMENT 
CONTRACT.. VARIATION ORDER 

Messrs. Ata ul Haq, 
P.O. Box 2809, 
Nairobi. 

CONTRACT - Doonholm Neighbourhood Part B Stage One. 
1. The following variation to the works being car-
ried out by you under Contract No.73 will be made 
during the execution of the Contract. 
2. Work will be carried out according to the Speci-
fication, General conditions of Contract, Drawings 
and shall be measured in accordance with the Bill 
of Quantities, or as stated below. 
3. Additional time allowed for this variation will 
be 
4. No objection to this order will be entertained 
unless lodged in writing with the City Engineer 
within 7 days from the date hereon. 

Serial Description of Work Quan-
tity 

B.Q. 
Item Rate 

Re-
marks 

Provide ana fix 
metal flashings to 
chimney stacks, ail 
secured grooves cut 
into sheets and 
dressed tiles 6" and 
to turn up 4" against 
side and front abut-
ments, 6" against rear 
abutment. 
2 flue stacks 
1 
(No Variation to 
flues layer than 
normal is required) 

142/- each 
75/- each 

To be measured 
on completion 

Order No. 1/3739 Previous Order No 
Checked by: 
Date s 

Sd.? Tanner. 
Eeb. 5th '55. Approved 

Sd. R.W. Saunders 
CITY ENGINEER., 

10 

20 

30 

40 
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EXHIBIT 19. 
VARIATION ORDER HO. 3740 

Exhibits 
19. 

CITY COUNCIL OF NAIROBI 
CITY ENGI! " " MEET 
CONTRACT VARIATION ORDER 

Variation Order 
No.3740. 
25th February, 
1955. 

Messrs. Ata U1 Haq, 
P.O. Box 2809, 
Nairobi. 

CONTRACT - No. 73 Doonholm Neighbourhood, Part B. 
1. The following variation to the works being car-
ried out by you under Contract No.73 will be made 
during the execution of the Contract. 
2. Work will be carried out according to the Spec-
ification, General Conditions of Contract, Drawings 
and shall be measured in accordance with the Bill 
of Quantities, or as stated below. 
3. Additional time allowed for this variation v/ill 
be NODE. 
4 . No objection to this order will be entertained 
unless lodged in writing with the City Engineer 
within 7 cays from the date hereon. 

Serial Description of Work Quan— B.Q. -r-j-Q Re-
tity Item marks 

Metal flashings as 
described 011 V.O.l/ 
3739 to one Flue 
Stack not situated 
at gable ends of 120/-
buildings. each 

To be measured 
at completion. 

Order No. 2/3740 Previous Order No. 1/3739 

Checked by: ?? 
Date: February 25th 1955 Approved 

J.R. Bridger 
City Engineer 
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Exhibits 
27-

Variation Order 
No. 3741. 
12th March, 
1955. 

fflBILJOx 
VARIATION ORDER NO. 3741 

OF NAIROBI 

CONTRACT VARIATION ORDER 

CITY QQUNCDJ 
CITY ENGINEER'S 

Messrs. Ata U1 Haq, 
P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 
CONTRACT - Doonholm Neighbourhood Part B. 

1. The following variation to the works being car- 10 
ried out by you under Contract No.73 will be made 
during the execution of the Contract. 
2. V/ork will be carried out according to the Spec-
ification, General Conditions of Contract, Drawings 
and shall be measured in accordance with the Bill 
of Quantities, or as stated below. 
3. Additional time allowed for this variation will 
be NONE. 
4. No objection to this order will be entertained 
unless lodged in writing with the City Engineer 20 
within 7 days from the date hereon. 

Serial Description of Work ^.Q^ Rate marks 
Alteration to latrine 
detail - Adult tyne 
Drawing No.3378/'AH/ 
28/99 
Children type 
Children type latrines 
are to be provided 
in the ratio 1:3 "in 
all ablution blocks 
not already construc-
ted. 

No change in price 
40/- extra per 

latrine. 

Order No. 3/3741 Previous Order No. 2/3740 

Checked by: ??? 
Dates March 12th 1955, Approved 

J.R. Bridger 
Citj/ Engineer, 

30 
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10 

20 

30 

40 

EXHIBIT 21, 
LETTER, ATA UL HAQ TO CITY ENGINEER 

The City Engineer, 
P.O. Box 651, 
NAIROBI. 

P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI, 
17th March, 1955. 

Doonholm Neighbourhood 
Stage 1, Part B, Contract N.75. 

Dear Sir. 

I refer to your letter CE.802/T/W/9/N/73 da-
ted the 11th of September 1954 in which you say 
that you are not prepared to grant any extra pay-
ment in respect of the extra batten which lias been 
fixed on the top of the fascia board to the roofs 
of blocks of buildings. 

According to Drawing No. 2183/AH/2/14 there 
are ten tiles from the ridge to the eaves of the 
roofs and the tiles are specified as first grade 
local Mangalores. It was clear at the time of 
tendering that the number of tiles shown on the 
drawing was wrong, that the proper number of tiles 
should be nine, and that this number should be used 
in preparing the Tender. It therefore follows that 
only nine battens have been allowed for, and the 
tenderer could not be expected to anticipate that 
an extra batten would be required over the fascia 
board. 

There is a direction in Clause 33 of the Spe-
cification which requires the Contractor to provide 
and fix tiling battens at suitable centres to re-
ceive mangalore tiles. 

In this contract, which is not founded on a 
Bill of Quantities, decisions should be based on 
the intent of the documents, and not on a measure-
ment of reputed quantities, and the Contractor 
should not be penalised for having interpreted in-
telligently, at the time of tendering, the docu-
ments provided, and for having made due allowance 
for a palpable error in the drawings. I claim that 
the drawing of the tiles on the roof is diagram-
matic only, and that the intent of the Contract is 
fulfilled by the use of the specified tiles, the 
covering of the roof with them to the limit of the 
specified minimum projection, and the provision of 

Exhibits 
Letted; 
Ata Ul Haq to 
City Engineer, 
17th March, 
1955. 
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Exhibits 
21. 

letter, 
Ata U1 Haq to 
City Engineer. 
17th March, 
1955 
- continued. 

the necessary battens on which to hang them. 
I shall be glad if you will reconsider your 

decision not to pay the value of this extra work, 
which was, as you are aware, ordered by your rep-
resentative, and carried out by me in good faith. 

Yours faithfully, 
ATA-UL-HAQ 

22. 
letter, 
City Engineer 
to Ata U1 Haq. 
11th Sentember, 
1954. 

EXHIBIT 22. 
LETTER, CITY ENGINEER TO ATA UL HAQ 

11th September, 1954- 10 
Ata-Ul-Haq, 
P.O. Box 2809, 
Nairobi. 
Lear Sir, 

Doonholm Neighbourhood 
Stage 1, Part B, Contract N.73. 

I refer to your three letters dated 2 7 t h Aug-
ust 1954 on the above subject. 

I am not prepared to grant any extras for 
which you are claiming for the following reasons:- 20 

(1) The detail drawings show the foundation 
to the ablution blocks to be similar to 
the dwelling units. 

(2) The number of battens fixed on the build-
ings is the same as shown on the detailed 
drawings. 

(3) I am prepared to consider the approval of 
any lime that you wish to use that approx-
imates to British Standard Specification. 
A recent test report from the Public Works 30 
Department must be submitted for any 
change from the approved lime. 

Yours faithfully. 

CITY ENGINEER, 
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EXHIBIT 23 
m T E R ^ T ^ XI. STONE TO ATA UL HAQ 

Clerk of Works Office, 
African Housing, 
Dooriholm Road, 

Neighbourhood Site. 
26.1.55. Messrs. Ata-ul-Haq, 

Contractor, 
African Housing, 
Loonholm Road, 
Neighbourhood Site. 
Lear Sirs, 

Block No. 28 and 29 
At an inspection today it was noted that fur-

ther shrinkage of the doors fitted to the above 
blocks is taking place and in some instances day-
light can be seen through the spaces in the fronts 
of the linings to the doors when standing in the 
rooms. 

A list is given below shewing the defects 
which have taken place since taking over the above 
blocks.. 
Block No.28 Room No.395. 

Shutters have dropped badly and will 
not close properly. 
Door Pad Bolt is binding and will 
riot close. 
Room No.391. 
Casement stay has come away from the 
shutter. 
Pad bolt is binding and the door can-
not be bolted. 
Room No.400. 
Casement has come away from the 
shutter. Shutter hinges are bent 
and damaged. 

Ablution Block No. 28. 
The plaster to the jamb of the lava-
tory and wash places has fallen away 
and needs repair. 

Exhibits 
23. 

Letter, 
Clerk of Works 
to Ata U1 Haq. 
26th January, 
1955-
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23. 

letter, 
Clerk of Works 
to Ata Ul Haq. 
26th January, 
1955 
- continued. 

693 

Block No. 29 - Room No.361.. 
The door has dropped badly. The door 
cannot be closed, properly. The case-
ment stay has come away from the 
shutters. 
Room Ho.363. 
The shutters have dropped badly and 
cannot be closed. Trie pad bolt is 
binding in the door and needs adjust-
ment . 10 

Arrangements should be made by you to have the 
doors examined and the repairs set out above car-
ried out at your expense. 

Yours faithfully, 
(Sgd.) T.l. Stone. 

C/W 
Addendum to page 72. 
Block No.29 - Room No.362. 

The meeting style of the door is bad-
ly cracked at the top and bottom. 20 
Room No.267. 
The door is binding and it is not 
possible to close the pad bolt. 
^qm^Bo.JJO. 
The lining of the door is shrunk very 
badly ancl needs immediate attention. 
Room No.374. 
The casement stay has come away from 
the shutter. 

(Sgd.) T.I. Stone. 
C.W. 
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• U B I J- A T CLERK OF WORKS TO ATA UL 

Messrs. Ata-TJl-Haq, 
Contractor, 
African Housing, 
Doonholm Road, 
Neighbourhood Site. 
Dear Sirs, 

Repairs to gable wal1, 

Clerk of Works Office, 
Doonholm Road, 
Neighbourhood Site. 

18/2/55. 

ablution block No.28 
I have been requested by the architect African 

Housing City Council, Nairobi, to instruct you to 
rectify the damage to gable wall of building No.28 
(ablution block). 

The details of the materials and labour re-
quired to complete the work are to be kept and the 
total charges to be handed to the Clerk of Works 
at the completion of" the work. 

Please inform me when the work is complete. 
Yours faithfully, 

9 9 9 

Exhibits 
24. 

Letter, 
Clerk of Works 
to Ata U1 Haq. 
18th February, 
1955. 

EXHIBIT 25-
LETTER, CITY ENGINEER TO ATA UL HAQ 

-

mr. Ata-Ul-Hact, 
P.O. Box 2809* 
NAIROBI. 

51st March, 1955. 

Lear Sir, 
Of'afa Estate (Doohholm Neighbourhood) 

Stage 1, Part B, Contract No.75 
I have to inform you that the following 

units were accepted by the Council on 29th March 
"1955, under the above contract -

25. 
Letter, 
City Engineer 
to Ata U1 Haq. 
31st March, 
1955. 
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Exhibits 
25. 

Letter, 
City Engineer 
to Ata Ul Haq. 
31st March, 
1955 
- continued. 

Block No. No .Rooms Room No. 
26 

Value 
29 

c .c 

417 -444 ) 
+ 2 Ablution ) 

Units ) 
Shs.102,400/-

Yours faithfully, 

C.A.A.O. 
M.O.H. 
B.W.S. 
Mr. Hannington 
Clerk of Works 
Mr. Tanner 
Mr. Hattersley 
Cleansing Superintendent. 

CITY ENGINEER, 

10 

26. 
Letter, 
City Engineer 
to Ata Ul Haq. 
31st March, 
1955. 

EXHIBIT 26. 
LETTER, CITY ENGINEER TO ATA UL HAQ 

31st March. 
Mr. Ata-Ul-Haq, 
P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 

1955. 

Dear Sir, 
Ofafa Estate (Doonholm Neighbourhood) 

Stage 1, Part B, Contract N.75. 
I have to inform you that the following units 

were accepted by the Council on 26th March 1955, 
under the above contract -
Block No. No.Rooms Room No. 

20 

25 
27 

12 
10 
22 

445-456 
407-416 

Value 
Shs. 39,600/-

35,000/-
Total 72,600/-

Yours faithfully, 30 

CITY ENGINEER. 
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10 

20 

EXHIBIT 27 
LETTER, CITY ENGINEER TO ATA UL HAQ 

CITY COUNCIL OF NAIROBI 
TOWN HALL, 
NAIROBI, 
KENYA COLONY. 

Departmental Reference 19th April, 1955. 
C. E ./BBS/I'/102 9 

Messrs. Ata-Ul-Haq, 
P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 
Dear Sir, 

Ofafa Estate (Stage 1, Part B, Contract 75) 
I have to inform you that the following units 

were accepted by the Council on 16th April 1955, 
under the above contract. 
Block No. No.Rooms Room No. Value 

35 42 273-314 
+ 5 Ablution 

Units 163,600 Shs. 
Yours faithfully, 
(Sgd.) H.R. Bridger, 

CITY ENGINEER. 

Exhibits 
27-

Letter, 
City Engineer 
to Ata U1 Haq. 
19th April, 
1955. 

EXHIBIT 28. 
LETTER, ACTING CITY ENGINEER TO ATA UL HAQ 

Ata-Ul-Haq, l l t h ^ 1 9 5 5 

P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 

30 Dear Sir, 
Ofafa Estate, Stage 1, Part B, Contract 

No. 75 - _ _ _ 
I have to inform you that the following units 

were accepted by the Council on 10th May 1955, un-
der the above contract 

28. 
Letter, 
Acting City 
Engineer to 
Ata U1 Haq. 
llth May, 1955. 



702. 

Exhibits 
28. 

Letter, 
Acting City-
Engineer to 
Ata U1 Haq. 
11th May, 1955 
- continued. 

Block Ho. 
36 

Ho.Rooms Room Ho. Value 
44 229-272 

+ 1 Ho.Abl.Unit Shs.150,220/-
Yours faithfully, 
R.W. Saunders 

ACTING CITY ENGINEER. 

29. 
Letter, 
Acting City 
Engineer to 
Ata U1 Haq. 
26th June, 
1955. 

EXHIBIT 29. 
LETTER, ACTING CITY ENGINEER TO ATA UL HAQ 

26th June, 1955. 
Mr. Ata-ul-Haq, 
P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 
Dear Sir, 

Ofafa Estate, Stage 1, Part B, Contract 73. 
I have to inform you that the following units 

were accepted by the Council on 28th June, un-
der the above contract. 
Block No. No.Rooms Room No. 

31 
32 
33 
34 

125-140 
141-172 

91-110 

111-124 

16 
3 2 + 2 Abl. 

Units 
2 0 + 2 Abl. 

Unit s 
14 + 2 Abl. 

Units 

Value_ 
Shs. 53,600.00 

115,600.00 

76,000.00 
56,900.00 

302,100.00 

Yours faithfully, 
R.W. Saunders 

ACTING CITY ENGINEER< 

30. 
Report by 
Clerk of 
Works. 
9th June, 
1955. 

EXHIBIT 30 
REPORT BY CLERK OE WORKS 
CITY COUNCIL OP"NAIROBI 

Memo from W.H.M.Goodwin, C/Wks. 5/6/1955. 
To - The Architect, Contract No.73, "B" . 

Blocks 38A, 38B and 29, have been inspected; 
repairs carried out; and are now ready for handing 
over. and Block 30. 

(Sgd.) W.H. M. Goodwin, 
C/Wks. 
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EXHIBIT 31. 
REPORT OP CLERK OP WORKS, 
CITY COUNCIL OP NAIROBI 

Date 9th June, 1955. 
Memo from W.H.M.Goodwin, C/Wks. 
To - The Architect, Contract No.73, "Bu, Ofafa Es-

Copy to Messrs. Ata-ul-Haq. 
The result of a check-up of points 

Contract are as follows s-
1. Foundations, 

extra work. 

tate. 

on this 

Mr. Stone has details of the 

Boundary Wall. Straight between buildings on 
drawings. Altered to stand forward with wing 
return at each end; resulting in about five 
foot of extra run of wall and two "T" wall 
junctions in each case. This can easily be 
measured at any time. 

3. Blocks 38A & 39. The end Units were turned 
round at L angles to remainder of Blocks. Mr. 
Stone has details of this work. 

4. Ablutions. A 4" x 2" top plate has been fixed 
acrossTEe tops of the whole row of doors in 
each Ablution to stiffen them. 

5. Blocks 28 and 29. 3 loads of murram were sup-
plied and laid" and rolled to form pathway, for 
temporary occupation by Mission, at Mr.Stone's 
instruction. 

Exhibits 
31. 

Report of 
Clerk of Works 
9th June, 1955 

6* Boors. In place of 12" specified, 14u strap 
hinges fitted to all doors throughout this 
contract. 

7* Valleys. 6" x 2" main rafters fitted. Not in 
spec. or drawings. 
fascia Boards. All in Cedar in place of Podo 
specified( 

9* Ablution trusses. King Posts 4" x 2". 3" x 2" 
specified. 

10. Floors. To form a key all slurried in cement, 
then~f" to 1" finish laid, in place of spec-
ified, to make a finish. 

1 1 • Bint els. Drawings show 5iJt high to match cour-
ses . 9^ x 6" are provided throughout, to con-
form the standard practice. 



Exhibits 
31. 

Report of 
Clerk of Works. 
9th June, 1955-
- continued. 

704. 

12. All Buildings. A finishing 4" deep faced ce-
ment fillet has been provided round buildings 
to conceal concrete layer. 
Valley Boards, are 6" x 1" in place of 9" x 1" 
specified. 

• Valley Tiling is not rubbed down fair to out 
tile edges. 

15. Ablution doors braces and rails are 4" wide, 
notT"5rrtipecif ied. 

16. Strap Hinges. All screws used, not one bolt 
to" each, specified. 
Chimneys. Not all "parged". 

18. Doors. These are all E.D.B. none are flush 
pattern. 

19. St one. All hard black stone, not soft white. 
Nidges. Colour in mortar, not applied after-
wards . 

21. Tiles. Three loads of rejects returned, and a 
Further pile are waiting to be returned to Ken-
tiles. 

2 2 • IgR-fe* I21 view of the difficulty of getting 
reliable workmen, contractor says he was on 
site every day and all day, to get the finish 
which he considers the best possible under the 
conditions. 
Contractor considers items 1 to 5 are Varia-

tions, and 6 to 12 are extras to offset the omis-
sions in Items 13 to 17; and he asks for items 18 
to 22 to also be taken into account. 

(Sgd.). W.H.M. Goodwin. 
WHMG. C/Wks. 
Notes:- Price sent in for Ablution Number 

alterations. 
Contractor has one Variation Order -
for flashings. 
In this contract there is no mention 
of fitting Traps in channel connections 
to road-verge drain. 
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10 

20 

30 

40 

EXHIBIT 32. 
REPORT OP CLERK OP WORKS 

COUNCIL OP NAIROBI. 
Memo from W.H.M. Goodwin, C/Wks. 

Date 24th June, 1955. 
To - The Architect, African Housing. 

Herewith a list of all floor defects found 
yesterday when Blocks 30, 38A, 38B and 39 were in-
spected for taking over. 
Block 38A. 
Room No, I! 175 

176 
Crack across floor 

do. ti 1 7 7 do. 
" 170 do. and 1 hollow patch 
" 181 do. 
" 182 do. 

Block 38B. 
Room No.186 3 Cracks in floor u 188 2 do. 

" 189 1 do. 
" 190 1 do. 1 hollow patch. 

Verandah 1 crack. 
11 191 1 do. Kitchen 3 hollow 

patches. 
" iq2 1 do. 
" 194 2 do. 3 hollows. 

Verandah 2 cracks. 
Block 39. 
Room No.197 3 cracks in floor, Kitchen 1 hollow Room No.197 

patch. 
" 198 "1 do. and 1 in Kitchen. 
" 199 1 do. 
" 200 3 do. 
" 201 4 do. 
" 202 1 do. 
" 203 Kitchen 1 hollow 
it 
ii 
it 
I I 

it 
it 
1! 

204 
206 
207 
208 
209 
211 
212 
214 

1 hollow 
1 crack in floor. 

near chimney. 

2 hollow patches. 
2 do. 
2 do. 

Whole floor condemned 
1 crack in floor 1 crack in Verandah 

floor 
1 do. 

Exhibits 
32. 

Report of 
Clerk of Works 
24th June, 
1955. 



706 

Exhibits 
32. 

Report of 
Clerk of Works. 
24-th June, 
1955 
- continued. 

Block 39 (Coiitd.) 
Room No.214 Whole floor condemned 

216 
217 
222 
225 
226 
228 

1 crack in floor 
1 hollow patch 

1 small hole in Kitchen floor. 
1 crack in floor. 

1 hollow natch 
1 
1 

do. 
do. 

or hollows found in There were no crank:: 
Block 50. 

Contractor has been given written instructions 
to cut out these bad patches and cracks; hut not 
to start filling in until they have been inspected. 

He has also been given general instructions 
about the limewashing. Chimney Caps, Ridges and 
Verges, and Roof Tiles. 

Sd. W,H,M. Goodwin, 
C/Wks on site. 

33. 
Report from 
Clerk of Works. 
20th July, 
1955. 

EXHIBIT_^ 33. 
REPORT PROM 
CITY COUNCIL OP NAIROBI 

CLERK OP WORKS 

Date 20/7/5: Memo from Clerk of Y/orks 
To Messrs. Ata Ul Haq, Contract 73/B. 
Dear Sir, 

Reference inspection of Block 38 this morning, 
herewith a list of items for attention -
Ablution. Adjust tiles where light shows through. 
Room 45 Adjust tiles where they have slipped down 

48 Do. 
53 Chimney flashing appears to be' leaky. 
55 Do. 
58 Replace broken tile. 
60 Repair crack in door batter-

Adjust chimney flashing and tiles. 
62 Adjust tiles. 
63 Repair top rail of door. 
64 Verandah, fix down holdfasts to wall plate 
64 to 69 Glean limewash off tiles and shelves, 

etc. 
70 Ease door. 
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Room 71 Clean limewash off tiles. 
72 Do. 
73 Repair shrunk door/batten. 
76 Replace faulty valley tile. 
80 Adjust one shutter and shutter bolt. 
82 Repair top rail of door. 

Kitchen adjust roof tiles. 
70 to 82, clean limewash off tiles generally. 
Ablution Adjust tiles where light shows 
through. 
Note - Several chimney cappings need facing 

up round the edges. 
(Sgd.) W.H.M. Goodwin 

C/Wks. 

E x h i b i t s 

61. 

Report from 
Clerk of Works 
20th July, 
1955 
- continued. 

EXHIBIT 34 34. 
REPORT BY CLERK OP WORKS Report by 

Memo from C/Wks to Architect African Housing. Clerk of Works 
Blocks 37 and 38 have been completed, repairs iQ55 Ju1Y» 

carried out; and they are now ready for handing over. 
W.H.M. Goodwin 

25th July, 1955. C/Wks. 

EXHIBIT 35 35-
PAYMENT CERTIFICATES N0.1 to 13. Certificate 

Certificate No. 1. Date - 23rd July, 1954. No.l. 
CITY COUNCIL OF NAIROBI ^ ^ ^ J u l y ' 

CONTRACT PAYMENT CERTIFICATE 
Contractors Ata U1 Haq. 
Contract No; 73 Dated: Amount Shs:170952C/~ 
Works- Doonholm Neighbourhood, Stage 1, Part B. 
Commenced; 28/6/54 Completed: 
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Exhibits 
35. 

Payment 
Certificate 
No. 1. 
23rd July, 
1954-
- continued. 

Shs.Cts. 
Value of work completed 

Addition 
71500.00 

Net for variations Omission 
(see completion statement 
attached) 

Gross Amount Payable 
Less 10/ Retention Money 

for months 
NET TOTAL 

Less Payments on Account 
(see previous certificate 

Amount now due to Contrac-
tor 

71500.00 

7150.00 
64350.00 

64350.00 

Certified Corrects Sd. J.R. Bridger 
City Engineer, 

Date: 26 JUL. 54. 

Shs.Cts, 

64350.00 

Payment 
Certificate 
No. 2. 
20th August, 
1954. 

Certificate No. 2 Dates 20th August, 1954, 
CITY COUNCIL OE NAIROBI 

CONTRACT PAYMENT CERTIFICATE 
Contractor: ATA UL IIAQ 
Contract No: 73 Dated: Amount Shs.1709520.00 
Work: 
Commenced: 2 8/6/l9 54. Completed: 

Value of work completed 
Addition 

Shs.Cts, 

169250.00 
Net for variations Omission 
(see conroletion statement 
attached) 

G-ross Amount payable 1692 50.00 
Less 10/ Retention Money 

for months 16925.00 
NET TOTAL 152325.00 

Shs.Cts, 
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Shs.Cts. Shs.Cts, 
Brought forward 152325.00 

less Payments on Account 
(see previous certificate) 64350.00 

Amount now due to Contractor 87975.00 87975.00 

Certified Correct: Sd. J. R.Bridger, 
City Engineer. 

Date J 20 AUG.54, 

Exhibits 
35. 

Payment 
Certificate 
No.2. 
20th August, 
1954 
- continued, 

Certificate No: 5 Date: 22 September, 1954 
10 CITY COUNCIL OP NAIROBI 

CONTRACT PAYMENT CERTIFICATE 
Contractor: Ata U1 Haq. 
Contract No. 73 Dated: Amount Shs: 1709520/-
Works- Doonholm Neighbourhood, Stage 1, Part B. 
Commenced: 28.6.54 Completed: 

Payment 
Certificate 
No.3. 
22nd September, 
1954. 

20 

30 

"SEiTTTtsl Shs.Cts, 
Value of work completed 440250.00 
Net Addition for variations Omission 
(see completion statement 
attached) 

Gross Amount Payable 440250.00 

44025.00 
Less 10$ Retention Money 

for months 
NET TOTAL 396225.00 

Less Payments on Account 
(see previous certificate 
No.2 d/d 20.8.54 

Amount now due to Contractor 243900.00 234900.00 
152325.00 

Certified Correct: Sd.J.R.Bridger, 
City Engineer. 

Dates 22 Sept.54 
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35. 

Payment 
Certificate 
No. 4. 
25th October, 
1954. 

710. 

Certificate Nos 4 Dates 25 October 1954. 
CITY COUNCIL OP NAIROBI 
CONTRACT PAYMENT CERTIFICATE 

Contractors Ata Ul Haq 
Contract No: 73 Dated: Amount Shs: 1709520/-
Works- Doonholm Neighbourhood, Stage 1, Part B. 
Commenced: 28.6.54 Completed: 

Shs.Gts. Shs.Gts. 
Value of work completed 585250.00 
B e t 0Et§lli§ f O T variations 10 
(see completion statement 
attached) -

Gross Amount Payable 585250.00 
Less 107o Retention Money 

for months 5852 5.00 

NET TOTAL 526725.00 
Less Payments on Account 
(see previous certificate 
No.3 d/d 22.9.54) 396225.00 

Amount now due to Oontractor 130500.00 130500.00 20 

Gertified Correct: Sd.J.R. Bridger, 
City Engineer. 

Date: 25.10.54 
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Certificate No : 5 Date: 23 November 1954 
CITY COUNCIL OP NAIROBI 
CONTRACT PAYMENT CERTIFICATE 

Amount Shs: 1709520/-
Oontractor: Ata Ul Haq 
Contract No: 73 Dated: 
Works- Doonholm Neighbourhood, Stage 1, Part B. 
Commenced; 28/6/54 Completed: 18/4/55. 

Exhibits 
35. 

Payment 
Certificate 
No. 5. 
23rd November, 
1954. 

Shs.Cts. Shs.Cts, 

Value of work completed 
™ S I S variations 
(see completion statement 
attached) 

717100.00 

Gross Amount Payable 717100.00 
Less 10$ Retention Money 

for months 71710.00 

NET TOTAL 645390.00 
Less Payments on Account 
(see previous certificate 
No.4 a/a 25/10/54) 526725.00 

Amount now due to Contractor 118665.00 118665.00 

Certified Correct Sd. J.R. Bridger, 
City Engineer. 

Date: 24 Nov. 1954-
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Exhibits 
35. 

Payment 
Certificate 
No. 6. 
30th December, 
1954. 

Certificate No: 6 Date: 30 December 1954 

CITY COUNCIL OP NAIROBI 

CONTRACT PAYMENT CERTIFICATE 

Contractor: Ata U1 Haq 
Contract No. 73 Dated s 1709520/-
Works- Doonholm Neighbourhood, Stage 1, Part B. 
Commenced: 28/6/54 Completed: 18.4.55. 

Value of work completed 

S ^ r variations 
(see completion statement 
attached") 

Shs.Cts. Shs.Cts. 

976020.00 

Gross Amount Payable 976020.00 

97602.00 
less 10y Retention Money 

for months 

NET TOTAL 878418.00 
Less Payments on Account 
(see previous Certificate 
No.5 d/a 23/11/54) 645390.00 

Certified Correct: Sd. J.E. Bridger, 
City Engineer. 

Date: 30.12.54. 

10 

Amount now due to Contractor 233028.00 233028.00 20 
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Certificate No: 7 Date: 1 February 1955 

CITY COUNCIL OF NAIROBI 

CONTRACT "PAYMENT CERTIFICATE 

Contractor s At a III Haq. 
Contract No. 73 Dated: Amount Shs.1709520/-
Work:- Doonholm Neighbourhood Scheme, Stage 1, 

Part B. 
Commenced: 28.6.54. Completed s 18.4.55. 

Shs.Cts. Shs.Cts. 

Value of work completed 1115800.00 
1 0 !,et 55IiHfi f o r ^riations 

(see completion statement 
attached) 

Gross Amount Payable 1115800.00 
Less 10$ Retention Money 

for months 111580.00 

NET TOTAL 1004220.00 
Less Payments on Account 
(see previous certificate 
No.6 d/d 30/12/54 878418.00 

20 Amount now due to Contrac-
tor 125802.00 125802.00 

Certified Co_rrect_: J.R. Bridger, 
City Engineer. 

Date : 3/2/1955. 

Exhibits 
35. 

Payment 
Certificate 
No. 7. 
1st February, 
1955. 
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Exhibits 
35-

Payment 
Certificate 
No. 8. 
16th February, 
1955. 

Certificate No: 8 Dates 16 February 1955 

CITY COUNCIL OP NAIROBI 

CONTRACT PAYMENT CERTIFICATE 

Contractor; Ata U1 Haq 
Contract _ No s 73 Pat ed s A: 
Works- Doonholm Neighbourhood Scheme, Stage 1, 

Part B. 

mount Shs s 1709520/-

Commenced: 28.6.54 Completed: 18.4.55' 

Shs.Cts. Shs.Cts, 

Value of work completed 12pl000.00 
, Addition „ ... 

N e t SrnlSHoE f o r variations 
(see completion statement 
attached) 

Gross Amount Payable 1251000.00 

125100.00 
NET T OTAL 112 5900.00 

less 10$ Retention Money 
f or month 

Less Payments on Account 
(see previous certificate 
No.7 a/d 1.2.55) 1004220.00 
Amount now due to Contrac-

tor 121680.00 121680,00 

Certified Corrects Sd. J.R. Bridger. 
City Engineer, 

Date: 16.2.55' 
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Certificate No s 9 Date; 23 March 1955 Exhibit! 

CITY COUNCIL OF NAIROBI 

CONTRACT PAYMENT' CERTIFICATE 

QoiitractorAta U1 Haq 
Contract No: 73 Dated: Amount Shs: 1709520/-
Work:- Doonholm Neighbourhood Scheme Stage ls 

Part B, Ofafa Estate. 
Commenced: 28.6.54- Completed: 18.4.55. 

35. 
Payment 
Certificate 
No. 9. 
23rd March, 
1955. 

2 0 

Shs.Cts. 

10 Value of work completed 
K e t M l i U s i f o r variations 
(see completion statement 
attached) 

1399500.00 

Gross Amount Payable 1399300.00 
Less 10/ Retention Money 

for months 139950.00 

NET TOTAL 12 59550.00 
Less Payments on Account 
(see -previous certificate 
No.8 d/d 16.2.55) 1125900.00 

Shs.Cts. 

Amount now due to Contrac-
tor 113650.00 113650.00 

Certified Correct: Sd. J.R. Bridger, 
City Engineer. 

Date: 23 March 1955 
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35. 

Payment 
Certificate 
No. 10. 
20th April, 
1955. 

716. 

Certificate No. 10 Date: 20th April 1955. 

CITY COUNCIL OF NAIROBI 

CONTRACT PAYMENT CERTIFICATE 
Contractor: Ata Ul Haq 
Contract No. 73 Dated: ^ ^ k ^ h s : 1709520/-
Work:- Ofafa Estate, Stage 1, Part B. 
Commenced: 28.6.54 18.4.55. 

Shs.Cts. Shs.Cta. 

Value of work completed 1464018.00 
j. Addition . , . 

^ 05i£ii35 x o r ^nations 10 
(see completion statement 
attached) 

Gross Amount Payable ,1464018.00 
Less 10$ Retention Money 

for months 146402.00 

NET TOTAL 1317616.00 
Less Payments on Account 
(see previous certifi-
cate No.9 d/d 23.3.55) 1259550.00 

Amount now due to Contrac- 20 
tor 58066.00 58066.00 

Certified Corrects Sd.? Roberts, 
Deputy City Engineer. 

Date: 20.4.55. 
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Certificate No.II Dates 24 June, 1955 

CITY COUNCIL OP NAIROBI 

CONTRACT PAYMENT CERTIFICATE 

^N/jga9hor s Ata Ul Haq 
Contract In. 73 Dated; Amount Shs; 1709520/-
Works- Ofafa Estate, Stage 1, Part B. 
Commenced: 28.6.54 Completeds 18.4.55. 

10 

20 

Shs.Cts. Shs.Cts, 

Value of v/ork completed 
,T . Addition „ ... lNjet Omission f o r ^nations 
(see completed statement 
attached; 

1531538.00 

Gross Amount Payable 1531538.00 

153154.00 
Less 10% Retention Money 

for months 

NET TOTAL 1378384.00 
less Payments on Account 
(see previous certifi-
cate No.10 d/d 20.4.55) 

Amount now due to Contrac-
tor 

1317616.00 

60768.00 60768.00 

Certified Correct; Sd. ? Roberts, 
"Deputy City Engineer. 

Dates 27.6.55 

Exhibits 
61. 

Payment 
Certificate 
No. 11. 
24th June, 
1955. 
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Exhibits Certificate No. 12. Date: 24- June, 1955 

35. 
Payment 
Certificate 
No. 12. 
24th June, 
1955. 

CITY COUNCIL OP NAIROBI 

. CONTRACT PAYMENT CERTIPICASE 

Contractor: Ata U1 Haq 
Contract No. 73 Dated: Amount Shsi: 1709520/-
Work:- Ofafa. Estate, Stage 1, Part B. 
Commenced: 28.6.54- Completed s 18.4.55. 

Shs.Cts. Shs.Cts. 

Value of work completed 1564099-00 
Net for variations Addition 

Emission 
(see completed statement 
attached) 

Gross Amount Payable 1564099.00 
Less 10% Retention money 

for months 156410.00 

NET TOTAL 1407689.00 
Less Payments on Account 
(see previous certificate 
No.11 a/a 24.6.55) 

Amount now due to Contrac-
tor 

1378384.00 

5.00 29305.00 

10 

20 

Certified Correct: Sd. ? Roberts, 
Deputy City Engineer. 

Date: 27.6.55-
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Certificate No.13 Date: 21st July, 1955 Exhibits 

CITY COUNCIL OE NAIROBI 

CONTRACT PAYMENT CERTIFICATE 

Amount Shs: 1709520/-
Contractor: Ata U1 Haq 
Contract No. 73 Dated: 
Works- Ofafa Estate, Stage 1, Part B. 
Commenced: 28.6.54 Completed: 18.4.55. 

35. 
Payment 
Certificate 
No. 13. 
21st July, 
1955. 

10 

20 

Shs.Cts. Shs.Cts. 

Value of work completed 

Net for variations Omission 
(see completion statement 
attached) 

1064320.00 
548220.00 

Gross amount payable 1612540.00 
Less: 5/ of 1064320 53216 

10/ of 548220 54822 
Retention money for 

months 
108038.00 

NET TOTAL 1504502.00 
Less Payments on Account 
(see previous certificate 
No.12 d/d 24.6.55 

Amount now due to Contrac-
tor 

1407689.00 

96813.00 96813.00 

Certified Correct: Sd. ??? 
A.g. City Engineer. 

Dates 21.7.55. 
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Exhibits 
36. 

Inspection 
Report. 
2 5th November, 
1954. 

E X H I B I T 36 

INSPECTION REPORT 
AFRICAN HOUSING D00NH0IM ROAD, NEIGHBOURHOOD SITE. 

BART "B", INSPECTION 25/ll/54. 
Repairs to be carried out as a result of an 

inspection on buildings Nos. 28 and 29, prior to 
taking over. The inspection was made by the Build-
ing Works Superintendent and his Assistant also the 
Clerk of Works. 

Build-
ing 
No. 
28 

Room 
No. 

10 

387 

388 

390 

Repairs to be executed 

Externa.1: 
(a 

(b 

(a 
(6 

(c 
(a 

(6 
(c 

389 (a 

(b 
(a 

(b 
(c 

391 (a 
(b 

(c 
(d 

Fascia board. 
sag in the facia 

There is a slight 
board on the 

verandah side of the building. 
Albi facia at end (Nairobi side) 
it does not bend up to corbel. 
Kitchen door lining shrunk. 
Clean floor droppings from white-
wash . 
Rafter on the splay re-set. 
Doors to main room and kitchen 
have shrunk linings. 
Clean floors as above. 
Adjust tiles (half tiles) at 
flashing. 
Door to main room, the linings 
are shrunk and door is binding. 
Leak at chimney flashing. 
Door to main room - shrinkage of 
linings to head and sides. 
Floor - crack and hollow patch. 
Crack in wall over door. 
Clean floor - whitewash droppings. 
Doors to main room and kitchen 
shrunk. 
Hair crack in floor repaired. 
There is a loose stone near chim-
ney flashing - re-fix. 

20 

30 

40 
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Build-
in̂ - -tl°om 
U © 

28 
(Contd.) 

392 

393 
10 

394 

20 

395 

396 

397 

30 

399 

400 

Repairs to be executed 

(a) Doors to main room and kitchen 
The linings are shrunk - gaps 
filled with putty. 

(1 
(a 

(b 

(a 

(1 

(a 

(b 

(a 

(b 
(a 
(b 

398 (a 

(b 
(c 

40 

(a 
(b 
(c 
(a 

(b 

(c 

Crack in floor and hollow patch. 
Clean cement and whitewash 
droppings from verandah floor, 
also in main room. 
Doors to main room and kitchen 
- the linings have shrunk. 
Clean floors - whitewash drop-
pings . 
Doors to main room and kitchen 
- the linings have shrunk. 
Doors to main and kitchen - the 
linings have shrunk. 
Shutter left-hand side has 
dropped. 
Doors to main room and kitchen 
- the linings have shrunk. 
Clean floor, whitewash droppings. 
Cracked and hollow floor. 
Shutter left-hand side has 
dropped. 
Doors to main room and kitchen 
- the linings have shrunk. 
Cracked and hollow floor. 
Broken blade 
kitchen. 

in louvre frame to 

Verandah floor cracked. 
Adjust tiles at chimney flashing 
Hollow patch in floor. 
Door badly shrunk linings - re-
place. (Main room only). 
Adjust second row of tiles on 
road side, badly twisted. 
Change blade in louvre frame 
in kitchen. 

Exhibits 
36. 

Inspection 
Report. 
24th November, 
1954 
- continued. 



7 2 2 . 

Exhibits 
36 f 

Inspection 
Report. 
24th November, 
1954 
- continued. 

Build-
ing 
No. 

Room 
No. 

28 401 
(Contd.) 

402 

403 

404 

405 

406 

Repairs to be executed 

(a) Doors to main room and kitchen -
the linings have shrunk. 

(b) Adjusted tiles - they are badly 
twisted. 

(a) Door to main room to be changed, 
badly shrunk linings. 

(b) Repair crack in floor. (Portion 
has been repaired). 

(c) Hollow patch in floor. 
(d) Joint at purlin is incorrectly 

cut. Remake and bend with hoop 
iron. 

(a) Doors - shrunk lining in doors 
to main room and kitchen. 

(b) Take out and replace defective 
lining in shutter (left-hand side). 

(a) Replace door to main room - bad-
ly shrunk linings. 

(a) Clean floor, very dirty and drop-
pings from whitewash. 

(a) Door to main room - shrunk linings. 
(b) Shutter on left-hand side dropped. 
(c) Split blade in louvre frame in 

kitchen. 

10 

20 

Ablutions 
(a) Clean^floors (whitewash drop- 30 

pings). 
(b) Clean whitewash from plastered 

walls in latrine and wash places. 
(c) Replace springs at back of doors. 

29 
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Build-
ing 
No. 

Room 
No. Repairs to be executed 

29 
(Contd.) 

10 

20 

30 

330 
331 
332 
333 

General% 
(a) The screws on the casement stays 

are loose - (the one that is 
fastened to the shutter) 

(b) There are projections on the wire 
where hand holes have been cut 
in the square mesh metal to 
shutter openings. These should 
be removed and made smooth. 

(a) Main room door binding. 
(a) Clean floor - whitewash droppings. 
(a) Close up joint in ridge board. 
(a) Slight crack in the verandah 

floor. 
(b) leak at chimney flashing. 

(Note; Bed iron flashing flat.) 
334 

335 ( 
( 
( 336 

337 
338 

339 

(a) Close up open 
board. 

joint in ridge 

340 

(a) Bed tiles at flashing at chimney. 
(b) Displaced tile at valley (re-set), 
(a) Solignum to edge of doors and 

one rafter. 
(b) Alter twisted rafters at valley. 
(a) Crack in floor. 
(a) Crack in floor. 
(b) Adjust twisted tiles. 
(a) Remove cement droppings from ver-

andah floor. 
(b) Crack in floor. 
(c) Pit hoop iron to joint in purlin. 
(d) Tiles to be re-bedded at joint 

to chimney flashing. 
(a) Crack in floor. 
(b) Tiles to be re-bedded at joint 

to chimney flashing. 

Exhibits 
36. 

Inspection 
Report. 
24th November, 
1954 
- continued. 
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61. 

Inspection 
Report. 
24th November, 
1954 
- continued. 

724. 

Build- p 
ing Repairs to be executed 
No. 
29 341 (a) Tiles to be re-bedded at joint 
(Contd.) to chimney flashing. 

342 (a) Cracked floor. 
343 (a) Door to main room - replace de-

fective head. 
(b) Adjust tiles at flashing to 

chimney. 
344 . (a) Head of door panel not square. 

Adjust frame and re-fix door. 
Externals 
(a) Facia has dropped, verandah side. 

Re-point tile under cloak at 
gable. 

345 (a.) Clean whitewash droppings from 
verandah. 

(b) Adjust tiles at flashing to 
chimney. 

(c) Pointing to kitchen hall near 
chimney. 

346 (a) Crack in floor. 
347 (a) Adjust tiles and re-bed at flash-

ing to chimney. 
354 (a) Replace door to main room, 

shrunk linings. 
(b) Adjust tiles and re-bed to flash-

ing at chimney. 
355 (a) Clean floor - whitewash droppings. 

(b) Crack in floor. 
(c) Whitewash - lintel to opening of 

kitchen. 
(d) Crack in floor. 

357 (a) Doors to main room and kitchen 
badly shrunk - replace. 

(b) Crack in verandah floor. 
(c) Crack in floor. 
(d) Joint at ridge board is open -

re-clamp. 



725. 

10 

20 

30 

Build- „ 
in- R o o m 

Not 
Repairs to be executed 

29 358 
(Contd.) 

(a 
(b 

Leak at flashing to chimney. 
Crack in floor. 

359 (a Doors - linings are shrunk badly 
- replace. 

(b Crack and hollow patch in floor. 
(c Secure joint at purlin with hoop 

iron. 
360 (a Door to kitchen shrunk panel or 

.linings. 
(b Crack in floor. 

361 (a Door to kitchen shrunk linings. 
(b Shutter dropped at left-hand 

side. 
362 (a Crack in floor. 

("b Displaced tile at valley. 
363 (a Pit hoop iron to joint at purlin 

(b Replace broken shutter. 
364 (a Joint at purlin is open - re-

clamp . 
365 (a Joint at purlin is badly twisted. 

Re-set. 
366 (a Door to kitchen shrunk lining. 

(b Adjust twisted tiles. 
367 (a Doors to main room and kitchen 

shrunk lining. 
368 (a Doors to main room and kitchen 

shrunk lining. 
(b Section has been missed in flash-

ing to drop in roof. Also tiles 
(half section) have been missed. 
Replace. 

369 (a Doors to main room and kitchen 
shrunk linings. 

370 (a Doors to main room and kitchen 
shrunk linings. 

(b Crack in floor. 

Exhibits 
61. 

Inspection 
Report. 
24th November, 
1954 
- continued. 
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Exhibits 
61. 

Inspection 
Report. 
24th November, 
1954 - continued. 

(c 
372 (a 

(b 
373 (a 

(b 

(c 
(d 

374 (a 
375 (a 

376 (a 
(b 
(c 

377 (a 
378 (a 

379 (a 

(b 
(c 

(a 

(e 
(f 

380 (a 
(b 

(c 

Repairs to be executed 

Doors to main room and kitchen 
shrunk linings. 
Crack and hollow patch in floor 
(re-render Section). 
Crack under sill to shutter frame. 
Doors to main room anu kitchen 
- shrunk linings. 
Crack in floor. 
Doors to main room and kitchen 
- shrunk linings. 
Cracked and hollow floor, re-
patch. 
Re-set tiles at chimney flashing. 
Crack in floor at verandah. 
Crack in floor. 
Solignum to beading securing 
square metal at shutter opening. 
Fit hat and coat pegs, two sets. 
leak chimney flashing, also ridge. 
Adjust tiles which are set on 
skew. 
Crack in floor. 
Replace two blades in louvre 

in kitchen. 
Replace two blades in louvre 
frame in kitchen. 
Door is binding (ease). 
Re-bed tiles at flashing to 
chimney. 
Adjust twisted tiles in roof. 
Change tile with broken lode. 
Door in main room shrunk linings. 
Replace centre hinge to main 
door. 
Tiles are to be adjusted in roof. 
(They are twisted). 
Door to main room is shrunk. 

Build-
ing 
No. 

Room 
No. 

29 371 (a 
(Contd.) 

(b 
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Build-
ing 
No. 

Room 
No. 

29 381 
(Contd.) 

382 

10 
383 

384 

385 

20 

386 

Repairs to be executed 

30 

(a) Crack in verandah floor. 
(b) Orack and hollow patches in floor. 
(c) Boors to main room and kitchen -

shrunk linings. 
(a) Crack in floor. 
(b) Re-bed tiles at flashing. 
(c) Roof tiles are twisted - re-set. 
(a) Crack in floor. 
(b) Roof tiles twisted, re-set. 
(a) Main room door and kitchen door 

very badly shrunk, replace. 
(b) Adjust badly twisted tiles in 

roof. 
(c) Orack in floor. 
(a) Boors to main room and kitchen, 

the linings are shrunk. 
(b) Adjust tiles in roof badly 

twisted. 
(c) Pit hoop iron at joint in purlin. 
(a) Doors to main room and kitchen, 

the linings are shrunk. 
(b) Adjust twisted tiles in roof. 
External; 
(a) Gable end point tile at under 

cloak. 
(b) Cocked tile at single stack or 

chimney. 
(c) Short facie board at corbel at 

east end of building. 
T.H. STONE, 

Clerk of Works. 
27.11.54. 

Exhibits 
36. 

Inspection 
Report. 
24th November, 
1954 
- continued. 
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Exhibits 
37. 

Letter, 
Ata U1 Haq to 
City Engineer. 
2nd August, 
1955. 

EgLDBIT 57 
LETTER, ATA TJL HAQ TO CITY ENGINEER 

P.O. Box 2809, 
Nairobi. 
2nd August, 1955-

The City Engineer, 
Town Hall, 
NAIROBI. 

Office 
Near Johns Garage. 

Dear Sir, 
Ofafa Estate - Stage 1, Part B, 

Contract N.73> 

of this certificate the 
but the value of work 

I refer to payment certificate No. 13 dated 
21st July for Slis.96,813 in respect of this Con-
tract. As at the date 
contract was complete, 
certified is less than the total amount of the 
work done. I shall be glad if a completion cer-
tificate can be issued without delay, so that all 
the monies due to me, excepting the 5$ retention 
sum, may be paid. 
2. The delay in making payment in full may be 
due to the delay in taking over blocks of rooms 
after completion, but this does not seem to be any 
concern of mine, having received copies of certifi-
cates from the Clerk of Works to the Architect, to 
the effect that the final blocks have been passed 
as satisfactory. The dates of 'these certificates 
are s -

10 

20 

Blocks 
38A, 38B, 39. 
37 & 38. 

9th June, 1955-
25th June, 1955-
Yours faithfully, 
ATA-UL-HAQ. 

30 
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EXHIBIT' 38 
LETTER, ACTING CITY ENGINEER TO ATA UL HAQ 

Messrs, Ata-Ul-Haq, 
P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 

4th August, 1955. 

Lear Sirs, 
Re Ofafa Estate, Stage 1, Part B, 

Contract No. 73. 
In order to assess the quality of the work 

carried out in accordance with the Contract, tho 
Council's representatives will be inspecting your 
work on the above site from 9.00 a.m. tomorrow, 
5th August, 1955 and you are invited to be present 
at this inspection. 

I must inform you that none of your remaining 
blocks will be taken over until the Council has 
reached a satisfactory conclusion of the state of 
work carried out. 

Yours faithfully, 
Sd. 

for ACTING CITY ENGINEER. 

Exhibits 
38. 

Letter, 
Acting City 
Engineer to 
Ata Ul Haq. 
4th August, 
"1955. 

c.c. Mr. Mould. 

EXHIBIT 39 
LETTER, ATA Ul HAQ TO CITY ENGINEER 

Offices-
Near Johns Garago 

The City Engineer, 
Town Hall, 

P.O. Box 613, 
Nairobi. 
11th August, 1955. 

39. 
Letter, 
Ata Ul Haq to 
Oity Engineer, 
11th August, 
1955. 

NAIROBI. 
Re; Ofaf; Estate, Stage 1, 

Contract No.73. 
Part B, 

I refer to my letter of 2nd August and your 
No. CE.3487/il/LH/9/N/73 dated 4th August, 1955. 

I do not know whether your letter under ref-
erence is a reply to mine or whether mine has been 
ignored. If the former is the case, I should be 
glad to learn in what particulars my work fails to 
meet with the reouirements of the Contract, having 
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Exhibits 
39-

Letter, 
Ata U1 Haq to 
City Engineer, 
11th August, 
1955 
- continued. 

regard to 
a) Your acceptance ox all blocks completed 

with the exception of those listed in my letter 
under reference, but which have been approved by 
your representatives. 

b) The full-time employment of your clerk of 
works on the site during construction of the works. 

c) The frequent visits of inspection paid to 
the works by Mr. Tanner and by Mr. Mould. 

I must ask you to comply with the requirements 
of the Contract, and issue forthwith a certificate 
in payment for the work completed, les 
tention fund and the return of my cash depo; 

Yours faithfully, 
ATA-U1-HAQ. 

5/ for re-
sit. 

10 

4 0 . 
Letter, 
Acting City 
Engineer to 
Ata HI Haq. 
18th August, 
1955. 

EXHIBIT 40 
rmt mn ATA UL HAQ 

CITY COUNCIL OE NAIROBI 
LETTER, ACTING CITY ENGIEEek xu 

Departmental 
Reference s 

C.E.3647/;:/DL/9/:;/73 

TOWN HALL, 
NAIROBI, 

KENYA COLONY. 
18th August, 1955 

Mr.Ata-ul-Haq, 
P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 
Dear Sir, 

Ofafa Estate, Stage 1, Part B, 
Contract No.73 ._ ___ 

Thank you for your letter dated 2nd August 
1955. 

I can assure you that you have received all 
monies due to you under Payment Certificate No.13. 
The letter you received from the Clem of Works 
was an advice note to the Architect and io not a 
certificate stating that the Council have accepted 
the blocks to which you refer. These blocks have 
not been accepted by the Council. 

Yours faithfully, 
(Sgd.) ? Saunders. 

ACTING CITY ENGINEER. 

20 

30 
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10 

20 

30 

40 

LETTER, ATA UL HAQ TO CITY ENGINEER. 
Office s-
Near Johns Garage 

The City Engineer, 
Town Hall, 
NAIROBI. 
Dear Sir. 

P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 
11th July, 1955. 

Re Ofafa Estate, Stage 1, Part B, 
Contract N. 73. 

has 

Exhibits 
41. 

Letter, 
Ata HI Haq to 
City Engineer. 
11th July, 1955. 

I have to acknowledge the receipt of your 
letter No.C.E. 3133/RPH/W/9/N/73 of 8th instant 
and beg to states-
1. As regards to para. 1 of your letter I agree 
to your terms mentioned therein. 
2. As regards to para. 2 of your letter I beg to 
state that"the date of acceptance (28th June 1955) 
mentioned therein is not correct and I shall be 
grateful if you will please investigate about the 
date of acceptance. 
3. As regards to para. 3, some samples had al-
ready been taken by your representatives and again 
you are welcomed to take more, if so desired. 
4. As regards para. 5 I hereby acknowledge the 
receipt of your one cheque No.A 14701 for the month 
of May and June, but regret to point put that the 
retention money has been deducted 10$ in all cases, 
whereas, Rule No,15 of Specifications states that 
"When the work has been satisfactorily completed 
and taken over by the Council, the Contractor shall 
be entitled to a Certificate for 95$ of the value 
of the work executed". 

Under the circumstances, I shall be grateful 
if you will please send me a cheque for the amount 
over-deducted for the work completed and taken 
over by the Council. 
5. Furthermore, for your information, I beg to 
state that at the time of maintenance period, I 
will not be responsible for the damages done to 
drains by the Municipal lorries. The matter 
already been reported to the Clerk of Works. 

Thanking you, 
Yours faithfully, 

ATA-UL-HAQ. 
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Exhibits 
42. 

Letter, 
Acting City 
Engineer to 
Ata U1 Haq. 
18th August, 
1955-

LETTER 42 
LETTER, ACTING CITY ENGINEER TO. ATA UL HAQ 

Mi Ata-ul-Haq, 
P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 

13th August, 1955 

Lear Sir, 
Ofafa Estate, Stage I, Part B, 

Contract No.73. 
Thank vou for your letter dated 2nd August, 

1955. 
I can assure you that you have received all 

monies due to you under Payment Certificate No.13. 
The letter you reoeived from the Cleric of Works 
was an advice note to the Architect and is not a 
certificate stating that the Council have accepted 
the blocks to which you refer. These blocks have 
not been accepted by the Council. 

Yours faithfully, 

c.c. A .II .A. ACTING CITY ENGINEER. 

43. 
Letter, 
Acting City 
Engineer to 
Ata Ul Haq. 
19th August, 
1955. 

EXHIBIty43 
LETTER, ACTING CITY ENGINEER TO ATA UL HAQ 

Mr. Ata-ul-Haq, 
P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 

19th August, 1955. 

Ofafa Estate, Stage 1, Part 'B' 
Contract 11.73. 

Lear Sir. 

Some of your blocks are now due for mainten-
ance repairs under the conditions of the contract. 
Do you wish to carry out this work as each block 
falls due, or to deal with the whole contract at a 
later date. I should be grateful if you would let 
me know. 

Yours faithfully, 

REM. ACTING CITY ENGINEER 
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EXHIBIT 44 

LETTER, ACTING CITY ENGINEER TO ATA UL HAQ 
19th August, 1955 

Mr. Ata-ul-Eaa, 
P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 
Dear Oil. >-i XX , 

Ofafa Estate, Stage 1, Part 'B! 
Contract N.73. 

Thank you for vour letter dated llth August, 
1955. 

I shall be informing you in the near future 
why tlie Council is not willing to accept the blocks 
you have recently constructed. Furthermore, I must 
inform you that you have been paid all monies due 
to you under the terms of the contract. Your de-
posit can only be refunded when the Final Certifi-
cate is issued. The Penultimate Certificate has 
yet to be issued. 

Yours faithfully. 

Exhibits 
61. 

Letter, 
Acting City 
Engineer to 
Ata U1 Haq. 
19th August, 
1955-

RFM, ACTING CITY ENGINEER. 

EXHIBIT 45 
ITER, ATA 

Office s-
Near Johns Garage. 
To The Git;/ Engineer, 
Dear Sir, 

Ofafa Estate, 

rIKEER. 
P.O. Box 613. 
NAIROBI. 
23rd August, 1955 

Stage I, Part B 
_ Contract No.73 

I acknowledge your letter CE 3669/M/V/9/N/73 
of lQth August. 

I am quite unable to understand why the re-
maining blocks have not.been accepted. The work 
was completed under the supervision of and to the 
satisfaction of your architect and your clerk of 
works on the site. They were finally inspected by 
your representatives and all necessary repairs 
completed to their satisfaction, all this took 
place many months ago and still, without any reason 

45. 
Letter, 
Ata U1 Haq to 
City Engineer. 
23rd August, 
1955. 
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Exhibits 
45. 

Letter, 
Ata TJ1 Haq to 
City Engineer. 
23rd August, 
1955 
- continued. 

being given, you are withholding payment. This is 
a breach of your liability under the Contract and 
I must insist on the payment due to me for work 
which has been completed, and the return of my 
deposit. 

Y o urs faithfully, 
ATA UL HAQ 

46. 
Letter, 
City Engineer 
to Ata Ul Haq. 
6th September, 
1955. 

EXHIBIT 46 
LETTER, CITY ENGINEER TO ATA UL 

CITY COUNCIL OF NAIROBI, 
JAQ 

Departmental 
Reference : 

C .E. 3843/RFM/W/9/N/73 
Mr. Ata-ul-Haq, 
P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 

Town Hall, 
Nairobi, 

Kenya Colony, 
6th September 1955. 

Dear Sir, 
Ofafa Estate, Stage 1, Part B. 

Contract N.7? 
Thank you for your letter dated 23rd August, 

1955. She blocks to which 37-011 refer are not satis-
factory and the African Housing Architect has never 
agreed to accept them. You were informed that the 
Council were to hold an investigation to assess the 
quality of your work, and asked you to be present. 
The mortar for wall jointing was suspected of being 
well below the specified standard. Tests by the 
Public Works Department has since revealed that it 
is, and the results range for 1:4 mortar between 
1:9*4 and 1:23.8, added to which 'there is strong 
evidence that the mortar contains impurities in 
the sand and has not been thoroughly mixed. 

In answer to the points you raised with the 
African Housing Architect at the Town Hall on Fri-
day the 26th August -
Question I. 

Had the work been considered unsatisfactory at 
the time of building and brought to your notice 

10 

20 

30 

40 
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v have 
the Architect and 
rectified this. 

Clerk of Works you would 

Answer 

10 

This is not entirely true - you are quite 
aware of the standard of work required, it is 
laid down clearly in your contract what stan-
dard is required and your first few blocks did 
within reason conform to this. I am also 
aware that you have carried out a considerable 
amount of work after normal working hours dur-
ing weekdays and also at weekends, and it has 
often 

Question 
been covered up to avoid inspection, 

2 „ 

20 

You do not understand why your work should be 
condemned when other Council and Government 
Contractors have carried out inferior work. 

Answer 
This is not a relevant point to raise. I am 
only concerned with the work that you have 
contracted to do for the Council. 

Question 3. 
You do not want to go back on to the site to 
carry out major reconditioning to these buil-
dings, only your normal maintenance work. 

Answer 
This then will have to be a matter for nego-
tiation. 

Question A. 
You claim that you have lost £12,000 over this 
contract. 

30 Answer 

40 

I am not clear by what you mean 'lost £12,000, 
anyhow I can assure you that the Council has 
lost a considerable amount of money on these 
buildings as they stand, they are well below 
their Contract Value. 
A satisfactory conclusion will have to be 
reached concerning this contract. The matter 
has been brought to the notice of His Worship 
the Mayor and you should be informed shortly 
of the Council's decision. 

Yours faithfully, 
(Sgd.) ? Saunders 

CITY ENGINEER. 

Exhibits 
46. 

letter, 
City Engineer 
to Ata Ul Haq. 
6th September, 
1955 
- continued. 
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Exhibits 
61. 

letter, 
Ata Ul Haq to 
City Engineer. 
10th September, 
1955. 

EXHIBIT 47 
LETTER, ATA UL HAQ TO CITY ENGINEER 

10th September, 1955 
The City Engineer, 
The City Council of Nairobi, 
Town Hall, 
NAIROBI. 
Lear Sir, 

Ofafa Estate, Stage 1, Part B, 
_ Contract No*73. __ 10 

I acknowledge receipt of your letter CE 3848/ 
RPM/w/9 N/73 dated the 6th September, 1955. 

2. I shall be glad if you will inform me s-
(a) from which part of the work the samples 

of mortar were taken. 
(b) the weight of each sample 
(c) the identification procedure adopted. 
I should also be glad of a copy of the Labor-

atory report on all samples submitted. 
3. With regard to the list of questions and ans- 20 
wers given in your letter, I must protest against 
the imputation of the last sentonce of your first 
answer, and ask you to substantiate your statement 
that I covered up work to avoid its inspection. 
This statement is an accusation of deliberate at-
tempt to deceive, and I am not prepared to let it 
pass. 

In question 2 I did not mention about carry-
ing out inferior work of other Council.and Govern-
ment Contractors. Your Architect questioned me 30 
about some cracks in the floor and I told him that 
such cracks should not be regarded a relevant fac-
tor of great importance in judging the standard of 
floor construction as such cracks are likely to 
appear on the settlement of works and v/ould also 
be found where Council would apply their own direct 
labour which I invited your Architect to inspect 
with me and such cracks are generally repaired 
during the maintenance period. 

Question 4. A brief reference as to the prob- 40 
able size of the loss I shall sustain on this con-
tract was made to the Clerk of Works but was not 
discussed with the African Housing Architect. 
4. I have been put off with a series of excuscs 
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for the non acceptance of the final blocks of 
dwellings, comprising part of this contract, and I 
am now told that I shall be informed "shortly of 
the Council's decision". I should be glad to learn 
on what particular matter or matters the decision 
is to be made, and what precisely is meant by 
"shortly". 

Yours faithfully, 
ATA UL HAQ. 

Exhibits 
61. 

Letter, 
Ata U1 Haq to 
City Engineer. 
10th September, 
1955 
- continued. 

10 EXHIBIT 48 
LETTER, CITY ENGINEER TO ATA UL HAQ 

14th October, 1955 
Mr. Ata U1 Haq, 
P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 
Dear Sir, 

Ofafa Estate, Stage 1, Part B, 
Contract N.73. 

Thank you for your letter dated 10th Septem-
20 ber, 1955. I apologise for the delay in answering 

this letter, which has been occasioned by my im-
pression that the points raised had been already 
covered in subsequent discussion. 

In answer to these points 
(a) The samples of mortar were taken from the 
external walling, above and below the floor 
slab of Blocks 30, 31, 35, 37, 38, 38A, 38B, 
and 39. 
(b) Each sample weighed approximately one 

30 pound. 
(c) Each sample was sealed in a sample bag 

immediately it was taken, and the Block 
number and Room number and position, 
whether above or below the floor slab, 
written on it. Added to this were the 
signatures of at least three witnesses. 

I would remind you that either you or your son 
were present when these samples were taken. You 
will no doubt remember that you refused to sign the 

40 sample bags with the other witnesses, and that you 
refused to accompany an Officer of the Council's 
staff to the Public Works Department, to deliver 
the samples for chemical analysis. 

48. 
Letter, 
City Engineer 
to Ata U1 Haq. 
14tli October, 
1955. 
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Exhibits 
48. 

Letter, 
City Engineer 
to Ata U1 Haq. 
14th October, 
1955 
- continued. 

It is a fact that work was carried out after 
the Council's normal working hours during.week days 
and weekends, without Council's supervision, con-
trary to your Contract, having regard to the stand-
ard of the work carried out at these times, I should 
be grateful if you could give me a satisfactory ex-
planation. 

Furthermore there was an attempt at deception 
over the digging of the trial holes. Mr. Mould 
agreed to holes being dug, and when he went to in- 10 
spect them, found that the mortar exposed was per-
fectly good. On enlarging the holes however, it 
was revealed that the good mortar was confined to 
the shape of the original hole, and nowhere else was 
mortal? of this quality found. 

I cannot answer your second point, as the carry-
ing out of inferior work by other Council and Gov-
ernment Contractors was most certainly brought for-
ward by you as a circumstance mitigating your own 
work. 20 

The figure of £12,000 as your loss over this 
contract was mentioned to the Acting African Hous-
ing Architect. 

I am convinced that the reason for the non-
acceptance of the final blocks of dwellings of this 
contract has been made quite clear to you, and I am 
not prepared to accept the imputation that a series 
of excuses has been made. 

In conclusion I must ask you for a definite 30 
answer on this matter not later than Wednesday 19th 
instant, as to your willingness or otherwise to un-
dertake the work necessary' to put this Contract in 
order. Failing receipt of this answer by that 
date, I shall have to take such action as may be necessary in accordance with the terms of the Con-
tract „ 

Yours faithfullv 

CITY ENGINEER. 
c.c. A.H.A. 40 
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10 

20 

30 

Offices-
Hear Johns Garage. 

EXHIBIT 49 
LETTER, ATA Til HAQ TO CITY ENGINEER 

P.O. Box 2809, 
Nairobi. 
15th October, 1955 

The City Engineer, 
City Council of Nairobi, 
NAIROBI. 
Dear Sir, 

Ofafa Estate, Stage 1, Part B, 
Contract IT.73. 

I ackn.ow3.edge receipt of your letter No. C.E. 
4320/RM./w/Q/e/73 elated 14th October, 1955, and 
should be glad to receive a copy of the laboratory 
report on the samples of mortar taken from the 
walls of the Blocks listed in para (a). This doc-
ument was requested by my letter of 10th September 
together with information which has been supplied 
in your letter under reference. 

With regard to your penultimate paragraph, in 
which you state 3;hat you are convinced that the 
reasons for non-acceptance of the final blocks have 
been made 
the vital 

clear to me, I do not think that, until 
information concerning laboratory tests 

has been furnished to me, I can consider your re-
mark to be wholly justified. 

I do not consider that, having regard to the 
delay of over a month in replying to my letter of 
10th September, you are acting fairly in insisting 
on a definite answer within five days as to my 
willingness to undertake the work you consider to 
be necessary to put the contract in order. I am 
unable to decide on my future course of action un-
til either 

(a) all the information asked for in my letter 
of 10th September has been furnished to me 

or (b) you inform me that it is not your inten-
tion to supply it. 

Exhibits 
49. 

Letter, 
Ata U1 Haq to 
City Engineer, 
15th October, 
1955. 

40 
Yours faithfully, 

ATA-UL-HAQ. 
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Exhibits 
18 L« 
letter, 
City Engineer 
to Ata Ul Haq. 
21st October, 
1955. 

EXHIBIT 5.0. 
LETTER, CITY ENGINEER TO ATA Ul HAQ 

Departmental 
Reference: 

0.E.4442/REM/W/9/N/73 
Mr. Ata-ul-Haq, 
P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 

Town Hall, 
Nairobi, 
Kenya Colony, 
21st October. 1955 

Dear Sir, 10 
Ofafa Estate, Stage 1, 

Contract 1T.73-
Part '3' 

I have received your letter dated 15th Octo-
ber, 1955. 

The Public Works Department chemical analysis 
results which you request, are as followss-

Above Floor Slab 
Block 38 1 to 9.7 Mortar tt 38A 1 to 4.8 St 

it 38B 1 to 4.4 11 u 38B q to 8.3 SI 20 

Below Floor Slab 
30 1 to 18 tt 
30 1 to 14.8 ti 
31 1 to 16.1 It 
35 1 to 16.2 it 
35 1 to 10.8 tt 
35 1 to 15.4 U 
35 1 to 9.4 s; 
37 1 to 11.3 ?! 

38 1 to 20.1 it 
38A 1 to 23.8 ti 
38A 1 to 18.2 tt 
38A 1 to 12.5 tt 
3 SB 1 to 9.6 !! 

39 1 to 9-5 i! 

30 

You have now been provided with ail the in-
formation you require. The conditions of my pre-
vious letter still apply. I must insist upon"your 
decision being made definite by Monday, 24th Octo-
ber, 1955. 

Yours faithfully, 
(Sgd.) A.B. Salmon, 

CITY ENGINEER. 

40 
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EXHIBIT 51 Exhibits 
LETTER, ATA Ul HAQ TO CITY ENGINEER 

The City Engineer, 
City Council of Nairobi, 
NAIROBI. 

P.O. Box 2809, 
Nairobi. 
22nd October, 1955 

Dear Sir, 
Ofafa Estal oo, Stage 1. Part 'B' 

Contract N.73. 
I acknowledge receipt of vour letter No.C.E. 

4442/rpm/w/9/n/73 dated 21st October, 1955. 
In my letters of 10th September, 1955 and 15th 

October, 1955, I asked for a copy of the laboratory 
report on all the samples submitted. Your letter 
under reference gives only results of the tests 
carried out on some of the samples submitted. It 
would expedite this matter if you would be good 
enough to let me have copies of the laboratory re-
port on all samples submitted, or alternatively 
authorise the Materials Engineer of the P.W.D. to 
supply these to me. 

Your insistence on my decision by the 24th 
October, 1955 does not accord much what appears to 
be your reluctance to furnish me with full partic-
ulars of the test on samples. 

Yours faithfully, 
ATA-UL-HAQ. 

51. 
Letter, 
Ata Ul Haq to 
City Engineer 
22nd October, 
1955. 

EXHIBIT 52 
LETTER, CITY ENGINEER TO ATA UL HAQ 

29th October, 1955 
Mr. Ata Ul Haq, 
P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 
Lear Sir, 

Ofafa Estate, Stage 1, Part 'B', 
Contract N.73. 

I have received your letter dated 22nd Octo-
ber, 1955. 

On the 15th October 1955, you wrote asking 

52. 
letter, 
City Engineer 
to Ata Ul Haq 
29th October, 
1955. 
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Exhibits 
52. 

Letter, 
City Engineer 
to Ata U1 Haq. 
29th October, 
1955 
- continued. 

for the laboratory report on the samples of mortar 
taken from the walls of Blocks Nos. 30, 31, 33, 37, 
38, 38A, 38B and 39. These results were included 
in my letter of the 21st October 1955, reference 
G.E. 4442/REl\/w/9/N/73. I fail to see the reason 
for your letter of the 22nd October, 1955. 

I must remind you that your final decision 
was to have been made known to me by Wednesday 19th 
October, 1955. It was deferred to Monday, 24th Oc-
tober, 1955. 

In view of the fact that I have not received 
your decision I must inform you that it is my in-
tention to take such action as may be necessary in 
accordance with the terms of the Contract. 

Yours faithfully. 

CITY ENGINEER, 

53. 
Letter, 
Sir ley & Kean 
to City 
Engineer. 
14th November, 
1955. 

LETTER 

City Engineer, 
City Council of Nairobi, 
Town Hall, 
NAIROBI. 

EXHIBIT 53 
SIRLEY &_KEAN TO CITY ENGINEER 

14th November, 1955 

Dear Sir, 
Rej OEAEA ESTATE 

Your letter Reff CE.TI^7mv^/c> 
29th jOctober, 1955 

73 of refers 
Kindly note that we have been instructed to 

act on behalf of Mr. Ata Ul Haq in reference to 
the contracts of building of African Housing and 
in which you have rais ed certain issues. 

Our Client does not accept, nor is he in a 
position to agree to the actions and submissions 
which you have made in this matter and has instruc-
ted us to act jointly with Mr. S. McConnel, Con-
sulting Engineer, in this matter. 

Before we can proceed with the actual is 3ues it would be appreciated if you could give an ap-
pointment for Mr. McConiiell to meet you and discuss 
the technical issues arising in this case. 

Kindly advise earliest as this matter is of 
the utmost urgency. 

Yours faithfully, 
SIRLHY AND KEAN, 
Sgd. Partner. 
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DP XHIBIT 54 
LETTER, CUT ENGINEER TO ATA UL HAQ 

Mr. Ata U1 Hac, 
P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 
Dear Si: 

Ofafa Estate, Stage 1, Part 'B 
Contract 17.73. 

In view of the "breakdown of recent negotia-
tions I must inform you that it is my intention 
to complete the above contract as laid down in my 
letter of the 29th October, 1955. I have instruc-
ted Council's Direct Labour Organisation to proceed 
immediately with this work. 

Please accept this 
this effect. 

letter as due notice to 
Yours faithfully, 

Exhibits 
61. 

Letter, 
City Engineer 
to Ata U1 Haq. 
(Undated) 

CITY ENGINEER. 

EXHIBIT 55 
LETTER, SIRTjEY & KEAN TO CITY ENGINEER 

28th November, 1955 
The City Engineer, 
City Council cf Nairobi, 
Town Hall, 
NAIROBI. 
Dear Sir, 

Re s MR. ATA UL HAQ 
YOUR LETTER REFERENCE' CE.5237/ABS/DE/9/N/73 

of 19.11.1955 refers 
We would refer to your above-mentioned letter 

and to ours of the 14th November and have now re-
ceived the report from the Consulting Engineer ac-
ting on behalf of our Client to the effect that he 
has consulted your offices in the mafter of the 
African Housing. 

It was found there are some serious defects 
in the design and specification which are not the 
responsibility of the contractor, our client, and 
we are to state that our client does not agree to 
the attempt of your Council to repudiate the former 

55. 
Letter, 
Sirley & Kean 
to City Engines 
28th November, 
1955. 
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Exhibits 
55. 

Letter, 
<x Kean Sirley 

to 
City Engineer. 
28th November, 
1955 
- continued. 

City Engineer's certificates and that the remain-
ing blocks are ready for taking over ana therefore 
the penultimate certificate giving our Client 95/ 
of the contract price should be issued. 

Our Client will deal with any repairs at the 
end of the maintenance period, for which your Coun-
cil has made ample provision by retaining 5/ of tie 
contract until the expiry of that period. 

In view of the above, we are to state 
less we receive the necessary certificates 
ments within fourteen days of the date of 

that un-
and pay-
this 

letter our instructions are 
tion without further notice 

"CO 
to 

take 
you-

Yours faithf 
S I R L E Y & KEAN. 

necessary ac-

Sgd. Partner. 

56. 
Letter, 
Sirley & Kean 
to 
City Engineer. 
29th November, 
1955. 

EXHIBIT 56 

B S / 2 1 7 5 . 

The City Engineer, 
City Council of Nairobi, 
Town Hall, 
Nairob i. 
Dear Sir, 

Princes' House, 
Ciovernment Road, 
Nairobi, 

P.O. Box 5018. 
29th November, 1955. 

Re; Mr. Ata U1 Haq 
Your letter reference C„E,52o7/ABS/DH/9/N/73 

of 19.11.1955 refers 
Further to your above referenced letter and 

ours of the 28th November, our client now advises 
us that your Council has proceeded with certain 
works on the premises which our client has com-
pleted under the contract and we are to state that 
our client considers your action to be improper and 
the apparently extensive alterations unnecessary, 
not coming within the original contract. 

We are further to state that our client will 
hold you responsible for any loss which may result 
from this unilateral action and we would appreciate 
if you would let us know the intention of the Coun-
cil in this matter., 

Yours faithfully, 
SIRLEY & KEAN, 

Ir. Ata Ul Haq. 

BS/KB 
c.c. C.McCoimell, Partner. 
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LOITER. 
ESI IB IT _ 57 

CITY ENGINEER TO SIRIEY & KEAN 

Messrs. 
P.O. Box 
NAIROBI. 

Sirley 
5018, 

& Kean. 
5th Lecemher, 1955 

1955 

Lear Sirs, 
Ofafa Estate, Stage 1, Part 'B' 
Contract No.75 - Mr.Ata U1 Haq. 

I refer to your letter of 28th November, 
reference BS/2175. 

It has been noted that your Consulting Engin-
eer has advised you that there are some serious de-

t/ feots in the design and specification which are not 
the responsibility of the Contractor. As it is not 
known to what this refers, it is impossible for me 
to deal with this unless you particularise. 

I have no intention 
ing blocks as they stand 
penultimate certificate. 
buildings do not conform 
in the specification, as 
saw for himself when he 

of taking over the remain-
or to issue the consequent 
It is a fact that these 
to the standard laid down 
your Consulting Engineer 
inspected them. 

Yours faithfully, 

Exhibits 
57. 

Letter, 
City Engineer 
to 
Sirley & Kean. 
5th December, 
1955. 

CITY ENGINEER, 

30 

EXHIBIT 58 
TETTER, SIRIEY Sz KSAN TO CITY ENGINEER 

Princes' House, 
Government Road, 
NAIROBI. 

P.O. Box 5018. 
10th December, 1955-

SIRLEY & KEAN, 
Advocates. 
BS/2175. 
The City Engineer, 
City Council of Nairobi, 
Town Hall, 
NAIROBI. 
Dear Sir, 

Res Ofafa Estate - Mr.Ata U1 Haq -
Your letter Ref: C.E.5398/m/DH/9/n/73 
__ of 5.12.1955. 

We are in receipt of your above-mentioned let-
ter and are instructed to advise you that so far as 

58. 
Letter, 
Sirley & Kean 
to 
City Engineer. 
10th December, 
1955. 
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Exhib it s 
58. 

Letter, 
Sirley & Kean 
to 
City Engineer. 
10th December, 
1955 
- continued. 

defects in the design and specification are con-
cerned, they are not at the moment in issue and we 
are not to proceed with this matter at this stage. 

We are, however, instructed to draw your at-
tention to the fact that apparently certain demo-
litions are taking place on the buildings in which 
the joints of the buildings are being destroyed 
with crowbars and that our client will hold you 
responsible for the damage caused. 

We are still awaiting information as to what 
payments your Council proposes to make at the pre-
sent stage, particularly in view of the fact that 
apparently some of the blocks which you claim are 
subject to an issue are, since this correspondence 
started, occupied. 

Yours faithfully, 

10 

iS/KS. Partner. 

59. 
Letter, 
S.McConnel to 
City Engineer. 
5th December, 
1955. 

LETTER 
EXHIBIT 59 

McCOMEL TO CITY ENGINEER 

5th December, 1955 

S.McConnel, _ . 20 
R.Sc. (Eng.) M.mst.C.E., 
Consulting Engineer, 
P.O. Box 2408. 
The City Engineer, 
Town Hall, 
NAIROBI. 
Dear Sir, 

AP R I CAN ..HOUSING 
cont£ACTT 'ATA-UMAQ 

Of the 17 Blocks comprised in this Contract 30 
you have already taken over the following s-

Hos. 25,26,27,28,29,31,32,33,34,35 and 36. 
Three further Blocks viz. 30, 37 and 38 are 

now being partially occupied although no notice ox 
acceptance has been received. 

Would you kindly clarify the position as soon 
as possible? 

The Blocks have been inspected recently by 
two other technical experts in addition to myself 
ana the work carefully examined. 40 
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Me were very surprised to see the heavy hack-
ing which was taking place at the joints involving 
in some cases cutting away the stories themselves 
and damaging the timber work. 

10 

COTDV to:-
v 

Messrs. Sirley & 
Advocates, 
Nairobi. 

Yours faithfully, 
S. McConnel. 

Kean, 

Exhibits 
61. 

Letter, 
S.McConnel to 
City Engineer, 
5th December, 
1955 
- continued. 

EXHIBIT 60 
LETTER, CITY ENGINEER TO S. McGONNEL 

13th December, 1955 
Eng.), M.I.C.E., S.LIcConnel Esq., B.Sc. 

P.O. Box 2408 3 
NAIROBI. 
Dear Sir, 

Ofafa Estate, Stage 1, Part 'B' 
Contract IT.73 - Mr. Ata-Ul-Haq L 

20 I refer to your letter dated 5th December, 
1955 and to your meeting with the Deputy City En-
gineer on the 7th December, 1955. 

It is noted that you alleges-
1. that the Council's labour is using crowbars 

to rake out the mortar joints. 
In fact, they are using raking-out tools 
supplied by the Building Works Superinten-
dent. These are about 18 inches long and 
hooked at one end. 

30 2. that the Council's labour is raking out the 
joints to a lesser depth than the Contractor 
was required to do. 

I must ask you to refer to the original 
conditions for this work where you will no-
tice that I require all defective internal 
bagwiped joints to be raked out to a depth of 
one inch. The depth actually raked out, in 
most cases, exceeds this and is nearer two 
inches. In some cases the mortar is so weak 

40 it completely runs out of the joints when be-
ing raked. 

60. 
Letter, 
Oity Engineer 
to S.McOonnel. 
13th December, 
1955. 
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Exhibits 
60. 

Letter, 
City Engineer 
to S.McComel. 
13th December, 
1955 
~ continued. 

3. that the Council's labour is damaging the 
stone in the process of raxing out. 

This appears to be a gross exaggeration; 
in some cases the stone has been chipped. 
This is unavoidable as the stone laid by the 
Contractor is not regularly coursed and the 
projections into the run of the joint get 
caught as the labourers rake out. 

4. that in raking out the joints the Council's 
labour is damaging the timber. 

I have found no evidence of this. 
5. that Blocks Bos.30, 37 and 38 have been par-

tially occupied. 
This is correct. They are occupied by 

Council's labourers who are working on the 
site and are housed free of rent. I fail to 
see your purpose in raising this particular 
point as a technical adviser. 

Yours faithfully, 

CITY ENGINEER< 

EXHIBIT 61 
REPORT PIT WORK BY MR. A. E. WHY ILL 

CITY COUNCIL OP NAIROBI 
AFRICAN HOUSING, OPAFA ESTATE, NAIROBI 

PART "B" - BLOCKS HQS.25 to 59 
REPORT on CONDITION OF WORK 

and DEFICIENCIES IN WORKMANSHIP based on SITBJEN-
SPECTIONS made from APRIL, 19th ~tq APRIlQoth^ 
1956, ADD SUMMARY OF ESTIMATED COST "OF__REPfSTATjj-
MENT to conform"with SPECIFIC/TOl/llCg^ 

or to raise STANDARD." " 
I. FOUNDATIONS 

1. EXCAVATION: 
Specification Provides:-
(a) Rock to be removed with wedges or levers. 
(b) Excavation over the whole area to be down 

to rock or murrain suitable for foundations. 

61. 
Report on Work 
by 
Mr. A.E. Wevill 
21st August. 
1956. 
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(c) 

(a) 

(e) 

Black cotton soil to be entirely removed 
before foundations or filling are proceeded 
with. 
Trenches for foundations to 
rock or •murrain and levelled off 
Lng concrete 

down to solid 
before lay-

fhe Contractor to allow for the foundations 
to have four courses of walling between top 
of concrete foundations and underside of 
concrete floor slab. Any greater or lesser 
depths of excavation to be the subject of a 
Variation Order adjusting the difference. 

ests and kind ings:-
(a) forty six test holes and several trenches 

alongside of the outer faces of walls were 
dug and inspected. 

It was found that the nature of the ground con-
sisted of a layer of black cotton soil about 
2'6" to 3'0" deep overlying a boulder bed, the 
upper surface of which bed is composed of loose, 
soft weathered rock fragments and finer material, 
in some cases with an admixture of black cotton 
soil. This upper surface varied in thickness 
and in places occurred in the form of deep 
pockets between rock outcrops. 

Sub-soil water has drained into most of the 
holes to a considerable depth. 
(b) Examination of the trenches and the test 

holes indicated that excavation had not been 
cut below the upper surface of the loose 

weathered bed, quite appreciable depths of the 
soft loose material (some of it with a consider-
able admixture of black cotton soil) remains un-
der the concrete foundations, rock outcrops 
occur above these surfaces and the bottoms of 
the trenches are not level. 

In view of the provision for payment to be 
made in respect of any increased depths of foun-
dations there appears to be no reason why the 
trenches should not have been dug down to a 
harder bearing surface. 
CONCLUSION: 

Although the trenches have not been cut down 
to the rock surface and levelled off as specified 
the bearing capacity of much of the trench bot-
toms probably would have been adequate to carry 

Exhibits 
61. 

Report on Work 
by 
Mr .A.E.Wevill. 
21st August, 
1956 
- continued. 
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Exhibits 
18 L« 

Report on Work 
by 
Mr.A.E.Wevill. 
21st August, 
1956 
- continued. 

the comparatively small superimposed load but 
the sub-soil moisture content will vary so much 
with seasonal changes that unequal settlement-
may be expected, particular].;/ where black cot-
ton soil has been left and between the harder 

surface. This will result in frac-and softer 
tures in 
ing above 
underpinning 

the concrete foundations and 
them. The only remedy for 

of the weak places. 
the 
this 

wa 1 T 

--3-6 

2. CONCRETE FOUNDATIONS; 
Specification provides s-

(a) The concrete in foundations to be a 
mix of cement and sand aggregate. 

(b) Allowance to be made for any additional 
concrete to stepped foundations. 

(c) The drawings show concrete foundations 18" 
wide and 6" deep with a projection of 
either side the 6U thick walling 

6" on 
built 

The concrete in the foundations which was 
exposed in the test holes is of varying 
quality and hardness, much of it being soft 
and easily broken. This indicates a weaker 
mix, faulty mixing or, that it has been al-

( 1 ) 

(c) 

lowed to stand too long between mixing and 
placing. 
Where the test holes exposed rock outcrops, 
the concrete footing,s have not been stepped 
over these, in fact cases occur of the wal-
ling being notched over the rock and bedded 
directly onto this on a thin bed of mortar. 
Where the concrete foundation was exposed 
it was found to vary in thickness. This 
indicates that the bottoms of the trenches 
have not been levelled as specified. It was 
also found that the concrete did not project 

off the face of the walling building 
shown 

was no 
on the drawim 

beyond 
it the uniform 6" 
some cases there 
others it projects considerably 
b" and generally the outer edge 
crete is broken and irregular. 

In 
projection in 

more than 
of the con-
This indi-cates that the width of the 

than 18" or that mistake 
the setting out. 

concrete is lei 
have en maae m 

10 

20 

30 

40 
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The consequences of the foregoing are that 
the loading is unevenly distributed or is con-
centrated on a lesser area than as designed and, 
taken with the unequal thickness, the unequal 
settlement previously referred to will result 
in fractures in the concrete. 
COEOIUSIONS: 

The concrete generally falls short of the re-
quirements of the specification and, although 
it might be considered adequate as a levelling 
bed off which to build the walling on a good 
rock or murram sub-base, uneven settlement due 
to the inadequate bearing capacity of the sub-
base will result and fractures at points of 
settlement.where the weaker concrete exists will 
occur. A good 1-3-6 mix properly maintained in 
position to the required width and depth would 
have provided a bridging over these points and 
have reduced the risk. 

Again, the only remedy is under-pinning and 
cutting out and re-placing soft concrete. 

Exhibits 
61. 

Report on 'Work 
by 
Mr.A.E.Wevill. 
21st August, 
1956 
- continued. 

FOUNDATION WA1III 

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

(e) 

LMJ£ 
Specification provides %-
The stone to be first quality local stone 
with all corners square and regular. 
The walling to be in 9?:" courses, centre to 
centre. The Contractor to allow for four 
co urs e s of stonework from the top of the 
concrete foundations to the under side of 
the concrete floor slab. Greater or lesser 
depths to be the subject of Variation Orders 
adjusting the differences. 
The walling to be built in cement mortar 
consisting of one part of cement to four 
parts of sand up to ground floor level. All 
mortar shall be mixed in a rotary mixer and 
to be used directly after mixing. 
All walling shall be reinforced in each al-
ternative course with -f" wide hoop iron No. 
20 B.W.G. 
The drawings show 
the full depth to 
foundations. 

buttresses 
the top of 

carried down 
the concrete 

Tests and Findings s-
(a) The walling exposed at the test holes and 
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Exhibits 
61. 

Report on Work 
by Mr. A. E. Wevill. 
21st August, 
1956 
~ continued. 

and 
(b) 

trenches is, in many places, built with ir-
regular shaped stones and stones of unequal 
depth, resulting in excessively wide joints 
and thick'beds Some soft and porous stone 
has also been used and at one test hole it 
was found that stone chips and rubble had 
been used to make up the thickness of the 
joint. The depth from underside of floor 
slab to top of concrete footings at the 
points exposed is mostly four courses but 10 
varies in places to between three and five 
courses. 

(c) The mortar tested varies considerably from 
soft and easily raked out to fairly hard, 
but is mostly soft. This indicates either 
a weaker mix than 1-4, poor mixing or that 
the mortar has been allowed to stand too 
long after mixing before being used or has 
been re-mixed. 

(d) No hoop iron bond is visible at the places 20 
tested. 

(e) Buttress foundations where exposed, in many 
cases start off the concrete floor or at one 
course below the floor and do not rest on 
the concrete foundations. 

CONCLUSIONSi 
The walling falls short of specification re-

quirements as much of the stone used is of ir-
regular shape and size and is not square on all 
corners, also inferior and soft stone has been 30 
used in places. The mortar is so variable in 
quality as to render it's binding value unreli-
able . 

There are many unduly thick beds and joints 
and the walling as built offers little resis-
tance to the effects of subsidence in the sub-
soil and fracture in the concrete foundations. 
Walling built in accordance with the specifica-
tion would have mitigated against this to some 
extent as an arching effect over the settlement 40 
points would have been created. 

Had advantage been taken of the provision for 
payment for walling in excess of four courses 
deep and the trenches been taken down to a lower 
and harder level wherever soft ground was found, 
the resulting foundations would have been more 
satisfactory. 
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10 

Some re-pointing lias been done to the exter-
nal faces in places. The only remedial measures 
which appear to be possible now are raking out 
joints and re-pointing and under-pinning. The 
whole of the external face of the walling below 
ground should be exposed, the jointing raked 
out at least l-J" deep and flush pointed in ce-
ment mortar (1-4). Where the digging down to 
expose the walling also exposes weak or unduly 
soft concrete or subsoil, the excavation should 
be taken down to a harder stratum and concrete 
under-pinning inserted. In filling back after 
the re-pointing has been completed a hard core 
fill should be used where steps or concrete 
drains abut the walls. 

Exhibits 
6 1 . 

Report on Work 
by . 
Mr.A.E.Wevill. 
21st August, 
1956 
- continued. 

20 

30 
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II_. ELOORS AND RILLING UNDER 
Specification provides 

(a) All black cotton soil to be removed and the 
excavated area shall he free of black cotton 
soil before filling proceeds. 

(b) 

(c) 

Rilling under the ground floor slab to be 
approved hard, dry, broken stone in layers 
not exceeding 6" and each layer rammed. 
Concrete floors to be 1-3-6 mix, consolida-
ted to the thickness shown on drawings, laid 
to form a monolithic slab and screeded to 
falls. Drawings show floors 3U thick con-
crete and 4" thick screed. 

(d) Cement 
coat of 
smooth 

to consist of 
and sand (1-4) 

a 
floors 
cement 
hard surface with 

mtt finishing-
brought to 

steel trowel. 
a 

Tests and findings 
i •• i • i i ^ 

(a) Test holes were cut through the floors in-
and side rooms in six out of the seventeen blocks 
(b) and the filling under was removed. In each 

case the filling consisted of large boulders 
up to 2'0n long of irregular shape with con-
siderable voids between and was finished off 
with a layer of finer material immediately 
under the* concrete floor, this layer varying 
in depth between 3" and 6U. In no case had 
the excavation been carried down to the rock 
and pockets consisting of the upper soft 
rock stratum with an admixture of black cot-
ton soil and some neat black cotton soil 
were found under the filling. V/ater had 
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(c) 

(d) 

all 

percolated through the walling and was 
standing to quite a considerable depth in 
the filling.' It is obvious that little or 
no attempt at ramming could have been made 
as the size of the stone ballast used ren-
dered it impossible to do so in 6" layers 
as specified. Suoh filling particularly 
as it contains standing water, is bound to 
move, more particularly on account of the 
variation in water content at seasonal 10 
changes. 
The concrete floors where cut, vary in 
thickness from 2" to 3" thick and the con-
crete varied in quality, most of it being 
easily broken. 
The screed, was found to be from -g" to in 
thickness and is mostly reasonably hard. 
Each floor in every block was inspected ana 
had cracks or showed signs of cracks which 

had been repaired. Some had been entirely re- 20 
floated and cracks were again appearing. The 
surface of a number of floors was pitted. Damp 
patches appeared in some of the floors. 
conclusions; 

The fact that test holes were made in blocks 
some distance away from each other and that 
cracks have occurred in all floors throughout 
all the blocks are reasonable grounds for the 
assumption that the type of filling which was 
exposed where the floors were opened up is sim~ 30 
ilar throughout and that the cause of cracking, 
irrespective of possible weakness in the con-
crete, lies in the filling. 

No matter what repairs are made to the floors 
themselves, no permanent cure can be effected 
until they are all taken up, the filling re-
moved, all black cotton soil dug out and new 
filling which conforms to the specification done 
and the floors re-laid. Before filling back any 
weak mortar exposed on the inner faces of the 40 
foundation walling should be raked out and the 
walls re-pointed. 

Ii: SUPERSTRUCTURE WALLING. 
Specification provides s-

(a) Only first quality local stone, quarry 
dressed with all corners square and regular, 
is to be used. All courses throughout to 
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"be 9i" centre to centre, built in cement 
mortar (1-6) above ground floor level. 

(b) All walling should be reinforced in each 
alternate course with hoop iron No.20 
B.W.G. 

(c) Approved three ply bituminous felt damp 
course, set in hot bitumen, laid on a ce-
ment screed, to be provided in all walls 
immediately above finished floor slab level. 

(d) External faces of walls, where colour washed 
and internal wall surfaces of rooms to be 
bag wiped. Walls to be bag wiped shall be 
dressed off to a fair face before wiping to 
remove all projecting stone faces and bag 
wiped joints shall be left flush with the 
stonework and free from ledges, voids and 
interstices and shall present a flush un-
broken surface. Remaining external faces 
of walling not colour washed, shall have 
struck joints. Cement mortar is not to be 
used to level off faces of walling, which 
is to be left rough. 

(e) Allow for forming chamfered edges to window 
openings. 

(f) Build flues in chimneys and parge in 1-6 ce-
ment mortar. 

(g) Eorm steps in medium chisel dressed stone 
set in cement mortar (1-4) on hardcore back 
filling. 

(h) Boundary walls to tie in directly below the 
underside of stone corbels. 

Tests and Bindings s-
(a) The walling contains a very considerable 

quantity of irregular shaped stones with 
corners out of square and stones of unequal 
depths. This has resulted in joints of ex-
ceptional width to make up between stones 
with corners out of square, although these 
wide joints have also occurred in other 
places where the adjoining stones are com-
paratively square. To enable the stan-
dard course to be maintained the beds are 
of unequal thickness and in many cases out 
of level and^true alignment. Beds 2-̂ " thick 
and joints 2f" wide can be found in many-
places. Many soft stones of inferior quality 
and of a porous nature, which are liable to 
disintegrate, have also been used. 

Exhibits 
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The mortar varies considerably but in 
most cases where it was tested after the 
pointing had been removed it is soft and 
can be raked out easily. 

There are a number of straight joints at 
window and louvre sills. Grades have ap-
peared, some of which have been repaired by-
re-pointing. 

(b) Tests were made for the presence of hoop 
iron bond. In most places tested it is ab-
sent and such few places where it was found, 
more often than not it is not repeated in 
alternate courses. That found is thin bal-
ing iron about wide and is not as speci-
fied. 

(c) In places where the damp course was exposed 
it was found to be thin and is not three-
ply material also it does not appear to 
have been set in bitumen on a 

(d) The internal faces of walling 
no appearance cf having been < 
a fair face and do not by any 
a flush unbroken surface. On 

screeded bed. 
to rooms bore 
tressed off to 
means present 
the contrary 

iderable ledge; they are rough with cons 
depressions and voids. 

An attempt has been made to remedy this 
in some of the rooms by re-pointing and mak-
ing up the rough surfaces with cement mortar. 
Where the latter has been done the amount 
of mortar used is almost the equivalent of 
plastering. 

The external faces which were to be 
struck jointed have the mortar at the beds 
and joints smeared on and finished with a 
sunk ruled joint, the finish presents a most 
untidy appearance which bears little resem-
blance to struck pointing. The pointing 
around door, etc. frames is particularly 
rough and in places is showing signs of 
breaking away. 

This inferior pointing, combined with 
poor mortar and wide beds and joints, re-
sults in walling which presents little re-
sistance to the penetration of driving rain. 
A considerable amount of re-pointing to the 
external facing has been done to some of 
the blocks and to others the beds and joints 
have been raked out preparatory to re-point-
ing. The ends of the division walls to the 
cubicles in the ablution blocks are shown 

10 

20 

30 

40 
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to be fair faced and pointed. They have 
been plastered between the door frames and 
in many places the plaster has cracked and 
is falling away. 

(e) No chamfered edges have been formed at any 
of the window openings. 

(f) The flues to the cook rooms have been part-
ly parged in some places but are mostly left 
rough. 

(g) JS in many places, if provided have sunk 
and are not visible. No hard core back 
fill down to the concrete foundation was 
present in places where tests were made. 

(h) Boundary walls do not appear to be bonded 
into the walls of the buildings and in many 
places open joints are visible at these 
points. 

CONCLUSIONS; 
The conclusions drawn in respect of the na-

ture of materials and workmanship in the con-
struction of the foundation walling applies 
equally to this portion of the work. 

Cracks have occurred and more may be antici-
pated, particularly in view of the suspected 
absence of hoop iron bond and the prospect of 
settlement in the foundations. 

Some dampness due to penetration of driving 
rain may also occur. 

In the interests of hygiene the internal walls 
cannot be left in their present condition and 
the defective pointing to the external faces 
should also be remedied and, in the case of the 
external faces the beds and joints should be 
raked out to a depth of 1-g-" and re-pointed in 
1-4 cement mortar v/ith a proper struck joint. 
In the case of the internal faces the rough 
stone faces should he dressed off to a fair 
face, the joints raked and flush pointed in 1-4 
cement mortar and again bag-wiped arid lime washed. 

Cracks due to the poor mortar, foundation 
movement or the absence of hoop iron bond should 
be pointed up and if necessary owing to their 
recurring, the beds of the walling should be 
chased and iron cramps should be inserted. The 
ends of division walls should be clean dressed 
and flush pointed. 

Exhibits 
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The damp course will deteriorate rapidly but 
the only remedy would be to cut through the 
walling in sections and insert a more permanent 
material. The cost of doing this would be pro-
hibitive and the only answer is a claim for re-
duced value. 

A chamfer to form a weathering should be cut 
on the outer face at all sills. The pointing 
around aoor, etc. frames can be dealt with when 
the external and internal faces are re-pointed. 

The lack of parging to the flues is not a 
serious matter from the point of view of smoke-
disposal, as most of the cooking is done on 
charcoal braziers. The roughness will impair 
their efficiency as extract ventilators and may 
provide objectionable harbouring places but 
there is little that can be done about this now 
without pulling down and re-building the chim-
neys which is hardly warranted. 

The hardcore back fill under steps can be 
provided when back filling after re-pointing 
the external face of foundation walling but the 
steps will have to be re-set. 

Wrot iron cramps, three to the height, should 
be inserted as a tie at the junction between 
the boundary walls and the buildings. 

IV. ROPES AND JOINERY 
Specification prcvid_e_s ;-
(a) Carpenter's work to be framed and trussed 

up in the best possible manner with all 
necessary straps, screws, etc. as shown on 
the drawings. All rafters, etc. to be sawn 
and truly fitted and well spiked together. 
Posts and tie beams to be housed together. 
Erame up roof as shown on drawings... 
all properly framed together. 
The drawings show wall plates on top of the 
inner wall between the living Rooms and 
Cook places and Verandahs. 

(b) Down oach side of valley on top of valley 
rafter and on backs of jack rafters provide 
and fix 9" x Is1 valley boards, one edge 
splayed_and 2" x 1" fillet planted on each 
side. line the valley gutters with 24 gauge 
galvanised sheet iron, laying 3" on flat and 
turned up under tiles and over tile "battens 
for 7$' minimum. 
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(c) Doors and window frames to be fixed with 
metal cramps. 

(d) Hang all doors on one and a half pairs of 
12" strap hinges. Hang all window shatters 
on one pair of 9" strap hinges. All strap 
hinges to be secured with one bolt and screws. 
Hang ablution doors on one and a half pairs 
of 9" strap hinges set to close door auto-
matically. All the above to be of good, 
strong pattern. 

Tests and Findings:-
(a) The roof timbers are lap jointed and nailed 

with wire nails, none are framed, screwed 
or even halved at joints and the nails used 
are insufficiently long to go right through 
the timbers so that they may be clenched on 
one face. 

The joints between the timbers are open-
ing and some distortion and sagging in the 
roofs has taken place. Some reinforcement 
has been provided in the form of a brace at 
the apex where the rafters meet the ridge 
and in the ablution blocks extra tie beams 
have been put in to the rafters which have 
no collars. 
No wall plate has been provided on top of 
the inner division walls. 

(b) The valleys are formed with two 6" x 1" 
valley boards butted against each side of 
the valley rafter and have no fillets on 
the upper edges. They are lined with gal-
vanised sheet iron ridging about 15" girth, 
(not 18" as specified). 

(c) The only fixing for door frames, where it 
can be seen to be used, is thin, flat baling 
iron, not proper metal cramps. If any has 
been used for fixing window or louvre frames 
it will probably be of the same material. 
The frames to the ablution cubicle doors 
are nailed together through the walls with 
wire nails and are coming loose in many 
places. 
Hinges throughout are plain Tee hinges, 
fixed with screws without any bolts and 
those to the ablutions are not self-closing. 

CONCLUSIONS: 

Exhibits 
11 yit 
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Weakness in the jointing of the timbers has 
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and will continue to result in distortion and 
spread in the roof timbers. The omission of 
the wall plate on top of the front division 
walls of the rooms will also be a contributory 
factor. 

The remedies which can be provided most con-
veniently now are to provide a collar to each 
pair of rafters which have no collar at present 
and to brace each pair of rafters at their 
apices under the ridge. The joints between the 10 
rafters and the new collars and braces should 
be halved and clench nailed and all of the 
present lapped joints to the timbers should be 
re-nailed with not less than 4-|-" long nails with 
ends clenched. A wall plate with hoop iron or 
holts securing it should be provided on the 
division walls at the front of the rooms and all 
the rafters should be securely nailed to this. 
Valleys with boarding and fillets and galvanised 
iron linings as specified could be substituted 20 
for those provided. This may not be necessary 
unless undue leakage takes place but if it is 
not done, a reduction should be claimed for the 
lesser cost of the valleys as executed. 

All door etc. frames should be taken out, 
proper iron cramps (three to each door jamb and 
two to each window and louvre jamb) provided and 
the frames re-fixed and properly bedded and 
pointed. Some of the frames in the ablution 
rooms have been bolted together through the 30 
division walls. This could be done to the re-
mainder of the ablution room doors without nec-
essitating taking them out. 

Self-closing hinges should be provided in 
substitution of the present. Tee hinges to all 
ablution room doors and one bolt should be pro-
vided to each Tee hinge on the remaining doors 
and shutters. 

PftEEE DRAINS 
Specification Provides%-
Sullage Drains;-

The Contractor to allow for excavating for 
and providing and laying drain blocks (1-3-6) 
to falls as directed on~a 3'li murram bed also 
for any building up under the channels as direc-
ted. The drawings show a hard core fill to the 
foundation trench on the outer face of founda-
tion walling. 

40 



7 6 1 . 

Tests & Findingss-
The drains have settled in many places or 

have not been laid to adequate falls and water 
stands in them. 

In places they have fallen away from the 
wall face and the open joint so formed has been 
made up in cement. Several lengths have broken 
and the jointing between the blocks has opened 
up, particularly at junctions. The branch 
drains to the roads and sewer have settled and 
cracked in many places, which indicates that 
the specified building up under them has not 
been done. 

In places where the ground v/as opened up 
alongside of the drains no hardcore hack fill 
had been put in. 

The cement finish to the drains has disin-
tegrated in several places. Further movement 
in the drains may be expected due to seasonal 
changes. 
CONCLUSIONS: 

Where water stands in the drains they should 
be taken up, all cotton soil beneath them re-
moved, back fill or building up provided and 
they should be re-laid to proper falls. Broken 
lengths of drain and drains to which the cement 
finish has disintegrated should be taken out 
and re-placed. 
VI. REPAIR ETC. WORKS ALREADY CARRIED OUT 
The City Council have already carried out 

some of the repairs called for in the foregoing 
and other work in investigations. These consist 
of raking out and repointing interior and ex-
terior wall faces, reinforcing roof timbers, 
repairs to floors, digging and filling back test 
holes and trenches and sundry repairs to doors, 
shutters and roof tiling. 

Exhibits 
61. 

Report on Work 
by 
Mr.A.E.Wevill. 
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VII, SUMMARY 
Based on the foregoing the following are my 

findings upon which I consider claims against 
the Building Contractor can be substantiated 

"A" Estimated Cost of repairs and 
reinstatement under Heads I to VI 

Foundations. (To improve Standard) . 
Excavate to outer face of walling and 
for underpinning, concrete underpinning, 
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I. Foundations (Contd.) 
/aking out and re-pointing walls 
and back filling 
II. Floors 

to trenches Shs. 39,000.00 
(To bring up to Speci-
fication standard) 

existing concrete floors 
out 

Hacking up 
taking out filling, cleaning 
black cotton soil, re-filling and 
ramming and laying new concrete 
floors and floating 
III. Superstructure Walling. 
(a) Raking joints and re-pointing 

ext ernally 
(to improve standard) 

(b) Dressing off, re-pointing and 
bag washing internal faces, 
taking out and re-fixing door 
etc. frames, cutting chamfer 
at sills, bonding boundary 
walls, etc. (to specification 
standard). 

(c) Damp Course (reduced value) 
Reinforcing and re-spiking roof 
timbers (to improve standard) 
Bolting hinges and new hinges to 
doors etc. (to bring up to speci-
fication standard). 
Valley boarding and lining 
(reduced value) 
V. Drains (to bring up to speci-
fication standard) 
Taking up and re-laying and re-
placing defective drains and 
providing support 
VI. Repair Work carried out by 
"City "Council" ""* " ~ 
Cost of repairs and investigations 
already carried out (less work to 
roofs, re-pointing and decorations) 

Total value of Repair, 
Works s-

etc 

310,000.00 10 

18,600.00 

206,000.00 
800.bo 

23,500.00 

5,800.00 

700.00 

2,000.00 

15,000.00 

20 

30 

Shs.621,400.00 40 



763» 

"13" Loss of Rent. Exhibits 
The rooms must be vacated whilst 
the works under headings I to VI 
are being done. They should 
therefore be vacated in blocks of 
about twenty rooms at one time and 
the time required to do the work 
would be about one month per block. 
There are 456 rooms, let at Shs.39/-

Report on Work 
by 
Mr. A.E.Wevill. 
21st August, 
1956 
- continued. 

61. 

10 per room per month. 
The rent loss would thus be Shs. 17,784.00 
Note:- This does not make any 

allowance for rooms un-
occupied from the date 
the Contractor left the 
work up to the time when 
repairs are commenced. 

"C" Maintenance. 
If'the repairs scheduled are carried out, 

20 charges for maintenance should not exceed the 
normal l-g-% per annum applicable to this type 
of property except for the risk of subsidences 
in the foundations entailing further underpinning. 
An addition of l/8th% per annum should cover this 
risk. The capital value of this item can be more 
properly calculated by the City Treasurer using 
the formula applicable to other City Council 
properties. 
"I)u Depreciated Value. 

30 The normal useful life of this type of building 
is usually calculated at 4-0 years. Most buildings 
of permanent structure, such as these, if reason-
ably well maintained, will outlive this period. It 
is more than probable that at a much earlier date 
a better type of accommodation will be demanded 
and these will become obsolete. 

A claim under this heading would therefore be 
debateable and would certainly be challenged. In 
view of the claim for extra maintenance charges it 

40 would not be advisable to enter this claim. 
Dated: 21st August, 1956. A.E. Wevill, 

E.R.I.C.S. 
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EXHIBIT 64 
REPORT ON EXTRA WORKS BY MR 

Description 

OFAFA ESTATE. DOONHOLM ROAD NAIROBI 
t̂ra_jqorks__c_arriecl ouiq by -

10 Me¥sri*r**ATA uTTilAQContractors. 

Unit 

1 Pro/icle and fix galvanized sheet iron 
flashings to Two Flue chimney stacks. 
as per Variation Order No. 3739 of 
5th January, 1955 No. 

2 Ditto to single flue stacks on three 
sides only. No. 

3 Ditto on four sides No. 
4 6" Precast concrete drain channel 

amount as measured. 2137'0n 
20 allowed in Contract 1200'0" L.F. 

5 4" x 2" Head plate to Lavatory Blocks 
as per Mr. Goodwins memo to the 
Architects dated 9/6/55 n.F. 

6 Cement and sand render to exposed edge 
of concrete-floor slab see Mr. Good-
wins memo to Architects 9/6/55 L.F. 

7 1-g-" x 1" Podo batten to eaves as per 
Contractors letter to the Oity 
Engineer 16/2/1955 L.F. 

30 8 Form steps in roofs see various 
letters between Contractors and City 
Engineer. 9/10/54, 13/10/54, 
20/10/54, 9/12/54, 14/1/55 and 
18/3/56 No. 

9 Extra for removing boundary walls to 
Blocks Nos. 26 and 27 erected in 
the wrong position to the instruc-
tions of Mr. Stone. These walls re-
erected in right position as chit 
issued by Mr. Stone. No variation 
Order issued as should have been 
under the circumstances Item 

C.W. FEWLYN, A.R.I.C.So, 
CHARTERED QUANTITY SURVEYOR 
P.O. BOX 5547, NAIROBI. 
"Quan-"' 
tity Rate Shs. Cts. 

Exhibits 
52. 

Report on extra 
works by 
Mr .C.W.Newlyn. 

129 142/- 18,318. 00 

20 75/- 1,500. 00 
20 120/- 2,400. 00 

937 5/- 4,685. 00 

733 1/50 1,099- 50 

14,490 -/40 5,796. 00 

13,625 -/20 2,725. 00 

4 338/'- 1,352. 00 

415. 00 
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Description 

OFAFA ESTATE. DOONHOIh ROAD. NAIROBI 
Extra works_ carried _out by -
Mes srs. ATA" Uxi" UAQ "0 ohtr'actors (0 ontd.) 

10 Provide and lay Murrain path to Block 
No.29 at express wish of Mr.Tanner and 
Mr.Stone. This was laid as the block 
had been handed to Friend Mission for 
occupation, and murrain was laid for 
their benefit. See Mr.Goodwin's memo 
of 9/6/55 to Architects 

11 Digging of Inspection Holes, see Con-
tractors letter asking for instructions 
in writing after work carried out 
dated 29/6/55 

12 Alterations to Children's Lavatories 
see variation order No.3741 of 12/3/55 

13 Provide and fix extra shelf in each 
Kitchen, as authorised and approved by 
Architects and Clerk of Works but 
never confirmed by a written variation 
order or chit 

14 Repairs to wall damaged by somebody 
else's lorry, see letter to the City 
Engineer re this dated 7/4/55 and 
29/6/55 

TOTAL EXCLUDING CLAIM FOR 
EXTRA DEPTH OP FOUNLATIONS 

NOTE:-
It has not been possible to check 
Contractors claims for the increased 
depths of foundations as their record 
for this, a Site Plan Tracing agree-
ing depths and signed by Mr. Goodwin 
has been retained by the Court as 
vital evidence. 

Prepared by:-

Exhibits 
Unit tity" R a t e Shs* Gts- 64" 

Report on extra 
works by 
Mr.C.W.Newlyn 
- continued. 

Item 366. 00 

Item 800. 00 
No. 3 40/- 120. 00 

No. 456 6/- 2,736. 00 

Item 270.00 

Shs. 42,582. 50 

C.W. NEWLYN, A.R.I.C.S., 
Chartered Quantity Surveyor. 

P.O. Box 5547, 
NAIROBI. 
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Description 

OFAFA ESTATE. DOONEOIM ROAD, NAIROBI 
EXTRA WORKS, for which so far Con-
tractors - Messrs. ATA UD HAQ, have 
made no claim but for which they are 
entitled to EXTRA PAYMENT, 

1 Extra labour and material in turning 
end units of Blocks Nos. 38A and 39 
at right angles to main blocks this 

10 causing valley gutters to be inser-
ted in roofs, and entailing extra 
labour and material to walling etc. 
LUMP SIM VALUATION AS MEASURED AND 

VALUED AT USUAL RATES 
2 Extra Boundary Walling owing to step 

out from buildings in lieu of lining 
up 

3 6" x 9" Lintels over doorways in lieu 
of 5" x 6" Specified. This done so 
that lintels would line up with 

20 walling courses as usual in good 
class work. 
Difference in cost between Concrete 
in Lintels and 6" Stone walling as 
measured and valued. 

855 P.O. Concrete © 6/-
2280 E.S. Eormwork © 3/50 

Deduct 
1140 P.S. 6" Stone 

30 walling © 1/70 

TOTAL EXTRA NOT SO EAR 
UlAIMEF BY 'TlLT'T3bM?RACT OR 

Prepared by: 

Exhibits 
Unit Q^jn- R a t e g h c t 64. tity Report on extra 

works by 
Mr.C.W.Newlyn 
- continued 

Item 1,766. 90 

I.E. 55 35/- 1,925. 00 

5,130.00 

8,550.00 

1,938.00 6,612. 00 

Shs. 10,303. 90 

C.W. NEWLYN, A.R.I.C.S., 
Chartered Quantity Surveyor, 

P.O. Box 5547, 
NAIROBI. 



7 6 7 . 

LETTER, 
EXHIBIT 65 

CHILE MATERIALS ENGINEER TO 
Public Works Department, 
Head Office, Nairobi. 

18th January, 1956. 
M.145/35/J/10. 

MR. Ata-Ul-Haq, 
P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 
Dear Sir, 

10 ANALYSIS OE SAMPLE OE SET MORTAR 
SUBMITTED BY YOU ON 16th. JANUARY 

1956 LAB REEs NO. C/8257 
The following are test results carried out on 

sample of set mortar submitted by you in the pres-
ence of Mr. K.E. Craig-McEeely, K. Aljriwth. 

Ratio. Cement to Sand = 1 to 4.2 parts by 
weight. 

The above result was calculated from the cal-
cium contents of the mixture, assuming 62$ calcium 

20 (as CaO) in the cement used, and no calcium in the 
sand used. 

The account for this work is also enclosed. 
Yours faithfully, 
Sgd. K.A1JRIWTH ??? 

f. CHIEE MATERIALS ENGINEER 
DIRECTOR EOR PUBLIC WORKS. 

Exhibits 
65. 

Letter, 
Chief Materials 
Engineer to 
Ata Ul Haq. 
18th January, 
1956. 

EXHIBIT 66 
LETTER, CHIEE MATERIALS ENGINEER TO ATA UL HAQ 

MATERIALS BRANCH 
30 Ata-ul-Haq, Esq. 

P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 

10th June, 1957 

66. 
letter, 
Chief Materials 
Engineer to 
Ata Ul Haq. 
1 0 t h J u n e 1 9 5 7 -

Dear Sir, 
MORTAR AND CONCRETE TESTS - OEAEA ESTATE 

Below are copied the requested extracts from 
test results carried out for the Nairobi City Coun-
cil on samples of set mortar and concrete said to 
have been taken from Section "B" of the above estate. 
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Concrete Samples received in Materials Laboratory 
on 15th 'June 1955 and reported to City Engineer 
on 12th July, 1955. 
S 1 Ratio (pt s.by weight) 

Description Cement" SandAggre"-" — - - - gge"-
0/7656 Contract '73B' 

Block 38 Floor 1 3-0 5.4 
C/7657 Contract '73B' 

Block 30 Floor 1 3.6 6.2 
Mortar Samples received in Materials Laboratory on 
1st "Jury, 1955 and reported to City Engineer on 
21st July 1955. 

no. Uemeiit Sand. 
0/7743 Block 38. 33/l 1 9-7 
C/7747 38.B 189 1 8.3 
C/7748 38/23/B Room 5th 1 4.4 
0/7749 38/4/2/B 1 4.8 

10 

I must stress that we do not know anything 20 
more about the sample than the facts given in the 
description and that the sample containers of 
Samples C/7743, C/7747, C/7748 and 0/7749 were 
signed by Mr. Goodwin of the City Council. 
Although you say they are from your part of the 
work we have no knowledge of whether or not this 
is correct. 

Yours faithfully, 
F.S. Strongman. 

CHIEF MATERIALS ENGINEER 30 
for SECRETARY FOR WORKS. 

fss/tngm„ 
Copy tos-
Kaplan & Stratton, 
P.O. Box 111, 
NAIROBI. 
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5X113IT 67 
LETTER, ARCHITECT, AFRICAN HOUSING 

TO WATER ENGINEER 

Water Engineer, 
City Council of Nairobi, 
NAIROBI. 

5th July, 1955 

Lear Sir, 
Re; OFAFA ESTATE, PART B, STAGE 7, 

CONTRACT 73 ATA UL HAQ, 
Would you please supply and fix the remaining 

water taps to Block 28 Ablution Units. There are 
two more taps to be fixed to each of the three 
units. 

I should also be grateful if you would make 
the water connections to Blocks 37, 38, 38A and 39 
as soon as possible. These blocks are ready for 
occupation. I wrote to you requesting this work 
to be done on 10th June last. 

Yours faithfully, 
Sd. Ronald F.Mould 

ARCH.I/C AFRICAN HOUSING 

Exhibits 
67. 

Letter, 
Architect, 
African Housing 
to Water 
Engineer. 
5th July, 1955. 

30 

EXHIBIT 68 
REPORT BY ARCHITECT, AFRICAN HOUSING 

SITE REPORT BT A.H.A. 24th June, 1955 
ATA UL HAQ CONTRACT 73 OFAFA ESTATE 
_ _ PART B, STAGE 1. 

Work nearing completion. Blocks 37, 38 almost 
ready to take over. 

Work appears to be generally reasonable. Mor-
tar in joints and floor concrete suspect and tests 
to be made by P.W.D. 

Whitewash and colour wash not of high standard 
Bag wiping poor, far too many holes left in walls 
to harbour bugs. 

68. 
Report by 
Architect, 
African Housing 
24th June, 1955-

Sgd. RONALD F. MOULD, 
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Report by 
Clerk of Works. 

EXHIBIT 69 
REPORT BY CLERK OR WORKS 

MEMO PROM W.H.M. GOODWIN C/WKS. 
TO: THE ARCHITECT AFRICAN HOUSING. 

Further to Mr.Stone*s records of wall depths s-
1. Ata ul Haq went right up in the air when he 

saw there were some of his buildings marked 3 
courses only; and insisted on a check by ex-
cavation. 

There was only time to do one, so we checked 
Block 30; and sure enough that was four cour-
ses deep, not three. He wants to do the next 
tomorrow. 

2. I have compared Contract 60 with my record of 
holes, which fortunately, gives courses of 
depth in each hole. Again there are differ-
ences. ??? 

W.H.M. GOODWIN, 
C/WKS. 

The above has been noted and dealt with 
RONALD F. MOULD. 

70. EXHIBIT 70 
Report to REPORT TO OITY TREASURER 
City Treasurer. 

REPORT TO CITY TREASURER. 
FROM ARCHITECT i/C AFRICAN HOUSINGS attaching 
Monthly Report No.13 and setting out calculations 
for Payment Certificate No.13 in the amount 
Sh. 96,813/-. 

71. EXHIBIT 71 
Archit .ct REPORT BY ARCHITECT, AFRICAN HOUSING 
African Housing. 30th September, 1955 

OFAFA ESTATE STAGE 1, PART B, CONTRACT NO.73 
_ ATA UL KAQ 

REPORT: Estimate of cost for replacing floors that 
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are expected to produce serious defects due to 
subsidence of the hardcore backfilling, substand-
ard concrete and screed. 

Break up screed and floor and consolidate to 
existing hardcore by ramming. 

Well wet hardcore and lay concrete floors 
1:3:6 mix to a thickness of 4" and trowel finish 
to a smooth surface. 

Keep well wetted and free from traffic for 72 
hours. 

Allow for 
days 1,100 lbs. 

Estimated s 
but basing~TiHis 

initial strength to be reached in 7 
per square inch. 
£30 per unit. There are 252 units 
cn 50% to be repaired, 

Total £3,780. 
RONALD E. MOULD. 

A/AHA. 

E x h i b i t s 

7 1 . 

Report by 
Architect, 
African 
Housing 
- continued, 
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30 

4 0 

(i) 
(ii) 

EXHIBIT 72 
REPORT BY ARCHITECT, AFRICAN HOUSING 

Late 19th July 1956 
Memo from A/AHA to City Engineer 

Re: Pending Court Cases - Ofafa Estate 
Part B Contract No. 73 - Ata Ul Haq. 
Part C Contract No. 75 - Colonial Con. Co. 
I have several times expressed my views on the 

pending Court cases. I am now our only witness 
with any detailed knowledge of these Contracts and 
there is a lot more I would like to know about the 
Contracts. 

The information can only be obtained from 
people v/ho supervised the work prior to me 
namely:-

) 
Part B 

) 

Mr. Bridger, ex C.E. 
Mr. Saunders, ex D.C.E. 
Mr. Tanner, ex. A.H.A, 
Mr. Stone, ex C/Wks. 
Goodwin has submitted a report which is 

biased and incorrect. In his report he refers to 
an inspection which took place on the morning of 
the 23rd June, 1955. The facts relating to this 
inspection are as follows s-

Mr 

72. 
Report by 
Architect, 
African 
Housing. 
19th July, 1956, 
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Architect, 
African 
Housing. 
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1956 
- continued. 

On Monday the 20th June '55 I made a quiet 
inspection of Blocks 38, 38A, 38B and 39 and found 
the floors to be particularly bad. I instructed 
Mr. Goodwin to check all the rooms, paying particu-
lar attention to the floors which must be repaired 
where defective. Before leaving the site, I in-
formed Mr. Goodwin that I would be down later in 
the week with Mr. Ross-Yhyte to inspect these 
blocks in detail. I was very busy at the time in 
the office having only Mr. Thomas as an assistant. 10 

On Thursday the 23rd June '55, Mr. Ross-Whyte 
and I visited the site and were given to understand 
by Mr. Goodwin that the work was ready for inspec-
tion. 

we found the blocks, in giving them a detailed 
inspection - to be full of defects - in particular 
the floors - which had not been attended to. 

Mr. Goodwin was reprimanded by me. I was fur-
ther annoyed with him for having passed a letter to 
the Contractor stating that lie had inspected and 20 
approved these blocks as satisfactory for taking .:y-over. 

I refer to the memo typed by Mr. Goodwin on my 
instructions authorising the contractor to attend 
to the defects. 

You will note that I had asked for all screeds 
to be taken up where defective so that I could ex-
amine the concrete floor. The work was not left 
open and Mr. Goodwin had not the common sense to 
ensure that they remained open for me to inspect 30 
or get them reopened. I had to personally order 
the contractor to open up the work again as in the 
case of the trial holes which came later. This is 
typical of many instances. 

Mr. Goodwin's report is written having know-
ledge of recently revealed defects and not what was 
known at the time. He refers to Mr. Ata Ul Haq 
being intensely angry at these times - of course 
he was - he knew that if these inspections of his 
past work persisted, we were bound to find his 40 
major defects. 

I hope you will appreciate the position I am 
in. I gave evidence at the Public Enquiry for nine 
days. It was very exhausting - not tc mention the 
fantastic amount of work I did preparing for it. I 
am not looking forward to the pending court cases, 
being the principal witness whilst the more vital 
witnesses are absent, or to have a person like Mr*. 
Goodwin to act as an associate witness. 
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I have been connected v/ith the Ofafa Estate 
Contracts for a long while now - and I was respon-
sible for condemning most of the work - naturally 
I am as concerned about the ultimate results as 
anybody but I am not prepared to stand and fight 
this out for the Council almost single-handed, or 
to be brought into conflict with Council's staff. 

Finally, I feel it wrong that I should he ex-
pected to put files etc. into order for the advo-

10 cates and liaise with other witnesses to produce 
their evidence particularly when some are unwilling 
to co-operate, or in the case of Mr. Goodwin, he 
submits a biased report. 

I consider I have more than enough work to do 
running a section and trying to produce work in a 
few months which should have been completed over 
the past three years. 

Ronald F. Mould. 

Exhibits 
72. 

Report by 
Architect, 
Afri can 
Housing. 
19th July, 
1956 
- continued, 

APPENDIX TO EXHIBIT 72 Appendix to 
20 C/W's Report on Contract No.73, Part B. Exhibit 72. 

Ofafa by Ata Ul Haq - 1955 
On the 2nd June 1955 I was instructed by the 

architects Messrs. Tanner & Mould to take over 
this Contract at once as Mr. Stone, the Clerk of 
Works, v/as absent. 

I was introduced to Mr. Ata Ul Haq. As Mr. 
Stone opposed all records of measurements, all I 
had was Contract documents and drawings and the 
Reports file. 

30 Blocks 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35 
and 56 were completed and handed over before I ar-
rived . 

Blocks 38A, 38B and 39 were completed, decor-
ated but not yet finally handed over and Block 30 
completed and decoration in hand. Block 38 was 
completed except for finishing off verges and the 
decoration and final minor repair items. 

Block 37 v/as having roof ridge finishing and 
floors not yet all screeded and doors to hang and 

40 finishing off the ironmongery. 
I found the work generally far better than on 

Contract SO which I was also supervising but still 
many items not up to specification. 

For about three weeks I carried on making in-
spections of blocks, particularly the floors, doors, 
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tiled roofs and lime washing under the direct con-
trol of 
do with 
finally 

On 
came to 
their 
to 

times 
Mr.R.E.Mould, Mr.Tanner having 
me as 1 only saw him a few 
left Kenya. 
the 23rd June, Messrs.Mould and 
inspect the Blocks 30, 38A, 33B 

little to 
before he 

Ross-Whyte 
and 39 but 

inspection was so rigid that they declined 
pass any of these blocks and I was reprimanded 

for not having them up to required 
I then pointed out that it 

to get these blocks righ' 
even near to it short of 
replacements and that an 
and seek a fresh list of 
make a fool of any Clerk 
stage. 

standard. 
was now too late 

up to specification or 
extensive alterations and 
architect could come round 
defects every time and 
of Works at this late 

floors, lime washing, 
and doors hanging closing 
was 

b̂ -'b as being un-

10 

On this occasion it 
chimney caps, roof tiles 
or hanging open which were condemned 
satisfactory and to be corrected or made good. 

The contractor was complaining of all sorts 
of unpaid extras and as I did not have the previous 
Clerk of Works'records of measurements, I was un-
able to find out exactly where this contract stood. 

I have made detailed inspections and prepared 
lists of repairs and Mr. Mould produced copies of 
the variations officially ordered and he also 
checked through my lists of contractors claims and 
work clone. 

On 25th June I started to check Mr. Stone's 
records of foundation wall depths and the contrac-
tor at once disputed these and claimed he could 
dig and prove that extra depth of foundations ex-
ceeded what Mr. Stone had recorded. later he dug 
and proved 3ame to be wrong. 

On 27th June I found floors in Block 39 had 
been repaired in direct contradiction of written 
instructions of 23rd June, to keep opened up floors 
for inspection. 

On 28th June Mr. Mould came to inspect and 
contractor then got excited and very angry claiming 
this was all unfair etc. I spent the afternoon at 
Town Hall with Mr. Mould checking the points gener-
ally . 

On 29th June I obtained further details of 
this Contract from Mr.Mould with approved variations 
which could now be measured by me. 

20 

30 

40 
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During the first week of July, I measured 
some work and checked maintenance repairs and at-
tempted to clear up the variations in the founda-
tion wall depths, contractor digging some holes to 
prove the actual depth, but by this time he was 
becoming intensely angry and peeved and tackled 
repairs to Block 37 and decoration work to Block 
38 but was very stubborn about the repairs to 
Block 39 - floors. 

10 On 13th July I started inspecting trial holes 
to obtain correct depths of foundations and pressed 
contractor to get on with floors. 

On 15th July after further general inspections 
of blocks, I went to Town Hall to report on the 
general position to Mr. Mould, then I spent the 
next few days trying to keep the contractor going. 

On 19th July with Mr. Mould we took samples 
of mortar and I took six samples to P.W.D. for 
testing. 

20 On 20th July I completed my trial holes, 
checked and prepared a plan for Mr.Mould but when 
he came later to check, the trial holes had been 
filled in by contractor who was now in a difficult 
mood. 

On 21st July contractor opened up holes again 
on instructions and then until about the 4th Aug-
ust I continued checking and recording for both 
contracts. 

On 5th August Mr. Mould brought a team to 
30 start a complete check, block by block of the whole 

contract and Mr. Ata U1 Haq blew up and then star-
ted to remove his plant and leave the work unfin-
ished. 

For the remainder of August I spent part time 
checking on site and part time in architects office, 
Town Hall, preparing reports etc. 

During September '55 I was employed mainly in 
Town Hail office except for the 26th and 28th when 
I carried out further"checks of Blocks 25 to 39 to 

40 complete detailed records. 
On November 28th I again started using day 

labour employees under Mr. Ross-Whyte (B.W.Depart-
ment), Mr". Mould also visiting the work and making 
inspections and carried on until 17th February '56 
when work was stopped after a visit by the City 
Engineer and I then left Ofafa. 

Exhibits 
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NOTES: 
(1) Under an architect who had inherited this 
thankless job and without the usual handing over 
and opinion of measured work from outgoing Clerk 
of Works, I found this a particularly exacting_ 
position and there was annoyance and exasperation 
on all sides. 
(2) My main complaint was that it was impossible 
to produce work up to the very high standard re-
quired by Mr. Mould at this late stage, short of 
replacing and making good wholesale all work that 
v/as already mainly finished "before took over and 
the contractor was not prepared to carry out this 
extensive programme. 

W.H.M. Goodwin, C/vvks. 

10 

73. 
letter, 
Chief Materials 
Engineer to 
Ata Ul Haq. 
11th July, 
1957. 

EXHIBIT 73 
LETTER, CHIEF MATERIALS ENGINEER TO. ATA Ul. 

MINISTRY OF WORKS 
MATERIALS BRANCH 
Mr. Ata-Ul-IIaq, 
P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 

-LI. fch July, 1957 

ANALYSES OF SAMPLES OF SET _ C ON CRETE 
AND MORTAR FROM "OFAFA ESTATE7' 

On 6th July, 1957, 2 samples of set concrete 
and 4 samples of set mortar were handed over per-
sonally by you to Mr. Adamson of the Materials 
Branch, Ministry of Works, in the presence of Mr. 
Graig-McFeely. 

Two other sealed samples which were handed 
over at the same time were later handed back to 
you at your request with the seals still intact as 
you allege that you were not present when those 
two samples were taken. 

The description given 011 the bag containing 
each sample was as follows: (Our corresponding 
Laboratory reference number is also given). 
Our Ref.No. Description 
0/9852 Cement mortar removed from foundation 

walling on exterior face, Ofafa Estate 
Part 3 5/7/57, 1 course below floor 
slab, Room 184, Block 38A; witnessed by 
Messrs, Craig-McFeely and Stone. 

20 

30 

40 
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Our Hef, 
No. 

C/9853 
Description 

C/9854 

C/9855 

Cement mortar removed from foundation wal-
ling on exterior face, Ofafa Estate Part 
B 5/7/57, 1 course "below floor slab, Boom 
386, Block 29; witnessed "by Messrs. Craig-
McEeely and Stone. 
Ofafa Estate Part B.5/7/57. 
Cement mortar removed from foundation 
walling on exterior face, 1 course below 
floor slab, Room No.45, Block 37; wit-
nessed by Messrs.Craig-McEeely and Stone. 
Cement mortar removed from foundation wal-
ling on exterior face, 1 course below 
floor slab, Room No. 125 Block 31; witnessed 
by Messrs. Craig-McFeelv and Stone. 
Ofafa Estate Part B. 5/7/57. 

C/9857 Concrete floor slab removed from inside 
room, Ofafa Part B, 5th July, 1957, Room 
No.33, Block 38; witnessed by Messrs.Craig-
McEeely and Arshad-Ul-Haq. 

0/9858 Foundation Concrete removed from external 
face, Ofafa Part B, 5/7/57, Room 386, 
Block 29° witnessed by Messrs. Stone and 
Craig-McFeely. 

s: The results, together with our brief 
Fion of each sample are given below 

Ratio Ce- Ratio Ce-
ment to ment to 
total Ag- sand to 
gregates st one s. 

Analyse 
descrip 

Dab. 
Ref. 
No. 

Description 

C/9852 

0/9853 

C/9854 

pts. by 
weight. 

A number of pieces of 1 to 5.2 
mortar; hard to break 
down; total weight of 
sample 192 gm. 

A number of pieces of 1 to 5.0 
mortar; hard to break 
down; total weight of 
sample 339 gm. 

A number of pieces of 1 to 5.2 
mortar with much dust; 
some pieces hard to 
break down; other 
roieces moderately easy 
to break down, total 
weight of sample 
213 gm. 

pt s. by 
weight. 
Aggre-
gates all 
sand. 

do. 
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C/985 

C/ 98 S7 

Description 
Ratio Ce-
ment to 
total Ag-
grj5/£atej5 
pts. b;"' 
weight 

Ratio Ce-
ment to 
sand to 
stones 
ptT. by 
weight 

A number of thin flat 1 to 2.4 Aggre-
pieces with some black gates all 
cotton soil adhering sand, 
at places. Sample con-
sists of two layers -
one grey and the other 
brown in colour - The 
grey layer makes up 
most of the sample. 
The grey layer is hard 
to break; the brown 
layer is easy to break; 
total weight of sample 
361 gnu 
1 large and 1 very small 1 to 7.4 1 to 
piece of grey coloured to 
concrete - weight 129 
gm,, and 1 medium sized 
piece of concrete with 
brown coloured matrix -
weight 300 gm. The grey 
concrete is hard to 
break, but the brown 
concrete is moderately 
easy to break. 

3.9 
3.5 

C/9858 1 large piece of co n- 1 to 9.3 1 to 3.1 
to 6.2 crete, weight 2,448 gm. 

some black cotton soil 
adhering, slightly 
honeycombed at one part, 
but the rest of the 
sample is dense and 
hard to break. 
The account for this work is enclosed, 

Sd. F.S. Strongman 
CHIEF MATERIALS ENGINEER 
for SECRETARY FOR WORKS, 

EBA/THGM, 
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EXHIBIT "A" 
REPORT BY CHIEF MATERIALS ENGINEER 

ANALYSES OP SAMPLES OP SET CONCRETE AND 
MORTAR PROM OPAPA ESTATE 

LAB. REP. NO'S. C/8822 - C/8861 (INCLUSIVE) 
On 22nd June, 1956, 20 samples of set concrete 

and/or mortar were received personally from Mr. 
Wevill by the undersigned (Mr.R.B.Adamson). On 
27th June, 1956, a further 20 samples were also 
.received in like manner. The samples were examined 
and analysed for cement content and aggregate pro-
portions as reported hereunder. In cases where 
both mortar screed and concrete v/ere included in 
the same sample and could be readily distinguished, 
separate analyses were made of concrete and mortar. 
Location of Sample. 

The description of the location of the samples 
and the sample numbers, both items as stated by Mr. 
Wevill are given below. In our report on the ex-
amination of the samples we are using your sample 
numbers to identify the appropriate location of the 
samples, with the slight modification that where a 
sample has been divided into concrete and mortar 
screed, the number has the affix 'A' to denote the 
concrete, and 'B' to denote the mortar screed. 
Sample Samples for Testing 
No. Part 'B' 
1. Concrete Foundation - Block 31. Room No.194 
2. Concrete Floor and Floating Block 25. 

Room 445 
d. 
4. 
5. 
6. 
7. 
8. 

9. 
10. 
11. 
12. 
13. 
14. 
15. 
16. 

Concrete Foundation 
II II 

it it 
Block 25. Room No.445 
Block 26. Room No.429 
Block 29. Room No.386 

" " Block 28. Room No.387 
" " Block 30. Room No.328 

Concrete floor and floating Block 30. 
Room No.318 

" " " " Block 35. 
Room No.314 

Concrete Foundation Block 29 Room No.337« 
" " Block 34 Room No.111. 
" » Block 33 Room No.110. 
" (! Block 37 Room No. 64. 
" " Block 37 - Ablution. 

Mortar from plinth walling Block 37 Room No. 
80. 

Mortar laver on rock outcrop under walling 
Block 38 Room No. 9. 

Exhibits 
"A" 

Report by Chief 
Materials 
Engineer. 
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Sample 
No. 
17. 
18. 
19. 
40. 

Samples for Testing Part 'B' 
Concrete Foundation Block 38A Room No.184. 

" " . Block 38B Room No.185. 
" " Block 39 Room No. 197. 

Concrete Floor and Floating Block 37, 
Room No. 87-

Samples for Testing Part '0' 
Concrete Poundai .on Block No.50 Room No.1180 

" " Block No.52 Room No.1180 
Concrete Floor and floating Block 52 Room 

No. 1212 
" " " Block 49 Room 

No.1142 
Concrete Foundation Block No.49 Room No.1141 

Block No.48B Room No.1112 
Block No.48D Room No.1138 
Block N0.48A Room No.1096 
Block No.47 Room No.1074 
Block No.47 Room No.1061 
Block No.45 Room No.1038 

Concrete Floor and Floating, Block No.45 
Room No.1033 

Concrete Foundation Block No.44 Room No.1021 t! 11 Block No.46 Room No. 36 
" " Block No.42 Room No. 976 

(too weak for fair sample) 
Concrete Floor and Floating Block No.42 

Room No. 968 
Concrete Foundation Block No.42 Room No. 956 

Block No.41 Room No. 923 
Block No.40 Room No. 918 
Block No.40 Room No.897 

it 
it 
tt 
tt 
n 
tt 

20. 
21. 
22. 

23. 
24. 
25. 
26. 
27. 
28. 
29. 
30. 
31. 
32. 
33. 
34. 
35. 
36. 
37. 
38. 
39. 

Appearance etc., of Samples 
During the preparation of the samples for an-

alysis, notes were taken of the appearance, size, 
and breakage susceptibility etc., of each sample. 
These are stated as follows 
Sample 
No. Appearance etc., of Sample 
1. 1 large lump of concrete, weight 3,800 gm. 

wet, very easily broken down. 
2A 1 Elongated piece of concrete with some soft 

stones sticking to one side. Weight of piece 
2,400 gm. The soft stones appeared to be 
pieces of murram. Concrete moderately diffi-
cult to break down. 

it 
it 

10 

20 

30 

40 
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Sample 
No. 
213 

10 
5. 

20 

30 

7 . 

8A 

813 

9 . 

10. 

11. 

12. 
40 

Appearance etc., of Sample 
Thickness of mortar screed about % to 1". 
few large stones sticking to underside of 
screed. Mortar moderately difficult 
break down. 

to 

2 Pieces of concrete, total weight 1,500 gm. 
Black Cotton Soil adhering to the pieces; 
concrete moderately easily broken down. 
2 Pieces of wet concrete total weight 1,300 
gm. 
1 large piece of concrete; weight 2,100 gm; 
with some black cotton soil adhering to it; 
also some stones in relief; concrete moder-
ately difficult to break down. 
1 Elongated piece of concrete; weight 1,400 
gm; some black cotton soil adhering; con-
crete moderately difficult to break down. 
1 piece of concrete slightly greenish in 
colour on one side; weight 1,200 gm; some 
black soil adhering; also a few stones in 
relief; moderately difficult to break down. 
A number of small pieces of concrete; total 
weight 1,300 gm; much black cotton soil ad-
hering to sample; concrete moderately easily 
broken down. 
Mortar 
underside v/eight of 

screed with some stones adhering to 
sample 700 gm; screed 

moderately difficult to break down. 
1 large piece of concrete, weight 4,000 gm. 
Concrete very easily broken down. 
(NOTE;- There was no mortar screed includ-
ed in this sample) 
1 Piece of concrete, weight 1,000 gm. some 
black cotton soil adhering; moderately eas-
ily broken down. 
2 Pieces of wet concrete, total weight 
1,800 gm; some stones in relief; concrete 
moderately easily broken down. 
3 Small pieces of wet material, total weight 
407 gm; some black cotton soil adhering. 
(NOTE;- The material was said to be con-
crete but there were no stones in the sam-
ple, the aggregate being sand only). 

Exhibits 
"A" 

Report by Chief 
Materials 
Engineer. 
- continued. 
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Exhibits 
"A" 

Report by Chief 
Materials 
Engineer. 
- continued. 

Sample 
No. Appearance etc., of Sample 
13. 1 Large piece; wet; weight 3,600 gm; black-

cotton soil adhering to one side; some 
stones in relief; moderately easily broken 
down. 

14. 2 Pieces of concrete, slightly wet, total 
weight 1,400 gm. Very easily broken down. 

15. Small sample of mortar; weight 355 gm; in a 
number of pieces and in powder form. Ex-
tremely easy to break down. 

16. 1 Piece said to be mortar, but contains a 
few stones; weight 224 gms; 

17. A number of small pieces of slightly wet 
grossly oversanded concrete; total weight 
700 gm. Very easily broken down. 

18. 1 Large piece of concrete, weight 3,500 gm, 
some black cotton soil adhering to one side 
many stones in relief; extremely easily 
broken down. 

19. A number of small pieces, total weight 700 
gm; some black cotton soil adhering; some 
pieces contain only fine aggregate, others 
contain both large and fine aggregate. 
Sample fairly easily broken down. 

40, 

20. 

21 

22A 

22B 

1 Large and one small piece of concrete; 
total weight 1,900 gm; sample moderately 
hard to break down. (NOTE:- The sample 
was said to consist of concrete floor and 
floating. As there appeared to be no line 
of demarcation between floating and con-
crete , it was decided to treat the sample 
as one unit (i.e., no attempt was made to 
separate floating from concrete)). 
A number of small pieces of concrete; total 
weight 1,300 gm; some black cotton soil ad-
hering; moderately easily broken down. 
1 Large piece of concrete; weight 2,600 gm. 
Some very large stones in slight relief at 
one side; concrete moderately difficult to 
break down. 
1 Large piece cf concrete, weight 3,300; 
some stones slightly in relief at one side; 
concrete moderately difficult to break down. 
2 Pieces of mortar; total weight 500 gm ; 
moderately difficult to break down. 
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Sample 
. No. Aj^_arance etc., of Sample 
2-3A 1 Large piece of concrete; weight 1,600 gm; 

with a little murram like material sticking 
to one side; moderately difficult to break 
down. 

2333 A number of small pieces of mortar; total 
weight 470 gm; moderately easily broken 
down. 

10 24. 1 Fairly large piece and a few small pieces; 
total weight 800 gm. Aggregate appears to 
be mainly sand with a few larger pieces of 
gravel, sample very easily broken down. 

25. A number of small pieces of concrete in two 
bags; total weight 1,100 gm; some black cot-
ton soil adhering to pieces; concrete ap-
pears to be grossly oversanded and is moder-
ately easily broken down. 

26. 2 Pieces of concrete; total weight 1,500 gm; 
20 very small amount of black cotton soil 

sticking to the pieces; concrete is moder-
ately difficult to break down. 

27. 1 Piece of concrete; weight 900 gm; some 
black cotton soil adhering; a few stones in 
relief; concrete appears oversanded, but is 
moderately difficult to break down. 

28. A number of pieces of concrete in two bags; 
total weight 1,300 gm; some black cotton 
soil adhering; some stones in relief; mod-

30 erately difficult to break down. 
29. 1 Elongated piece; weight 600 gm; one side 

appears honeycombed, has a greenish colour 
at places and has a smell like that of damp 
vegetation; one very large stone present; 
concrete moderately difficult to break down. 

30. 1 Elongated piece and a number of small 
pieces of concrete in two bags; total weight 
1,200 gm; some black cotton soil adhering; 
green colour at one place; the greenish area 

40 has a smell like that of damp vegetation; 
concrete moderately difficult to break down. 

31A 1 Large piece of concrete; weight 1,800 gms; 
some stones in relief; concrete moderately 
difficult to break down, 

3L3 2 Pieces of mortar screed; thickness to 
•f" ; with some stones adhering to underside; 
total weight 600 gm; mortar moderately easy 
to break down. 

Exhibits 
"A" 

Report by Chief 
Materials 
Engineer 
- continued. 
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Exhibits 
HAH 

Report by Chief 
Materials 
Engineer 
- continued. 

Sample 
No. 
3 2 . 

3 3 . 

3 4 . 

35A 

35B 

36. 

3 7 . 

38. 

3 9 . 

le Appearance etc., of 
4 Small pieces of concrete; total weight 
600 gm; moderately easy to break, 
2 Pieces of concrete; total weight 1,300 gm; 
many large stones partly in relief; some 
black cotton soil adhering; concrete moder-
ately easy to break down (aggregates appear 
to consist of large stones and sand i.e., 
virtually no small stones are present) 
A few small pieces of concrete; total weight 
240 gm; sample was dry at time of examina-
tion but had apparently been wet when it had 
been put in the paper bag, as the latter 
showed signs of having dried out; obviously 
grossly oversanded; only a few large stones 
and sand comprised the aggregate (i.e., no 
small stones present) some black cotton soil 
adhering, concrete to break down. 
A large piece of concrete; weight 2,800 gm; 
with some mortar screed adhering on one face 
(top); surface very rough on bottom face; 
concrete moderately difficult to break. 
A few small pieces of mortar screed; total 
weight 280 gm; some stones adhering to un-

3_U mor-derside; thickness of screed -gJI to # 
tar moderately easy to break. 
1 large lump of concrete with some smaller 
pieces; total weight 1,700 gm; much black 
cotton soil adhering to one side; moderately 
difficult to break. 
A few pieces of concrete; total weight 1,700 
gm; much black cotton soil adhering at 
places; concrete moderately difficult to 
break. 
A few pieces of concrete with very much 
black cotton soil adhering; total weight 
1,400 gm; obviously grossly oversanded; some 
green spots evident which smell of damp vege-
tation; some grass inside samples; concrete 
very easy to break; virtual absence of small 
stones in aggregate (only large stones and 
sand present). 
1 Piece of concrete; weight 1,600 gm; some 
black cotton soil adhering; concrete moder-
erately difficult to break. 

10 

20 

30 

40 
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NOTE; Breakage susceptibility;- The ease or 
otherwise of breaking up pieces of concrete 
with a hammer was very roughly assessed by con-
sidering that properly made 1:3:6 concrete is 
'difficult* to break down while properly made 
1:5:10 concrete is'moderately difficult' to 
break down. On the same scale we would consid-
er properly made 1:8:16 concrete 'moderately 
easy' to break down, and any mix weaker than 

10 this would be considered 'easy' or 'very easy' 
to break down. 

Notes on Preparation of Samples for Analysis. 
In all cases where black cotton soil or murrain 

were adhering to the samples, these were removed 
as far as possible before analysis. In the cases 
where stones were adhering to the undersides of 
samples of mortar screeds, the stones were removed 
before analysis. (In the case of mortar sample 
number 16, the stones were not removed before an-

20 alysis as they appeared to be an integral part of 
the sample). 

Analysis were made on the samples after they 
had been ignited in a muffle furnace at 900°C. The 
cement contents were calculated from the calcium 
contents of the mixtures assuming no calcium in the 
sand and aggregates used and 62/ calcium (as CaO) 
in the cement used. A rough distinction was made 
between 'sand' and 'stones' by sieving the acid 
separated aggregates through a B.S. No.14 Sieve, 

30 the undersize being considered 'sand' and the over-
size being considered 'stones'. It is recognised 
that a proportion of the sand will almost invaria-
bly be retained on a B.S.No.14 Sieve, but we con-
sider that the apparent underestimation of sand 
proportion through this cause is more or less coun-
terbalanced by the limited, but nevertheless inev-
itable breakage of the stones during sampling and 
preparation of the sample. 
Cement Contents of Samples 

40 Sample Ratio; Cement to Ratio: Cement to Sand 
No. Total Aggregates to Stones (approx.) 

(pts. by weight) (pts. by weight) 
1 to 11.3 to 13.0 
1 to 7.9 to 13.6 
(Aggregates all sand.) 
1 to 8.9 to 12.8 
1 to 16.0 to 21.1 
1 to 3.6 to 7.2 
1 to 4.5 to 5.0 

1. 1 to 24.3 2A. 1 to 21.5 2B o 1 to 4.8 
3. 1 to 21.7 
4. 1 to 37.1 
5- 1 to 10.8 
6. 1 to 9.5 

Exhibits 
"A" 

Report by Chief 
Materials 
Engineer. 
- continued. 
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Exhibits 
"A" 

Report by Chief 
Materials 
Engineer 
- continued. 

Ratio: Cement to 
Sample Total Aggregates 
No. (pts. by weight) 
7. 1 to 12.4 8A. 1 to 14.0 
8B. 1 to 4.0 
9. 1 to 27.1 10. 1 to 25.5 

11. 1 
.X. to 19.2 

12. 1 to 6.5 
13. 1 to 29.9 
14. 1 to 35.7 
15. 1 to 15.8 
16. 1 to 21.4 
17. 1 to 33.9 18. 1 to 52.8 
19. 1 to 14.9 40. 1 to 10.1 
20. 1 to 21.7 21. 1 to 11.9 22A. 1 to 16.7 223. 1 to 5.2 
23A. 1 to 15.6 
23B. 1 to 7.9 24. 1 to 9.8 
25. 1 to 19.2 
26. 1 to 17-1 
27. 1 to 15.2 
28. 1 to 10.6 
29. 1 to 15.8 30. 1 to 12.8 
31a. 1 to 13.3 31B. 1 to 6.3 32. 1 to 21.5 
33. 1 to 24.3 
34. 1 to 21.4 35A. 1 to 14.4 35B. 1 to 5.8 36, 1 to 16.7 37. 1 to 18.3 38. 1 to 15.4 
39. 1 to 10.6 

Ratio: Cement to Sand 
to Stones (approx.) 
(flts. by weight) __ 

1 to 4.9 to 7.5 
1 to 6.1 to 7.9 
(Aggregates all 
1 to 10.6 to 16. 
1 xo 11.3 to 14. 
1 to 5.7 to 13. 
(A g;-T e gat e s all 
1 to 12.8 to 17. 
1 to 15.5 to 20. 
(Aggregates all 
1 to 9.2 to 12. 
1 to 18.4 to 15. 
1 to 16.6 to 36. 
1 to 7.6 to 7. 
1 to 4.7 to 5. 

sand) 
5 
2 
5 
sand) 
1 
2 
sand) 
2 
5 
2 
3 
4 

1 to 7.7 to 14.0 
1 to 6.2 to 5.7 
1 to 5.8 to 10.9 
(Aggregates all sand) 
1 to 5.8 to 9.8 
Aggregates all sand) 
Aggregates all sand 

and gravel) 
1 to 9.0 to 10.2 
1 to 7.7 to 

to 
to 
to 
to 
to 

9.4 
8.9 7.0 
9.4 
7.2 
8.6 

ill sand) 

RBA/MC 

1 to 6.3 
1 to 3.6 
1 to 6 .4 
1 to 5.6 
1 to 4.7 
(Aggregate 
1 to 9.3 to 12.2 
1 to 7 .4 to 16 .9 
1 to 13.6 to 7 .8 
1 to 5.5 to 8.9 
(Aggregates all sand) 
1 to 5 .7 to 11.0 
1 to 6.2 to 12.1 
1 to 10.9 to 4 . 5 
1 to 5.0 to 5.6 

Sd. F.S. Strongman, 
CHIEF MATERIALS ENGINEER 

for DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC WORKS. 

10 

20 

30 

40 
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EXHIBIT »B" 
LETTER. ATA Ul HAQ TO CITY ENGINEER 

The City Engineer, 
Town Hall, 
NAIROBI. 
Dear Sir, 

P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 
27th August, 1954 

Re; Doonholm Neighbourhood, Stage 1, 
Part B, Contract N.75 - African Houses 

I beg to inform you that as per instruction 
of your Clerk of Work Mr. Stone, I have done stone 
plinth for the future wall under the Concrete Slab 
of Ablution Blocks of the above African Houses. 

Please issue me the variation order for the 
work, as it is an extra. 

Thanking you. 
Yours faithfully, 

ATA-UL-HAQ. 

Exhibits 
uB« 

letter, 
Ata Ul Haq to 
City Engineer. 
27th August, 
1954. 

The City Engineer, 
Town Hall, 
NAIROBI. 
Dear Sir, 

EXHIBIT "B" 
P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 
27th August, 1954 

HBU 
letter, 
Ata Ul Haq to 
City Engineer 
27th August, 
1954. 

Re; Doonholm Neighbourhood, Stage 1, 
Part B, Contract^ N.9'73 - African Houses 

I beg to state that as per instruction' of 
your Clerk of Work Mr. Stone, I have fixed one 
extra Batten on top of the Pascia Boards of the 
above African Houses. 

Please issue me the variation order for the 
above work as it is an extra. 

Thanking you. 
Yours faithfully, 

ATA-UL-HAQ. 
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Exhibits 
" 1 5 " 

Letter, 
City Engineer 
to Ata U1 Haq. 
24th March, 
1955. 

Mr.Ata U1 Haq, 
P.O. Box 2809, 
NAIROBI. 

IETTER, CITY ENGINEER TO ATA PL.EAQ, 
24th March, 1955 

Bear Sir. 
Doonholm Neighbourhood, Stage 1, 

Part B, Contract N.73 
I refer 

1955, Clause 
clearly that 
own risk and 
for the works and 
therewith' 

to your two letters dated 17th March, 
5 of the Specification states quite 

Contractor shall provide at his •the 
cost 
Por 

have paid all fees and it is 
they will continue to do so. 

all water and lighting required 
shall pay all_fees in connection 

the past two years Contractors 
the intention that 

10 

It should not have been necessary to fix the 
batten for which you are claiming an extra, /f the 
roof is set out as shown on drawing No.3183/AH/QA4 
the 6" fascia board should line with the top of 20 
the window frames. Because of small inaccuracies 
in setting out the roof, it was found that in many 
cases the bottom of the fascia board was sometimes 
2 - 3 inches higher than it should have been. To 
save the expense of resetting the roof you were 
permitted to lower the fascia board and to use the 
batten instead of the 1as0ia as a tilting fillet. 

Where the fascia lines correctly with the win-
dow head it is unnecessary to use a batten and no 
instructions have been given to you to do so. 30 

I regret I cannot vary these decisions. 
Yours faithfully, 

CITY ENGINEER 
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EXHIBIT "C" 
REPORT BY CHIEF MATERIALS ENGINEER 

MATERIALS BRANCH 
The City Engineer, 
City Council of Nairobi, 
P.O. Box 651, 
NAIROBI. 

PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT, 
HEAD OFFICE, 
NAIROBI. 

11th August, 1955. 

SET MORTAR - TEST NOS. 
0/7827-0/7832 <1 C/7875-C/7881 

Attached hereto are the results of tests car-
ried out on set mortar submitted by you under cover 
of your letter. 

The account is also enclosed for the samples 
submitted by you up to and including 10th August, 
1955. Our letters reference Nos. M.2806/35A/34 
of 12th July, 1955 and M.2894/35/P/l8 of Zlst July, 
1955 refers. 

Sd. ??? 
for CHIEF MATERIALS ENGINEER 

/TNGM. for m m m f l r v F ^ m ^ W m S 
SET MORTAR FROM CITY COUNCIL 

LAB.REF 

I 0/7827 TO 0/7832 

CITY COUNCIL REF: 
RATIO 

0/7827 Contract 73/B Block 31 
end wall 140 

0/7828 Contract 73 Part B, Stage 1, 
Ex. Room 57 Block 37 

C/7829 Contract 73 Part B, Stage 1, 
Block 38A 

0/7830 Contract 73 Part B, Block 38A 
outside 180 

C/7831 Contract 73 73/B Block 38B 
Room 187 
Contract 73 Block 39 Room 223 0/7832 

LAB .REF: 

CEMENT SAND 

1 16.1 
1 11.3 
1 23.8 
1 18.2 
1 9.6 
1 9.5 

II C/7875 TO 0/7881 
CITY COUNCIL REF: 

RATIO 
CEMENT SAND 

C/7875 Contract 73 Part B, Ata ul 
Haq Block 30, Room 328 

0/7876 Contract 73 Part B, Ata .ul 
Haq Block 35 Room 304 

1 
1 

18 

16.2 

Exhibits 
UQtl 

Report by Chief 
Materials 
Engineer 
11th August, 
1955. 

q rr 
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Exhib it s 
»C" 

Report by Chief 
Materials 
Engineer 
11th August, 
1955 
- continued. 

RATIO 

Report by 
Architect, 
African Housing. 
7th February, 
1956. 

LAB .REF: CITY COUNCIL REF 0 _0E1IENT J3AND 
0/7877 Contract 73, Part B, Block 35 0/7877 

Room 273 1 9.5 
C/7873 Contract 73, Part B, Block 30 C/7873 

Room 323 1 14.8 
C/7879 Contract 73 Part ; B, Block 38 C/7879 

Room 69 1 20.1 
C/7880 Contract 73, Part B, Block 35 C/7880 

Room 280 1 10.8 
C/7881 Contract 73, Part B, Block 35 C/7881 

Room 299 1 16.4 

EXHIBIT "B" 
REPORT BY ARCHITECT 

City Engineer, 
from A/AHA. 

7th February,' 56 

OFAFA ESTATE STAGE T -i. • PARTS A, B & C. 
A Final decision must be made soon with regard 

to the Ofafa Contacts - Stage 1. 
Apart from the rebuilding of blocks on Part 

'A' the work is almost at a standstill. 
A study of the costs involved to put the 

buildings into a utility condition to last 40 
years is alarming. 
(l) Tender Sums Part A 

Part B 
Part C 

£ 80,000 
85,000 

£ 
CM 60,000 
£ 225,000 

(2) Estimated Cost to put these 
contracts into a reasonable 
utility Standard to last 40 
years Part A £ 71,240 

Part B £ 62,000 
Part C £„.„47,30g 

£ 180,540 
(3) The Question now arises, what are the alterna-

tives. As I see it we faced with the follow-
ing -
(i) Is it worthwhile spending £180,540 just to 

have utility houses, 
(My answer is NO.) 
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(ii) Is it worthwhile demolishing these "build-
ings and to rebuild as originally speci-
fied - bearing in mind that we should 
only salvage about £60,000 worth of mat-
erial which could be re-used. 
(My answer is No_._) 

(iii) Is it worthwhile demolishing these build-
ings, and to dispose of the salvaged mat-
erial either to the Council's Buildings 

10 Works, or to Private contractors - and 
to complete Ofafa with the houses for 
the joint Gov/Council Scheme. 
(My answer is No - although it is prefer-
able to (i) and (ii).) 

(iv) Is it worthwhile leaving the buildings as 
they stand - and to expect them to last, 
at the most, 20 years with undoubtedly 
more than normal maintenance, and to sue 
the contractors for our losses. 

20 (My answer is Yes.) 
Finally; - if we leave the building - will it be 
worthwhile putting inW.C. at £70 per unit. 

Item Contracts Estimate S®!- + T| n d e r 
Estimate Sum 

PART 'A' CONTRACT NO.60_CHANAN SIN<51 
1. Estimated Cost to 

complete by Direct 
Labour £21,000 

2. Revised Estimate -
30 based on actual 

costs to date £28,000 
3. Estimate for taking 

up floors and back-
fill and to relay £17,000 

4. Underpin foundations 
130 ft. per unit 
@ 20/- ft. run -
248 units £32,240 

5. Bolting tiles and 
40 rafters £ 1,000 

Exhibits 

Report by 
Architect, 
African Housing. 
7th February, 
1956 
- continued. 

Estimated Total £71,240 £80,000 
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Exhibits 
ttpit 
Sb Report by 

Architeet, 
African Housing. 
7th February, 
1956 
- continued. 

Item Contracts Estimate Rev; Tender 
Estimate Sum 

1. 
PART 'B' CONTRACT NO.75 ATA-Ul-itAQ 

Estimated cost to 
complete by Direct-
labour (approxi-
mat ely oniy) £10,000 

2. Estimate for taking 
up floors and 
backfill and to 
relay £18,000 

3. Underpin foundations 
130 ft. per unit 
© 20/~ ft. run -
252 units £33,000 

4. Bolting tiles and 
rafters £ 1,000 

£62,000 

PART "C CONTRACT HO.75 
COLONIAL CONSTRUCT ION CO 

1. Estimated cost to 
complete b3' Direct 
Labour (approxi-
mately only) £ 8,000 

2. Estimate for taking 
up floors and 
backfill and to 
relay £13,500 

3. Underpin founda-
tions 130 ft. per 
unit @ 20/- ft. 
run - 179 units 

4. Bolting of tiles 
and rafters 

£25,000 
£ 800 
£47,300 

£85,000 

£60,000 

'WITH All THIS WORK IT ONLY PRODUCES UTILITY 
^ANDARD BUILDINGS. 
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AFRICAN HOUSING 
6tlx February, 

B, & C. 
56 

EXHIBIT "F" 

REPORT . BY _jffi_OHIT_ECT 
City Engineer, 
Ofafa Estate, Stage 1, Parts A 
Floors, Backfill & Foundations. 

Since May 1955, I Rave repeatedly reported, 
both verbally and in writing, on the conditions of 
the floors, backfill ana foundations for the above 
contracts. On all three contracts the screeds 

10 have cracked excessively, the floor concrete is 
weak and the backfill comprises, for the most part, 
large boulders - unconsolidated with many voids. 

I recommended that the screed, floors and 
backfill should be taken out and the whole relaid 
to specification at the estimated cost of £70 per 
unit. (This estimate has now been proved reason-
ably accurate - pilot scheme - Part A. Block 14). 
This method was dropped in favour of an alternative 

20 whereby the floors were left until major defects 
occurred, and then to break up the existing floors 
and consolidate them with the hardcore, which 
should have reached maximum settlement, a new floor 
would then be laid. This was considered the most 
economic solution. 

Two factors now affect this method -
(A) That so many defects are having to be at-

tended to daily, that it is considered un-
economic to continue repairing them, or to 

30 lay screeds to incomplete floors. 
(B) The doubtful nature of the foundations to 

all blocks in all three contracts. Recent 
inspections have revealed that most blocks 
are founded on black cotton soil up to a 
maximum of two feet. 

Underpinning of the foundations is expensive 
and difficult and in view of the fact that the 
floors and backfill will have to be attended to, 
apart from all the raking out repointing and mis-

40 cellaneous repairs to be carried out, I can only 
recommend that the buildings be demolished and re-
built . 

If it is possible, I suggest that in addition 
to suing the contractors for this work, we sue 
them for loss of rent. 

Sd. R.F. MOULD. 

Exhibits 
upu 

Report by 
Architect, 
African Housing 
6th February, 
1956. 
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Exhibits 
"G-" 

Report by 
Architect, 

25th July, 55 
African Housing 
25th July, 1955 

Mr. Saunders, 
Acting City Engineer. 

Re: Ofafa Estate, Parts A, B and 0 

I am not prepared to pass completed blocks 
for the above contracts, some of which have been 
ready for at least a month. 

The unsatisfactory work occurs mostly below 
the site concrete. 
(1) The hardcore back filling has not been laid 

and rammed in six inch layers as specified. 
The back filling contains rocks up to 18" in 
size, there are voids left between individual 
stones, ana settlement is taking place. As I 
mentioned in a previous memo to you, I esti-
mate that ultimate settlement will take place 
in about two years and that serious damage to 
the floors can be expected. 

(2) The mortar jointing below the floor concrete 
is well below the specified 1:4 mix. A con-
siderable amount of water seeps through this 
walling, and I have seen as much as 15" of 
water flooding the backfilling. This water 
movement, in time, is bound to wash the joints 
out and settlement of the walls take place, 
and cracks possibly occur right up to the waH 
plate. 
My recommendations ares-

(a) 'Where cracks and hollows in floors occur' that 
the whole floor be taken up and the back fill-
ing rammed and filled properly and the floors 
relaid. 

(b) All external walls below the floor slab be 
exposed and all defective mortar picked out 
to a depth of 2" and re-pointed with proper 
1:4 mortar. 

Sgd. Ronald Mould 
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EXHIBIT " H" 
REPORT BY ARCHITECT, AFRICAN HOUSING 

Mr. Saunders, 
Acting City Engineer. 

Re Ofafa Estate, Stage 1. 

10th August, '55 

Parts A, B and C 
The roofs over the Ablution units, in partic-

ular Part "0" are spreading at the foot of the 
rafters. The beams spanning the openings are lia-
ble to be pushed over and the roofs collapse. The 

10 walls supporting the beams have already cracked. 
This is most dangerous and if not attended to 
promptly may result in a serious accident. 

I suggests-
(1) That the beams be immediately shored up 

(Building Works could do this as the Contrac-
tor has packed up the site). 

(2) The Contractor be asked to take off all the 
tiles, reset the rafters, and fix ties to the 
foot spanning such set of rafters, and provide 

20 two trusses to each unit. 
Although the materials used by the Contractor 

are to some extent suspect, the main fault lies in 
the design, I think the cost will have to be mainly 
borne by the Council (approximate cost will be 
£1,500). 

Sgd. Ronald Mould, 
A/AHA, 

Exhibits 
"H« 

Report by 
Architect, 
African Housing 
10th August, 
1955. 

MTER^A.E, 
EXHIBIT "I" 

WSVTLL & SON TO CITY ENGINEER 
The City Engineer, 

30 Town Hall, 
NAIROBI. 

1st November, 1956 

Dear Sir 
Ofafa African Housing Estate 

» j n 
Letter, 
A.E.Wevill & 
Son to City 
Engineer. 
1st November, 
1956. 

My estimates were based on the assumption that 
the repair Works would be carried out Departmentally 
ly your own Maintenance Staff in the same way as 
those already done were carried out. If, as I un-
derstand, this method is not possible and they will 
have to be carried out by Contract the costs will 
be greater as their nature and method of execution 
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Letter, 
A.E.Wevill & 
Son to City 
Engineer. 
1st November, 
1956 
- continued. 

will entail commencing and completing the Works in 
sections and not by a regularly employed mainten-
ance gang. I estimate that a Contractor's rates 
would be at least 2 5$ above those allowed by me. 

The Contract method will entail also the prep-
aration of a detailed Specification and supervision 
by a full time Clerk of Works. 

I discussed with Mr.Mould our respective esti-
mates for the required work. In the main the 
greatest difference was in under-pinning. 

The view which I take is that the superimposed 
load on the foundations is very much below the load-
bearing capacity of the concrete foundations and 
the decomposed rock sub-stratum and, except in cases 
where the concrete was v e ^ poor or where it rested 
upon black cotton soil, for the most part the foun-
dations were adequate. In consequence the provision 
I made for underpinning was relatively small where-, 
as Mr.Mould had allowed a figure of £20,000 for 
this, based on the assumption that to comply with 
the Specification practically the whole of the work 
will require underpinning. 

I do not consider from the trial hole tests 
that this is entirety the case but proof either way 
is not possible until such time as the foundations 
are exposed. I have considered the point very care-
fully and, whilst I do not feel justified in in-
creasing my claim for underpinning, I did overlook 
the fact that pumping and damming up 
water will be necessary in practically 
and therefore would add a provision of 
cover this. 

the sub-soil 
every case 
£500 to 

You asked for prior consideration to be given 
to Part "33" claim so we did not have time to go in-
to more than this for the time being. 

Based on the foregoing the figures given on 
pages 10 and 11 of my report for Part "B" may be 
amended as followss-
Aj__ Estimated Cost of Repairs etc^ 
1. Foundations. (To improve Standard) 

Shs.39,000.00 plus 2 5$ = Shs.48,570.00 
Provision for pumping, 
etc. Shs.10,000.00 Shs. 58,750.00 

tyty/tyo_rs, (to bring up to 
Specification Standard) 

Shs.310,000.00 plus 25$ = » 387,500.00 

10 

20 

30 

40 
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3. Superstructure Walling 
(a) Raking joints and re-pointing 

externally. Shs.13,600.0 plus 
25$ 

(b) Dressing off, re-pointing, bag-
wiping and re-decorating inter-
nally, etc. 

Siis.206,000.00 plus 25$ 
(c) Damp Course (reduced value) 
4. Roofs & Joinery 

Reinforcing and re-spiking roof 
timbers. Shs.23,500.00 plus 25$ = 
Bolting hinges, etc. 

Shs.5,800.00 plus 25$ = 
Valley boarding and lining 

(reduced value) 
5. Drains 

Raking up and re-laying. 
Shs.2,000. plus 25$ 

5• Repair work carried out by 
Hity Council 
Repairs already done and not 
included above 

Rev/ Items s-
Preparing Specification for 
repairs 
Clerk' of Works Salary and 
office - (about 17 months) 

Total value of Repair, etc. Works 
(£40,453.5.0.) 

Shs. 23,250.00 

" 257,500.00 
" 800.00 

" 29,315.00 
= " 7,250.00 

" 700.00 

" 2,500.00 

15 15,000.00 

" 1,500.00 
" 25,000.00 
Shs.809,065.00 

Exhibits 
u Jt» 

Letter, 
A.E.Wevill & 
Son to City 
Engineer. 
1st November 
1956 
- continued. 

Loss of Rent (whilst repairs in 
progress) Shs. 17,784.00 

Mr. Mould has included in his figures a claim 
for non-provision of hoop iron. That supplied is 
below the quality specified and it's provision is 
haphazard. I have made no provision for this as 
the quantity deficient is difficult to prove and 
deep raking out and re-pointing with a good mix of 
cement will possibly compensate for lack of this. 

He also has claimed for the replacement of all 
damaged or broken concrete drains. I have allowed 
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that some of these have been damaged by Council 
and other transport since they were put down. 

The question of a claim for defective or non-
existent damp course is a difficult one to solve. 
The cost of inserting one would cost nearly as 
much as demolishing and re-building. I suggest 
that should damp appear in any of the superstruc-
ture walls the mortar bed at damp course level in 
such places is cut away and a strip of metal cored 
damp course is inserted. I saw very little of 
rising damp in the sign walling consequently I am 
not in a position to estimate how much of this 
would be required and what the cost would be for 
depreciated value and increased maintenance sosts. 

With reference to the future seven items men-
tioned in your report dated 25th October. 

The rafters as provided are spaced as shown 
on the -gth scale plan. 

Re-decoration of wails re-treated is provided 
for. 

Such damage as has been done to the rendering 
caused by in the ablution rooms appeared to be 

rough treatment. 
Purlins are shown on the type drawing but may 

hove been omitted in some Blocks under Clerk of 
Works instructions. 

Joinery undersized and of poor workmanship 
and flush doors are very obvious defects due to 
causes which a reasonable examination could have 
disclosed before they were paid for and, in conse-
quence I have not claimed for them specially. They 
are also items which strengthen the case for claims 
in respect of increased maintenance and reduced 
value. 

10 

20 

30 

Yours faithfully, 
Sd. A.E. Wevill. 
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A.E. WEVILL 5: SON 
Architects. 

The City Engineer 
Town Hall, 
Nairobi. 

P.O. Box 17, 
NAIROBI., 
14th November, 1956 

X . I f 

Dear Sir 
Ofafa African Housing Estate 

PART uCi! 
Further to my report forwarded to you on the 

21st August, and our discussions thereon more par-- 10 
ticularly relating to items not specifically 
claimed for and the method you propose to adopt in 
carrying out repairs etc. 

The ruling principle throughout my report is 
that the claims put forward cover defects and defic-
iencies which have been exposed and can be conclu-
sively proved or which affect the stability of the 
structure. 

In the case of foundations I have considered 
that the bearing capacity of the substratum, except 20 
where the black cotton soil has not been removed, 
is adequate to carry the superimposed load and only 
where the black cotton soil remains or the concrete 
foundations are inadequate or non-existent, will 
underpinning be necessary. The full extent of this 
can only be ascertained when the foundations are 
exposed for re-pointing the external faces of the 
foundation walling and when the filling under the 
floors is removed. I have made a claim for under-
pinning in such places where the test holes revealed 30 
the defect. The cost of any further deficiencies 
revealed in later works should be covered by the 
claim for increased maintenance costs. 

I did however overlook the necessity for pump-
ing and keeping the excavations clear of water and 
mud whilst the repair works are in progress. Sub-
soil water is present practically throughout the 
site and this will be a costly item. I"consider an 
item of £500 should be added to cover this. 

The quantity and quality of hoop iron bond in 40 
the walling can only be a matter of conjecture until 
such time as all the pointing is raked out for re-
pointing. No specific claim has been made in this 
respect as I considered deep raking out of the 
joints and re-pointing in good cement mortar would 
largely compensate for any"deficiency in hoop iron. 
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Should cracks occur after this has been done the Exhibit; 
remedy would be to insert metal cramps, the cost „KU 
of which would also be provided for in the claim 
for increased maintenance. 

The presence or otherwise of a damp course 
and its quality and efficiency is also open to 
doubt, but is not one upon which a definite claim 
can be substantiated. Good pointing to both faces 
of the foundation walling and filling under the 

10 floors with good material thoroughly consolidated 
will reduce the risk of damp rising in the walls 
above floor level. 

The quality of the .joinery is not of a high 
standard and in some cases specified sizes have 
not been adhered to but, beyond the reinstatements 
claimed for, I do not think the deficiencies will 
affect stability or life of the structure. 
The City Eqigine^r^Jfeirobi - Ofafa Housing Estate, 

20 In preparing ny original report I assumed that 
the method to be adopted in carrying out repairs, 
replacements, etc., would be the same as that you 
used in carrying out the repairs already done. I 
now understand that you have no maintenance staff 
available and that the work must of necessity be 
carried out by Contract. This will materially af-
fect the cost, as a Contractor could not carry it 
out as a straightforward start to finish Contract 
but would be required to commence and complete it 

30 in sections. The cost of carrying it out by this 
method and under these conditions would be at least 
25$ higher than by the method I visualised. All 
claims for works must be increased to this extent. 

In addition to this it will be necessary to 
prepare a detailed Specification of the Works and 
to employ a full time Clerk of Works, with an of-
fice on the site, to supervise them. These costs 
should also be added to the claim. 

In consideration of the foregoing the claim 
40 should be amended as follows s-

I_. /Foundations s 
Excavating, underpinning, concrete 
foundations and re-pointing 
walling (to improve standard) 
Shs.30,500/- plus 25$ = Shs. 38,125.00 
Extra for pumping, etc. " 10,000.00 
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Exhibits Ii. Floors 
"K» Taking up, removing and replacing 

filling and relaying (to Specifica-
tion standard) Shs.196,600/-

plus 25$ - Shs.245,750.00 
III. Superstruct ure 
Re pointing externally' (to 
improve standard) Shs.13,000/-

plus 25/ = 11 16,250.00 
Dressing off etc. internally (to 10 
Specification standard) 
Shs. 138,000/- plus 25/ = " 172,500.00 
Damp course (reduced value) " 600.00 

IT. Roofs and Joinery : 
(a) Reinforcing roof timbers 

(to improve standard) 
Shs.12,000/- plus 25/ = " 15,000.00 

(b) Bolts and hinges, new door, 
etc. (to Specification 
standard) 20 
Shs.4,000/- plus 25/ - " 5,000.00 

(c) Valleys (reduced value) = " 1,100.00 
jhyains 
Taking up and re-laying (to 
Specification Standard) 
Shs. 15,000/- plus 25/ = !l 18,750.00 

VI. Repair Works already carried out: 
Investigations and repairs by 
Gity Council, less portions 
included in foregoing 12,000.00 30 
Further Items: 
Preparing Specification for repairs 1,000.00 
Clerk of Works - Salary and Office 17,000.00 
Total Value - Repairs etc. (£26,800) Shs. 553,075.00 
losj^of Rent: 
Whilst repairs are in progress Shs. 12,558.00 

The foregoing, I think cover the points we 
discussed and the items in your report upon which 
you asked me to comment. 

Yours faithfully, 40 
Sd. A.E. Weviil. 



807» 

EXHIBIT "L" Exhibits 
REPORT BY K.F ._ST ONE "Lu 

REPORT 10.2 Report by 
QFAFA ESTATE STAGE 1 K'5 ° St one, 

PARTS A & B. CONTRACTS 10.60 1.73 
Two months ago I took over the site supervision of 
the above contracts. The standard of work I found 
was'below that stated in the Specification. The 
Contractors were well below Schedule. My aim was 

10 to raise the standard of work and concentrate on 
getting the contracts completed as quickly as pos-
sible. 

Work which was in an advanced stage I ordered 
to be completed, paying particular attention to the 
finishes. Other work especially on Part 'A' I or-
dered to be held up temporarily, enabling the la-
bour to be concentrated on completing other work, 
whilst in due course permitting me to make a 
thorough inspection of the less completed work 

20 which appeared to be unsatisfactory, and proved to 
be so — 

Yes, Mr. Mould took over on the 14-/3/55. 
I had not received any assistance from the 

Architect Mr. Tanner in the past and was pleased 
to be given attention such as Mi'. Mould did on his 
talcing over. 

The work was inspected and stated was in parts 
below standard, this I maintained was due to in-
sufficient assistants. Such as foreman and the 

30 large volume of work I had to look after. 
EQUIDATIOBB - As stated in the report. 
WAILING BELOW FLOOR SLAT -
This I have found defective in most cases. The 
mortar mix should be 4-1 but I found it is of such 
a consistency that I can break and crumble it in 
my hands. It is often mixed with pointing of a 
stronger mix. 

I have dealt with this in Report No. 1 - The 
Contractor and his mistry were instructed to mix 

40 the mortar 4-1 for the foundations and when my 
assistant (African) or myself stayed near the mix-
er it was made 4-1 but when we left for other work 
and returned we found that the Contractor had al-
tered the mix. This was brought_ to the notice of 
the Architect on T'it'e" 



HARDCORE. 
There was only one unit on which the floor 

had not "been laid where hardcore was exposed -
This I found had not "been graded and consolidated 
as required - This I ordered to be taken up and 
properly backfilled. I asked to be advised when 
this was completed, so that I could inspect it. I 
was told that the work had been carried out but I 
could not inspect it as the Contractor had laid the 
site concrete. 

I was present when the Architect Mr. Mould in-
structed the mistry to grade the filling. I my-
self found the Sire concrete cost and was informed 
that the filling had been dealt with. 1 was in-
formed by the mistry and his fundies. 
SITE CONCRETE M P SCREED 

The site concrete is a Specified mix 1:3:6 
with a covering screed of 1:4 mix. 

A large proportion of the floors had developed 
cracks and hoilows. I ordered them to be cut up 
and made good wherever necessary and in one case 
had a complete floor relaid. However these faults 
still persisted and I became quite concerned about 
it, 

I had several floors hacked up - some I did 
myself with a hand pick. I found the concrete once 
penetrated with the pick could in many cases be 
pulled apart by hand. 

Hollow pockets were also revealed in the hard 
core due to either settlement or lack of proper 
consolidation. The screed was generally good. 
(1) I have dealt at length in report Ho.l on the 

hardcore filling and consolidation and I think 
this applies 

(2) The Concrete for the floors was mixed in Mixers. 
The ballast had to be removed on many occasions 
due to bad grading there were many heated argu-
ments with the Contractor on this matter. 
1 have shown Mr. Tanner the Architect (when 

had been on site) the type of stone ballast supplied. 
As for the mortar when, one stood at the con-

crete mixer the correct proportions were added -
When the back was turned it was altered - The con-
crete was cast on Saturday afternoons and Sundays. 
It was impossible to keep the matter under constant 
supervision - I did not have sufficient assistance. 
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I requested the architect Mr. Tanner to stop 
Saturday afternoon and Sunday work he stated it 
was the custom of the Asian contractor to work 
during this period in order to hasten completion. 

The Contractor 
were very difficult 
WALLING 

and his mistry and his fundies 
to deal v/ith. 

The walling, above the floor slab has been 
found to be defective at joints - The mortar mix-
ture should be 1:6 like the walling below the 
floor slab, can easily be raked out and crumbled 
by hand. A lot of the walling is out of Plumb. 

Some walling proved to be so unstable that it 
gave way when pushed, in fact several parts of the 
walling collapsed v/ith one or tv/o blows with a six 
foot length of 4" x 3" timber. 

The mortar joints parted freely from the 
stone work and were easily broken by hand. No 
hoop iron reinforcement at all had been used in 
this particular walling -

Walling in part 'B' has hoop iron reinforce-
ment but I am doubtful whether this is inserted 
to the full height of the wall. 

I have one constructed in the same faulty 
manner and not purged. 

There is certain defective walling and I think 
this refers to Blocks 11 and 13 as explained in 
Report No.l - I did not exercise supervision over 
this - I had Blocks Nos. 2 to 7 to get ready also 
Blocks No. 35 and 36 to Part II Contract. - I was 
moved off the site when the Superstructure to the 
Blocks 11 and 13 were on hand. 

The walling work on Blocks 23 and 24 were 
brought to the notice of the Contractor on several 
occasions during construction - I did not get any 
notice taken of my instructions and reported the 
matter to the architect Mr. Tanner who spoke to the 
Contractor re his work. 

It was at this time I requested the architect 
Mr. Tanner to remove the contractor from the site 
and close the contract. 

I was informed that a Contractor would not be 
available to complete the work. 
R.< WORK 

Part 

Exhibits 
18 L« 

Report by 
K.P. Stone 
- continued. 

The R.C. Work is definitely below 
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Exhibits standard - the concrete does not conform to a 1:2:4 
mix several lintels were cut open and the reinfor-

h cing rods were found to have been omitted, cracks 
Report by had appeared in the lintels, some buildings had 
K.F. Stone developed a noticeable sag and it appears that only 

, a wall plate is supporting the frames. - continued. 
The lintel which spanned a verandah was found 

to be cracked. It was easily pushed off the wall 
and despite some reinforcement broke on hitting 
the ground. 10 

In connection with the lintels as explained 
in detail in Report No.?. There was reinforcement 
but the lintels were revised when they were set in 
position by the fundies - I gave instructions for 
these lintels to be cast with the steel at the 
bottom and a letter T to be marked on top of the 
lintel ~ The Contractor failed to do this with the 
result they were set incorrectly. 

This was a difficult case to detect and it was 
not until cracks appeared in the lintels that it 20 
was found they had been set upside down. 

Again the R.C. lintels were cast without any 
warning or notice that they were ready to receive 
the Concrete. 

For my assistant would arrive at the blocks 
and find the R.C. lintels cast and was therefore 
unable to certify what mix the Contractor had. used. 

The R.C. beams referred to would appear like 
those of Block No.B and as stated I could not su-
pervise this block at superstructure level. 30 
Doors & Frames: 

There are many frames fallen out of square 
but what is proving troublesome is the manner of 
fixing. All frames should be properly secured to 
the walls with metal cramps (not angle iron) This 
is not being done, wooden plugs Eire inserted into 
the braces and frames nailed to them. The plugs 
often split and in many cases are l-jr" from the 
frames so that the nail only penetrates the plug a 
small amount. A considerable number of the frames 40 
ledged and braced and battened doors on Part A were 
condemned. Further deliveries were stopped and 

doors were ordered. (Mr.Tamor). The 
Contractor was asked to have the condemned doors 
satisfactorily refused. It took months to get the 
Contractor to do this. In most cases the doors 
were in a worse state after repair than they were 
before and had to be finally condemned. 
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I have dealt with this at great length in Re-
port No. 7-
Windows - Frames and Shutters 

Dealt with in Report No.7. 
Wooden louvres. 

This is correct. 
Rafters, Battens and 

Dealt with in Report No.7. 
Tiles. 

Mr. Mould the Architect is in possession of 
the facts concerning the tiles. 
Flushings. 

The Architect Mr. Tamor issued a flow of the 
flushing. This however proved to be too expensive 
to produce. The Architect agreed to accept the 
present type of flushing after one had been con-
structed on sire. 

It is the usual asian type and was agreed to 
by the Architect. 
Whitewash and Colour wash 

Yes, what is repainted is correct. 
Wood preservative. 

A better effort was made at the start of roof-
ing when the Contractor provided the long trough 
and dipped the podo into this with what appeared 
to be a light local wood preservative applied by 
the oil Company. 

The Specification states "Creosote" or other 
approved wood preservative. 

I could not condemn the material supplied for 
it was from a good firm of suppliers. What I think 
happened but 1 could not prove it was that a cer-
tain amount of limp Black was ordered. 

The Contractor on Part "A" is generally most 
uncooperative and is continually contravening the 
Clerk of Works instructions thus occasioning many 
unnecessary delays in the completion of the work. 
His organisation is bad and his continued practice 
of letting to sub-contractors is unsatisfactory. 
He is seldom found on the site, and it is only re-
cently that a foreman has been produced who can 
speak and write English as stated in the Contract. 

Exhibits 
nL» 

Report by 
K.F. Stone 
- continued, 
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Exhibits 
»Eli 

Report by 
K.F. Stone 
- continued. 

I think this seems not what I had to deal 
with for many months. I did not receive the sup-
port I should have done from the Architect Mr. 
Tamor. I had far too much to do and no assistance 
to help me with the large volume of work. 

The Contractor on Part "A" was most difficult 
and elusive. 

Sgd. Stone. 
P.S. Please read the notes which were sent into 
the Architect every week and monthly. They accom-
panied the progress reports and were sent to Mr. 
Tamor. 

Sgd. K.P. Stone, 


